
TOWN OF FLORENCE 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Mayor Tara Walter 
Vice-Mayor John Anderson 
Councilmember Bill Hawkins 
Councilmember Karen Wall 
Councilmember Kristen Larsen 
Councilmember Michelle Cordes 
Councilmember Judy Hughes 

Monday, November 18, 2019 

Florence Town Hall
775 N. Main Street

Florence, AZ 85132
(520) 868-7500

www.florenceaz.gov
Meet 1st and 3rd Mondays

5:30 PM

____________________________________________________________________________ 
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the Town of Florence Council and to 
the general public that a Regular Meeting of the Florence Town Council will be held on Monday, 
November 18, 2019, at 5:30 p.m., in the Florence Town Council Chambers, located at 775 N. 
Main Street, Florence, Arizona.  The agenda for this meeting is as follows:    

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL: Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Karen Wall,
 Kristen Larsen, Michelle Cordes, Judy Hughes 

3. WORK SESSION ON CERTIFICATE OF NEED FOR AMBULANCE SERVICE (David
Strayer)

4. MOMENT OF SILENCE

5. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

6. CALL TO THE PUBLIC Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction
of the Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual
Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to review
a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, members of
the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call to the public
unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action.

7. PUBLIC HEARING

a. Public hearing and possible adoption of a text amendment to the Sign Regulations of the
Development Code, with the amendment to include language as recommended by the Ad.
Hoc Sign Committee. Ordinance No. 667-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE
CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT
CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND  REPEALING AND REPLACING “PART
3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-33 ORD.) (Larry
Harmer) (Second Reading).

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



8. CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of
the consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the
time the agenda item is called.

a. Approval of Services Agreement with Florence Music Festival, LLC, for 2020 Florence
Music Festival, in an amount not to exceed $24,500. (Bryan Hughes)

b. Approval of Services Agreement with Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce, for 2020
Historic Florence Art Festival, in an amount not to exceed $24,500. (Bryan Hughes)

c. Approval of the purchase of eight Panasonic Mobile Data Computers with keyboards and
eight docking stations from Code 3 Technologies, in an amount not to exceed $38,635.91.
(Daniel Hughes)

d. Authorization to dispose of vehicles and equipment that are no longer needed and have
outlived their useful life. (Becki Jimenez)

e. Award a contract to Franklin Striping, Inc., to update existing roadway striping for CIP T-69
Pavement Preservation, in an amount not-to-exceed amount of $87,408.74. (Chris Salas)

f. Approval of the October 7 and October 21, 2019 Town Council Meeting minutes.

g. Receive and file the following board and commission minutes:

1. September 25, 2019 Historic District Advisory Commission Meeting minutes.
2. October 3 and October 17, 2019 Planning and Zoning Meeting minutes.

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a. Ordinance No. 684-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN ORDINANCE OF THE
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, BY INSERTING §73.12
ABANDONED OR JUNK VEHICLES PARKED IN VISIBLE AREAS; RENUMBER
UNARMED POLICE AIDES §73.13; AND INSERTING A NEW PENALTY §73.99 (Y).
(First Reading November 4, 2019) (Daniel Hughes)

10. NEW BUSINESS

a. Discussion and possible action on the creation of an Economic Development Department
and/or Commission. (Vice-Mayor Anderson)

b. Resolution No. 1722-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE FLORENCE
TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE, EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 18, 2019. (Lisa
Garcia)

11. WORK SESSION ON STREET LIGHT IMPROVEMENT ORDINANCE AND POLICY (Chris
Salas and Lisa Garcia)

12. MANAGER’S REPORT

13. CALL TO THE PUBLIC

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



14. CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY

15. ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION

For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public 
body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), (A)(4) and (A)(7) to 
consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or attorneys regarding: 

a. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa County
Superior Court:  Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325, including
counterclaims.

b. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of Environmental
Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case No. 16-002, including
appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.

c. Request for Proposal for the area of land west of Heritage Park for work force housing.
d. Special Event Permit Conditions.

16. ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION

17. ADJOURNMENT

Council may go into Executive Session at any time during the meeting for the purpose of obtaining 
legal advice from the Town’s Attorney(s) on any of the agenda items pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
431.03(A)(3).  One or more members of Council may appear for part or all of the meeting including 
Executive Session telephonically.  

POSTED ON NOVEMBER 14, 2019, BY LISA GARCIA, TOWN CLERK, AT 775 NORTH MAIN 
STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, AND AT WWW.FLORENCEAZ.GOV. 

***PURSUANT TO TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA), THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF DISABILITY 
REGARDING ADMISSION TO PUBLIC MEETINGS.  PERSONS WITH A DISABILITY MAY 
REQUEST REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS BY CONTACTING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE ADA COORDINATOR, AT (520) 868-7574 OR (520) 868-7502 TDD. REQUESTS 
SHOULD BE MADE AS EARLY AS POSSIBLE TO ALLOW TIME TO ARRANGE THE 
ACCOMMODATION.***  



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
3.  

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Fire Department 
 
STAFF PRESENTERS:   David Strayer, Fire Chief 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  CON Study Session  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 1 

SUBJECT:   Fire Department-Based Ambulance Transportation 
Study Session 

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION:   
 
This is a Study Session requested by the Town Council to discuss Fire Department-based 
ambulance transportation options in Florence. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:      
Roy Ryals, representing the James Vincent Group, will provide an overview of the 
ambulance transportation options available to the Town of Florence.  Areas to be covered 
include:  

 The Certificate of Need process and the role of the Arizona Department of Health 
Services 

 The Application process 
 The Feasibility Study process 
 The Needs Assessment process 
 Partnering options with existing providers 
 How other Arizona communities are addressing this issue 

 
Mr. Ryals will provide reference materials (PowerPoint and/or documentation) and will be 
available to answer questions.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:     

Study Session Only 

 



Subject:  CON Study Session  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 1 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:    
 
Study Session Only 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:     
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS:        
 
None 



REGULATORY PROCESS FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A 
CERTIFICATE OF NECESSITY TO FLORENCE ARIZONA 

  
Statutory Requirements: 
 
The Legislature, through enactment of the Certificate of Necessity (CON) statutes, 
mandated a fully regulated ambulance industry. The Arizona Department of Health 
Services (ADHS), through the Bureau of Emergency Medical Services and Trauma 
Services (BEMSTS) regulates ambulance services in the State of Arizona, 
including the CON application process and the CON renewal process. See Arizona 
Revised Statutes ARS § 36-2232 through ARS § 36-2246. 
 
An entity that wishes to operate an ambulance in the State of Arizona may do so 
only after being granted a CON by ADHS. See ARS § 36-2233. 
 
ARS § 36-2233 governs the issuance of a CON for the operation of ambulances 
in the State of Arizona and requires, in pertinent part: 
 

• That a CON applicant must apply for a CON on forms prescribed by the 
Director of ADHS. See ARS § 36-2233(A). and: 

• The CON applicant must demonstrate that the public necessity requires the 
proposed service of any part of the service. See ARS § 36-22-33(B)(2)1 and: 

• That the CON applicant must demonstrate that it is fit and proper to provide 
the service. See ARS § 36-2233(B)(3)2 and: 

• The applicant has paid the appropriate fees pursuant to ARS § 36-2240. 
 
The Director shall require a public hearing on any CON applications unless certain 
exemptions are met. The pertinent exemption for the City of Florence would be: 
See ARS § 36-2234(C). 
 

• The Director noticed the hearing to every affected ambulance service in the 
affected area no later than fifteen days before the action. 

• The Director notified other persons who the Director determines are 
interested in the proposed action no later than fifteen days before the action. 

• The Director publishes the notice of the proposed action in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the affected region at least once each week for two 
consecutive weeks before the action is taken. 

• The Director receives no requests within the fifteen-day notification period 
for a hearing to be held on the proposed action. 

 
1 Public Necessity means, “an identified population needs or requires all or part of the services of a ground 
ambulance service.” See Arizona Administrative Code R9-25-901 (45). Public Necessity includes an inquiry into 
“need,” the primary focus of which should be on the best interest of the public.” See ADHS Guidance 
Document GD-099-PHS-EMS. 
2 Fit and proper means “That the Director determines that an application for a CON or certificate holder has 
the expertise, integrity, fiscal competence and resources to provide ambulance service in the service areas.” 
ARS § 36-2201(21). 



 
A CON is not a franchise, may be revoked by the Director, and does not confer a 
property right upon its holder. See ARS § 36-2236(A). 
 
Pursuant to ARS § 36-2232)(A)(3), the Director may issue a CON to more than 
one ambulance provider in the same or overlapping service areas, provided there 
is a need for that service. In such instances, the Department refers to AAC R9-25-
903(C) for the factors to be analyzed when considering whether there is a need for 
the proposed service. 
 
The Director has the authority to determine, fix alter and regulate just, reasonable 
and sufficient rates and charges for the provision of ambulance services including 
rates and charges for Advanced Life Support (ALS) service, Basic Life Support 
(BLS) service, mileage, standby and waiting, subscription service contracts and 
other contracts related to the provision of ambulance services. See ARS § 36-
2232(A)(1); ARS § 36-2239; AAC R9-25-1101, et seq. 
 
Rule Requirements: 
 
To apply for a Certificate of Necessity the applicant must submit an application 
packet in a Department approved format as well as an application fee of $100.00. 
See R-9-25-902 (A-E). This packet encapsulates the minimum amount of 
information that the Department requires to begin the evaluation process.  
 
The evaluation of the application hinges on the determination of “Public Necessity.” 
Accordingly, the criteria for that determination is codified in Rule as well in 
Guidance Documents and other Department communications to applicants. See 
R9-25-903 (A) and GD-099-PHS-EMS.  
 
If the application is in an area where other certificated providers are authorized to 
provide 9-1-1 services, the Department requires additional information. See R-9-
25-903 (C). 
 
If the applicant intends to charge for ambulance transportation, the applicant must 
establish an initial general public rate. In order to establish an initial general public 
rate the applicant must file additional information that allows the Department to 
evaluate the requested rates. See R9-25-1101 (A-B). 
 
Time Frames: 
 
The Department has statutory mandated time frames to evaluate and process a 
CON application. See R9-25-1201 A-F & Table 12.1. The overall time frame for 
adjudication of an Initial Application for a Certificate of Necessity mandated by law 
is 450 days. The applicant and Director may agree to extend the overall timeframe 
if requested by either party. 
 



The evaluation process goes through several distinct phases. They are: 
 
Administrative Review - Time Frame: 30 days: The Administrative Review 
determines if the application meets the minimum statutory and regulatory 
requirements of a complete application. If there are any questions or clarifications 
needed in the application, the applicant will be notified by the Department and 
requested to respond to the inquiry.  The 30-day timeframe for Administrative 
Review is suspended until the Department receives the response from the 
applicant.  
 
Substantive Review - Time Frame 420 days:  The Substantive Review consists 
of two phases. The first is further evaluation by the Department of the information 
contained in the application. A major focus is the financial information provided to 
the Department as well as the content of other portions of the application. During 
the Substantive Review, the Department is permitted to make one comprehensive 
written request for additional documents or information. The 420-day timeframe for 
Substantive Review is suspended until the Department receives the response from 
the applicant. A supplemental request for additional information may be made with 
the written consent of the applicant.  The Substantive review timeframe shall not 
extend by more than 25% of the overall timeframe. 
 
The second phase is an Administrative Hearing on the application or, in the 
alternative, a Waiver of Hearing process. In practice, once the Department has 
made the determination that the application is both Administratively and 
Substantively complete, it will assess whether an Administrative Hearing is 
needed. The Director of the Arizona Department of Health Services (Director) may 
make that determination unilaterally, or, any party that has material interest to 
request a hearing may request a hearing. In most cases, existing CON holders 
that intend to object to the issuance of an overlapping CON makes requests for a 
hearing. See ARS § 36-2234.  
 
If a hearing is required, the case file will be transmitted to the Arizona Office of 
Administrative Hearings (OAH) and a Notice of Hearing will be sent to the applicant 
and any parties that the Director has determined may have an interest in the 
proceedings. The Arizona Administrative Procedure Act governs the Hearing’s 
conduct. See ARS Title 41, Chapter 6. The length of the hearing is capped, by 
statute, at ten (10) business days, unless there are extenuating circumstances as 
determined by the Hearing Officer. 
 
If the Director determines that a Waiver of Hearing is appropriate, it must notify all 
ambulance services in the affected region, as well as any other persons who the 
Director determines are interested in the proposed action. The Director must also 
publish a notice of the proposed action in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
affected region at least once each week for two consecutive weeks before the 
action is taken. See ARS § 36-2234 (C). 
 



If the Director does not receive a request for Hearing within 15 days, the Director 
may make the final determination on the application without a Hearing.  If a request 
for Hearing is received, then the Hearing process in initiated as described above. 
See ARS § 36-2234 (D). 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
7a.  

MEETING DATE:   November 18, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Dana Burkhardt, Planning Consultant 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 667-19 Development Code Sign 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Signage Amendment Ordinance 667-19 (PZ-18-33-ORD)                         Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

Regulations Text Amendment (PZ-18-33 ORD) Public Hearing #2  Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Public hearing and possible adoption of a text amendment to the Sign Regulations of the 
Development Code, with the amendment to include language as recommended by the 
Ad. Hoc Sign Committee. Ordinance No. 667-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT 
CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND REPEALING AND REPLACING “PART 
3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-33 ORD.) 
(Larry Harmer) (Second Reading). 
 
OVERVIEW: 
 
The Town Council held the 1st Public Hearing and 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 667-19 
on April 15, 2019.  At that time the Town Council established an Ad Hoc Sign Committee 
to further review and discuss additional policy options for off-site commercial signage. 
Refer to Exhibit B for the Ad Hoc Sign Committee recommended edits to Ordinance No. 
667.   
 
Please refer to previous RCA’s for additional background and discussion on this agenda 
item. 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
Town Staff has complied with all applicable Town requirements and Arizona Revised 
Statutes regarding public notification and public participation.  A notice for the Planning 



Subject:  Signage Amendment Ordinance 667-19 (PZ-18-33-ORD)                         Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was advertised in the local Town paper, posted 
at the Town’s posting location, and advertised on social media and the Town’s website. 
Meetings and public outreach for these proposed amendments are as follows (* denotes 
tentatively scheduled): 
 

2016 Draft Sign Code Boards and Commissions, and Public 
Review 

Oct. 18, 2018           Planning and Zoning Commission Work Session 
Nov. 15, 2018          Planning and Zoning Commission Review/Discussion 
Dec.4, 2018             Neighborhood Meeting (5-6:30PM Community Center) 
Dec. 20, 2018          Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing) 
Jan. 2, 2019  Historic District Advisory Committee Review/Discussion 
Jan. 17, 2019 Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing and action) 
Feb. 19, 2019 Town Council (public hearing and 1st reading) 
March 25, 2019 Town Council Work Session 
April 15, 2019 Town Council (2nd Reading) 
July 22, 2019  Ad Hoc Sign Committee Meeting 
August 14, 2019 Ad Hoc Sign Committee Meeting 
Sept. 10, 2019 Ad Hoc Sign Committee Meeting 
*Nov. 18, 2019 Town Council (2nd Public Hearing and Action) 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Neutral, approval or denial of this request has no impact to the Town’s finances. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission found the text amendment, Case #PZ-18-33-ORD  
(Ordinance 667-19) is in the interest of the general welfare, health and safety of the public. 
The Planning and Zoning Commission has forwarded a unanimous favorable 
recommendation on this proposed text amendment, as described in Exhibit A, to the 
Mayor and Town Council.  The Ad Hoc Sign Committee recommends adoption of this 
ordinance with an amendment to include modified language, as shown in Exhibit B 
(proposed edits shown in red.)  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit A – Ordinance No. 667-19: Proposed amendment to the Development Code 

Section 150.031 “Definitions” and “Part 3. Sign Regulations” Sections 150.092 to 
150.130 

 
Exhibit B – Ad Hoc Sign Committee Recommended Edits  
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 

ORDINANCE NO. 667-19

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND 
USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, 
SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND  REPEALLING 
AND REPLACING “PART 3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” 
SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-33 ORD.) 

WHEREAS, in accordance with A.R.S. 9-462, the legislative body may 
adopt by ordinance, any change or amendment to the regulations and provisions 
as set forth in the Development Code of the Town of Florence; and,  

WHEREAS, notification of this amendment has been published in a local 
newspaper with general circulation in the Town of Florence, giving fifteen (15) 
day notice of time, date, and place of public hearing; and, 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission on December 20, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission, after having held a 
public hearing on the case, has forwarded the Mayor and Town Council a 
unanimous favorable recommendation for the text amendment ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that it is in the best interest 
of the residents of Florence to amend the Town of Florence Development Code 
Sections 150.031, and 150.092 to 150.130, such that it is advisable to repeal and 
replace the aforementioned sections, as further set forth in Exhibit "A", which is 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that, for the reasons set 
forth above and for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety and welfare 
of the residents and visitors of Florence, it is in the best interests of the Town to 
amend the Code of Ordinances as provided herein; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF 
THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA, AS FOLLOWS:  

Section 1. Any proposal for the construction, installation, or replacement of 
signs within the Town shall be subject to the following: Town of 
Florence Code of Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 150 of the 
Florence Development Code Part 3 Sign Regulations, Sections 150.092 to 

150.130; the Town's licensing and permit requirements; the Town’s 
reasonable design review and development standards; the Town's 



EXHIBIT A 

reasonable rates and fees as adopted by the Town; and all other 
applicable regulatory processes. 

Section 2. Existing Title XV of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances is 
hereby amended by the revisions, additions, deletions, and 
replacement of the Development Code text as set forth in Exhibit "A." 

Section 3. Exhibit "A" is hereby approved, adopted and incorporated into the 
Town of Florence Code of Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 
150 Development Code by reference, as fully as if set forth in this 
Ordinance in its entirety. 

Section 4. If any section, subsection, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance 
or any part of the amended and restated Town of Florence Code of 
Ordinances Title XV is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional 
by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

Section 5. One (1) paper copy and one (1) electronic copy of this ordinance are 
ordered to remain on file with the Town Clerk. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence this 
___ day of _______, 20___. 

______________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 

ATTEST:   APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________________ ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk Clifford Mattice, Town Attorney 



EXHIBIT A
SIGN CODE UPDATE 

(The following text in red is a proposed addition to the Development Code “Definitions” 
section and text with a strikethrough are proposed for deletion.) 

Definitions 

150.031  Defined Words 

   SIGN.   Any object, device, display or structure (including but not limited to letters, 
words, numerals, figures, symbols, pictures, outline, character, color, illumination, 
trademark, logo or any part or combination) used for visual communication which is 
intended to attract the attention of the public and is visible from the public rights-of-way 
or other properties. Refer to §150.094 for Sign and signage related terms and definitions. 

(The following text is proposed to repeal and replace the existing Development Code Part 
3 Sign Regulations, sections 150.092 to 150.130.) 

Part 3. Sign Regulations 

Sections 
150.092 Purpose, Scope and Authority  
150.093 Applicability 
150.094 Signage Definitions 
150.095 Exemptions 
150.096 Prohibited Commercial Signs 
150.097 Prohibited Sign Locations  
150.098 Standards, Limitation and Requirements for All Signs 
150.099 Signs for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use Districts 
150.100 Signs for Residential Districts  
150.101 Comprehensive Sign Plan Required 
150.102 Submittal and Permit Requirements 
150.103 Exceptions; Permits Not Required 
150.104 Legal Nonconforming Signs 
150.105 Signs Rendered Nonconforming 
150.106 Abandoned Signs 
150.107 Unsafe Signs 
150.108 Enforcement and Penalties 
150.109 -130 Reserved 

150.092 Purpose, Scope and Authority 

The purposes of these Sign regulations, hereafter referred to as the “Sign Code”, are: 

(A) To encourage the effective use of Signs as a means of communication in the Town. 



Page 2 

(B) To maintain and enhance the aesthetic beauty of the built environment and the 
Town's ability to attract sources of economic development and growth. 

(C) To improve pedestrian and traffic safety. 

(D) To minimize the possible adverse effect of Signs on nearby public and private 
property. 

(E) To balance the rights of businesses and individuals to convey messages through 
Signs against the aesthetics and safety hazards that come from the proliferation of 
Sign clutter. 

(F) To enable the fair and consistent enforcement of the Sign Code. 

150.093 Applicability 

(A) It shall be unlawful to display, erect, place, establish, paint or maintain a nonexempt 
Sign in the Town except in conformance with the standards, requirements, 
limitations and procedures of the Sign Code.  

(B) The effect of this Sign Code as more specifically set forth herein, is: 

(1) To prohibit all Signs except as permitted by the Sign Code. 

(2) To allow a variety of types of Signs in Employment/Commercial and Mixed 
Use districts, and a limited variety of Signs in residential districts, subject to 
content neutral standards requirements and limitations. 

(3) To allow certain Signs that are appropriately sized and incidental to the 
principal use of the respective lots on which they are located, subject to the 
substantive requirements of these regulations, but without a requirement for 
permits. 

(4) To establish standards, requirements and limitations and a permit system that 
honor constitutional rights and requirements. 

(5) To provide for the enforcement of the provisions of the Sign Code. 

150.094 Signage Definitions 

For the purpose of the Sign Code, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
indicates or requires a different meaning.  

A-FRAME SIGN. A portable type of promotional business Sign. 



Page 3 

ADJACENT. Adjacent means abuts, is contiguous to or shares a common boundary. 

ALLOWABLE SIGN AREA. The total Sign Area permitted for all nonexempt Signs. 

ARTERIAL ROADWAY. A street designated as an arterial roadway in transportation 
plans approved by the Town of Florence. 

BANNER. Any Sign of fabric, plastic or similar material that is mounted to a pole, structure 
or a building at one or more edges. Banners are used to advertise special events or new 
business and are not permanently attached. 

BEACON. Means any light with one or more beams directed into the atmosphere or 
directed at one or more points not on the same site as the light source; also, any light with 
one or more beams that rotate or move. Beacons are prohibited except when approved 
for limited usage with a Special Event Permit. 

BILLBOARD. A flat surface or board, used outdoors, on which large commercial 
advertisements or notices are posted. In this Sign Code, Billboards shall be referred to as 
Off Premise Advertising Signs. 

BLADE SIGN. A type of projecting Sign mounted on a building facade or storefront pole 
or attached to a surface perpendicular to the normal flow of traffic. 

BUILDING. Building is defined in Section 150.031 of the Development Code. 

BUILDING FRONTAGE. The length of the wall of a completely enclosed permanent 
building on a site that fronts directly on a public or private street or right-of-way.  

BUILDING GROUND FLOOR AREA. The area of the ground floor enclosed within the 
walls of all buildings on the site.  

BUILDING IDENTIFICATION SIGN. A non-commercial Sign that identifies the street 
address of the building, as well as other identifying information required for public safety 
purposes. 

BUILDING MARKER. A Sign indicating the name of a building and date and incidental 
information about its construction, which Sign is cut into masonry surface or made of 
bronze or other permanent material, and affixed to or placed near a building.  

BUILDING SIGN. Any Sign attached to or painted on any part of a building, as contrasted 
to Fence, Freestanding or Monument Signs.  

BUS STOP. A bench, shelter, kiosk, or pole Sign or similar structure placed by the Town 
of Florence or the locally endorsed public transportation authority, e.g., Central Arizona 
Regional Transit, along an established public transportation route to mark an area for 
members of the general public to wait for and get on or off of public transportation.  



 

 

  Page 4 

 
BUSINESS FRONTAGE. The length of the face or wall of a completely enclosed and 
permanent building occupied by an individual building occupant and contains a customer 
entrance. An occupant may have more than one business frontage if it occupies building 
frontage facing on two or more streets or public areas. If the building faces two or more 
streets or public areas, only the two main frontages may be used in calculating allowable 
Sign Area.  

 
CABINET SIGN. A building Sign that is an enclosed cabinet with Copy on one or more 
sides and may enclose an integrated light source that can shine through the sides or face 
of the Sign.  

 
CAFE UMBREALLA SIGNS. Signs or Copy permanently embroidered, screened, dyed, 
stenciled or painted into the fabric of umbrellas that are set up in sidewalk cafes. 

 
CANOPY SIGN. Any Sign 
that is a part of or is attached 
to an awning, canopy, or other 
fabric, plastic, or structural 
protective cover over a door, 
entrance, window, or outdoor 
service area. A Marquee Sign 
is not a Canopy Sign.  

 
CHANGEABLE COPY SIGN, 
MANUAL. A Sign or portion 
thereof that has a reader 
board for the display of text 
information in which each 
alphanumeric character, 
graphic or symbol, may be 
changed or re-arranged manually with characters, letters or illustrations. Furthermore, the 
changes can occur without altering the face or surface of the Sign.  

 
CHANNEL LETTERING. Copy that is individually cut, raised, carved or manufactured.  

 
CIVIC DISPLAY. A temporary display of banners, balloons, flags, lights or similar 
decorations erected on a public street or other public property in connection with a holiday 
or civic event.  
 
COLLECTOR ROADWAY. A street designated as a collector roadway in transportation 
plans approved by the Town of Florence. 

 
COMMERCIAL CENTER. A group of contiguous lots organized into a shopping center, 
strip mall, business park, office condominium or similar grouping that share mutual 
access, ingress and egress easements.  

 Canopy Sign Example 



 

 

  Page 5 

 
COMMERCIAL MESSAGE. Any Sign wording, logo, or other representation that, directly 
or indirectly, names, advertises or calls attention to a business, product, service, or other 
commercial activity or is otherwise defined as "commercial speech" by the Arizona 
Supreme Court, the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, the Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court for purposes of interpreting the 
United States Constitution or Arizona Constitution regarding freedom of expression or 
speech.  
 
COMMUNITY BUILDING. A building that is typically owned by a government entity, civic 
organization or Homeowner’s Association that is used for meetings and activities related 
to the local community. 
 
COMMUNITY DIRECTORY SIGN. A Sign, or a group of Signs designed as a single 
display, that gives information about local community organizations.  

 
 

COPY. Characters, letters, symbols (including logos and trademarks), illustrations and 
writings.  

 
CO-TENANCY. A business that leases or rents space to tenant(s) or business(es) that 
are housed within their building though they operate as an independent business.  

 
DIGITAL SIGN. A Sign or portion thereof that displays electronic, static images, static 
graphics, text information, or static pictures, with or without information, defined by a small 
number of matrix elements using combinations of light emitting diodes (LED), fiber optics, 
light bulbs, liquid crystal display (LCD) or other Illumination devices within the display 
area. Digital Signs include computer programmable, microprocessor controlled electronic 
or digital displays. May also be known as an Electronic Message Center. 

 
DIRECT LIGHTING. Direct lighting means that the light fixture or bulbs are visible when 
looking at the light source or Sign.  
 
DIRECTIONAL SIGN. A permanent Sign that directs the flow of traffic or pedestrians and 
may or may not contain a Commercial Message. Directional Signs shall not exceed six 
square feet in Sign Area and three feet in Height.  
 
DIRECTORY SIGN. A Sign, or a group of Signs designed as a single display, which gives 
information about the location of businesses, buildings or addresses within a residential, 
office, commercial or industrial complex with no Commercial Message. Directory Signs 
located internal to a project and not visible from adjacent roadways shall not count 
towards on-site signage calculations. 

 
FENCE SIGN. A Sign that is mounted or painted on a fence, screen wall, retaining wall, 
sound wall or similar type of fence or wall structure.   

 



Page 6 

FLAG. A piece of fabric varying in shape, color and design usually attached at one edge 
to a staff, pole or cord which contains a Noncommercial Message as defined herein, 
unless otherwise permitted in this code.  

FREESTANDING SIGN. A Sign that is placed on or anchored to the ground or is 
supported by a Sign Structure that is placed on or anchored to the ground and is 
independent from any building or other structure. In this Sign Code, A Freestanding Sign 
may also be known as a Monument Sign, but this definition excludes Billboards or Off 
Premise Advertising Signs.  

FRONTAGE. The portion of a site that fronts directly on a public or private street or right 
of way. See "building frontage," and "site frontage."  

GAS/SERVICE STATION CANOPY SIGN. A Sign or Signs that are attached to a canopy 
located at a gas station or service station. These Signs are considered Wall Signs and 
shall be counted towards the allowable wall signage allowed for a development. 

GATEWAY SIGN. A freestanding or monument type of Sign near the municipal 
boundaries of the Town of Florence that introduces or welcomes visitors to the 
community. In certain cases, this may be incorporated into a business’ Freestanding or 
Monument Sign, in which case such signage would not be counted towards the business’ 
allowable signage.  

GRADE. Unless otherwise specified, the average of the highest and lowest elevations of 
the ground at the base of the Sign.  

GROSS FLOOR AREA. The sum of the square footage of all the floors of a structure or 
building.  

HALO ILLUMINATION. A form of internal Illumination where channel lettering is used 
and the light source is hidden behind and glows around the edges of letters or symbols 
giving the effect of a light halo. 

HEIGHT. Unless otherwise specified, the vertical distance from the topmost part of the 
Sign cabinet or Copy (whichever is higher) to Grade.  

HISTORIC DISTRICT. Any officially adopted and recognized Historic District located 
within the Town of Florence. 

HOLIDAY DECORATION. Any display commonly associated with a nationally 
recognized holiday. 

HUMAN SIGN. A Sign held by or attached to a human for the purposes of advertising or 
otherwise drawing attention to an individual, business, commodity, service or product. 
This can also include a person dressed in costume for the purpose of advertising or 



 

 

  Page 7 

drawing attention to an individual, business, commodity, service or product. May also be 
referred to as “Sign Walkers”. 

 
ILLEGAL SIGN. Any Sign or any type that was erected or put up after the effective date 
of the currently adopted Sign Code and does not comply with the Sign Code.  

 
 
ILLUMINATION. Illumination refers to the type and location of the light source for the 
Sign: "All types" of Illumination means any form of light source including indirect, internal, 
exposed bulb including neon or other tubes of light.  
 
INFLATABLE SIGN. A Sign consisting of balloons and/or inflatables made of plastic, 
rubber, metallic, cloth or other materials, regardless of the size, that is used for the 
purpose of attracting attention. 
 
INCIDENTAL SIGN. A Sign posted on private property by the owner of the property that 
is generally informational, contains no Commercial Message, and has a purpose 
secondary to the use of the site on which it is located, such as traffic control Signs, parking 
or loading control Signs, Signs indicating the location of telephones or emergency 
equipment and other similar Signs. Official Signs are not incidental Signs.  

 
INDIRECT ILLUMINATION. Illumination that is cast on a Sign from a source outside the 
Sign.  
 
INTERACTIVE SIGN. A Digital Sign that changes the Sign message based on a passing 
vehicle or person. Radar speed Signs or other traffic control Signs are exempted from 
this definition.  
 
INTERNAL ILLUMINATION. Illumination produced by a light source contained within a 
Sign and not directly visible from outside.  
 
LIQUID-CRYSTAL DISPLAY (LCD). A low-power, flat-panel display used in many digital 
devices to display numbers or images. It is made of liquid containing crystals that are 
affected by electric current, sandwiched between filtering layers of glass or plastic. LCDs 
do not produce light of their own; instead, when electric current is passed through the 
material, the molecules of the "liquid crystal" twist so that they either reflect or transmit 
light from an external source.  
 
LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES (LED) LIGHTING. A type of solid state lighting that utilizes 
light-emitting diodes (LED) as a source of Illumination rather than electrical filaments or 
gas. If the Sign is made up of matrix of bulbs or light source that individually light up to 
form images, it will be considered a Digital Sign. 
 
LED SIGN. A Sign that is lit by use of light-emitting diodes (LED) lighting visible from the 
outside. If the Sign is made up of matrix of bulbs or light source that individually light up 
to form images, it will be considered a Digital Sign.  



Page 8 

LOT. Lot is defined in Section 150.031 of the Development Code. 

LUMINANCE. The physical measurement of brightness or Illumination leaving a surface 
in a particular direction, or reflected off that surface, and can be thought as measuring the 
brightness of a surface as seen by the eye. It is measured in candelas per square meters 
(cd/m2) or nits (one nit = one cd/m2). 

MARQUEE. Any permanent roof-like structure projecting beyond a building or extending 
along and projecting beyond the wall of the building, generally designated and 
constructed to provide protection from the weather. Marquee Signs located on private 
property shall not extend beyond the property line into adjacent lots and, except in the 
redevelopment area or with a right-of-way permit, shall not extend into the right-of-way. 

MODES OF OPERATION. A term referring to the types of visual display, including: 

Dissolve. Signs where static messages are changed by means of varying light 
intensity or pattern, where the first message gradually appears to dissolve and lose 
legibility simultaneous to the gradual appearance and legibility of subsequent 
message.  

Fade. Signs where static messages are changed by means of varying light 
intensity, where the first message gradually reduces intensity to the point of not 
being legible and the subsequent message gradually increases intensity to the 
point of legibility.  

Flashing sign. A Sign that uses blinking or intermittent Illumination. 

Message sequencing. Signs where a single thought, idea, concept, message or 
advertisement for a product or service that is divided into segments and presented 
over two or more successive display phases of a single dynamic Sign or across 
two or more individual dynamic Signs. 

Scrolling. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent vertical 
movement of the letters or graphic element of the message.  

Static. Signs that include no animation or effects simulating animation. 

Travel. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent horizontal 
movement of the letters or graphic elements of the message.  

Video display. Signs that change its message or background in a manner or 
method of display characterized by motion or pictorial imagery, which may or may 
not include text and depicts action or special effect to imitate movement, the 
presentation of pictorials or graphics displayed in a progression of frames which 
give the illusion of motion, including moving objects, moving patterns or bands of 
light or expanding or contracting shapes.  



 

 

  Page 9 

MONUMENT SIGN. A Sign that is attached directly to the ground or is supported by a 
Sign Structure that is placed on or anchored in the ground and is independent from any 
building or other structure. Within this Sign Code, all Monument Signs will be referred to 
as “Freestanding Signs”. 

 
MOVING SIGN. A Sign where the Sign, Sign Structure, or any part of the Sign or Sign 
Structure physically moves or rotates by mechanical means. For example, a tri-vision 
Sign is a moving Sign. If the only moving part of a Sign is a clock, the Sign shall not be 
considered as a moving Sign.  

 
MURAL. A painting or other work of art executed directly on a wall or the like that does 
not contain any Commercial Messages or images. 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD BULLETIN BOARD. Any surface outside of a building provided 
specifically to allow the posting of neighborhood notices.  

 
NEON. A type of Illumination that is produced by neon lights or by lamps containing similar 
gases such as helium, carbon dioxide, argon or krypton usually electrifying glass tubes 
or bulbs.  
 
NONCOMMERCIAL MESSAGE. Any Sign Copy that is not a Commercial Message as 
defined above, and includes any definition of "noncommercial speech" by the Arizona 
Supreme Court, the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, the Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court for purposes of interpreting the 
United States Constitution or Arizona constitution regarding freedom of expression or 
speech.  
 
NONCONFORMING SIGN. Any Sign that was lawfully erected prior to the adoption of an 
ordinance codified in this Sign Code, or amendments thereto, which would not be 
permitted under the ordinance or amendment. This definition shall include Signs that were 
erected without a permit and which would require a permit under the current provisions 
of this Sign Code. 

 
OFFICIAL SIGN. Any Sign owned by, or erected by or at the direction of the Town in 
furtherance of the official duties of the Town or another authorized governmental agency, 
including, but not limited to, traffic control Signs, Directional Signs, street identification 
Signs, warning Signs, parking control Signs, area identification Signs, and Signs 
prohibiting or controlling access to property.  
 
OFF-PREMISE ADVERTISING SIGN. An outdoor advertising Sign that advertises an 
activity, service or product and that is located on premises other than the premises at 
which activity or service occurs or product is sold or manufactured. 
 
ON-PREMISE ADVERTISING SIGN. An outdoor advertising Sign that advertises an 
activity, service or product and that is located on premises at which activity or service 
occurs or product is sold or manufactured. In the case of a shopping center or office 



 

 

  Page 10 

complex or similar arrangement of uses, this may also include a reasonably adjacent 
location within the same center or complex.  
 
PARCEL. See “Lot”. 

  
PENNANT. Any lightweight plastic, fabric, or other material, whether or not containing a 
message of any kind, suspended from a rope, wire, or string, usually in series, designed 
to move in the wind.  

 
PORTABLE SIGN. A movable Sign that is not permanently attached to a structure or the 
ground, and includes: A-frame, portable reader boards and similar Signs. This definition 
does not include any Signs on trailers, vehicles or Digital Signs.  

 
PROJECTING/SUSPENDED SIGN. Any Sign affixed to a building or wall in such a 
manner that its 
face is not 
parallel to the 
wall. A Marquee 
is not considered 
a projecting Sign. 
Projecting Signs 
located on 
private property 
shall not extend 
beyond the 
property line into 
adjacent lots and, 
except in the 
redevelopment 
area or with a 
right-of-way 
permit, shall not 
extend into the 
right-of-way. Projecting/suspended Signs shall have an eight foot minimum clearance 
between the bottom of the Sign and the sidewalk, or finished grade where no sidewalk 
exists. 
 
PROMOTIONAL SIGNS. Promotional Signs are classified as Temporary Signs that are 
used to promote a new business, special offers, sales, special events and similar 
occasions. All Promotional Signs are considered Temporary Signs, but not all Temporary 
Signs are Promotional Signs. 
  

 
PUBLIC TRANSPORATION. Any type of local or regional public transportation service 
that is run by the Town of Florence or a locally endorsed public transportation authority, 
e.g., Central Arizona Regional Transit.  

 
Projecting Sign Example 



 

 

  Page 11 

PYLON SIGN. A Freestanding Sign in excess of ten feet in Height that is detached from 
a building and is supported by one or more structural elements which are architecturally 
similar to the design of the Sign. A pylon Sign is considered a ‘Freestanding Sign.” 
 
 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS. For the purposes of the Sign Code, the following Zoning 
Districts shall be considered Residential Districts: RA-10, RA-4, R1-R, RRES, R1-18, R1-
6, R-2 MFR, MHS and RV. PUD may be Employment/Commercial, Residential or Mixed 
Use District. The underlying land use shall define the type of District applicable. 

 
RESIDENTIAL SIGN. A Sign located within a Residential District.  
 
ROOF. A horizontal or sloping surface of a building which serves as a cover for the 
building or its entry, portico or other appurtenances. This definition shall include any part 
of a building which resembles a roof in form or function.  

 
ROOF SIGN. A Sign painted on, supported by or attached to the roof or roof structure of 
a building. This definition shall not 
include a Sign attached flat against 
the wall of a penthouse; painted flat 
on the roof and only visible from the 
air; attached to a mansard roof or 
parapet as long as the Sign does 
not project above the roofline and 
there is no other viable location on 
the building.  
 
SHINGLE SIGN. A Sign suspended 
from, and located entirely under a 
covered porch, covered walkway or 
an awning and is anchored or 
rigidly hung to prevent the Sign 
from swinging due to wind 
movement. Shingle Signs shall 
have an eight foot minimum 
clearance between the bottom of 
the Sign and the sidewalk, or 
finished grade where no sidewalk 
exists. 
 
SIGN. Any visual communication, 
including appurtenances, which is 
used to attract the attention of the public, when the display is visible beyond the 
boundaries of the property. 

 

Shingle Sign Example 



 

 

  Page 12 

SIGN AREA. The entire area within a 
continuous perimeter, enclosing the 
extreme limits of Sign display, 
including any frame or border. 
Curved, spherical or any other 
shaped Sign face shall be computed 
on the basis of actual surface area. 
The Copy of Signs composed of 
individual letters, numerals or other 
devices shall be the sum of the area 
of the smallest rectangle or other 
geometric figure encompassing all of 
the letters or devices. 
 
SIGN HEIGHT. The Height of the 
Sign measured from the finished 
Grade located directly beneath the 
highest part of the Sign. Where an 
adjacent roadway sits notably higher 
than the adjacent Grade for the Sign 
location, the Height of the Sign may 
be measured from the elevation of 
the centerline of the nearest travel 
lane of the street or highway to which 
the Sign is oriented rather than from 
Grade. 

 
SIGN STRUCTURE.  A structure 
designed to support one or more 
Signs in place.  

 
SITE. Site means (i) a lot or parcel owned by a person or entity, unless the lot or parcel 
is part of a combination or commercial center as defined herein; or (ii) a combination of 
lots or parcels that are contiguous, are owned in fee as a matter of record by the same 
person or entity, have the same zoning classification, and are designated by the owner 
to be a site for purposes of this Sign Code; (iii) a Commercial Center as defined above; 
or (iv) a Bus Stop if the property on which the Bus Stop is located is leased or licensed to 
the Town or locally endorsed regional transportation authority.  
 
SITE FRONTAGE. The linear dimension of a site abutting on public or private street right-
of-way.  

 
STACKED SIGN. Two or more Signs affixed to the same Sign Structure that vary in 
Height from the ground.  

 
SUBDIVISION. Subdivision is defined in Section 150.030 of the Development Code. 

 



Page 13 

SUSPENDED SIGN. A Sign supported from, and below, a building soffit or permanent 
canopy. Also see “Projecting/Suspended Sign”. 

TEMPORARY SIGN. Any Sign that is used only temporarily, is located on-site or off-site 
of the business/entity being advertised and is not permanently mounted to a structure or 
ground. 

TIME AND TEMPERATURE SIGN. A Sign or portion of a Sign which displays only the 
current time and/or temperature and carries no other Copy. A time and temperature Sign 
shall not be considered a flashing or animated Sign and shall not exceed fifteen square 
feet in Sign Area.  

TRI-VISION SIGN. A Sign composed in whole or in part of a series of vertical or horizontal 
slats or cylinders that are capable of being rotated at intervals so that partial rotation of 
the group of slats or cylinders produces a different image and when properly functioning 
allows on a single Sign Structure the display at any given time one of two or more images. 

V-TYPE SIGN. Two or three Signs in the shape of the letter "v" or of a triangle, when 
viewed from above, and supported by integral structures with their faces oriented in 
different directions.  

WALL SIGN. A Sign that is attached parallel to, and within six inches of a wall, painted 
on the wall surface of, or erected and confined within the limits of an outside wall or roof 
of any building or structure, which is supported by such wall or building, and which 
displays only one Sign surface. Included in this definition is a Sign attached to the wall of 
a penthouse or other vertical structure on the top of a roof.  

WINDOW SIGN. Any Sign that is placed upon the exterior or interior window panes of 
glass and is visible from the exterior of the window. Does not include Signs that are not 
attached to the interior of the window and viewable from the outside of the window. 

150.095 Exemptions 

Unless specifically provided otherwise, the following types of Signs and displays are not 
subject to the provisions of this Sign Code and are not counted in any aggregate area or 
number of Sign computations: 

(A) Official Signs. 

(B) Holiday decorations that (i) do not include a Commercial Message and (ii) not 
installed earlier than 30 days before the holiday and (iii) are removed within 30 days 
after the holiday. 

(C) Incidental Signs whose size is not greater than the larger of (i) two square feet or (ii) 
as specified for the particular type of Sign in the most current Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control devices published by the United States Department of Transportation. 



Page 14 

(D) Handicap parking Signs. 

(E) Signs posted on or near easements held by public utilities warning or informing the 
public about the easements or location of public utilities. 

(F) Building identification Signs. 

(G) Nameplates appearing on residences or mailboxes. 

(H) Civic displays. 

(I) The American Flag and the State of Arizona flags on ground mounted flagpoles not 
exceeding twenty feet in Height and displayed in compliance with Federal law.  

(J) Signs that are located within a building or structure and are not visible from a public 
street, sidewalk or alley. 

(K) Building Markers that do not exceed four square feet in size. 

(L) Any temporary on-site or off-site Signs not in excess of sixteen square feet in Sign 
Area and no more than four feet in Height that are used within 72 hours of the 
advertised special event, promotion or sale, including but not limited to realtor Signs, 
garage sale Signs, open house Signs and other similar Signs.  

(M) Signs or Copy permanently embroidered, screened, dyed, stenciled or painted into 
the fabric of umbrellas that are set up in sidewalk cafes. 

(N) Signs painted on or integral to vending machines, fuel dispensing pumps or fuel 
storage tanks. 

(O) Signs painted on the flat surface of the roof and only visible from the air. 

(P) Murals. 

(Q) Signs on public transportation or on/at Bus Stops. 

(R) Any Sign located in such a manner that the Sign is not readily visible, including any 
Sign Illumination, from any adjacent public right-of-way. 

(S) Gateway Signs. 



Page 15 

(T) Vehicle wraps or 
other painted or 
adhesive-type 
signage on 
vehicles that are 
properly 
registered, 
licensed and being 
operated in 
accordance with 
applicable Town of 
Florence 
regulations. 

(U) Human Signs. 

(V) All Signs that are 
specifically regulated by the United States of America and/or the State of Arizona, 
including but not limited to, political Signs.  

150.096 Prohibited Commercial Signs 

The following types of Signs are prohibited within the Town: 

(A) Signs not specifically permitted in or which violate any provision in this Sign Code. 

(B) Signs attached to (i) Official Signs and their Sign Structures, (ii) trees or poles or 
standards that are used for a purpose other than Sign Structures, or (iii) utility 
structures. 

(C) Roof Signs. 

(D) Fence Signs. 

(E) Any display or Sign that imitates or resembles an official traffic signal, Sign device 
or other official warning Signs. 

(F) Interactive Signs. 

(G) Inflatable Signs, unless permitted in conjunction with a temporary use or special 
event. 

(H) Signs on cellular towers, water towers or other equipment except for standard and 
customary manufacturer logos, unless otherwise permitted in the Development 
Code.  



Page 16 

150.097 Prohibited Sign Locations 

(A) General. Notwithstanding any provision in or right established in this Sign Code, no 
Sign shall be permitted in any of the following locations. 

(1) Drains, ditches, flood channels. Except for Official Signs, no Sign shall be 
placed in any ditch, storm drain facility or flood channel, except for Signs 
displayed by a utility regarding any easements or dangers that lie within the 
drain, ditch or flood channel. 

(2) Signs in the public right-of-way or on public property, except as follows: 

(a) Official Signs. 

(b) Building Markers and address Signs. 

(c) Cafe umbrella Signs. 

(d) Bus Stop Signs. 

(e) Signs expressly permitted by the Federal Government and/or the 
Government of Arizona. 

(f) Any Signs expressly allowed by this Sign Code. 

150.098 Standards, Limitation and Requirements for All Signs 

(A) No Sign shall be placed on any lot without the written permission of the owner of the 
lot. 

(B) No Sign may resemble, simulate or conflict with the proper functioning of any Official 
Sign, or use yellow or red blinking or intermittent lights resembling danger or warning 
signals. 

(C) Signs that produce odor, sound, smoke, flame or other emissions are prohibited. 

(D) No obstruction or interference. No Sign shall: 

(1) Obstruct or impair access to a public sidewalk, public or private street or 
driveway, traffic control Sign, Bus Stop, fire hydrant, or any other type of street 
furniture;  

(2) Block the light and ventilation of any residence on any adjoining property 
which is zoned for residential use; or 

(3) Mislead or confuse users of the roadway. 



 

 

  Page 17 

 
(E) Stacked Signs are allowed if (i) the other requirements of this Sign Code are satisfied 

(ii) the Sign is integrated with the structure, and (iii) all Signs on the same structure 
are similar in shape and material with one another, except for channel lettering.  

 
(F) All Signs shall comply with applicable provisions of all codes adopted by the Town 

of Florence.  
 
(G) Except as otherwise indicated by this Sign Code, all Signs shall be permanently 

attached to the ground, a building, or another structure by direct attachment to a 
rigid wall, frame or structure.  

 
(H) All Signs and Sign Structures shall be maintained in good, safe, structural condition 

and repair. All Signs and display surfaces shall be neat in appearance, and neatly 
painted or posted, and not ripped, tattered or faded. Premises immediately 
surrounding Freestanding Signs shall be kept clean and free of rubbish, weeds and 
debris.  
 

(I) All Signs shall be professionally constructed and installed. 
 

(J) All non-exempt Signs are subject to Design Review approval. 
 

(K) Historic District. Signs within the Historic District shall conform to the Town of 
Florence Historic District Guidelines, except as allowed by the Historic District 
Advisory Commission.  
 

(L) Under no scenarios shall the Town of Florence have content-based Sign regulations 
via this Sign Code, the Design Review process or other administrative processes. 
Any provision of this code that imposes a limitation on freedom of speech shall be 
construed in a manner that is viewpoint neutral. 

 
(1) Notwithstanding anything in this code to the contrary, no Sign or Sign 

Structure shall be subject to any limitation based upon the viewpoint of the 
message contained on such Sign or displayed on such Sign Structure.  

(2) Notwithstanding anything in this code to the contrary, it is the policy of the 
Town to regulate Signs in a manner that does not favor commercial speech 
over noncommercial speech and does not regulate protected 
noncommercial speech by message content.  

(3) Within this code, any distinction between onsite Signs and offsite Signs 
applies only to Commercial Messages. It does not apply to Noncommercial 
Messages.   

 
(M) Illumination standards. 

  



 

 

  Page 18 

(1) Direction of light. The light source for all Indirect IIllumination Signs shall be 
effectively shielded to prevent beams or rays from being directed at any 
roadway or abutting property. 

  
(2) Intensity. The intensity and brilliance of light shall not be so great as to 

interfere with the effectiveness of any Official Sign, or impair the vision of or 
distract any person on any roadway.  

 
(3) Prohibited light sources. No Sign shall use a beacon, strobe light, 

racing/traveling or an exposed individual light source (excluding LED and 
neon) which exceeds seventy five watts. 

  
(4) Digital Signs. See subsection150.099(D)(10) for special standards.  

 
(N) Signs not included in computations. If the following types of Signs comply with all 

other requirements of this Sign Code, they need not be included in any allowance 
computations for Sign Area or number of Signs:  

 
(1) Building identification Signs. 

 
(2) Building markers. 

 
(3) Incidental Signs. 

 
(4) Directional Signs. 

 
(5) Internally located Directory Signs. 

 
(6) Signs expressly permitted by the Federal Government and/or the 

Government of Arizona. 
 

(7) Certain Window Signs as provided in the Sign Code. 
 

(8) Signs exempted under Section 150.095 of the Sign Code. 
 

(9) Murals. 
 

(10) As specifically provided in other provisions in the Sign Code. 
 

(O) Computation of Sign Area of individual Signs. The allowable Sign Area shall apply 
to the maximum geometric area of all Sign faces. The area of a Sign comprised of 
individual letters or elements attached to a building wall, which are without an 
integrated background and are not enclosed in a frame or cabinet, the area of the 
letter can be calculated as long as the distance between the letters and/or elements 
is less than the largest dimension of the largest Sign letter. If such a display consists 
of more than one line or component, the area of each line or component may be 



 

 

  Page 19 

calculated separately. Where a display is enclosed in a frame or cabinet, or has an 
integrated background, the entire area within the frame, cabinet or background must 
be included in the calculation.  
 

(P) Computation of Sign Area of multi-faced Signs. The Sign Area for a Sign with more 
than one face shall be computed by adding together the area of all Sign faces visible 
from any one point. When two Sign faces are placed back to back, so that both faces 
cannot be viewed from any point at the same time, and when such Sign faces are 
part of the same Sign Structure and are not more than 25 degrees apart, the Sign 
Area shall be 
computed by the 
measurement of 
one of the faces. 
For Sign faces 
greater than 25 
degrees apart, the 
Sign Area is 
computed to 
include both faces.  
 

(Q) Computation of number of Signs. All Signs contained within a single frame, structure, 
cabinet or integrated background shall be counted as one Sign. If a display is not so 
contained, a single message or business name shall be counted as one Sign. A 
business name combined with a brief slogan may be counted as one Sign if the 
elements are visually integrated.  
 

(R) A comprehensive sign plan (refer to §150.101) may establish unique regulatory 
requirements for a project. 

 
150.099 Signs for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use Districts  
 
(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Sign Code, it shall be unlawful to construct or 

maintain a Sign in an Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use district in violation of 
the specifications and requirements of this Sign Code. 

 
(B) Wall Signs. 
 

 



 

 

  Page 20 

(1) The maximum cumulative Sign Area of Wall Signs shall be calculated at one 
square foot of Sign Area per linear foot of Building Frontage. A minimum 
cumulative Sign Area of 16 square foot shall be permitted in the event a 
Building Frontage is less than 16 feet. A maximum cumulative Sign Area of 
250 square feet shall not be exceeded. 

 
(2) Marquee, Blade, Shingle, Canopy, Projecting and other related types of 

signage shall be considered wall signage and will be counted in the 
cumulative allowable square footage. 
 

(3) Each drive through restaurant lane may be permitted one preview menu 
board and one ordering menu board. These Signs may be freestanding (refer 
to subsection D for Freestanding Sign requirements) or wall mounted and 
shall be located a minimum of 25 feet from the street property line and the 
board(s) shall be screened and oriented in a manner as to not be visible from 
the adjacent public streets. Call box speakers shall be directed away from 
adjacent residential zoned land and residences. The maximum aggregate 
Sign Area for both Signs (per lane) shall not exceed 50 square feet or a 
maximum Height of eight feet per Sign. These Signs shall not be included in 
calculating the total aggregate Sign Area for signage allowed on a parcel, lot 
or for a particular business. 
 

(4) Wall signage may be located on any building elevation. 
 

(5) Wall signage shall not extend horizontally a distance greater than 80 percent 
of the width of the building wall on which it is displayed. 
 

(6) Wall Signs shall not extend above or beyond the wall or roof line. 
 

(7) Wall Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code.  
 

(8) Wall Signs shall not be digital. 
 

 



 

 

  Page 21 

(C) Window Signs. The total Sign Area of all Window Signs for a business shall not 

exceed 25 percent of the total area of all windows located on the same wall plane 

for that business in the building. Wall planes with an offset or break in the wall plane 

in excess of six (6) feet shall be considered separate wall planes. Window Signs 

shall include any advertisement display visible from the exterior of the building and 

located within six (6) feet of the window through which the advertisement is visible.  

Permits are not required for any Window Signs, and Window Signs are not governed 

by or counted against Sign Area or number limitations. Window Signs must, 

however, conform to other standards, requirements and limitations in this Sign Code.  

 
(D) Freestanding Signs. 

 
(1) Up to one Freestanding Sign is allowed for each building frontage. No 

business shall have more than two Freestanding Signs, except as allowed by 
an approved comprehensive sign 
plan (refer to §150.101). 
Freestanding Signs may be 
Monument Signs or Pylon Signs 
finished in a manner that 
architecturally integrates the sign 
with the architectural theme of the 
site.  
 

(2) Sign Height: 
 

(a) The maximum Height of any 
Freestanding Sign shall not 
exceed 15 feet for any property with Building Frontage along State 
Highway 287, State Highway 79, excluding 79B, or Hunt Highway. The 
maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed 10 feet for 
any property with building frontage along a current or planned collector or 
arterial roadway, except as noted in the preceding sentence. In all other 

 

 



 

 

  Page 22 

cases, the maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed 
eight feet. 
 

(b) The width of the Sign base shall not be greater than 10 feet. 
 

(c) The architectural elements of the Sign are included in the Height 

calculation. 

(3) Sign Area: 
 

(a) The maximum Sign Area of a Freestanding Sign shall be: up to 32 square 
feet for a Sign that is eight feet or less in Height; up to 40 square feet for 
a Sign over eight feet in Height, but under 10 feet in Height; and up to 55 
square feet for a Sign over 10 feet in Height and up to 15 feet in Height.  
 

(b) The architectural elements of the Sign are excluded from the Sign Area 
calculation, but not the maximum Height restrictions. 

 
(4) Each drive through restaurant lane may be permitted one preview menu 

board and one ordering menu board. These Signs may be freestanding or 

wall (refer to subsection C for wall Sign requirements) mounted and shall 

be located a minimum of 25 feet from the street property line and the 

board(s) shall be screened and oriented in a manner as to not be visible 

from the adjacent public streets. Call box speakers shall be directed away 

from adjacent residential zoned land and residences. The maximum 

aggregate area for both Signs (per lane) shall not exceed 50 square feet or 

a maximum Height of eight feet per Sign. These Signs shall not be included 

in calculating the total aggregate area for signage allowed on a parcel, lot 

or for a particular business. 

(5) Freestanding Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 
on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. In the event 
the minimum spacing distances are found to be unachievable through the 
Site Plan and Design Review process, a lessor dimension may be approved. 
 

(6) All Freestanding Signs and Sign Structures must contain similar architectural 
elements and materials visually compatible with related buildings on the site. 
All supports used as a part of Freestanding Sign Structures shall be 
covered/wrapped and architecturally integrated with the structure. 
 

(7) Freestanding Signs must be located at least five feet from all property lines, 
easements and/or rights-of-way, except where such placement may be 
allowed with a Right-of-Way Permit. 
 



 

 

  Page 23 

(8) Freestanding Signs must not be located within any sight distance or sight 
triangle areas defined by the Town of Florence. 
 

(9) Freestanding Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code. 

 
(10) In addition to all of the other limitations, standards and requirements for 

Freestanding Signs, if one or more of the permitted Freestanding Signs is 
proposed to be digital, they shall be subject to the following limitations, 
standards and requirements:  

 
(a) Digital Signs shall be prohibited in the Historic District. 

 
(b) One Digital Sign per Site and such Sign shall be considered as one of 

the allowed Freestanding Signs and be subject to all of the requirements 
for Freestanding Signs, as well as the requirements set forth in this 
Section. 

 
(c) The use of fade, dissolve, travel, message sequencing or scrolling is 

prohibited for Signs over 32 square feet.  
 

(d) The use of video display, flashing or blinking is prohibited for any Digital 
Sign. 

 
(e) Digital Signs must contain a minimum constant display of no less than 

eight seconds. Maximum time allowed for messages to change is one 
second. 

 

(f) Digital displays shall not operate at brightness levels of more than 0.3 
foot candles above ambient light, as measured using a foot-candle 
meter at a pre-set distance depending on Sign Area. The pre-set 
distances to measure the foot-candles shall be calculated by the square 
root of the Sign Area times one hundred. Example using a 12 square-
foot Sign: Measurement Distance =  √(12 x 100) = 34.6 feet. The 
measurement distance can be rounded to the nearest whole number. 

 
(g) Digital Signs shall be sited in a manner that the intensity or brilliance 

does not interfere with the effectiveness of an official traffic Sign, device 
or signal. 
 

(h) The Digital Sign shall include photo-sensors to provide automatic 
intensity adjustment based on ambient lighting conditions. 

 
(i) Signs with a digital component shall consist of one unit. 

 



 

 

  Page 24 

(j) Digital Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 

on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. In the 

event the minimum spacing distances are found to be unachievable 

through the Site Plan and Design Review process, a lessor dimension 

may be approved. 

 
(k) The closest distance separation from any property zoned for single-

family residential uses shall be a minimum of 300 feet. 
 
(E) Temporary Signs. 

 
(1) Banners, pennants and displays for grand openings and special events. 

 
(a) All businesses shall be permitted to display grand opening Signs at the 

time of original opening or when reopened by a new owner or lessee for 
a maximum period of 30 days.  

 
(b) Banners, pennants and other displays for special events may be allowed 

for a maximum period of 30 consecutive days on each occasion, with 
the exception of grand opening or reopening Signs. A minimum of 30 
consecutive days shall pass between each special event banner, 
pennants or related display.  

 

(c) No pennant, banner or display shall be placed on or above the roof of 
any building. 

 

(d) For special events and promotions, the maximum banner size shall be 
48 square feet, and shall be limited to one per street frontage of the 
business.  

 

(e) For grand openings, the maximum banner size shall be 48 square feet, 
and shall be limited to one per street frontage of the business. 

 

(f) Banners and pennants shall be displayed on the building or within the 
parking area, perimeter landscape or some other on-site area. 

 

(g) No banner or pennant Sign shall be located in a manner that impedes 
visibility or accessibility.   

 
(2)  A-Frame Signs 

(a) An A-Frame Sign shall be no greater than three feet in width and four 
feet in Height. 

  
(b) A-Frame Signs shall be limited to one per street frontage of the 

business. 



 

 

  Page 25 

 

(c) A-Frame Signs may only be 
displayed during the posted 
hours the business is open to 
conduct business. 

 
(d) A-Frame Signs must include 

the name of the business 
being advertised. 

 
(e) A-Frame Signs shall be 

located at Grade level. 
 
(f) A-Frame Signs must be 

located on the property of the 
business being advertised, or 
on the immediately adjacent 
right-of-way. Signs placed 
along the immediately adjacent right-of-way shall be a minimum of 
three (3) feet behind curb or edge of pavement and not located on a 
sidewalk. In no event shall two A-Frame Signs be located closer than 
ten (10) feet to one another. Sight visibility triangles shall remain clear 
of all signage. 

 

(g) A-Frame Signs shall not be located in parking aisles or parking stalls, 
in raised or painted medians; where they may present a hazard or 
impede pedestrian traffic; in driving lanes; or on fences, boulders, 
planters, on other Signs, on vehicles, on utility facilities or any structure. 

 

(h) A-Frame Signs shall be professionally constructed and maintained in a 
manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters. 

 

(i) A-Frame Signs shall not include any form of Illumination, animation, 
reflective materials or sound emitting devices. 

 
(3) Construction or Development Signs. 

 

 

 



 

 

  Page 26 

(a) One Sign may be posted on the lot or parcel where the construction or 
repair will be conducted. The Sign Area shall be a maximum of 32 
square feet and a maximum Height of eight feet above finished grade. 
 

(b) Signs shall be allowed from three months preceding physical site 
construction or development to one month after the completion of 
construction or issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever 
occurs first. 

 
 
150.100 Signs for Residential Districts  
 
(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Sign Code, it shall be unlawful to construct or 

maintain a Sign in a residential district in violation of the specifications and 
requirements of this Sign Code. 

 
(B) Wall Signs. 

 
(1) Wall Signs shall only be placed upon community buildings within residential 

subdivisions unless required by law. 
 

(2) The maximum cumulative Sign Area of Wall Signs shall be calculated at one 
square foot of Sign Area per linear foot of Building Frontage. A minimum 
cumulative Sign Area of six square feet shall be permitted. A maximum 
cumulative Sign Area of 16 square feet shall not be exceeded. 
 

(3) Marquee, Blade, Shingle, Canopy, Projecting and other related types of 
signage shall be prohibited. 
 

(4) Wall signage may be located on a building elevation that faces a current or 
planned right-of-way. 
 

(5) Wall Signs shall not extend horizontally a distance greater than 80 percent of 
the width of the building wall on which it is displayed. 
 

(6) Wall Signs shall not extend above or beyond the wall or roof line. 
 

(7) Wall Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code.  
 

(8) Wall Signs shall not be digital. 
 
(C) Freestanding or Monument Signs. 

 



 

 

  Page 27 

(1) One on-site Freestanding or Monument Sign is allowed per Arterial roadway 
frontage (Collector Roadway frontage when Arterial Roadway frontage does 
not exist). Freestanding or Monument Signs shall be located adjacent to the 
subdivision entrance(s). 
 

(2) Sign Height: 
 

(a) The maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed eight feet 
in Height for any property. 
 

(b) The width of the Sign base shall not be greater than ten feet. 
 

(c)  The architectural elements of the Sign are included in the Height 

calculation. 

(3) Sign Area: 
 

(a) The maximum area of a Freestanding Sign shall be 32 square feet.  
 

(b) The architectural elements of the Sign are excluded from the Sign Area 
calculation. 

 
(4) Freestanding Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 

on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. 
 

(5) All Freestanding Signs and Sign Structures must contain similar architectural 
elements and materials visually compatible with related buildings on the site. 
All supports used as a part of Freestanding or Monument Sign Structures 
shall be covered/wrapped and architecturally integrated with the structure. 
 

(6) Freestanding Signs must be located at least five feet from all property lines, 
easements and/or rights-of-way, except where such placement may be 
allowed with a Right-of-Way Permit. Additional clearance from other 
structures and utilities may be required. 
 

(7) Freestanding Signs must not be located within any sight distance or sight 
triangle areas defined by the Town of Florence. 

 
 

(8) Freestanding Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code. 
 

(9) Freestanding Digital Signs. 
 



 

 

  Page 28 

a. Freestanding Digital Signs are only permitted in the MFR, MHS and RV 
Residential Zoning Districts. 
 

b. Should one or more of the permitted Freestanding Signs be digital, 
freestanding Digital Signs shall also be in compliance with the Digital Sign 
requirements provided for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use 
Zoning Districts.  

 
(D) Window Signs with Commercial Messages are prohibited in Residential Zoning 

Districts. 
 

(E) Temporary Signs for Subdivisions. 
 

(1) During the construction phase, each subdivision may have one on-site Sign 
located at the subdivision advertising the subdivision. The Sign shall have a 
maximum Sign Area of 96 square feet and may be single or double faced with 
a maximum Height of 10 feet and boxed edges. The Sign shall not be located 
within 100 feet of any property line of an existing residence. The Sign must 
be removed when 95 percent of the lots within the subdivision are sold and/or 
the on-site sales office(s) closes.  
 

(2) Subdivision identification flags may be placed on or behind the property line 
of the subdivision. No more than twelve flags may be placed at any one 
subdivision. The flags shall have a maximum area of 12 square feet and may 
not be maintained higher than 25 feet above the adjoining ground. The flags 
must be removed when 95 percent of the lots in the subdivision are sold 
and/or the on-site sales office closes. 

 

(3) Additional on-site subdivision advertising and Directional Signs may be 
permitted if approved in a comprehensive sign plan (refer to §150.101) or by 
a Development Agreement. 

 

(F) Construction or Development Signs. 
 

(1) One Sign may be posted on the lot or parcel where the construction or repair 
will be conducted. The Sign Area shall have a maximum of 32 square feet 
and a maximum Height of eight feet. 
 

(2) Signs shall be allowed from three months preceding physical site construction 
or development to one month after the completion of construction or issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever occurs first. 

 
150.101  Comprehensive Sign Plan Required 
 
(A) Prior to issuance of Sign permits for any business or occupancy in a development, 

a comprehensive sign plan detailing the size, type, location, and color of all signage 



 

 

  Page 29 

within the development shall be submitted to the Town in conjunction with the Design 
Review process and adhere to the same review and approval procedures set forth 
in §150.013 of this Code, as applicable. An approved comprehensive sign plan shall 
be required for the following types of uses:  

 
(1) Three or more businesses on a single parcel of land 
(2) Three or more businesses in a single cohesive development 
(3) Commercial, Office, Institutional, or Multiple-family developments of 15 acres 

or more  
(4) PUD’s 
(5) Single-family Residential subdivisions of 160 acres or more 
(6) As otherwise prescribed in this Development Code 

 
(B) A comprehensive sign plan application shall be made in writing on forms provided 

by the Town. 
 

(C) A comprehensive sign plan that proposes a deviation from any of the requirements 
provided in this subsection shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission.  

 

(D) Amendments to an approved comprehensive sign plan shall be reviewed and 
approved in the same manner as the original approval.   

 
150.102  Submittal and Permit Requirements 
 
(A) Sign permit approval is required for constructing or altering any non-exempt Sign. 

 
(B) A Sign permit application shall be made in writing on forms provided by the Town. 
 
(C) Before issuing any Sign permit required by this Sign Code, the Town shall collect a 

fee in accordance with an adopted Schedule of Fees. If work, for which a permit is 
required by this Development Code, is started before a permit has been issued, the 
fees specified above shall be doubled. The payment of the double fee shall not 
relieve any persons from complying fully with the requirements of this Sign Code in 
the execution of the work or from any penalties prescribed herein. 
 

(D) All Signs for which a permit is required shall be subject to inspections during various 
stages of construction as prescribed by the Town. 

 
150.103 Exceptions; Permits Not Required 
 
Sign permits are not required for the following Signs provided that the Signs are subject 
to all other provisions of this Sign Code (Note: This does not exempt any applicable 
permits for electrical work.): 
 

 



 

 

  Page 30 

(A) Standard Sign maintenance; 
 

(B) Change of Sign Copy within an identical Sign frame; 
 

(C) Adhesive or painted Signs on windows;  
 

(D) Signs allowed only by the authority of the Federal Government, the State of Arizona 
or another political subdivision, but otherwise not permitted by this Sign Code;  

 
(E) Vehicle wraps or other painted or adhesive-type signage on vehicles;  

 
(F) Signs required for the posting of neighborhood meetings or public hearings related 

to Town of Florence applications; or 
 

(G) Promotional and Temporary Signs allowed by this Sign Code, except as otherwise 
noted. 
  

150.104 Legal Nonconforming Signs 
 
(A) Legal Nonconforming Signs shall mean a Sign that is lawfully existing at the time of 

the enactment of this Development Code that does not conform to the regulations 
as specified in this Sign Code. 
 

(B) A legal Nonconforming Sign may continue to be utilized in perpetuity only in the 
manner and to the extent that it existed at the time of the adoption of this Sign Code 
or any amendment thereto. 

 

(C) A legal Nonconforming Sign may not be altered in any manner not in conformance 
with this Sign Code. This does not apply to reasonable repair and maintenance of 
the Sign or to a change of Copy provided that by changing the Copy, structural 
alterations are not required. 

 

(D) Any construction permit that invokes certificate of occupancy requirements shall 
specify and require that any Nonconforming Sign located within the boundaries of 
the development site and within the limits of the applicant's control, shall be brought 
into conformance with the provisions of this Sign Code. This may include removal if 
the Sign is now classified as a prohibited Sign. 

 

(E) Legal Nonconforming Signs located on a parcel of property that is severed from a 
larger parcel of property and acquired by a public entity for public use by 
condemnation, purchase or dedication may be relocated on the remaining parcel. 
Said relocation shall not extinguish the legal nonconforming status of that Sign 
provided that the Nonconforming Sign: 

 
(1) Is not increased in area or Height to exceed the limits of the district in which 

it is located; 



 

 

  Page 31 

 
(2) Remains structurally unchanged except for reasonable repairs or alterations; 
 

(3) Is placed in the most similar position on the remaining property that it 
occupied prior to the relocation; and 

 

(4) Is relocated in a manner so as to comply with all applicable safety 
requirements. 

 
(F) After relocation pursuant to this division, the legal Nonconforming Sign shall be 

subject to all provisions of this Sign Code in its new location. 
 
150.105  Signs Rendered Nonconforming 
 
(A) Except as provided in this Sign Code, a Nonconforming Sign may continue in the 

manner and to the extent that it existed at the time of the ordinance adoption, 
amendment or annexation which rendered the Sign nonconforming. This Sign Code 
shall not prohibit reasonable repairs and alterations to Nonconforming Signs. 
 

(B) A Sign approved by variance or comprehensive sign plan before the effective date 
of this Sign Code, shall not be considered nonconforming and shall not be subject 
to the regulations set forth in this Sign Code. 

 

(C) A Nonconforming Sign shall not be re-erected, relocated or replaced unless it is 
brought into compliance with the requirements of this Sign Code. 

 

(D) If the structure of a Nonconforming Sign is changed, the Height and Sign Area shall 
not be increased to exceed the Height and Sign Area limits of the site on which it is 
located. If the Sign exceeds the site's Height and/or area limitations, the excess 
Height and/or Sign Area shall be reduced a minimum of 50%. Two reductions shall 
be permitted; after the third structural change, the Sign shall conform to current 
standards. Nothing in this Sign Code shall require a Nonconforming Sign to be 
reduced to a Height or Sign Area less than that allowed on the site. 

 

(E) If a Nonconforming Sign is located on a parcel that is experiencing development for 
which site plan and/or Design Review is required, the Height and Sign Area of the 
Sign shall not be increased to exceed the Height and Sign Area limitations of the 
site. If the Sign exceeds the site's Height and/or Sign Area limitations, the excess 
Height and/or Sign Area shall be reduced to a minimum of 50 percent. Two 
reductions shall be permitted; after the third structural change, the Sign shall 
conform to current standards. Nothing in this Sign Code shall require a 
Nonconforming Sign to be reduced to a Height or Sign Area less than that allowed 
on the site. 

 



 

 

  Page 32 

(F) Site plan and/or Design Review required by one of the following types of 
development shall not cause reduction in a Sign's nonconforming Height and/or Sign 
Area: 

 
(1) An addition of less than 2,000 square feet when the addition is less than 50 

percent of the size of the usable space of the site which is the subject of 
Design Review. A series of additions, which total more than 50 percent of the 
usable space of the site, shall require reduction of non-conformities. Usable 
space shall not include areas such as restrooms and storage rooms. 
 

(2) An addition of more than 2,000 square feet when the addition is less than 10 
percent of the size of the usable space of the site which is the subject of 
Design Review. A series of additions, which total more than 10 percent of the 
usable space of the site, shall require reduction of non-conformities. Usable 
space shall not include areas such as restrooms and storage rooms. 

 
(3) A modification required by federal, state or local regulations or programs. 

 
150.106 Abandoned Signs  
 
(A) Criteria for establishing abandonment. A Sign or Sign Structure shall be considered 

abandoned when any of the following occurs:  
 

(1) Any business advertised thereon is no longer in business and has not been 
in business anywhere within the Town for more than six months; 
 

(2) Any product or service advertised thereon is no longer offered and has not 
been offered for the past six months;  
 

(3) The structure no longer supports a Sign for a period of six months; 
 

(4) The Sign, structure or advertising display is visibly damaged or partially 
missing; and/or 
 

(5) Internal or halo Illumination is partially or wholly burned out or inoperative. 
 

(B) Removal of abandoned Signs. Any Sign or Sign Structure that has been abandoned 
shall be removed or restored to use within 30 days after a notice of abandonment is 
issued to the owner of the site. Notice shall be given by the Community Development 
Director using certified mail. The Community Development Director may allow an 
abandoned Sign or Sign Structure to remain in place provided that the Sign or Sign 
Structure is maintained in good condition, and that there is a reasonable possibility 
that the Sign will be restored to use within a one-year period. 
 



 

 

  Page 33 

(C) Historic Signs. Abandoned Signs that are deemed by the Community Development 
Director to be historically significant may be permitted to remain for a specified 
duration, provided such Signs do not present any safety considerations.  
 

(D) Variances and minor deviations. Variances and deviations from the provisions of this 
Section may not be granted. 

 
150.107  Unsafe Signs 
 
If the Community Development Director, or designee, determines any Sign or Sign 
Structure to be in an unsafe condition, he or she shall immediately notify, in writing, the 
owner of the Sign who shall correct the condition within 48 hours. If the correction has not 
been made within 48 hours, the Community Development Director shall cause the Sign 
to be removed if it creates a danger to the public safety or have any necessary repairs or 
maintenance performed at the expense of the Sign owner, owner or lessee of the property 
upon which the Sign is located. The cost shall be an assessment against the property 
which may be recorded by the Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-499. 
 
150.108 Enforcement and Penalties  
 
(A) To the extent not inconsistent with this Sign Code, the provisions of §150.999 shall 

apply to enforcement of this Sign Code.  
 

(B) Illegal Signs may be removed by Town officials. 
 
150.109 to 150.130 Reserved 



150.099 Signs for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use Districts...

Exhibit B



Ad Hoc Sign Committee Recommended
Changes to A-Frame Signs Page 26 

hundred (500) feet of the business. 

i. The Off-Premise Advertising Sign is restricted to placement on
private property only and must have written property owners 
permission to locate on their property. 

ii. The Off-Premise Advertising Sign may be an A-Frame or Bandit
Sign. 

1. A Bandit Sign is defined as having less than six (6) square
feet and are made of a variety of materials such as vinyl,
paper, corrugated plastic, poster board, plastic core,
cardboard, wood, or plywood; and include signs with wood
or wire framing, posts, or stakes.

(b)(c) A-Frame Signs may only be 
displayed during the posted 
hours the business is open to 
conduct business. 

(c)(d) A-Frame Signs must include 
the name of the business 
being advertised. 

(d)(e) A-Frame Signs shall be 
located at Grade level. 

(f) A-Frame Signs must be
located on the property of the
business being advertised, or
on the immediately adjacent
right-of-way. Signs placed
along the immediately adjacent right-of-way shall be a minimum of
three (3) feetlocated behind curb or edge of pavement and maintain not
located on a sidewalkminimum of a four (4) foot pedestrian path to
accommodate ADA.

i. In no event shall two (2) A-Frame Signs be located closer than ten
(10) feet to one another.

i.ii. Sight visibility triangles shall remain clear of all signage.

(e)(g) A-Frame Signs shall not be located in parking aisles or parking stalls, 
in raised or painted medians; where they may present a hazard or 



Ad Hoc Sign Committee Recommended
Changes to A-Frame Signs Page 27 

impede pedestrian traffic; in driving lanes; or on fences, boulders, 
planters, on other Signs, on vehicles, on utility facilities or any structure. 

(h) A-Frame Signs shall be professionally constructed and maintained in a
manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters.

i. Sign materials should be either wood or metal (not flat sheet siding).

ii. Materials such as plastic, foam, paper, cardboard, laminated paper,
or vinyl are discouraged. 

iii. Recycled products may be considered provided they have a similar
design affect as wood or metal. 

iv. A-Frame Signs shall be made to be secure and shall not blow or
move in the wind. 

i.v. Balloons of any type are prohibited.

(i) A-Frame Signs shall not be permanently affixed to the ground or
chained to anything.

(j) No Sign shall detract from the historic character of the Main Street
Historic District or otherwise be a visual/physical nuisance. 

i. Challenges to design compatibility within the Town of Florence
Historic District shall be referred to the Historic District Advisory 
Commission (HDAC) for review. 

(k) Any business not in compliance with existing Sign requirements shall
not be permitted an A-Frame Sign. 

(l) A-Frame Signs shall not include any form of Illumination, animation,
reflective materials or sound emitting devices; except for downward
facing integral or attached solar fixture, or internal, backlit, non-moving
screen.

(m) A-Frame Signs shall not lean against the building or any other structure
but must be self-supportive. 

(n) A-Frame Signs shall have an open base, with cut-outs or legs.

(o) Periodic “Special Events” sponsored or authorized by the Town of
Florence are exempt from these regulations. 



Ad Hoc Sign Committee Recommended 
Changes to A-Frame Signs Page 28 

(3) Construction or Development Signs.

(a) One Sign may be posted on the lot or parcel where the construction or
repair will be conducted. The Sign Area shall be a maximum of 32
square feet and a maximum Height of eight feet above finished grade.

(b) Signs shall be allowed from three months preceding physical site
construction or development to one month after the completion of
construction or issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever
occurs first.



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8a.   

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Services 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Bryan Hughes, 
                                      Community Services Director 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   
Subject:  Services Agreement – Florence Music Festival Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 
SUBJECT:  Services Agreement with Florence Music  
                    Festival, LLC for the 2020 Florence Music Festival

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Approval of a Services Agreement with Florence Music Festival, LLC, for 2020 Florence 
Music Festival in the amount of $24,500. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Earlier in the year, the Town Council expressed an interest in adding new special 
events, particularly running events such as a 5K, a music festival, and an art festival.  
Staff subsequently included an additional $75,000 for new events in the current fiscal 
year budget. 
 
Staff has proposed partnering with outside organizations and/or promoters to coordinate 
these new events, as they often take significant staff time and special resources. 
 
In August, staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) from qualified applicants to 
coordinate a music festival, however there was no response.  In October, staff made a 
few changes and reissued an RFP. 
 
Florence Music Festival LLC submitted the only proposal.  After reviewing their 
submittal and following up with questions, staff is recommending entering into a 
services agreement with Florence Music Festival LLC to produce a music festival.  Staff 
feels that this partnership will achieve the Town Council’s goal of adding a music festival 
and thus providing another event for town residents and attracting visitors to Florence.  



Subject:  Services Agreement – Florence Music Festival Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

Florence Music Festivals LLC requested $30,000 from the Town to support the festival; 
however, staff is recommending funding of $24,500 as part of the agreement. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town would not partner with Florence Music Festivals LLC and would have to 
consider other options to coordinate a music festival. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town will move forward with partnering with Florence Music Festivals LLC to 
coordinate the Florence Music Festival, scheduled for March 15-16, 2020. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Staff included an additional $75,000 for new events in the current fiscal year budget.  It 
was estimated that the amount would be distributed equally among the three new 
events, or $25,000 each.  This agreement is for $24,500 and falls within the budget for 
new special events. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Services Agreement with Florence Music Festival for 2020 Florence Music Festival 



1  

COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

The SERVICES AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Florence Music 
Festival LLC (“Vendor”) and the Town of Florence, a political subdivision of the State of Arizona (“Town”), 
effective as of November 6, 2019  (the “Effective Date”). Town and the Vender may be referred to in this 
Agreement collectively as the “parties” and each individually as a “party”.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, Vendor and Town agree as follows: 
 
Scope of Services:  Vendor shall provide the Services described in the Scope of Services attached 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit "A" (the "Services" or “Scope of Services”, or “Program”). All 
work shall be reviewed and approved by Town's Contract Administrator to determine acceptable 
completion. Review and approval by the Contract Administrator shall not relieve Vendor of any liability 
for improper, negligent or inadequate Services rendered pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
Fees:  The amount paid to the Vendor under this Agreement, including reimbursable expenses, shall not 
exceed $24,500.00.  Vendor shall be paid in full within 30 days of the completion of the Program. The Town 
of Florence will waive Facility Fees associated with event.  
 
Termination for Convenience:  Town has the right to terminate, suspend or abandon this Agreement 
for cause or convenience, or to terminate any portion of the Services which have not been performed by 
the Vendor. Town may terminate this Agreement, or any part thereof for its sole convenience, at any 
time without penalty or recourse. Vendor shall receive payment for Services satisfactorily completed and 
accepted by Town, as determined by Town in its reasonable discretion, based on the Scope of Services 
and schedule for payment.   
 
Independent Contractor:  It is understood that Vendor shall be an independent contractor with respect 
to Services provided under this Agreement, and shall not be deemed to be a partner, employee, joint 
venturer, agent, or to have any other legal relationship with Town. As an independent contractor, Vendor 
shall: (a) have discretion in deciding upon the method of performing the Services provided; (b) not be 
entitled to worker’s compensation benefits from the Town; (c) not be entitled to any Town sponsored benefit 
plan; (d) shall select the hours of his/her work; (e) shall provide her/his own equipment and tools; and(f) to 
the extent required by law, be responsible for obtaining and remaining licensed to provide the Services.  
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, Town shall not be responsible for the payment of any 
taxes, permit fees or licenses incurred or required by Vendor in order to perform Services under this 
Agreement. Vendor understands that the Vendor is responsible to pay, according to law, the Vendor's 
income tax, and this may include Vendor's self-employment, social security, and other taxes. As an 
independent contractor, Vendor is responsible for providing all workers' compensation insurance required 
by law. Vendor shall be solely responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, agents, servants, 
and employees. 
 
Cancellation of Agreement:  This Agreement is subject to cancellation by Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
511, the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Indemnification:  The Vendor shall at all times indemnify, keep indemnified, defend and save harmless 
Town and any of its Mayor, council members, agents, officials, officers, representatives, volunteers and 
employees from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, loss, costs and/or damages 
of every kind and description including any attorney's fees and/or litigation expenses which may be 
brought or made against  or  incurred  by Town on account of loss of or damage to any property or for 
injuries to or death of any person caused by, arising out of, or contributed to, in whole or in part, by 
reason of any alleged act, omission, professional error, fault, mistake, or negligence of the Vendor, its 
employees, agents, representatives,  or subcontractors, their employees, agents, or  representatives  in  
connection  with  or  incidental  to  the  performance  of this  Agreement  or  arising  out Workers' 
Compensation claims, Unemployment Compensation claims, or Unemployment Disability Compensation 



2  

claims of employees of the Vendor or its subcontractors or claims under similar laws or obligations. 
The Vendor's obligations under this paragraph shall not extend to any liability caused by the sole 
negligence of Town or its employees. 
 
In the event that any action or proceeding shall at any time be brought against Town by reason of any 
claim referred to in this Section, the Vendor, at Vendor's sole cost and upon at least 10 day's written 
notice from Town, shall defend the same with counsel acceptable to Town, in Town's sole discretion. The 
Vendor's obligations under this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
Insurance provisions set forth in this Agreement are separate and independent from the indemnity 
provisions of this Section and shall not be construed in any way to limit the scope and magnitude of this 
Indemnification, nor shall this Indemnification be construed in any way to limit the scope, magnitude or 
applicability of the insurance provisions. 
 
Notice:  Unless otherwise provided herein, demands or notices under this Agreement will be in writing and 
will be deemed to have been duly given and received either (a) on the date of services if personally 
delivered to the party to whom notice is to be given, or (b) on the 3rd day after the date of the postmark 
of deposit by first class United States mail, registered or certified postage prepaid and properly addressed 
according to the party's place of business as set forth herein. 
 
Insurance: 

A. The Vendor shall provide and maintain and cause any subcontractors to provide and maintain 
appropriate insurance. In no event shall the total coverage be less than the minimum insurance 
coverage specified below: 

 
1. Commercial General Liability in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) 

per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) general aggregate. 
2. Automobile Liability in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per 

occurrence. 
3. Statutory Workman’s compensation. 

 
B. The Vendor shall name Town, its Mayor, council members, agents, officers, representatives, 

officials, volunteers and employees as additional insureds and shall specify that the insurance 
afforded by the Vendor shall be primary insurance and that any insurance coverage carried or 
self-insurance by Town, any department or employee shall be excess coverage and not 
contributory insurance to that provided by the Vendor. Said policy shall contain a severability of 
interest provision. Town reserves the right to continue payment of premium for which 
reimbursement shall be deducted from amounts due or subsequently due Vendor. 

 
C. Failure on the part of the Vendor to procure and maintain the requested liability insurance and 

provide proof thereof to Town within ten (10) days following the commencement of a new policy, 
shall constitute a material breach of the Agreement upon which Town may immediately terminate 
this Agreement. Within ten (10) days of signing this Agreement, the Vendor shall furnish the 
Town with copies of the Certificate of Insurance and Endorsements drawn in conformity with the 
above insurance requirements. Town reserves the right to request and receive certified copies of 
any or all of the above policies and endorsements. 

 
D. The Vendor agrees to comply with statutory requirements for both workers' compensation and 

unemployment insurance coverage during the term of this Agreement. A Certificate of Insurance 
for workers' compensation coverage shall be provided within ten (10) days of signing this 
Agreement. The insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against Town, its Mayor 
and Council members, its officers, representatives, officials, volunteers, agents, and employees 
for losses arising from Services performed by the Vendor for Town. 

 
E. The Vendor is primarily responsible for the risk management of its Services under this 

Agreement, including but not limited to obtaining and maintaining the required insurance and 
establishing and maintaining a reasonable risk control and safety program. Town reserves the 



3  

right to amend the requirements herein at any time during the Agreement subject to at least (5) days 
written notice. The Vendor shall require any and all subcontractors to maintain insurance as 
required herein naming Town and Vendor as "Additional Insured" on all insurance policies, 
except Worker's Compensation, and this shall be reflected on the Certificate of Insurance. The 
Vendor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to all other available 
sources. Coverage provided by the Vendor shall not be limited to the liability assumed under the 
Indemnification provision of this Agreement. To the extent permitted by law, Vendor waives all 
rights of subrogation or similar rights against Town, its Mayor and council members, officials, 
agents, representatives, officers, volunteers and employees. All insurance policies, except 
Workers' Compensation required by this Agreement, and self-insured retention or deductible 
portions, shall name, to the fullest extent permitted by law for claims arising out of the 
performance of this Agreement, Town, its Mayor and council members, agents, representatives, 
officers, directors, officials, volunteers and employees as Additional Insureds. Town reserves 
the right to require complete copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by 
this Agreement at any time. Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this 
Agreement, or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of contract. 

 
COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and each originally 
executed duplicate counterpart of this Agreement shall be deemed to possess the full force and effect 
of the original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument, binding on all of the 
parties. The parties agree that this Agreement may be transmitted between them via facsimile. The 
parties intend that faxed signatures constitute original signatures and that a faxed Agreement containing 
the signatures (original or faxed) of all the parties is binding upon the parties. 
 
CONSTRUCTION:  The terms and provisions of this Agreement represent the results of negotiations 
between the parties, each of which has been or has had the opportunity to be represented by counsel 
of its own choosing, and neither of which has acted under any duress or compulsion, whether legal, 
economic or otherwise. Consequently, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted 
and construed in accordance with their usual and customary meanings, and the parties each hereby 
waive the application of any rule of law which would otherwise be applicable in connection with the 
interpretation and construction of this Agreement that ambiguous or conflicting terms or provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed against the party whose attorney prepared 
the executed Agreement or any earlier draft of the same. 
 
DISPUTES, GOVERNING LAW:  Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms 
or provisions contained in this Agreement, the matter shall first be referred to Town, and Town shall 
determine the term or provision's true intent and meaning. This Agreement shall be deemed to be made 
under, shall be construed in accordance with, and shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Arizona, without reference to choice of law or conflicts of laws principles thereof. 
 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties and 
supersedes all previous representations, written or oral, with respect to the Services specified herein. 
The Agreement may not be modified or amended except by a written document, signed by authorized 
representatives for each party. 
 
LICENSES:  Vendor shall maintain in current status all Federal, State, and Local licenses and permits 
required for the operations of the business conducted by Vendor and the Services to be provided under this 
Agreement. 
 
PERMITS AND RESPONSIBILITIES:  Vendor, shall, without additional expense to Town, be responsible 
for obtaining any necessary licenses and permits and for complying with any applicable Federal, State, 
County and Municipal Laws, codes and regulations in connection with the execution of the work, provision 
of Services and provision of materials. 
 
NON-EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES:  The rights and the remedies of Town under this Agreement are not 
exclusive. Town shall be entitled to offset against any sums due to Vendor, any expenses or costs incurred 



4  

by Town, or damages assessed by Town concerning Vendor's non-conforming performance or failure to 
perform the Agreement, including costs and damages incurred by Town. 
 
SURVIVAL:  All warranties, representations and indemnification by Vendor shall survive the completion, 
expiration, or termination of this Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Vendor and Town have caused this document to be executed by their 
duly authorized representatives, this    date of    , 2019. 
 
 
REVIEWED:      VENDOR: 
 
 
By:        By:        
 Community Services Director     
 
 
TOWN OF FLORENCE:      
 
 
By:         
 Town Manager/Deputy Town Manager 
 
 
AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By:        

Town Attorney 
 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

2020 FLORENCE MUSIC FESTIVAL  

Town of Florence 
P O Box 2670 

775 N. Main Street  
Florence, Arizona 85132 

SOLICITATION INFORMATION AND SCHEDULE 

Solicitation Number: CS2019-03 

Release Date: October 4, 2019 

Advertisement Dates: October 10 and October 17, 2019  
Florence Reminder and Blade-Tribune 
 

Final Date for Inquires October 18, 2019 

Proposal Deadline: 
 

October 30, 2019 
10:00 a.m. (local time, Phoenix, Arizona) 

Proposal Opening: October 30, 2019 
10:30 a.m. (local time, Phoenix, Arizona) 

Town Representative:  Alison Feliz, alison.feliz@florenceaz.gov 
 (520) 868-7585 

In accordance with the Town of Florence Procurement Code, competitive sealed pproposals for 
the services specified herein will be received by the Town Clerk, at the Town Clerk’s Office, at 
the above-referenced location until the date and time referenced above (the “Proposal 
Deadline”).  Proposals received by the Proposal Deadline shall be publicly opened and the 
proposal price read.  Proposals shall be in the actual possession of the Town Clerk on, or prior 
to, the Proposal Deadline date.  Late proposals shall not be considered except as provided in 
the Town Procurement Code.  Proposals shall be submitted in a sealed envelope with the 
Solicitation Number and the proposer’s name and address clearly indicated on the front of the 
envelope. 

 
* The Town of Florence reserves the right to amend the solicitation schedule as necessary. 

 

EXHIBIT A



TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 

OFFER FORM 
 

The undersigned (the “Proposer”) hereby offers this Proposal as an offer to contract with the 
Town under the terms and conditions set forth below and certifies that Proposer has read, 
understands and agrees to fully comply with, and be contractually bound by, all terms and 
conditions as set forth in this Request for Proposal (“RFP”), the Contract formed hereby (as 
defined below) and any amendments thereto, together with all Exhibits, Specifications, Plans 
and other documents included as part of this Contract (the “Contract Documents”). 
 



 

 

Arizona Transaction (Sales) Privilege 
Tax License Number:  
 
Federal Employer Identification Number: 
  

Contractor Name 
 

  
Address 

 
  
City   State     Zip Code 

For Clarification of this Proposal contact: 

 

Name:  

Telephone:  

Facsimile:  

Email:  

   
Authorized Signature for Contractor 

  
Printed Name 

  
Title 

ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER AND NOTICE OF AWARD  
(FOR TOWN OF FLORENCE USE ONLY) 

Effective Date:   Contract No.    Official File:   

TOWN OF FLORENCE, an Arizona municipal corporation 
 
 
       
Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk                Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 

 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Request for Proposal, the following definitions shall apply: 

 1.1 “Proposal” or “Offer” means a responsive proposal or quotation submitted by a 
Proposer in response to this Request for Proposal. 

 1.2 “Proposal Deadline” means the date and time set forth on the cover of this RFP 
for the Town Clerk to be in actual possession of the sealed Proposals. 

 1.3 “Proposal Opening” means the date and time set forth on the cover of this 
Request for Proposal for opening of sealed Proposals. 

 1.4 “Proposer” means any person or firm submitting a competitive Proposal in 
response to this RFP. 

 1.5 “Confidential Information” means that portion of a Proposal, Proposal Offer, 
Specification or protest that contains information that the person submitting the information 
believes should be withheld, provided (i) such person submits a written statement advising the 
Town of this fact at the time of the submission and (ii) the information is so identified wherever 
it appears. 

 1.6 “Contract Documents” means, collectively, the (i) Offer/Proposal, (ii) this RFP, 
including all exhibits, (iii) the Notice of Award, (iv) the Notice to Proceed or Purchase 
Order(s), (v) any approved Addendum, Change Order or Amendment, (vi) the Contractor’s 
Certificates of Insurance and a copy of the Declarations Page(s) of the insurance policies, 
(vii) any Plans, Specifications or other documents attached, appended or incorporated herein 
by reference.  Alternate or optional proposal items will become part of the Contract only if 
they are accepted by the Town in writing on the Price Sheet. 

 1.7 “Contractor” means the individual, partnership, corporation or limited liability 
company who has submitted a Proposal in response to this RFP and who, as a result of the 
competitive proposal process, is awarded a contract for Materials or Services by the Town. 

 1.8 “Day(s)” means calendar day(s) unless otherwise specified. 

 1.9 “Request for Proposal” or “RFP” means this request by the Town for participation 
in the competitive proposal process according to all documents, including those attached or 
incorporated herein by reference, utilized for soliciting Proposals for the Services and/or 
Materials in compliance with the Town’s Procurement Code. 

 1.10 “Materials” means any personal property, including equipment, materials, 
replacements and supplies provided by the Contractor in conjunction with the Contract and 
shall include, in addition to Materials incorporated in the Project, equipment and other material 
used and/or consumed in the performance of Services or Work. 

 1.11 “Multiple Award” means an award of an indefinite quantity contract for one or 
more similar products, commodities or Services to more than one Proposer. 

 1.12 “Price” means the total expenditure for a defined quantity of a commodity or 
service. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 1.13 “Procurement Administrator” means a Town employee, as designated on the 
cover of this RFP, who has specifically been designated to act as a contact person to the 
Proposers and/or Contractor relating to their RFP. 
 
 1.14 “Procurement Agent” means the Town Manager or authorized designee. 

 1.15 “Procurement Code” means the Town’s Procurement Code, as amended from 
time to time. 

 1.16 “Project” means the purpose and Work described as set forth in Section 2.1, 
Purpose/Scope of Work, of the RFP. 

 1.17 “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a Contractor, not 
involving the delivery of a specific end product other than reports which are merely incidental to 
the required performance and as further defined in the Contract.  This term does not include 
“professional and technical services” as defined in the Procurement Code. 

 1.18 “Specification” means any description of the physical characteristics, functional 
characteristics, or the nature of a commodity, product, supply or Services.  The term may 
include a description of any requirements for inspecting, testing, or preparing a supply or 
service item for delivery. 

 1.19 “Subcontractor” means those persons or groups of persons having a direct 
contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the Work and those who furnish Materials 
according to the plans and/or Specifications required by this Contract. 

 1.20 “Town” means the Town of Florence, an Arizona municipal corporation. 

 1.21 “Town Representative” means the Town employee who has specifically been 
designated to act as a contact person to the Town’s Procurement Administrator, and who is 
responsible for monitoring and overseeing the Contractor’s performance under the Contract 
and for providing information regarding details pertaining to the Work. 

 1.22 “Vendor” means any firms, entities or individuals desiring to prepare a responsive 
Proposal in response to this RFP. 

 1.23 “Work” means all labor, Materials and equipment incorporated or to be 
incorporated in the Project that are necessary to accomplish the Services required by this 
Contract. 

ARTICLE II – PROPOSAL PROCESS; PROPOSAL AWARD 

2.1 Purpose/Scope of Work.  The Work included in this Project consists of the 
production of a Music Festival in Florence that attracts residents and visitors to Historic 
Downtown Main Street in Florence, Arizona.  The Town is issuing this RFP to secure a 
qualified General Contractor to perform the Work and provide all Materials as more particularly 
described in the Scope of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A, and incorporated herein by 
reference.   

2.2 Amendment of RFP.  No alteration may be made to this RFP or the resultant 
Contract without the express, written approval of the Town in the form of an official RFP 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

addendum or Contract amendment.  Any attempt to alter this RFP/Contract without such 
approval is a violation of this RFP/Contract and the Town Procurement Code.  Any such 
action is subject to the legal and contractual remedies available to the Town including, but not 
limited to, Contract cancellation and suspension and/or debarment of the Proposer or 
Contractor. 

2.3 Preparation/Submission of Proposal.  Proposers are invited to participate in the 
competitive proposal process for the Services specified in this RFP.  Proposers shall review 
their Proposal submissions to ensure the following requirements are met. 

A. Irregular/Non-responsive Proposals.  The Town will consider as “irregular” 
or “non-responsive” and shall reject any Proposal not prepared and submitted in accordance 
with the RFP and Specifications, or any Proposal lacking sufficient information to enable the 
Town to make a reasonable determination of compliance with the Specifications.  Unauthorized 
or unreasonable exceptions, conditions, limitations, or provisions shall be cause for rejection.  
Proposals may be deemed non-responsive at any time during the evaluation process if, in the 
sole opinion of the Procurement Agent, any of the following are true: 

1. Proposer does not meet the minimum required skill, experience or 
requirements to perform the Services or provide the Materials. 

2. Proposer has a past record of failing to fully perform or fulfill 
contractual obligations. 

3. Proposer cannot demonstrate financial stability. 

4. Proposal submission contains false, inaccurate or misleading 
statements that, in the opinion of the Procurement Agent, are intended to mislead the 
Town in its evaluation of the Proposal. 

B. Specification Minimums.  Proposers are reminded that the Specifications 
stated in the Scope of Work as part of this RFP are the minimum levels required and that 
Proposals submitted must be for products or Services that meet or exceed the minimum level 
of all features specifically listed in this RFP.  Proposals offering less than the minimums 
specified will be deemed “not responsive.”  It shall be the Proposer’s responsibility to carefully 
examine each item listed in the Scope of Work. 

C. Required Submittal.  Proposers shall provide ONE ORIGINAL, ONE 
COPY AND ONE DIGITAL COPY OF ALL OF THE FOLLOWING documents to be 
considered a responsive Proposal: 

1. Complete, fully executed original of this RFP, with the Offer 
signed in ink by a person authorized to bind the Proposer.  

 
2. Scope of Work (Exhibit A) 

2. Project Budget (Exhibit B) 

3. Subcontractor Listing (Exhibit C) 
 
4. Licenses; Certifications; DBE/MBE Status (Exhibit D) 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 
5. References (Exhibit E) 
 
6. Acknowledgment for each Addendum received, if any (Exhibit F) 
 
7. Lawful Presence Form (Exhibit G) 
 
8. Deviation Form (Exhibit H) 
 
9. Proposal Bond (Exhibit I) 
 
10. Participation in Boycott of Israel (Exhibit J) 

 
D. Proposer Responsibilities.  All Proposers shall (1) examine the entire 

Proposal package, (2) seek clarification of any item or requirement that may not be clear, (3) 
check all responses for accuracy before submitting a Proposal and (4) submit the entire, 
completed Proposal package and required copies by the official Proposal Deadline.  Late 
Proposals shall not be considered.  Proposals not submitted with an original, signed Offer 
page by a person authorized to bind the Proposer shall be considered “non-responsive.”  
Negligence in preparing a Proposal shall not be good cause for withdrawal after the Proposal 
Deadline. 

E. Sealed Proposals.  All Proposals shall be sealed and clearly marked with 
the RFP title and number on the lower left-hand corner of the mailing envelope.  A return 
address must also appear on the outside of the sealed Proposal. 

F. Address.  All Proposals shall be directed to the following address:  Town 
of Florence, Town Clerk, P O Box 2670, Florence, Arizona, 85132 or hand delivered to the 
Town Clerk’s Office at 775 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona 85132. 

G. Proposal Forms.  All Proposals shall be on the forms provided in this RFP.  
It is permissible to copy these forms if required.  Telegraphic (facsimile), electronic (email) or 
mailgram Proposals will not be considered. 

H. Modifications.  Erasures, interlineations, or other modifications in the 
Proposal shall be initialed in original ink by the authorized person signing the Proposal. 

I. Withdrawal.  At any time prior to the specified Proposal Opening, a 
Proposer (or designated representative) may amend or withdraw its Proposal.  Facsimile, 
electronic (email) or mailgram Proposal amendments or withdrawals will not be considered.  No 
Proposal shall be altered, amended or withdrawn after the specified Proposal Deadline, unless 
otherwise permitted pursuant to the Town Procurement Code. 

2.4 Inquiries; Interpretation of Specifications; Scope of Work. 

A. Inquiries.  Any question related to the RFP, including any part of the 
Specifications, Scope of Work or other Contract Documents, shall be directed to the Town 
Representatives whose names appear on the cover page of this RFP.  Questions shall be 
submitted in writing by the date indicated on the cover page of this RFP; the Town will not 
respond to any inquiries submitted later than the Final Date for Inquiries.  The Vendor 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

submitting such inquiry will be responsible for its prompt delivery to the Town.  Any 
correspondence related to the RFP shall refer to the title and number, page and paragraph.  
However, the Proposer shall not place the RFP number and title on the outside of any 
envelope containing questions, because such an envelope may be identified as a sealed 
Proposal and may not be opened until the Proposal Opening.  Any interpretations or 
corrections of the proposed Contract Documents will be made only by addenda duly approved 
and issued by the Town.  The Town will not be responsible for any other explanations or 
interpretations of the Contract Documents. 

B. Addenda.  It shall be the Proposer’s responsibility to check for addenda 
issued to this RFP.  Any addendum issued by the Town with respect to this RFP will be 
available at: 

Town of Florence Town Hall,  
775 N. Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85132 
Town of Florence website at: www.florenceaz.gov/rfp 

C. Approval of Substitutions.  The Materials, products, and equipment 
described in this RFP establish a standard or required function, dimension, appearance and 
quality to be met by any proposed substitution.  No substitute will be considered unless 
written request for approval has been received by the Town Representative at least 10 Days 
prior to the Proposal Deadline.  Each such request shall include the name of the Material or 
equipment for which it is to be substituted and a complete description of the proposed 
substitute, including any drawings, performance and test data and any other information 
necessary for evaluation of the proposed substitute.  If a substitute is approved, the approval 
shall be by written addendum to the RFP.  Proposer shall not rely upon approvals made in 
any other manner. 

D. Use of Equals.  When the Scope of Work or Specifications for Materials, 
articles, products and equipment include the phrase “or equal,” Proposer may proposal upon 
and use Materials, articles, products and equipment that will perform equally the duties 
imposed by the general design.  The Town Representative will have the final approval of all 
Materials, articles, products and equipment proposed to be used as an “equal.”  No such 
“equal” shall be purchased or installed without prior, written approval from the Town 
Representative.  Approvals for “equals” before Proposal Opening may be requested in writing 
to the Town Representative for approval.  Requests must be received at least 10 Days prior 
to the Proposal Deadline.  The request shall include the name of the Material, article, product 
or equipment for which the item is sought to be considered an equal and a complete 
description of the proposed equal including any drawings, performance and test data and any 
other information necessary for approval of the equal.  All approval of equals shall be issued 
in the form of written addendum or amendment, as applicable, to this RFP or the Contract. 

E. Proposal Quantities.  It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties 
hereto that the quantities of the various classes of Services and/or Materials to be furnished 
under this Contract, which have been estimated as stated in the Proposers’ Offer, are only 
approximate and are to be used solely for the purpose of comparing, on a consistent basis, 
the Proposers’ Offers presented for the Work under this Contract.  The selected Contractor 
agrees that the Town shall not be held responsible if any of the quantities shall be found to be 

http://www.florenceaz.gov/rfp


TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

incorrect and the Contractor will not make any claim for damages or for loss of profits 
because of a difference between the quantities of the various classes of Services and/or 
Materials as estimated and the Services and/or Materials actually provided.  If any error, 
omission or misstatement is found to occur in the estimated quantities, the same shall not (1) 
invalidate the Contract or the whole or any part of the Scope of Work, (2) excuse Contractor 
from any of the obligations or liabilities hereunder or (3) entitle Contractor to any damage or 
compensation except as may be provided in this Contract. 

2.5 Prospective Proposers’ Conference.  A Prospective Proposers’ Conference may 
be held.  If scheduled, the date and time of the Prospective Proposers’ Conference will be 
indicated on the cover page of this RFP.  The Prospective Proposers’ Conference may be 
designated as mandatory or non-mandatory on the cover of this RFP.  Proposals shall not be 
accepted from Proposers who do not attend a mandatory Prospective Proposers’ 
Conference.  Proposers are strongly encouraged to attend those Prospective Proposer’s 
Conferences designated as non-mandatory.  The purpose of the Prospective Proposers’ 
Conference will be to clarify the contents of the RFP in order to prevent any 
misunderstanding of the Town’s requirements.  Any doubt as to the requirements of this RFP 
or any apparent omission or discrepancy should be presented to the Town at the Prospective 
Proposers’ Conference.  The Town will then determine if any action is necessary and may 
issue a written amendment or addendum to the RFP.  Oral statements or instructions will not 
constitute an amendment or addendum to the RFP. 

2.6 New Materials.  All Materials to be provided by the Contractor and included in 
the Proposal shall be new, unless otherwise stated in the Specifications. 

2.7 Project Budget.  Work shall be provided at the unit prices as set forth in the 
Project Budget attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference.  Proposal 
Budget shall be submitted on a per unit basis by line item, when applicable and include all 
applicable sales tax.  In the event of a disparity between the unit price and extended price, 
the unit price shall prevail.   

2.8 Subcontracts.  Proposers shall submit a listing of all proposed Subcontractors 
or suppliers that the Proposer intends to utilize relating to the Project, in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit C.  Failure on the part of the Proposer to complete or improperly complete 
the Subcontractor Listing will constitute sufficient cause for rejection.  Proposed 
Subcontractors shall be qualified and have the requisite licenses and be licensed to do 
business in the State of Arizona.  The Proposer may list itself by writing “Self” adjacent to the 
category of work for which the Proposer assumes responsibility for performance of the Work 
assumes the responsibility of the Subcontractor.  Subcontractor Listings submitted by 
unsuccessful Proposers will be returned, unopened, unless required in order to determine 
responsibility and responsiveness of the Subcontractors and the Proposer’s Offers.  The 
Town reserves the right to review and reasonably object to the Subcontractors proposed, and 
the selected Contractor shall not retain a Subcontractor to which the Town has a reasonable 
objection. 

2.9 Payment; Discounts.  Contracts are paid via: 50% of cash amount paid 30 days 
prior to the event; balance paid once final reports are received and approved. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2.10 Taxes.  The Town is exempt from Federal Excise Tax, including the Federal 
Transportation Tax.  Transaction Privilege Tax, if any, shall be included in the unit price for 
each line item.  It shall not be considered a lump sum payment item.  Proposer should not 
include tax on any allowances.  It is the sole responsibility of the Proposer to determine any 
applicable State tax rates and calculate the tax accordingly.  Failure to accurately tabulate any 
applicable taxes may result in a determination that a Proposal is “non-responsive.”  The 
Proposer shall not rely on, and shall independently verify, any tax information provided by the 
Town. 

2.11 Federal Funding.  It is the responsibility of the Proposer to verify and comply with 
federal requirements that may apply to the Work (the “Federal Requirements”).  It is also the 
responsibility of the Proposer to incorporate any necessary amounts in the Proposal to 
accommodate for required federal record-keeping, necessary pay structures or other matters 
related to the Federal Requirements, if any. 

2.12 Cost of Proposal/Proposal Preparation.  Proposals submitted for consideration 
should be prepared simply and economically, providing adequate information in a 
straightforward and concise manner.  The Town does not reimburse the cost of developing, 
presenting or providing any response to this solicitation; the Proposer is responsible for all 
costs incurred in responding to this RFP.  All materials and documents submitted in response 
to this RFP become the property of the Town and will not be returned. 

2.13 Public Record.  All Proposals shall become the property of the Town.  After 
Contract award, Proposals shall become public records and shall be available for public 
inspection in accordance with the Town’s Procurement Code, except that any portion of a 
Proposal that was designated as confidential pursuant to Section 2.14 below shall remain 
confidential from and after the time of Proposal opening to the extent permitted by Arizona law. 

2.14 Confidential Information.  If a Vendor/Proposer believes that a Proposal, 
Specification, or protest contains information that should be withheld from the public record, a 
statement advising the Procurement Agent of this fact shall accompany the submission and the 
information shall be clearly identified.  The information identified by the Vendor or Proposer as 
confidential shall not be disclosed until the Procurement Agent makes a written determination.  
The Procurement Agent shall review the statement and information with the Town Attorney and 
shall determine in writing whether the information shall be withheld.  If the Town Attorney 
determines that it is proper to disclose the information, the Procurement Agent shall inform the 
Vendor or Proposer in writing of such determination. 

2.15 Vendor Licensing and Registration.  Prior to the award of the Contract, the 
successful Proposer shall be registered with the Arizona Corporation Commission and 
authorized to do business in Arizona.  Proposers shall provide license and certification 
information with the Proposal, attached as Exhibit D and incorporated herein by reference.  
Upon the Town’s request, corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships or other 
entities shall provide Certificates of Good Standing from the Arizona Corporation 
Commission.  The successful bidder will be required to obtain a Town business license within 
30 days of award. 

 

 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2.16 Proposer Qualifications.   

 A. Experience and References.  Proposer must demonstrate successful 
completion of at least three similar projects within the past 60 months, one of which must 
have a dollar value of at least 75% of the total proposal for this Project as set forth in the 
Project Budget, attached as Exhibit B.  Total proposal price does not include any Town 
allowances identified.  For the purpose of this Solicitation, “successful completion” means 
completion of a project within the established schedule and budget and “similar projects” 
resemble this Project in size, nature and scope.  References for these three projects shall be 
listed on the sheet attached hereto as Exhibit E and incorporated herein by reference.  These 
references will be checked, and it is Proposer’s responsibility to ensure that all information is 
accurate and current.  Proposer authorizes the Town’s representative to verify all information 
from these references and releases all those concerned from any liability in connection with 
the information they provide.  

 B. Investigation.  The Town’s representative may conduct any investigation 
deemed necessary to determine the Proposer’s ability to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents.  The three lowest Proposers may be requested to submit 
additional documentation within 72 hours to assist the Town in its evaluation. 

2.17 

A. Recommendations for selection of the Music Festival will be based on the 
following weighted criteria of 100 possible points and passing status on all Pass or Fail 
categories. 

Criteria:       Points 

 
A. Cover Letter & Introduction    5 

B. Experience, Background and Qualifications  25 

C. Proposed Event Plan     30 

D. Plan for Economic Vitality    20 

E. Event Financing Plan     10 

F. Financial Capability of Proposer   10 

G. Professional References    P/F 

  

2.18 Certification.  By submitting a Proposal, the Proposer certifies: 

A. No Collusion.  The submission of the Proposal did not involve collusion or 
other anti-competitive practices. 

B. No Discrimination.  It shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment in violation of Federal Executive Order 11246. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

C. No Gratuity.  It has not given, offered to give, nor intends to give at any 
time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip favor or service to a Town employee, officer, agent or elected official in 
connection with the submitted Proposal or a resultant Contract.  In the event that the resultant 
Contract is canceled pursuant to Subsection 3.13(E) below, the Town shall be entitled, in 
addition to any other rights and remedies, to recover and withhold from the Contractor an 
amount equal to 150% of the gratuity. 

D. Financial Stability.  It is financially stable, solvent and has adequate cash 
reserves to meet all financial obligations including any potential costs resulting from an award 
of the Contract. 

E. No Signature/False Statement.  The signature on the Offer Form is 
genuine.  Failure to sign the Offer Form, or signing either with a false statement, shall void the 
submitted Proposal and any resulting Contract, and the Proposer may be debarred from further 
proposal in the Town. 

2.19 Proposal Bond.  All Vendors desiring to prepare a responsive Proposal shall 
submit a non-revocable proposal security payable to the Town in the amount of ten percent 
(10%) of the total Proposal Price.  This security shall be in the form of a proposal bond, certified 
check or cashier’s check and must be in the possession of the Town Representative by the 
Proposal Deadline.  All proposal security from Contractor(s) who have been issued a Notice of 
Award shall be held until the successful execution of all required Contract Documents and 
bonds.  If the Contractor fails to execute the required contractual documents and bonds within 
the time specified, or 10 Days after Notice of Award if no period is specified, the Contractor 
may be found to be in default and the Contract terminated by the Town.  In case of default, the 
Town reserves all rights inclusive of, but not limited to, the right to purchase material and/or to 
complete the Work and to recover any actual excess costs associated with such completion 
from the Contractor.  All proposal bonds shall be executed in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit I, duly executed by the Proposer as Principal and having as Surety thereon a Surety 
company holding a Certificate of Authority from the Arizona Department of Insurance to 
transact surety business in the State of Arizona.  Individual sureties are unacceptable.  All 
insurers and sureties shall have, at the time of submission of the proposal, an A.M. Best’s Key 
Rating Guide of “A-” or better as currently listed in the most recent Best Key Guide, published 
by the A.M. Best Company.  As soon as is practicable after the completion of the evaluation, 
the Town will (A) issue a Notice of Award for those Offers accepted by the Town and (B) return 
all checks or bonds to those Proposers who have not been issued a Notice of Award. 

2.20 Award of Contract. 

A. Line Item Option.  Unless the Proposer’s Offer indicates otherwise, or 
unless specifically provided within the Contract, the Town reserves the right to award by 
individual line item, by group of line items, or as a total, whichever is deemed most 
advantageous to the Town.  The Town’s flexibility with respect to the method of award also 
includes any items proposal as alternates, which may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in 
part, at the Town’s sole discretion. 

B. Evaluation.  The evaluation of this Proposal will be based on, but not 
limited to, the following:  (1) compliance with Scope of Work, (2) Price, including alternates 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

selected by the Town, if any, and taxes, but excluding “as-needed” services requested by the 
Town and (3) Proposer qualifications to provide the Services/Materials. 

C. Waiver; Rejection; Reissuance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this RFP, the Town expressly reserves the right to: (1) waive any immaterial defect or 
informality, (2) reject any or all Proposals or portions thereof and (3) cancel or reissue an RFP. 

D. Offer.  A Proposal is a binding offer to contract with the Town based upon 
the terms, conditions and specifications contained in this RFP and the Proposer’s responsive 
Proposal, unless any of the terms, conditions, or specifications are modified by a written 
addendum or contract amendment.  Proposals become binding contracts when the Acceptance 
of Offer and Notice of Award is executed in writing by the Town.  Proposer Offers shall be valid 
and irrevocable for 90 Days after the Proposal Opening. 

E. Protests.  Any Proposer may protest this RFP, the proposed award of a 
Contract, or the actual award of a Contract.  All protests will be considered in accordance with 
the process set forth by the Town Manager or qualified designee. 

ARTICLE III – GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.1 Term.  This Contract shall be effective from the date it is fully executed by the 
Town and remain in full force and effect for one year thereafter (the “Initial Term”), unless 
terminated as otherwise provided herein.  After the expiration of the Initial Term, this Contract 
may be renewed for up to four successive one-year terms (each a “Renewal Term”) if (A) it is 
deemed in the best interests of the Town, subject to availability and appropriation of funds for 
renewal in each subsequent year, (B) at least 30 Days prior to the end of the then-current 
term of the Contract, the Contractor requests, in writing, to extend the Contract for an 
additional one-year term and (C) the Town approves the additional one-year term in writing 
(including any price adjustments), as evidenced by the Town Manager’s signature thereon, 
which approval may be withheld by the Town for any reason.  The Contractor’s failure to seek 
a renewal of this Contract shall cause the Contract to terminate at the end of the then-current 
term of this Contract; provided however, that the Town may, at its discretion and with the 
agreement of the awarded Contractor, elect to waive this requirement and renew this 
Contract.  The Initial Term and any Renewal Term(s) are collectively referred to herein as the 
“Term.”  Upon renewal, the terms and conditions of this Contract shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

3.2 Compensation.  The Town shall pay the Contractor for Services completed and 
accepted by the Town at the rates set forth in the Project Budget.  The Contractor shall not 
commence any billable Work or provide any Services under this Contract until the Contractor 
receives an executed purchase order from the Town. 

3.3 Payments.  The Contractor will be paid on the basis of invoices submitted 
following acceptance of the Services/Materials.  All invoices shall document and itemize all 
Services performed and Materials delivered in sufficient detail to justify payment and shall 
include the Work Order number authorizing the transaction and shall be delivered to the 
Town Accounts Payable address indicated on the face of the Work Order, unless otherwise 
specified.  All transportation charges must be prepaid by the Contractor.  If invoice is subject 
to a cash discount, the discount period will be calculated from the date of receipt of the claim 
or the Materials, whichever is later. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.4 Documents.  All documents prepared and submitted to the Town pursuant to 
this Contract shall be the property of the Town. 

3.5 Contractor Personnel.  Contractor shall provide adequate, experienced 
personnel, capable of and devoted to the successful performance of the Services under this 
Contract.  Contractor agrees to assign specific individuals to key positions.  If deemed 
qualified, the Contractor is encouraged to hire Town residents to fill vacant positions at all 
levels.  Contractor agrees that, upon commencement of the Services to be performed under 
this Contract, key personnel shall not be removed or replaced without prior written notice to 
the Town.  The term “Key Personnel” means individuals who will be directly assigned to this 
Project and includes, but is not limited to, the owner, principals, project manager, project 
superintendent, scheduler, engineer and supervisory personnel.  At least two of the 
Proposer’s Key Personnel must have a minimum of three years’ experience in similar 
projects (defined above) and the scheduler must have experience in employing scheduling 
techniques appropriate for this Project. Resumes of Key Personnel shall be submitted upon 
request by the Town’s representative.  If Key Personnel are not available to perform the 
Services for a continuous period exceeding 30 days, or are expected to devote substantially 
less effort to the Services than initially anticipated, Contractor shall immediately notify the 
Town of same and shall, subject to the concurrence of the Town, replace such personnel with 
personnel possessing substantially equal ability and qualifications. 

3.6 Inspection; Acceptance.  All Work shall be subject to inspection and acceptance 
by the Town at reasonable times during Contractor’s performance.  The Contractor shall 
provide and maintain a self-inspection system that is acceptable to the Town. 

 
3.7 Licenses; Materials.  Contractor shall maintain in current status all federal, state 

and local licenses and permits required for the operation of the business conducted by the 
Contractor.  The Town has no obligation to provide Contractor, its employees or 
Subcontractors any business registrations or licenses required to perform the specific 
Services set forth in this Contract.  The Town has no obligation to provide tools, equipment or 
Material to Contractor. 

3.8 Performance Warranty.  Contractor warrants that the Services rendered will 
conform to the requirements of this Agreement and with the care and skill ordinarily used by 
members of the same profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time 
and in the same locality.  

3.9 Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town and each council member, officer, employee 
or agent thereof (the Town and any such person being herein called an “Indemnified Party”), 
for, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses 
(including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs and the costs of 
appellate proceedings) to which any such Indemnified Party may become subject, under any 
theory of liability whatsoever (“Claims”), insofar as such Claims (or actions in respect thereof) 
relate to, arise out of, or are caused by or based upon the negligent acts, intentional 
misconduct, errors, mistakes or omissions, in connection with the Work or Services of the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, or any tier of Subcontractor in the performance of 
this Contract.  The amount and type of insurance coverage requirements set forth below will 
in no way be construed as limiting the scope of the indemnity in this Section. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.10 Changes; Cancellation.  The Town reserves the right to cancel or make 
changes in the Services or Materials to be furnished by the Contractor within a reasonable 
period of time after issuance of Work Orders.  If such changes cause an increase or 
decrease in the amount due under the Work Order, or in the time required for Contractor’s 
performance, an acceptable adjustment shall be made and the Work Order shall be modified 
in writing accordingly.  Any agreement for adjustment must be asserted in writing within 10 
Days from when the change is ordered.  Should a Work Order be canceled, the Town agrees 
to reimburse the Contractor but only for actual and documentable costs incurred by the 
Contractor due to and after issuance of the Work Order.  The Town will not reimburse the 
Contractor for any costs incurred after receipt of a notice of cancellation from the Town, or for 
lost profits, shipment of product or costs incurred prior to issuance of a Work Order. 

3.11 Insurance. 

A. General. 

1. Insurer Qualifications.  Without limiting any obligations or liabilities 
of Contractor, Contractor shall purchase and maintain, at its own expense, hereinafter 
stipulated minimum insurance with insurance companies authorized to do business in 
the State of Arizona pursuant to ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 20-206, as amended, with an AM 
Best, Inc. rating of A- or above with policies and forms satisfactory to the Town.  Failure 
to maintain insurance as specified herein may result in termination of this Contract at the 
Town’s option. 

2. No Representation of Coverage Adequacy.  By requiring insurance 
herein, the Town does not represent that coverage and limits will be adequate to protect 
Contractor.  The Town reserves the right to review any and all of the insurance policies 
and/or endorsements cited in this Contract but has no obligation to do so.  Failure to 
demand such evidence of full compliance with the insurance requirements set forth in 
this Contract or failure to identify any insurance deficiency shall not relieve Contractor 
from, nor be construed or deemed a waiver of, its obligation to maintain the required 
insurance at all times during the performance of this Contract. 

3. Additional Insured.  All insurance coverage, except Workers’ 
Compensation insurance and Professional Liability insurance, if applicable, shall name, 
to the fullest extent permitted by law for claims arising out of the performance of this 
Contract, the Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and 
employees as Additional Insured as specified under the respective coverage sections of 
this Contract. 

4. Coverage Term.  All insurance required herein shall be maintained 
in full force and effect until all Work or Services required to be performed under the 
terms of this Contract are satisfactorily performed, completed and formally accepted by 
the Town, unless specified otherwise in this Contract. 

5. Primary Insurance.  Contractor’s insurance shall be primary 
insurance with respect to performance of this Contract and in the protection of the Town 
as an Additional Insured. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

6. Claims Made.  In the event any insurance policies required by this 
Agreement are written on a “claims made” basis, coverage shall extend, either by 
keeping coverage in force or purchasing an extended reporting option, for three years 
past completion and acceptance of the services.  Such continuing coverage shall be 
evidenced by submission of annual Certificates of Insurance citing applicable 
coverage is in force and contains the provisions as required herein for the three-year 
period. 

 
7. Waiver.  All policies, except for Professional Liability, including 

Workers’ Compensation insurance, shall contain a waiver of rights of recovery 
(subrogation) against the Town, its agents, representatives, officials, officers and 
employees for any claims arising out of the Work or Services of Contractor.  Contractor 
shall arrange to have such subrogation waivers incorporated into each policy via formal 
written endorsement thereto. 

8. Policy Deductibles and/or Self-Insured Retentions.  The policies set 
forth in these requirements may provide coverage that contains deductibles or self-
insured retention amounts.  Such deductibles or self-insured retention shall not be 
applicable with respect to the policy limits provided to the Town.  Contractor shall be 
solely responsible for any such deductible or self-insured retention amount. 

9. Use of Subcontractors.  If any Work under this Contract is 
subcontracted in any way, Contractor shall execute written agreement with its 
Subcontractors containing the indemnification provisions set forth in this subsection and 
insurance requirements set forth herein protecting the Town and Contractor.  Contractor 
shall be responsible for executing any agreements with its Subcontractor and obtaining 
certificates of insurance verifying the insurance requirements. 

10. Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to commencing any Work or Services 
under this Contract, Contractor will provide the Town with suitable evidence of insurance 
in the form of certificates of insurance and a copy of the declaration page(s) of the 
insurance policies as required by this Contract, issued by Contractor’s insurance 
insurer(s) as evidence that policies are placed with acceptable insurers as specified 
herein and provide the required coverages, conditions and limits of coverage specified in 
this Contract and that such coverage and provisions are in full force and effect.  
Confidential information such as the policy premium may be redacted from the 
declaration page(s) of each insurance policy, provided that such redactions do not alter 
any of the information required by this Contract.  The Town shall reasonably rely upon 
the certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) of the insurance policies as 
evidence of coverage but such acceptance and reliance shall not waive or alter in any 
way the insurance requirements or obligations of this Contract.  If any of the policies 
required by this Contract expire during the life of this Contract, it shall be Contractor’s 
responsibility to forward renewal certificates and declaration page(s) to the Town 30 
Days prior to the expiration date.  All certificates of insurance and declarations required 
by this Contract shall be identified by referencing this Contract.  A $25.00 administrative 
fee shall be assessed for all certificates or declarations received without a reference to 
this Contract.  Additionally, certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) of the 
insurance policies submitted without referencing this Contract will be subject to rejection 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

and may be returned or discarded.  Certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) 
shall specifically include the following provisions: 

a. The Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, 
officials and employees are Additional Insureds as follows: 

(i) Commercial General Liability - Under Insurance 
Services Office, Inc., (“ISO”) Form CG 20 10 03 97 or equivalent. 

(ii) Auto Liability - Under ISO Form CA 20 48 or 
equivalent. 

(iii) Excess Liability - Follow Form to underlying 
insurance. 

b. Contractor’s insurance shall be primary insurance with 
respect to performance of the Contract. 

c. All policies, except for Professional Liability, including 
Workers’ Compensation, waive rights of recovery (subrogation) against Town, its 
agents, representatives, officers, officials and employees for any claims arising 
out of Work or Services performed by Contractor under this Contract. 

d. ACORD certificate of insurance form 25 (2014/01) is 
preferred.  If ACORD certificate of insurance form 25 (2001/08) is used, the 
phrases in the cancellation provision “endeavor to” and “but failure to mail such 
notice shall impose no obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its 
agents or representatives” shall be deleted.  Certificate forms other than ACORD 
form shall have similar restrictive language deleted. 

B. Required Insurance Coverage. 

1. Commercial General Liability.  Contractor shall maintain 
“occurrence” form Commercial General Liability insurance with an unimpaired limit of not 
less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence, $2,000,000 Products and Completed 
Operations Annual Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit.  The policy 
shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products-
completed operations, personal injury and advertising injury.  Coverage under the policy 
will be at least as broad as ISO policy form CG 00 010 93 or equivalent thereof, 
including but not limited to, separation of insured’s clause.  To the fullest extent allowed 
by law, for claims arising out of the performance of this Contract, the Town, its agents, 
representatives, officers, officials and employees shall be cited as an Additional Insured 
under ISO, Commercial General Liability Additional Insured Endorsement form CG 20 
10 03 97, or equivalent, which shall read “Who is an Insured (Section II) is amended to 
include as an insured the person or organization shown in the Schedule, but only with 
respect to liability arising out of “your work” for that insured by or for you.”  If any Excess 
insurance is utilized to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, such Excess insurance 
shall be “follow form” equal or broader in coverage scope than underlying insurance. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2. Vehicle Liability.  Contractor shall maintain Business Automobile 
Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 each occurrence on Contractor’s owned, 
hired and non-owned vehicles assigned to or used in the performance of the 
Contractor’s Work or Services under this Contract.  Coverage will be at least as broad 
as ISO coverage code “1” “any auto” policy form CA 00 01 12 93 or equivalent thereof.  
To the fullest extent allowed by law, for claims arising out of the performance of this 
Contract, the Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and 
employees shall be cited as an Additional Insured under ISO Business Auto policy 
Designated Insured Endorsement form CA 20 48 or equivalent.  If any Excess insurance 
is utilized to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, such Excess insurance shall be 
“follow form” equal or broader in coverage scope than underlying insurance. 

3. Professional Liability.  If this Contract is the subject of any 
professional Services or Work, or if the Contractor engages in any professional Services 
or Work in any way related to performing the Work under this Contract, the Contractor 
shall maintain Professional Liability insurance covering negligent errors and omissions 
arising out of the Services performed by the Contractor, or anyone employed by the 
Contractor, or anyone for whose negligent acts, mistakes, errors and omissions the 
Contractor is legally liable, with an unimpaired liability insurance limit of $2,000,000 each 
claim and $2,000,000 annual aggregate.   

4. Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  Contractor shall maintain 
Workers’ Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state 
statutes having jurisdiction over Contractor’s employees engaged in the performance of 
Work or Services under this Contract and shall also maintain Employers Liability 
Insurance of not less than $500,000 for each accident, $500,000 disease for each 
employee and $1,000,000 disease policy limit. 

C. Cancellation and Expiration Notice.  Insurance required herein shall not 
expire, be canceled, or be materially changed without 30 Days’ prior written notice to the Town. 

3.12 Applicable Law; Venue.  This Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of Arizona and suit pertaining to this Contract may be brought only in courts in Pinal County, 
Arizona. 

3.13 Termination; Cancellation. 

A. For Town’s Convenience.  This Contract is for the convenience of the 
Town and, as such, may be terminated without cause after receipt by Contractor of written 
notice by the Town.  Upon termination for convenience, Contractor shall be paid for all 
undisputed Services performed and Materials delivered to the termination date. 

B. For Cause.  If either party fails to perform any obligation pursuant to this 
Contract and such party fails to cure its nonperformance within 30 Days after notice of 
nonperformance is given by the non-defaulting party, such party will be in default.  In the 
event of such default, the non-defaulting party may terminate this Contract immediately for 
cause and will have all remedies that are available to it at law or in equity including, without 
limitation, the remedy of specific performance.  If the nature of the defaulting party’s 
nonperformance is such that it cannot reasonably be cured within 30 Days, then the 
defaulting party will have such additional periods of time as may be reasonably necessary 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

under the circumstances, provided the defaulting party immediately (1) provides written 
notice to the non-defaulting party and (2) commences to cure its nonperformance and 
thereafter diligently continues to completion the cure of its nonperformance.  In no event shall 
any such cure period exceed 90 Days.  In the event of such termination for cause, payment 
shall be made by the Town to the Contractor for the undisputed portion of its fee due as of 
the termination date. 

C. Due to Work Stoppage.  This Contract may be terminated by the Town 
upon 30 Days’ written notice to Contractor in the event that the Services are permanently 
abandoned.  In the event of such termination due to Work stoppage, payment shall be made 
by the Town to the Contractor for the undisputed portion of its fee due as of the termination 
date. 

 
 D. Conflict of Interest.  This Contract is subject to the provisions of ARIZ. REV. 

STAT. § 38-511. The Town may cancel this Contract without penalty or further obligations by 
the Town or any of its departments or agencies if any person significantly involved in initiating, 
negotiating, securing, drafting or creating this Contract on behalf of the Town or any of its 
departments or agencies is, at any time while the Contract or any extension of the Contract is 
in effect, an employee of any other party to the Contract in any capacity or a consultant to any 
other party of the Contract with respect to the subject matter of the Contract. 

E. Gratuities.  The Town may, by written notice to the Contractor, cancel 
this Contract if it is found by the Town that gratuities, in the form of economic opportunity, 
future employment, entertainment, gifts or otherwise, were offered or given by the Contractor 
or any agent or representative of the Contractor to any officer, agent or employee of the 
Town for the purpose of securing this Contract.  In the event this Contract is canceled by the 
Town pursuant to this provision, the Town shall be entitled, in addition to any other rights and 
remedies, to recover and withhold from the Contractor an amount equal to 150% of the 
gratuity. 

F. Agreement Subject to Appropriation.  The Town is obligated only to pay 
its obligations set forth in this Agreement as may lawfully be made from funds appropriated 
and budgeted for that purpose during the Town’s then current fiscal year.  The Town’s 
obligations under this Agreement are current expenses subject to the “budget law” and the 
unfettered legislative discretion of the Town concerning budgeted purposes and appropriation 
of funds.  Should the Town elect not to appropriate and budget funds to pay its Agreement 
obligations, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated at the end of the then-current fiscal 
year term for which such funds were appropriated and budgeted for such purpose and the 
Town shall be relieved of any subsequent obligation under this Agreement.  The parties 
agree that the Town has no obligation or duty of good faith to budget or appropriate the 
payment of the Town’s obligations set forth in this Agreement in any budget in any fiscal year 
other than the fiscal year in which this Agreement is executed and delivered.  The Town shall 
be the sole judge and authority in determining the availability of funds for its obligations under 
this Agreement. The Town shall keep Contractor informed as to the availability of funds for 
this Agreement.  The obligation of the Town to make any payment pursuant to this 
Agreement is not a general obligation or indebtedness of the Town.  Contractor hereby 
waives any and all rights to bring any claim against the Town from or relating in any way to 
the Town's termination of this Agreement pursuant to this section. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.14 Miscellaneous. 

A. Independent Contractor.  It is clearly understood that each party will act 
in its individual capacity and not as an agent, employee, partner, joint venturer, or associate 
of the other.  An employee or agent of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employee or agent of the other for any purpose whatsoever.  The Contractor acknowledges 
and agrees that all Services and Materials provided under this Contract are being provided as 
an independent contractor, not as an employee or agent of the Town.  Contractor, its 
employees and Subcontractors are not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits from the 
Town.  The Town does not have the authority to supervise or control the actual Work of 
Contractor, its employees or Subcontractors.  The Contractor, and not the Town, shall 
determine the time of its performance of the Services provided under this Contract so long as 
Contractor meets the requirements of its agreed Scope of Work as set forth in Section 2.1 
above and in Exhibit A.  Contractor is neither prohibited from entering into other contracts nor 
prohibited from practicing its profession elsewhere.  Town and Contractor do not intend to nor 
will they combine business operations under this Contract. 

B. Laws and Regulations.  The Contractor shall keep fully informed and 
shall at all times during the performance of its duties under this Contract ensure that it and 
any person for whom the Contractor is responsible remains in compliance with all rules, 
regulations, ordinances, statutes or laws affecting the Services or Materials including, but not 
limited to, the following: (1) existing and future Town and County ordinances and regulations; 
(2) existing and future state and federal laws; and (3) existing and future Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration standards. 

C. Contract Amendments.  This Contract may be modified only by a written 
amendment signed by persons duly authorized to enter into contracts on behalf of the Town 
and the Contractor; provided, however, that Change Orders may be issued and approved 
administratively by the Town when such changes do not alter the Contract Price. 

D. Provisions Required by Law.  Each and every provision of law and any 
clause required by law to be in the Contract will be read and enforced as though it were 
included herein and, if through mistake or otherwise any such provision is not inserted, or is 
not correctly inserted, then upon the application of either party, the Contract will promptly be 
physically amended to make such insertion or correction. 

E. Severability.  The provisions of this Contract are severable to the extent 
that any provision or application held to be invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction shall 
not affect any other provision or application of the Contract which may remain in effect 
without the invalid provision or application. 

F. Entire Agreement; Interpretation; Parol Evidence.  This Contract 
represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its subject matter, and all 
previous agreements, whether oral or written, entered into prior to this Contract are hereby 
revoked and superseded by this Contract.  No representations, warranties, inducements or 
oral agreements have been made by any of the parties except as expressly set forth herein, 
or in any other contemporaneous written agreement executed for the purposes of carrying 
out the provisions of this Contract.  This Contract shall be construed and interpreted 
according to its plain meaning, and no presumption shall be deemed to apply in favor of, or 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

against the party drafting the Contract.  The parties acknowledge and agree that each has 
had the opportunity to seek and utilize legal counsel in the drafting of, review of, and entry 
into this Contract. 

G. Assignment; Delegation.  No right or interest in this Contract shall be 
assigned or delegated by Contractor without prior, written permission of the Town, signed by 
the Town Manager.  Any attempted assignment or delegation by Contractor in violation of this 
provision shall be a breach of this Contract by Contractor. 

H. Subcontracts.  No subcontract shall be entered into by the Contractor 
with any other party to furnish any of the Services or Materials specified herein without the 
prior written approval of the Town.  The Contractor is responsible for performance under this 
Contract whether or not Subcontractors are used. 

I. Rights and Remedies.  No provision in this Contract shall be construed, 
expressly or by implication, as waiver by the Town of any existing or future right and/or 
remedy available by law in the event of any claim of default or breach of this Contract.  The 
failure of the Town to insist upon the strict performance of any term or condition of this 
Contract or to exercise or delay the exercise of any right or remedy provided in this Contract, 
or by law, or the Town’s acceptance of and payment for Services, shall not release the 
Contractor from any responsibilities or obligations imposed by this Contract or by law, and 
shall not be deemed a waiver of any right of the Town to insist upon the strict performance of 
this Contract. 

J. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event either party brings any action for any relief, 
declaratory or otherwise, arising out of this Contract or on account of any breach or default 
hereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to receive from the other party reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and reasonable costs and expenses, determined by the court sitting without a 
jury, which shall be deemed to have accrued on the commencement of such action and shall 
be enforced whether or not such action is prosecuted through judgment. 

K. Liens.  All Services or Materials shall be free of all liens and, if the Town 
requests, a formal release of all liens shall be delivered to the Town. 

L. Offset. 

 1. Offset for Damages.  In addition to all other remedies at law or 
equity, the Town may offset from any money due to the Contractor any amounts 
Contractor owes to the Town for damages resulting from breach or deficiencies in 
performance or breach of any obligation under this Contract. 

 2. Offset for Delinquent Fees or Taxes.  The Town may offset from 
any money due to the Contractor any amounts Contractor owes to the Town for 
delinquent fees, transaction privilege taxes and property taxes, including any interest 
or penalties. 

 M. Notices and Requests.  Any notice or other communication required or 
permitted to be given under this Contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been 
duly given if (1) delivered to the party at the address set forth below, (2) deposited in the U.S. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

Mail, registered or certified, return receipt requested, to the address set forth below or (3) given 
to a recognized and reputable overnight delivery service, to the address set forth below: 

If to the Town: Town of Florence 
   P O Box 2670 

775 N. Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85132 
Attn:  Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 

With copy to:   Town Clerk 
   P O Box 2670 

     775 N. Main Street 
     Florence, AZ 85132 

Attn:  Lisa Garcia 

If to Contractor: _________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
Attn: _____________________________ 

or at such other address, and to the attention of such other person or officer, as any party may 
designate in writing by notice duly given pursuant to this subsection.  Notices shall be deemed 
received (1) when delivered to the party, (2) three business days after being placed in the U.S. 
Mail, properly addressed, with sufficient postage or (3) the following business day after being 
given to a recognized overnight delivery service, with the person giving the notice paying all 
required charges and instructing the delivery service to deliver on the following business day.  If 
a copy of a notice is also given to a party’s counsel or other recipient, the provisions above 
governing the date on which a notice is deemed to have been received by a party shall mean 
and refer to the date on which the party, and not its counsel or other recipient to which a copy 
of the notice may be sent, is deemed to have received the notice. 

 N. Overcharges by Antitrust Violations.  The Town maintains that, in practice, 
overcharges resulting from antitrust violations are borne by the purchaser.  Therefore, to the 
extent permitted by law, the Contractor hereby assigns to the Town any and all claims for such 
overcharges as to the goods and services used to fulfill the Contract. 

  O. Confidentiality of Records.  The Contractor shall establish and maintain 
procedures and controls that are acceptable to the Town for the purpose of ensuring that 
information contained in its records or obtained from the Town or from others in carrying out 
its obligations under this Contract shall not be used or disclosed by it, its agents, officers, or 
employees, except as required to perform Contractor’s duties under this Contract.  Persons 
requesting such information should be referred to the Town.  Contractor also agrees that any 
information pertaining to individual persons shall not be divulged other than to employees or 
officers of Contractor as needed for the performance of duties under this Contract. 

 P. Records and Audit Rights.  To ensure that the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors are complying with the warranty under subsection 3.14(R) below, 
Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ books, records, correspondence, accounting procedures 
and practices, and any other supporting evidence relating to this Contract, including the 
papers of any Contractor and its Subcontractors’ employees who perform any Work or 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

Services pursuant to this Contract (all of the foregoing hereinafter referred to as “Records”), 
shall be open to inspection and subject to audit and/or reproduction during normal working 
hours by the Town, to the extent necessary to adequately permit (1) evaluation and 
verification of any invoices, payments or claims based on Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ 
actual costs (including direct and indirect costs and overhead allocations) incurred, or units 
expended directly in the performance of Work under this Contract and (2) evaluation of the 
Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ compliance with the Arizona employer sanctions laws 
referenced in subsection 3.14(R) below.  To the extent necessary for the Town to audit 
Records as set forth in this subsection, Contractor and its Subcontractors hereby waive any 
rights to keep such Records confidential.  For the purpose of evaluating or verifying such 
actual or claimed costs or units expended, the Town shall have access to said Records, even 
if located at its Subcontractors’ facilities, from the effective date of this Contract for the 
duration of the Work and until three years after the date of final payment by the Town to 
Contractor pursuant to this Contract.  Contractor and its Subcontractors shall provide the 
Town with adequate and appropriate workspace so that the Town can conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this subsection.  The Town shall give Contractor or its 
Subcontractors reasonable advance notice of intended audits.  Contractor shall require its 
Subcontractors to comply with the provisions of this subsection by insertion of the 
requirements hereof in any subcontract pursuant to this Contract. 

 Q. E-verify Requirements.  To the extent applicable under ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 
41-4401, the Contractor and its Subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal immigration 
laws and regulations that relate to their employees and their compliance with the E-verify 
requirements under ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 23-214(A).  Contractor’s or its Subcontractors’ failure to 
comply with such warranty shall be deemed a material breach of this Contract and may result 
in the termination of this Contract by the Town. 

 R. Israel.  Contractor certifies that it is not currently engaged in and agrees 
for the duration of this Agreement that it will not engage in a “boycott,” as that term is defined in 
ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 35-393, of Israel. 

S. Conflicting Terms.  In the event of any inconsistency, conflict or 
ambiguity among the terms of this Contract, the RFP, the Scope of Work, any Town-
approved Purchase Order, the Price Sheet, any Town-approved Work Orders, invoices and 
the Contractor’s response to the RFP, the documents shall govern in the order listed herein.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in conformity with Section 2.1 above, unauthorized 
exceptions, conditions, limitations or provisions in conflict with the terms of this Contract 
(collectively, the “Unauthorized Conditions”), other than the Town’s project-specific quantities, 
configurations or delivery dates, are expressly declared void and shall be of no force and 
effect.  Acceptance by the Town of any Work Order or invoice containing any such 
Unauthorized Conditions or failure to demand full compliance with the terms and conditions 
set forth in this Contract shall not alter or relieve Contractor from, nor be construed or 
deemed a waiver of, its requirements and obligations in the performance of this Contract. 

T. Non-Exclusive Contract.  This Contract is entered into with the 
understanding and agreement that it is for the sole convenience of the Town of Florence.  
The Town reserves the right to obtain like goods and Services from another source when 
necessary. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 U. Cooperative Purchasing.  Specific eligible political subdivisions and 
nonprofit educational or public health institutions (“Eligible Procurement Unit(s)”) are 
permitted to utilize procurement agreements developed by the Town, at their discretion and 
with the agreement of the awarded Contractor. Contractor may, at its sole discretion, accept 
orders from Eligible Procurement Unit(s) for the purchase of the Materials and/or Services at 
the prices and under the terms and conditions of this Contract in such quantities and 
configurations as may be agreed upon between the parties.  All cooperative procurements 
under this Contract shall be transacted solely between the requesting Eligible Procurement 
Unit and Contractor.  Payment for such purchases will be the sole responsibility of the Eligible 
Procurement Unit.  The exercise of any rights, responsibilities or remedies by the Eligible 
Procurement Unit shall be the exclusive obligation of such unit.  The Town assumes no 
responsibility for payment, performance or any liability or obligation associated with any 
cooperative procurement under this Contract.  The Town shall not be responsible for any 
disputes arising out of transactions made by others.  

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Scope of Work] 
 

See following pages. 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
a. Develop and manage every aspect of the Florence Music Festival 
b. Coordinate event logo and promotional materials 
c. Coordinate creative event marketing, including radio, print, online media, social 

marketing (Facebook), eblasts, and storefront posters  
d. Identify and contract with leading bands that will reach a maximum audience in 

terms of both participation and public relations outreach 
e. Complete competitive contracting and supervise set-up/break-down for all 

necessary event rentals, including stage, lighting, sound equipment, port-o-
johns, and chairs 

f. Manage ticketing of event and refunds if necessary 
g. Create webpage for event 
h. Organize a “food court” for downtown businesses and outside vendors, 

including vendor applications and payment, proper health permits, street 
placement, and other vendor related needs  

i. Organize a “craft section” for downtown businesses and outside vendors, 
including vendor, including vendor applications and payment, street placement, 
and other vendor needs 

j. Organize staging of event space, including strategies for keeping pedestrian 
pathways clear 

k. Organize and train event volunteers 
l. Organize photography and other documentation of event and participants 
m. Work with the Town to obtain necessary license and permits 
n. Work with the Town to coordinate street closures, and safety plans 
o. Coordination with the Town for stage, tent and all other necessary inspections  
p. Organize event cancellation insurance which will cover, at minimum, event 

expenses and the event management fee if the event is cancelled 
q. Describe your plan for security during event 
r. Describe your budgeting plans 
s. Describe your plans to count event attendance 
t. Describe your plan to increase economic vitality for downtown restaurants, and 

merchants 
u. Raise other funding and secure in-kind contributions as required to produce the 

music festival 
v. On-site Operations Management for load-in and load-out 
w. Written post-event wrap-up reports delivered via e-mail no later than one month 

after event  
x. The proposal must state how the event producer will follow the Town of 

Florence’s Special Event Guidelines and manage all aspects of event 
production including; security, site planning, budgeting, signage plans, talent 
and participants, vendors, set-up/clean-up logistics and contract negotiations  

 
 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Project Budget] 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT BUDGET 

 
 

a. Please refer to the scope of work to determine the cost to perform the functions set forth. 
Proposals may include a request for Town funding to produce the event and should be 
included in the budget. 
  
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Subcontractor List] 
 

See following page. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
SUBCONTRACTOR LISTING 

 
Provide the following information in a separate, sealed envelope, clearly marked 
“Subcontractors Listing.”  Failure on the part of the Proposer to complete or improperly 
complete this form will constitute sufficient cause for rejection. 

List only a single name for each category.  Subcontractors listed herein shall be utilized on this 
Project. 

Category   Subcontractor 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
[Licenses; Certifications; DBE/WBE Status] 

 
See following page. 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 
LICENSES; CERTIFICATIONS; DBE/WBE STATUS 

 
 

 Attach a copy of your Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax License 
 
 
Has your firm been certified by any jurisdiction in Arizona as a minority or woman owned 
business enterprise? Yes__________, No____________. 
 
If yes, please provide details and documentation of the certification. 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[References] 
 

See following page. 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 
REFERENCES 

 
 
 

Provide the following information for three clients for whom Proposer has successfully 
completed similar projects as set forth in Section 2.16 within the past 60 months.  Failure to 
provide three accurate and suitable references will result in disqualification.  Proposer may also 
attach another sheet with additional references. 
 

1. Company:  

 Address:  

 City/State/Zip Code:  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 

   

2. Company:  

 Address  

 City/State/Zip Code  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 

   

3. Company:  

 Address  

 City/State/Zip Code  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 



 

 

EXHIBIT F 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Acknowledgments of Addenda received] 
 

See following page(s). 
 



 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AGENDA 

____________________________________ acknowledges that it has received the following addenda: 
(Contractor) 

(Addendum #) (Date) 

Date: _______________________ _____________________________________________ 
(Signature) 

_____________________________________________ 
(Title) 



 

 

 EXHIBIT G 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Lawful Presence] 
 

See following page(s). 



 

 

EXHIBIT G 
LAWFUL PRESENCE FORM 

 
Arizona Revised Statues 1-501 and 1-502 apply to applicants of "federal public benefits" 
and "state and local public benefits". Grants, contracts and loans are considered public 
benefits and state law requires each person who applies for such benefits to submit at least 
one of the following documents demonstrating "lawful presence" in the United States. 

  

The Principal of each group, consultant, or organization will complete this form.  

  
Check the box next to the document indicating lawful presence.  

  An Arizona driver license issued after 1996 or an Arizona non-operating 
identification license  

  A driver license issued by a state that verifies lawful presence in the United 
States. (See Overview of State's Driver's License Requirements)  

  A birth certificate or delayed birth certificate issued in any state, territory or 
possession of the United States.  

  A United States certificate of birth abroad.  

  A United States passport.  

  A foreign passport with a United States visa.  

  An I-94 form with a photograph.  

  A United States citizenship and immigration services employment authorization 
document or refugee travel document.  

  A United States certificate of naturalization.  

  A United States certificate of citizenship.  

  A tribal certificate of Indian blood.  

  A tribal or Bureau of Indian Affairs affidavit of birth.  

  
**Attach copy of document to this sheet.  

  
  
  

 

Signature of Applicant                                     Date  
  
  
  

 

Signature of Municipal Employee                         Date  
 



 

 

EXHIBIT H 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Deviation Form] 
 

See following page(s). 



 

 

EXHIBIT H  

DEVIATION/COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION  

If the undersigned Proposer intends to deviate from the terms and requirements of any 
Contract Documents made a part of this solicitation, all such deviations shall be listed on 
this certification form, with complete detailed conditions and information included or 
attached. The Town may consider any deviations in its review, scoring and award 
decisions, and the Town reserves the right to accept or reject any proposal, offer, or 
proposal based upon any deviations indicated herein or in any attachments hereto. 
 
In the absence of any deviation entry on this form, the Proposer agrees, certifies, and 
warrants the Town of their full compliance with all Contract Documents, and all other 
information contained in this solicitation. 

 
Please list any deviations from the solicitation document below (attach additional sheets 
as needed): 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 

  
 
  
 
By signing below, I agree, certify, and warrant that the offer/proposal I am submitting       
□ does □ does not (check one box) deviate from the terms and requirements of the 
Contract Documents listed in this document. If deviating from the specifications of the 
solicitation, all such deviations are listed on this form, with complete detailed conditions and 
information included or attached. Any attachments to this form are identified as a continuation 
of the deviations to this solicitation. 

 

 
Printed Name: Signature: Date: 
 
_________________________ _________________________ ________________ 

 
THIS PAGE MUST BE RETURNED WITH THE PROPOSAL/OFFER/PROPOSAL 



 

 

EXHIBIT I 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Proposal Bond] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT J 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-03 
 

[Participation in Boycott of Israel] 
   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PARTICIPATION IN BOYCOTT OF ISRAEL 
 
All materials submitted as part of a response to a solicitation are subject to Arizona public records law and will be disclosed if there is an 
appropriate public records request at the time of or after the award of the contract.  Recently legislation has been enacted to prohibit the 
Town of Florence from contracting with companies currently engaged in a boycott of Israel. To ensure compliance with A.R.S. §35-393.01, 
this form must be completed and returned with the response to the solicitation and any supporting information to assist the Town in 
making its determination of compliance. 
 
As defined by A.R.S. §35-393.01: 
 
1. "Boycott" means engaging in a refusal to deal, terminating business activities or performing other actions that are intended to limit 

commercial relations with Israel or with persons or entities doing business in Israel or in territories controlled by Israel, if those actions 
are taken either: 

(a) In compliance with or adherence to calls for a boycott of Israel other than those boycotts to which 50 United States Code 
section 4607(c) applies. 

(b) In a manner that discriminates on the basis of nationality, national origin or religion and that is not based on a valid business 
reason. 

2. "Company" means a sole proprietorship, organization, association, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited partnership, limited 
liability partnership, limited liability company or other entity or business association, and includes a wholly owned subsidiary, majority-
owned subsidiary, parent company or affiliate. 

3. "Direct holdings" means all publicly traded securities of a company that are held directly by the state treasurer or a retirement system 
in an actively managed account or fund in which the retirement system owns all shares or interests. 

4. "Indirect holdings" means all securities of a company that are held in an account or fund, including a mutual fund, that is managed by 
one or more persons who are not employed by the state treasurer or a retirement system, if the state treasurer or retirement system 
owns shares or interests either: 

(a) together with other investors that are not subject to this section. 
(b) that are held in an index fund. 

5. “Public entity" means the Town of Florence(“Town”), a political subdivision of this STATE or an agency, board, commission or 
department of this Town or a political subdivision of this Town 

6. “Public fund" means the state treasurer or a retirement system. 
7. "Restricted companies" means companies that boycott Israel. 
8. "Retirement system" means a retirement plan or system that is established by or pursuant to title 38. 
 
All offerors/vendors must select one of the following and thereby certify that:  
 
  My company does not participate in, and agrees not to participate in during the term of the contract a boycott of Israel in 

accordance with A.R.S. §35-393.01. I understand that my entire response will become public record. 
 
  My company does participate in a boycott of Israel as defined by A.R.S. §35-393.01.  
 
By submitting this certification, proposer agrees to indemnify and hold the Town of Florence, its agents and employees, harmless from 
any claims or causes of action relating to the Town’s action based upon reliance on the above representations, including the payment of 
all costs and attorney’s fees incurred by the Town in defending such an action. 
 
_________________________________________  _____________________________________________ 
                             Company Name                        Signature of Authorized Person 
 

_____________________________________________________________ _________________________ 
                                   Address                                   Printed Name of Authorized Person 
 

_____________________________________________________________ _________________________ 
               City                  State                 Zip                Title of Authorized Person 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



T 

NON-COLLUSIVE BIDDING CERTIFICATION 

STATE OF ) 

) SS. 

COUNTY OF  ) 

I, ________________________ of the City/Town of __________________________, in the County 
of 

 ___________________ and the State of _______________________, of full age, being duly sworn 
according to the law of my oath depose and say that: 

I am _____________________________ a _______________________________ of the firm of 
 ______________________________________________________, the Bidder making the Bid for 
the Town of Florence Project 
________________________________________________________________________________
and that I executed the said Bid with full authority to do so; that said Bidder has not, directly or 
indirectly, entered into any agreement, participated in any collusion, or otherwise taken any action in 
restraint of free, competitive bidding in connection with the above named Project; and that all 
statements contained in said Bid and in this affidavit are true and correct, and made with full 
knowledge that the Town of Florence relies upon the truth of the statements contained in said Bid and 
in the statements contained in this affidavit in awarding the Contract for the said Project. 

I further warrant that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure 
such Contract upon an agreement of understanding, for a commission, percentage, brokerage or 
contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies 
maintained by: 

___________________________________ 
(Signature of Bidder) 

___________________________________ 
(Printed or Typed Name of Bidder) 
(Seal of Corporation) 

Sworn to before me this ______ day of ____________, 20__, in the County of ______________, 
State of _______________________. 

_______________________________ 

(Notary Public) 





































































FMF Budget 
QTY DESCRIPTION COST SUPPLIER 
1 Sound, stage, Lights, backline, genset $9,000 Rene - 5th Ave Prod.. 
1 Stage Banner (3) $800 bannersonthecheap.com 
1 Main St. Banner $200 bannersonthecheap.com 
1 (9) bands $4,700 
1 Liability & Cancellation Ins. $2,400 Scott Bradley 
1 Fencing (bill) 1.40/ft (not including gates) $5,000 United Site Services 
26 Porta-johns $1,000 United Site Services 
1 Trash (2) roll-offs $1,000 TBD 
2 Portable lights $500 United Site Services 
1 Water truck $750 Dave Furnas 
60 Staff shirts $300 Online 
3500 Bracelets w/print $350 wristband.com 
1 Advertising $10,000 
1 Clean up $500 ACI 
1 2-way Radio pack (10 total) $300 USA Radio Rentals 
10 Flashlights/batteries $100 Amazon 
2 50# marking chalk $100 True Value  
1 Hot air balloon (2) nights $600 Daniel Backes 
1 AZ Rangers $25/hr. ? Keith McLaughlin 
1 Tent - if needed $1,000 
1 TOF Field Rent $3390 T.O.F 
1 Tent/stage Inspections $1,000 T.O.F. 
1 Backstage food/beverage $1,000 
1 Misc… $7,500 

TOTAL: $51,490 
 

SECURITY GUARDS - PER GUARD 
1 Saturday guard (12 hrs x $28) Pro-em $336 
1 Sunday Guard (11 hrs x $28) Pro-em $308 
1 Night guard (6 hrs x $30) (10pm-4am) Pro-em $180 
 
SATURDAY: (5) guards for 12hrs: 336x5 = $1,680 
SUNDAY: (5) guards for 11hrs: 308x5 = $1,540 
NIGHT: (1) guard, 6 hrs for (3) nights: 180x3 = $540 

TOTAL: $3,760 
 

GRAND TOTAL: $55,250 



 
 

 
ANTICIPATED REVENUE 

 
 

 
Event Ticket Sales: $18,000 
 
Campsite Sales: $4,500 
 
Sponsorships: $4,000 
 
Alcohol Sales: $3,400 
 
Proposed Town Support: $30,000 
 

TOTAL: $59,900 
 
 
 
 
 
 























































 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 8b.  

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Services 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Bryan Hughes, 
                                      Community Services Director 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
nd
Subject:  Services Agreement – Florence Art Festival  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:  Services Agreement with Greater Florence 
Chamber of Commerce for 2020 Historic Florence 
Art Festival 

 2  Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Approval of a Services Agreement with Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce, for a 
2020 Historic Florence Art Festival, in the amount of $24,500. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Earlier in the year, the Town Council expressed an interest in adding new special 
events, particularly running events such as a 5K, a music festival, and an art festival.  
Staff subsequently included an additional $75,000 for new events in the current fiscal 
year budget. 
 
Staff has proposed partnering with outside organizations and/or promoters to coordinate 
these new events, as they often take significant staff time and special resources. 
 
In September, staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) from qualified applicants to 
coordinate a music festival; however, there was no response.  In October, staff made a 
few changes and reissued an RFP. 
 
The Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce submitted the only proposal.  After 
reviewing their submittal and following up with questions, staff is recommending 
entering into a services agreement with Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce to 
produce an art festival.  Staff feels that this partnership will achieve the Town Council’s 



Subject:  Services Agreement – Florence Art Festival  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

goal of adding an art festival, and thus, providing another event for town residents and 
attracting visitors to Florence.  Staff is recommending funding of $24,500 as part of the 
agreement. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town would not partner with Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce and would 
have to consider other options to coordinate an art festival. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town will move forward with partnering with Greater Florence Chamber of 
Commerce to coordinate 2020 Historic Florence Art Festival.  Dates TBA. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Staff included an additional $75,000 for new events in the current fiscal year budget.  It 
was estimated that the amount would be distributed equally among the three new 
events, or $25,000 each.  This agreement is for $24,500 and falls within the budget for 
new special events. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Services Agreement with Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce for the 2020 Historic 
Florence Art Festival. 



1  

COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

The SERVICES AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Greater Florence 
Chamber of Commerce (“Vendor”) and the Town of Florence, a political subdivision of the State of Arizona 
(“Town”), effective as of November 6, 2019  (the “Effective Date”). Town and the Vender may be referred 
to in this Agreement collectively as the “parties” and each individually as a “party”.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, Vendor and Town agree as follows: 
 
Scope of Services:  Vendor shall provide the Services described in the Scope of Services attached 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit "A" (the "Services" or “Scope of Services”, or “Program”). All 
work shall be reviewed and approved by Town's Contract Administrator to determine acceptable 
completion. Review and approval by the Contract Administrator shall not relieve Vendor of any liability 
for improper, negligent or inadequate Services rendered pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
Fees:  The amount paid to the Vendor under this Agreement, including reimbursable expenses, shall not 
exceed $24,500.00.  Vendor shall be paid in full within 30 days of the completion of the Program. The Town 
of Florence will waive Facility Fees associated with event.  
 
Termination for Convenience:  Town has the right to terminate, suspend or abandon this Agreement 
for cause or convenience, or to terminate any portion of the Services which have not been performed by 
the Vendor. Town may terminate this Agreement, or any part thereof for its sole convenience, at any 
time without penalty or recourse. Vendor shall receive payment for Services satisfactorily completed and 
accepted by Town, as determined by Town in its reasonable discretion, based on the Scope of Services 
and schedule for payment.   
 
Independent Contractor:  It is understood that Vendor shall be an independent contractor with respect 
to Services provided under this Agreement, and shall not be deemed to be a partner, employee, joint 
venturer, agent, or to have any other legal relationship with Town. As an independent contractor, Vendor 
shall: (a) have discretion in deciding upon the method of performing the Services provided; (b) not be 
entitled to worker’s compensation benefits from the Town; (c) not be entitled to any Town sponsored benefit 
plan; (d) shall select the hours of his/her work; (e) shall provide her/his own equipment and tools; and(f) to 
the extent required by law, be responsible for obtaining and remaining licensed to provide the Services.  
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, Town shall not be responsible for the payment of any 
taxes, permit fees or licenses incurred or required by Vendor in order to perform Services under this 
Agreement. Vendor understands that the Vendor is responsible to pay, according to law, the Vendor's 
income tax, and this may include Vendor's self-employment, social security, and other taxes. As an 
independent contractor, Vendor is responsible for providing all workers' compensation insurance required 
by law. Vendor shall be solely responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, agents, servants, 
and employees. 
 
Cancellation of Agreement:  This Agreement is subject to cancellation by Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
511, the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Indemnification:  The Vendor shall at all times indemnify, keep indemnified, defend and save harmless 
Town and any of its Mayor, council members, agents, officials, officers, representatives, volunteers and 
employees from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, proceedings, loss, costs and/or damages 
of every kind and description including any attorney's fees and/or litigation expenses which may be 
brought or made against  or  incurred  by Town on account of loss of or damage to any property or for 
injuries to or death of any person caused by, arising out of, or contributed to, in whole or in part, by 
reason of any alleged act, omission, professional error, fault, mistake, or negligence of the Vendor, its 
employees, agents, representatives,  or subcontractors, their employees, agents, or  representatives  in  
connection  with  or  incidental  to  the  performance  of this  Agreement  or  arising  out Workers' 
Compensation claims, Unemployment Compensation claims, or Unemployment Disability Compensation 



2  

claims of employees of the Vendor or its subcontractors or claims under similar laws or obligations. 
The Vendor's obligations under this paragraph shall not extend to any liability caused by the sole 
negligence of Town or its employees. 
 
In the event that any action or proceeding shall at any time be brought against Town by reason of any 
claim referred to in this Section, the Vendor, at Vendor's sole cost and upon at least 10 day's written 
notice from Town, shall defend the same with counsel acceptable to Town, in Town's sole discretion. The 
Vendor's obligations under this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 
Insurance provisions set forth in this Agreement are separate and independent from the indemnity 
provisions of this Section and shall not be construed in any way to limit the scope and magnitude of this 
Indemnification, nor shall this Indemnification be construed in any way to limit the scope, magnitude or 
applicability of the insurance provisions. 
 
Notice:  Unless otherwise provided herein, demands or notices under this Agreement will be in writing and 
will be deemed to have been duly given and received either (a) on the date of services if personally 
delivered to the party to whom notice is to be given, or (b) on the 3rd day after the date of the postmark 
of deposit by first class United States mail, registered or certified postage prepaid and properly addressed 
according to the party's place of business as set forth herein. 
 
Insurance: 

A. The Vendor shall provide and maintain and cause any subcontractors to provide and maintain 
appropriate insurance. In no event shall the total coverage be less than the minimum insurance 
coverage specified below: 

 
1. Commercial General Liability in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) 

per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) general aggregate. 
2. Automobile Liability in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per 

occurrence. 
3. Statutory Workman’s compensation. 

 
B. The Vendor shall name Town, its Mayor, council members, agents, officers, representatives, 

officials, volunteers and employees as additional insureds and shall specify that the insurance 
afforded by the Vendor shall be primary insurance and that any insurance coverage carried or 
self-insurance by Town, any department or employee shall be excess coverage and not 
contributory insurance to that provided by the Vendor. Said policy shall contain a severability of 
interest provision. Town reserves the right to continue payment of premium for which 
reimbursement shall be deducted from amounts due or subsequently due Vendor. 

 
C. Failure on the part of the Vendor to procure and maintain the requested liability insurance and 

provide proof thereof to Town within ten (10) days following the commencement of a new policy, 
shall constitute a material breach of the Agreement upon which Town may immediately terminate 
this Agreement. Within ten (10) days of signing this Agreement, the Vendor shall furnish the 
Town with copies of the Certificate of Insurance and Endorsements drawn in conformity with the 
above insurance requirements. Town reserves the right to request and receive certified copies of 
any or all of the above policies and endorsements. 

 
D. The Vendor agrees to comply with statutory requirements for both workers' compensation and 

unemployment insurance coverage during the term of this Agreement. A Certificate of Insurance 
for workers' compensation coverage shall be provided within ten (10) days of signing this 
Agreement. The insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against Town, its Mayor 
and Council members, its officers, representatives, officials, volunteers, agents, and employees 
for losses arising from Services performed by the Vendor for Town. 

 
E. The Vendor is primarily responsible for the risk management of its Services under this 

Agreement, including but not limited to obtaining and maintaining the required insurance and 
establishing and maintaining a reasonable risk control and safety program. Town reserves the 



3  

right to amend the requirements herein at any time during the Agreement subject to at least (5) days 
written notice. The Vendor shall require any and all subcontractors to maintain insurance as 
required herein naming Town and Vendor as "Additional Insured" on all insurance policies, 
except Worker's Compensation, and this shall be reflected on the Certificate of Insurance. The 
Vendor's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to all other available 
sources. Coverage provided by the Vendor shall not be limited to the liability assumed under the 
Indemnification provision of this Agreement. To the extent permitted by law, Vendor waives all 
rights of subrogation or similar rights against Town, its Mayor and council members, officials, 
agents, representatives, officers, volunteers and employees. All insurance policies, except 
Workers' Compensation required by this Agreement, and self-insured retention or deductible 
portions, shall name, to the fullest extent permitted by law for claims arising out of the 
performance of this Agreement, Town, its Mayor and council members, agents, representatives, 
officers, directors, officials, volunteers and employees as Additional Insureds. Town reserves 
the right to require complete copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by 
this Agreement at any time. Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this 
Agreement, or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of contract. 

 
COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and each originally 
executed duplicate counterpart of this Agreement shall be deemed to possess the full force and effect 
of the original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument, binding on all of the 
parties. The parties agree that this Agreement may be transmitted between them via facsimile. The 
parties intend that faxed signatures constitute original signatures and that a faxed Agreement containing 
the signatures (original or faxed) of all the parties is binding upon the parties. 
 
CONSTRUCTION:  The terms and provisions of this Agreement represent the results of negotiations 
between the parties, each of which has been or has had the opportunity to be represented by counsel 
of its own choosing, and neither of which has acted under any duress or compulsion, whether legal, 
economic or otherwise. Consequently, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted 
and construed in accordance with their usual and customary meanings, and the parties each hereby 
waive the application of any rule of law which would otherwise be applicable in connection with the 
interpretation and construction of this Agreement that ambiguous or conflicting terms or provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed against the party whose attorney prepared 
the executed Agreement or any earlier draft of the same. 
 
DISPUTES, GOVERNING LAW:  Should any dispute, misunderstanding or conflict arise as to the terms 
or provisions contained in this Agreement, the matter shall first be referred to Town, and Town shall 
determine the term or provision's true intent and meaning. This Agreement shall be deemed to be made 
under, shall be construed in accordance with, and shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Arizona, without reference to choice of law or conflicts of laws principles thereof. 
 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties and 
supersedes all previous representations, written or oral, with respect to the Services specified herein. 
The Agreement may not be modified or amended except by a written document, signed by authorized 
representatives for each party. 
 
LICENSES:  Vendor shall maintain in current status all Federal, State, and Local licenses and permits 
required for the operations of the business conducted by Vendor and the Services to be provided under this 
Agreement. 
 
PERMITS AND RESPONSIBILITIES:  Vendor, shall, without additional expense to Town, be responsible 
for obtaining any necessary licenses and permits and for complying with any applicable Federal, State, 
County and Municipal Laws, codes and regulations in connection with the execution of the work, provision 
of Services and provision of materials. 
 
NON-EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES:  The rights and the remedies of Town under this Agreement are not 
exclusive. Town shall be entitled to offset against any sums due to Vendor, any expenses or costs incurred 



4  

by Town, or damages assessed by Town concerning Vendor's non-conforming performance or failure to 
perform the Agreement, including costs and damages incurred by Town. 
 
SURVIVAL:  All warranties, representations and indemnification by Vendor shall survive the completion, 
expiration, or termination of this Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Vendor and Town have caused this document to be executed by their 
duly authorized representatives, this    date of    , 2019. 
 
 
REVIEWED:      VENDOR: 
 
 
By:        By:        
 Community Services Director     
 
 
TOWN OF FLORENCE:      
 
 
By:         
 Town Manager/Deputy Town Manager 
 
 
AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By:        

Town Attorney 
 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

2020 FLORENCE ART FESTIVAL  

Town of Florence 
P O Box 2670 

775 N. Main Street  
Florence, Arizona 85132 

SOLICITATION INFORMATION AND SCHEDULE 

Solicitation Number: CS2019-04 

Release Date: October 4, 2019 

Advertisement Dates: October 10 and October 17, 2019  
Florence Reminder and Blade-Tribune 
 

Final Date for Inquires October 18, 2019 

Proposal Deadline: 
 

October 30, 2019 
10:00 a.m. (local time, Phoenix, Arizona) 

Proposal Opening: October 30, 2019 
10:30 a.m. (local time, Phoenix, Arizona) 

Town Representative:  Alison Feliz, alison.feliz@florenceaz.gov 
 (520) 868-7585 

In accordance with the Town of Florence Procurement Code, competitive sealed pproposals for 
the services specified herein will be received by the Town Clerk, at the Town Clerk’s Office, at 
the above-referenced location until the date and time referenced above (the “Proposal 
Deadline”).  Proposals received by the Proposal Deadline shall be publicly opened and the 
proposal price read.  Proposals shall be in the actual possession of the Town Clerk on, or prior 
to, the Proposal Deadline date.  Late proposals shall not be considered except as provided in 
the Town Procurement Code.  Proposals shall be submitted in a sealed envelope with the 
Solicitation Number and the proposer’s name and address clearly indicated on the front of the 
envelope. 

 
* The Town of Florence reserves the right to amend the solicitation schedule as necessary. 

 

EXHIBIT A



TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 

OFFER FORM 
 

The undersigned (the “Proposer”) hereby offers this Proposal as an offer to contract with the 
Town under the terms and conditions set forth below and certifies that Proposer has read, 
understands and agrees to fully comply with, and be contractually bound by, all terms and 
conditions as set forth in this Request for Proposal (“RFP”), the Contract formed hereby (as 
defined below) and any amendments thereto, together with all Exhibits, Specifications, Plans 
and other documents included as part of this Contract (the “Contract Documents”). 
 



 

 

Arizona Transaction (Sales) Privilege 
Tax License Number:  
 
Federal Employer Identification Number: 
  

Contractor Name 
 

  
Address 

 
  
City   State     Zip Code 

For Clarification of this Proposal contact: 

 

Name:  

Telephone:  

Facsimile:  

Email:  

   
Authorized Signature for Contractor 

  
Printed Name 

  
Title 

ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER AND NOTICE OF AWARD  
(FOR TOWN OF FLORENCE USE ONLY) 

Effective Date:   Contract No.    Official File:   

TOWN OF FLORENCE, an Arizona municipal corporation 
 
 
       
Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk                Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 

 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Request for Proposal, the following definitions shall apply: 

 1.1 “Proposal” or “Offer” means a responsive proposal or quotation submitted by a 
Proposer in response to this Request for Proposal. 

 1.2 “Proposal Deadline” means the date and time set forth on the cover of this RFP 
for the Town Clerk to be in actual possession of the sealed Proposals. 

 1.3 “Proposal Opening” means the date and time set forth on the cover of this 
Request for Proposal for opening of sealed Proposals. 

 1.4 “Proposer” means any person or firm submitting a competitive Proposal in 
response to this RFP. 

 1.5 “Confidential Information” means that portion of a Proposal, Proposal Offer, 
Specification or protest that contains information that the person submitting the information 
believes should be withheld, provided (i) such person submits a written statement advising the 
Town of this fact at the time of the submission and (ii) the information is so identified wherever 
it appears. 

 1.6 “Contract Documents” means, collectively, the (i) Offer/Proposal, (ii) this RFP, 
including all exhibits, (iii) the Notice of Award, (iv) the Notice to Proceed or Purchase 
Order(s), (v) any approved Addendum, Change Order or Amendment, (vi) the Contractor’s 
Certificates of Insurance and a copy of the Declarations Page(s) of the insurance policies, 
(vii) any Plans, Specifications or other documents attached, appended or incorporated herein 
by reference.  Alternate or optional proposal items will become part of the Contract only if 
they are accepted by the Town in writing on the Price Sheet. 

 1.7 “Contractor” means the individual, partnership, corporation or limited liability 
company who has submitted a Proposal in response to this RFP and who, as a result of the 
competitive proposal process, is awarded a contract for Materials or Services by the Town. 

 1.8 “Day(s)” means calendar day(s) unless otherwise specified. 

 1.9 “Request for Proposal” or “RFP” means this request by the Town for participation 
in the competitive proposal process according to all documents, including those attached or 
incorporated herein by reference, utilized for soliciting Proposals for the Services and/or 
Materials in compliance with the Town’s Procurement Code. 

 1.10 “Materials” means any personal property, including equipment, materials, 
replacements and supplies provided by the Contractor in conjunction with the Contract and 
shall include, in addition to Materials incorporated in the Project, equipment and other material 
used and/or consumed in the performance of Services or Work. 

 1.11 “Multiple Award” means an award of an indefinite quantity contract for one or 
more similar products, commodities or Services to more than one Proposer. 

 1.12 “Price” means the total expenditure for a defined quantity of a commodity or 
service. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 1.13 “Procurement Administrator” means a Town employee, as designated on the 
cover of this RFP, who has specifically been designated to act as a contact person to the 
Proposers and/or Contractor relating to their RFP. 
 
 1.14 “Procurement Agent” means the Town Manager or authorized designee. 

 1.15 “Procurement Code” means the Town’s Procurement Code, as amended from 
time to time. 

 1.16 “Project” means the purpose and Work described as set forth in Section 2.1, 
Purpose/Scope of Work, of the RFP. 

 1.17 “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a Contractor, not 
involving the delivery of a specific end product other than reports which are merely incidental to 
the required performance and as further defined in the Contract.  This term does not include 
“professional and technical services” as defined in the Procurement Code. 

 1.18 “Specification” means any description of the physical characteristics, functional 
characteristics, or the nature of a commodity, product, supply or Services.  The term may 
include a description of any requirements for inspecting, testing, or preparing a supply or 
service item for delivery. 

 1.19 “Subcontractor” means those persons or groups of persons having a direct 
contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the Work and those who furnish Materials 
according to the plans and/or Specifications required by this Contract. 

 1.20 “Town” means the Town of Florence, an Arizona municipal corporation. 

 1.21 “Town Representative” means the Town employee who has specifically been 
designated to act as a contact person to the Town’s Procurement Administrator, and who is 
responsible for monitoring and overseeing the Contractor’s performance under the Contract 
and for providing information regarding details pertaining to the Work. 

 1.22 “Vendor” means any firms, entities or individuals desiring to prepare a responsive 
Proposal in response to this RFP. 

 1.23 “Work” means all labor, Materials and equipment incorporated or to be 
incorporated in the Project that are necessary to accomplish the Services required by this 
Contract. 

ARTICLE II – PROPOSAL PROCESS; PROPOSAL AWARD 

2.1 Purpose/Scope of Work.  The Work included in this Project consists of the 
production of an Art Festival in Florence that attracts residents and visitors to Historic 
Downtown Main Street in Florence, Arizona.  The Town is issuing this RFP to secure a 
qualified General Contractor to perform the Work and provide all Materials as more particularly 
described in the Scope of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A, and incorporated herein by 
reference.   

2.2 Amendment of RFP.  No alteration may be made to this RFP or the resultant 
Contract without the express, written approval of the Town in the form of an official RFP 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

addendum or Contract amendment.  Any attempt to alter this RFP/Contract without such 
approval is a violation of this RFP/Contract and the Town Procurement Code.  Any such 
action is subject to the legal and contractual remedies available to the Town including, but not 
limited to, Contract cancellation and suspension and/or debarment of the Proposer or 
Contractor. 

2.3 Preparation/Submission of Proposal.  Proposers are invited to participate in the 
competitive proposal process for the Services specified in this RFP.  Proposers shall review 
their Proposal submissions to ensure the following requirements are met. 

A. Irregular/Non-responsive Proposals.  The Town will consider as “irregular” 
or “non-responsive” and shall reject any Proposal not prepared and submitted in accordance 
with the RFP and Specifications, or any Proposal lacking sufficient information to enable the 
Town to make a reasonable determination of compliance with the Specifications.  Unauthorized 
or unreasonable exceptions, conditions, limitations, or provisions shall be cause for rejection.  
Proposals may be deemed non-responsive at any time during the evaluation process if, in the 
sole opinion of the Procurement Agent, any of the following are true: 

1. Proposer does not meet the minimum required skill, experience or 
requirements to perform the Services or provide the Materials. 

2. Proposer has a past record of failing to fully perform or fulfill 
contractual obligations. 

3. Proposer cannot demonstrate financial stability. 

4. Proposal submission contains false, inaccurate or misleading 
statements that, in the opinion of the Procurement Agent, are intended to mislead the 
Town in its evaluation of the Proposal. 

B. Specification Minimums.  Proposers are reminded that the Specifications 
stated in the Scope of Work as part of this RFP are the minimum levels required and that 
Proposals submitted must be for products or Services that meet or exceed the minimum level 
of all features specifically listed in this RFP.  Proposals offering less than the minimums 
specified will be deemed “not responsive.”  It shall be the Proposer’s responsibility to carefully 
examine each item listed in the Scope of Work. 

C. Required Submittal.  Proposers shall provide ONE ORIGINAL, ONE 
COPY AND ONE DIGITAL COPY OF ALL OF THE FOLLOWING documents to be 
considered a responsive Proposal: 

1. Complete, fully executed original of this RFP, with the Offer 
signed in ink by a person authorized to bind the Proposer.  

 
2. Scope of Work (Exhibit A) 

2. Project Budget (Exhibit B) 

3. Subcontractor Listing (Exhibit C) 
 
4. Licenses; Certifications; DBE/MBE Status (Exhibit D) 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 
5. References (Exhibit E) 
 
6. Acknowledgment for each Addendum received, if any (Exhibit F) 
 
7. Lawful Presence Form (Exhibit G) 
 
8. Deviation Form (Exhibit H) 
 
9. Proposal Bond (Exhibit I) 
 
10. Participation in Boycott of Israel (Exhibit J) 

 
D. Proposer Responsibilities.  All Proposers shall (1) examine the entire 

Proposal package, (2) seek clarification of any item or requirement that may not be clear, (3) 
check all responses for accuracy before submitting a Proposal and (4) submit the entire, 
completed Proposal package and required copies by the official Proposal Deadline.  Late 
Proposals shall not be considered.  Proposals not submitted with an original, signed Offer 
page by a person authorized to bind the Proposer shall be considered “non-responsive.”  
Negligence in preparing a Proposal shall not be good cause for withdrawal after the Proposal 
Deadline. 

E. Sealed Proposals.  All Proposals shall be sealed and clearly marked with 
the RFP title and number on the lower left-hand corner of the mailing envelope.  A return 
address must also appear on the outside of the sealed Proposal. 

F. Address.  All Proposals shall be directed to the following address:  Town 
of Florence, Town Clerk, P O Box 2670, Florence, Arizona, 85132 or hand delivered to the 
Town Clerk’s Office at 775 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona 85132. 

G. Proposal Forms.  All Proposals shall be on the forms provided in this RFP.  
It is permissible to copy these forms if required.  Telegraphic (facsimile), electronic (email) or 
mailgram Proposals will not be considered. 

H. Modifications.  Erasures, interlineations, or other modifications in the 
Proposal shall be initialed in original ink by the authorized person signing the Proposal. 

I. Withdrawal.  At any time prior to the specified Proposal Opening, a 
Proposer (or designated representative) may amend or withdraw its Proposal.  Facsimile, 
electronic (email) or mailgram Proposal amendments or withdrawals will not be considered.  No 
Proposal shall be altered, amended or withdrawn after the specified Proposal Deadline, unless 
otherwise permitted pursuant to the Town Procurement Code. 

2.4 Inquiries; Interpretation of Specifications; Scope of Work. 

A. Inquiries.  Any question related to the RFP, including any part of the 
Specifications, Scope of Work or other Contract Documents, shall be directed to the Town 
Representatives whose names appear on the cover page of this RFP.  Questions shall be 
submitted in writing by the date indicated on the cover page of this RFP; the Town will not 
respond to any inquiries submitted later than the Final Date for Inquiries.  The Vendor 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

submitting such inquiry will be responsible for its prompt delivery to the Town.  Any 
correspondence related to the RFP shall refer to the title and number, page and paragraph.  
However, the Proposer shall not place the RFP number and title on the outside of any 
envelope containing questions, because such an envelope may be identified as a sealed 
Proposal and may not be opened until the Proposal Opening.  Any interpretations or 
corrections of the proposed Contract Documents will be made only by addenda duly approved 
and issued by the Town.  The Town will not be responsible for any other explanations or 
interpretations of the Contract Documents. 

B. Addenda.  It shall be the Proposer’s responsibility to check for addenda 
issued to this RFP.  Any addendum issued by the Town with respect to this RFP will be 
available at: 

Town of Florence Town Hall,  
775 N. Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85132 
Town of Florence website at: www.florenceaz.gov/rfp 

C. Approval of Substitutions.  The Materials, products, and equipment 
described in this RFP establish a standard or required function, dimension, appearance and 
quality to be met by any proposed substitution.  No substitute will be considered unless 
written request for approval has been received by the Town Representative at least 10 Days 
prior to the Proposal Deadline.  Each such request shall include the name of the Material or 
equipment for which it is to be substituted and a complete description of the proposed 
substitute, including any drawings, performance and test data and any other information 
necessary for evaluation of the proposed substitute.  If a substitute is approved, the approval 
shall be by written addendum to the RFP.  Proposer shall not rely upon approvals made in 
any other manner. 

D. Use of Equals.  When the Scope of Work or Specifications for Materials, 
articles, products and equipment include the phrase “or equal,” Proposer may proposal upon 
and use Materials, articles, products and equipment that will perform equally the duties 
imposed by the general design.  The Town Representative will have the final approval of all 
Materials, articles, products and equipment proposed to be used as an “equal.”  No such 
“equal” shall be purchased or installed without prior, written approval from the Town 
Representative.  Approvals for “equals” before Proposal Opening may be requested in writing 
to the Town Representative for approval.  Requests must be received at least 10 Days prior 
to the Proposal Deadline.  The request shall include the name of the Material, article, product 
or equipment for which the item is sought to be considered an equal and a complete 
description of the proposed equal including any drawings, performance and test data and any 
other information necessary for approval of the equal.  All approval of equals shall be issued 
in the form of written addendum or amendment, as applicable, to this RFP or the Contract. 

E. Proposal Quantities.  It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties 
hereto that the quantities of the various classes of Services and/or Materials to be furnished 
under this Contract, which have been estimated as stated in the Proposers’ Offer, are only 
approximate and are to be used solely for the purpose of comparing, on a consistent basis, 
the Proposers’ Offers presented for the Work under this Contract.  The selected Contractor 
agrees that the Town shall not be held responsible if any of the quantities shall be found to be 

http://www.florenceaz.gov/rfp


TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

incorrect and the Contractor will not make any claim for damages or for loss of profits 
because of a difference between the quantities of the various classes of Services and/or 
Materials as estimated and the Services and/or Materials actually provided.  If any error, 
omission or misstatement is found to occur in the estimated quantities, the same shall not (1) 
invalidate the Contract or the whole or any part of the Scope of Work, (2) excuse Contractor 
from any of the obligations or liabilities hereunder or (3) entitle Contractor to any damage or 
compensation except as may be provided in this Contract. 

2.5 Prospective Proposers’ Conference.  A Prospective Proposers’ Conference may 
be held.  If scheduled, the date and time of the Prospective Proposers’ Conference will be 
indicated on the cover page of this RFP.  The Prospective Proposers’ Conference may be 
designated as mandatory or non-mandatory on the cover of this RFP.  Proposals shall not be 
accepted from Proposers who do not attend a mandatory Prospective Proposers’ 
Conference.  Proposers are strongly encouraged to attend those Prospective Proposer’s 
Conferences designated as non-mandatory.  The purpose of the Prospective Proposers’ 
Conference will be to clarify the contents of the RFP in order to prevent any 
misunderstanding of the Town’s requirements.  Any doubt as to the requirements of this RFP 
or any apparent omission or discrepancy should be presented to the Town at the Prospective 
Proposers’ Conference.  The Town will then determine if any action is necessary and may 
issue a written amendment or addendum to the RFP.  Oral statements or instructions will not 
constitute an amendment or addendum to the RFP. 

2.6 New Materials.  All Materials to be provided by the Contractor and included in 
the Proposal shall be new, unless otherwise stated in the Specifications. 

2.7 Project Budget.  Work shall be provided at the unit prices as set forth in the 
Project Budget attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference.  Proposal 
Budget shall be submitted on a per unit basis by line item, when applicable and include all 
applicable sales tax.  In the event of a disparity between the unit price and extended price, 
the unit price shall prevail.   

2.8 Subcontracts.  Proposers shall submit a listing of all proposed Subcontractors 
or suppliers that the Proposer intends to utilize relating to the Project, in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit C.  Failure on the part of the Proposer to complete or improperly complete 
the Subcontractor Listing will constitute sufficient cause for rejection.  Proposed 
Subcontractors shall be qualified and have the requisite licenses and be licensed to do 
business in the State of Arizona.  The Proposer may list itself by writing “Self” adjacent to the 
category of work for which the Proposer assumes responsibility for performance of the Work 
assumes the responsibility of the Subcontractor.  Subcontractor Listings submitted by 
unsuccessful Proposers will be returned, unopened, unless required in order to determine 
responsibility and responsiveness of the Subcontractors and the Proposer’s Offers.  The 
Town reserves the right to review and reasonably object to the Subcontractors proposed, and 
the selected Contractor shall not retain a Subcontractor to which the Town has a reasonable 
objection. 

2.9 Payment; Discounts.  Contracts are paid via: 50% of cash amount paid 30 days 
prior to the event; balance paid once final reports are received and approved. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2.10 Taxes.  The Town is exempt from Federal Excise Tax, including the Federal 
Transportation Tax.  Transaction Privilege Tax, if any, shall be included in the unit price for 
each line item.  It shall not be considered a lump sum payment item.  Proposer should not 
include tax on any allowances.  It is the sole responsibility of the Proposer to determine any 
applicable State tax rates and calculate the tax accordingly.  Failure to accurately tabulate any 
applicable taxes may result in a determination that a Proposal is “non-responsive.”  The 
Proposer shall not rely on, and shall independently verify, any tax information provided by the 
Town. 

2.11 Federal Funding.  It is the responsibility of the Proposer to verify and comply with 
federal requirements that may apply to the Work (the “Federal Requirements”).  It is also the 
responsibility of the Proposer to incorporate any necessary amounts in the Proposal to 
accommodate for required federal record-keeping, necessary pay structures or other matters 
related to the Federal Requirements, if any. 

2.12 Cost of Proposal/Proposal Preparation.  Proposals submitted for consideration 
should be prepared simply and economically, providing adequate information in a 
straightforward and concise manner.  The Town does not reimburse the cost of developing, 
presenting or providing any response to this solicitation; the Proposer is responsible for all 
costs incurred in responding to this RFP.  All materials and documents submitted in response 
to this RFP become the property of the Town and will not be returned. 

2.13 Public Record.  All Proposals shall become the property of the Town.  After 
Contract award, Proposals shall become public records and shall be available for public 
inspection in accordance with the Town’s Procurement Code, except that any portion of a 
Proposal that was designated as confidential pursuant to Section 2.14 below shall remain 
confidential from and after the time of Proposal opening to the extent permitted by Arizona law. 

2.14 Confidential Information.  If a Vendor/Proposer believes that a Proposal, 
Specification, or protest contains information that should be withheld from the public record, a 
statement advising the Procurement Agent of this fact shall accompany the submission and the 
information shall be clearly identified.  The information identified by the Vendor or Proposer as 
confidential shall not be disclosed until the Procurement Agent makes a written determination.  
The Procurement Agent shall review the statement and information with the Town Attorney and 
shall determine in writing whether the information shall be withheld.  If the Town Attorney 
determines that it is proper to disclose the information, the Procurement Agent shall inform the 
Vendor or Proposer in writing of such determination. 

2.15 Vendor Licensing and Registration.  Prior to the award of the Contract, the 
successful Proposer shall be registered with the Arizona Corporation Commission and 
authorized to do business in Arizona.  Proposers shall provide license and certification 
information with the Proposal, attached as Exhibit D and incorporated herein by reference.  
Upon the Town’s request, corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships or other 
entities shall provide Certificates of Good Standing from the Arizona Corporation 
Commission.  The successful bidder will be required to obtain a Town business license within 
30 days of award. 

 

 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2.16 Proposer Qualifications.   

 A. Experience and References.  Proposer must demonstrate successful 
completion of at least three similar projects within the past 60 months, one of which must 
have a dollar value of at least 75% of the total proposal for this Project as set forth in the 
Project Budget, attached as Exhibit B.  Total proposal price does not include any Town 
allowances identified.  For the purpose of this Solicitation, “successful completion” means 
completion of a project within the established schedule and budget and “similar projects” 
resemble this Project in size, nature and scope.  References for these three projects shall be 
listed on the sheet attached hereto as Exhibit E and incorporated herein by reference.  These 
references will be checked, and it is Proposer’s responsibility to ensure that all information is 
accurate and current.  Proposer authorizes the Town’s representative to verify all information 
from these references and releases all those concerned from any liability in connection with 
the information they provide.  

 B. Investigation.  The Town’s representative may conduct any investigation 
deemed necessary to determine the Proposer’s ability to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents.  The three lowest Proposers may be requested to submit 
additional documentation within 72 hours to assist the Town in its evaluation. 

2.17 

A. Recommendations for selection of the Art Festival will be based on the 
following weighted criteria of 100 possible points and passing status on all Pass or Fail 
categories. 

Criteria:       Points 

 
A. Cover Letter & Introduction    5 

B. Experience, Background and Qualifications  25 

C. Proposed Event Plan     30 

D. Plan for Economic Vitality    20 

E. Event Financing Plan     10 

F. Financial Capability of Proposer   10 

G. Professional References    P/F 

  

2.18 Certification.  By submitting a Proposal, the Proposer certifies: 

A. No Collusion.  The submission of the Proposal did not involve collusion or 
other anti-competitive practices. 

B. No Discrimination.  It shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment in violation of Federal Executive Order 11246. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

C. No Gratuity.  It has not given, offered to give, nor intends to give at any 
time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip favor or service to a Town employee, officer, agent or elected official in 
connection with the submitted Proposal or a resultant Contract.  In the event that the resultant 
Contract is canceled pursuant to Subsection 3.13(E) below, the Town shall be entitled, in 
addition to any other rights and remedies, to recover and withhold from the Contractor an 
amount equal to 150% of the gratuity. 

D. Financial Stability.  It is financially stable, solvent and has adequate cash 
reserves to meet all financial obligations including any potential costs resulting from an award 
of the Contract. 

E. No Signature/False Statement.  The signature on the Offer Form is 
genuine.  Failure to sign the Offer Form, or signing either with a false statement, shall void the 
submitted Proposal and any resulting Contract, and the Proposer may be debarred from further 
proposal in the Town. 

2.19 Proposal Bond.  All Vendors desiring to prepare a responsive Proposal shall 
submit a non-revocable proposal security payable to the Town in the amount of ten percent 
(10%) of the total Proposal Price.  This security shall be in the form of a proposal bond, certified 
check or cashier’s check and must be in the possession of the Town Representative by the 
Proposal Deadline.  All proposal security from Contractor(s) who have been issued a Notice of 
Award shall be held until the successful execution of all required Contract Documents and 
bonds.  If the Contractor fails to execute the required contractual documents and bonds within 
the time specified, or 10 Days after Notice of Award if no period is specified, the Contractor 
may be found to be in default and the Contract terminated by the Town.  In case of default, the 
Town reserves all rights inclusive of, but not limited to, the right to purchase material and/or to 
complete the Work and to recover any actual excess costs associated with such completion 
from the Contractor.  All proposal bonds shall be executed in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit I, duly executed by the Proposer as Principal and having as Surety thereon a Surety 
company holding a Certificate of Authority from the Arizona Department of Insurance to 
transact surety business in the State of Arizona.  Individual sureties are unacceptable.  All 
insurers and sureties shall have, at the time of submission of the proposal, an A.M. Best’s Key 
Rating Guide of “A-” or better as currently listed in the most recent Best Key Guide, published 
by the A.M. Best Company.  As soon as is practicable after the completion of the evaluation, 
the Town will (A) issue a Notice of Award for those Offers accepted by the Town and (B) return 
all checks or bonds to those Proposers who have not been issued a Notice of Award. 

2.20 Award of Contract. 

A. Line Item Option.  Unless the Proposer’s Offer indicates otherwise, or 
unless specifically provided within the Contract, the Town reserves the right to award by 
individual line item, by group of line items, or as a total, whichever is deemed most 
advantageous to the Town.  The Town’s flexibility with respect to the method of award also 
includes any items proposal as alternates, which may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in 
part, at the Town’s sole discretion. 

B. Evaluation.  The evaluation of this Proposal will be based on, but not 
limited to, the following:  (1) compliance with Scope of Work, (2) Price, including alternates 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

selected by the Town, if any, and taxes, but excluding “as-needed” services requested by the 
Town and (3) Proposer qualifications to provide the Services/Materials. 

C. Waiver; Rejection; Reissuance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this RFP, the Town expressly reserves the right to: (1) waive any immaterial defect or 
informality, (2) reject any or all Proposals or portions thereof and (3) cancel or reissue an RFP. 

D. Offer.  A Proposal is a binding offer to contract with the Town based upon 
the terms, conditions and specifications contained in this RFP and the Proposer’s responsive 
Proposal, unless any of the terms, conditions, or specifications are modified by a written 
addendum or contract amendment.  Proposals become binding contracts when the Acceptance 
of Offer and Notice of Award is executed in writing by the Town.  Proposer Offers shall be valid 
and irrevocable for 90 Days after the Proposal Opening. 

E. Protests.  Any Proposer may protest this RFP, the proposed award of a 
Contract, or the actual award of a Contract.  All protests will be considered in accordance with 
the process set forth by the Town Manager or qualified designee. 

ARTICLE III – GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.1 Term.  This Contract shall be effective from the date it is fully executed by the 
Town and remain in full force and effect for one year thereafter (the “Initial Term”), unless 
terminated as otherwise provided herein.  After the expiration of the Initial Term, this Contract 
may be renewed for up to four successive one-year terms (each a “Renewal Term”) if (A) it is 
deemed in the best interests of the Town, subject to availability and appropriation of funds for 
renewal in each subsequent year, (B) at least 30 Days prior to the end of the then-current 
term of the Contract, the Contractor requests, in writing, to extend the Contract for an 
additional one-year term and (C) the Town approves the additional one-year term in writing 
(including any price adjustments), as evidenced by the Town Manager’s signature thereon, 
which approval may be withheld by the Town for any reason.  The Contractor’s failure to seek 
a renewal of this Contract shall cause the Contract to terminate at the end of the then-current 
term of this Contract; provided however, that the Town may, at its discretion and with the 
agreement of the awarded Contractor, elect to waive this requirement and renew this 
Contract.  The Initial Term and any Renewal Term(s) are collectively referred to herein as the 
“Term.”  Upon renewal, the terms and conditions of this Contract shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

3.2 Compensation.  The Town shall pay the Contractor for Services completed and 
accepted by the Town at the rates set forth in the Project Budget.  The Contractor shall not 
commence any billable Work or provide any Services under this Contract until the Contractor 
receives an executed purchase order from the Town. 

3.3 Payments.  The Contractor will be paid on the basis of invoices submitted 
following acceptance of the Services/Materials.  All invoices shall document and itemize all 
Services performed and Materials delivered in sufficient detail to justify payment and shall 
include the Work Order number authorizing the transaction and shall be delivered to the 
Town Accounts Payable address indicated on the face of the Work Order, unless otherwise 
specified.  All transportation charges must be prepaid by the Contractor.  If invoice is subject 
to a cash discount, the discount period will be calculated from the date of receipt of the claim 
or the Materials, whichever is later. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.4 Documents.  All documents prepared and submitted to the Town pursuant to 
this Contract shall be the property of the Town. 

3.5 Contractor Personnel.  Contractor shall provide adequate, experienced 
personnel, capable of and devoted to the successful performance of the Services under this 
Contract.  Contractor agrees to assign specific individuals to key positions.  If deemed 
qualified, the Contractor is encouraged to hire Town residents to fill vacant positions at all 
levels.  Contractor agrees that, upon commencement of the Services to be performed under 
this Contract, key personnel shall not be removed or replaced without prior written notice to 
the Town.  The term “Key Personnel” means individuals who will be directly assigned to this 
Project and includes, but is not limited to, the owner, principals, project manager, project 
superintendent, scheduler, engineer and supervisory personnel.  At least two of the 
Proposer’s Key Personnel must have a minimum of three years’ experience in similar 
projects (defined above) and the scheduler must have experience in employing scheduling 
techniques appropriate for this Project. Resumes of Key Personnel shall be submitted upon 
request by the Town’s representative.  If Key Personnel are not available to perform the 
Services for a continuous period exceeding 30 days, or are expected to devote substantially 
less effort to the Services than initially anticipated, Contractor shall immediately notify the 
Town of same and shall, subject to the concurrence of the Town, replace such personnel with 
personnel possessing substantially equal ability and qualifications. 

3.6 Inspection; Acceptance.  All Work shall be subject to inspection and acceptance 
by the Town at reasonable times during Contractor’s performance.  The Contractor shall 
provide and maintain a self-inspection system that is acceptable to the Town. 

 
3.7 Licenses; Materials.  Contractor shall maintain in current status all federal, state 

and local licenses and permits required for the operation of the business conducted by the 
Contractor.  The Town has no obligation to provide Contractor, its employees or 
Subcontractors any business registrations or licenses required to perform the specific 
Services set forth in this Contract.  The Town has no obligation to provide tools, equipment or 
Material to Contractor. 

3.8 Performance Warranty.  Contractor warrants that the Services rendered will 
conform to the requirements of this Agreement and with the care and skill ordinarily used by 
members of the same profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time 
and in the same locality.  

3.9 Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town and each council member, officer, employee 
or agent thereof (the Town and any such person being herein called an “Indemnified Party”), 
for, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses 
(including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs and the costs of 
appellate proceedings) to which any such Indemnified Party may become subject, under any 
theory of liability whatsoever (“Claims”), insofar as such Claims (or actions in respect thereof) 
relate to, arise out of, or are caused by or based upon the negligent acts, intentional 
misconduct, errors, mistakes or omissions, in connection with the Work or Services of the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, or any tier of Subcontractor in the performance of 
this Contract.  The amount and type of insurance coverage requirements set forth below will 
in no way be construed as limiting the scope of the indemnity in this Section. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.10 Changes; Cancellation.  The Town reserves the right to cancel or make 
changes in the Services or Materials to be furnished by the Contractor within a reasonable 
period of time after issuance of Work Orders.  If such changes cause an increase or 
decrease in the amount due under the Work Order, or in the time required for Contractor’s 
performance, an acceptable adjustment shall be made and the Work Order shall be modified 
in writing accordingly.  Any agreement for adjustment must be asserted in writing within 10 
Days from when the change is ordered.  Should a Work Order be canceled, the Town agrees 
to reimburse the Contractor but only for actual and documentable costs incurred by the 
Contractor due to and after issuance of the Work Order.  The Town will not reimburse the 
Contractor for any costs incurred after receipt of a notice of cancellation from the Town, or for 
lost profits, shipment of product or costs incurred prior to issuance of a Work Order. 

3.11 Insurance. 

A. General. 

1. Insurer Qualifications.  Without limiting any obligations or liabilities 
of Contractor, Contractor shall purchase and maintain, at its own expense, hereinafter 
stipulated minimum insurance with insurance companies authorized to do business in 
the State of Arizona pursuant to ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 20-206, as amended, with an AM 
Best, Inc. rating of A- or above with policies and forms satisfactory to the Town.  Failure 
to maintain insurance as specified herein may result in termination of this Contract at the 
Town’s option. 

2. No Representation of Coverage Adequacy.  By requiring insurance 
herein, the Town does not represent that coverage and limits will be adequate to protect 
Contractor.  The Town reserves the right to review any and all of the insurance policies 
and/or endorsements cited in this Contract but has no obligation to do so.  Failure to 
demand such evidence of full compliance with the insurance requirements set forth in 
this Contract or failure to identify any insurance deficiency shall not relieve Contractor 
from, nor be construed or deemed a waiver of, its obligation to maintain the required 
insurance at all times during the performance of this Contract. 

3. Additional Insured.  All insurance coverage, except Workers’ 
Compensation insurance and Professional Liability insurance, if applicable, shall name, 
to the fullest extent permitted by law for claims arising out of the performance of this 
Contract, the Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and 
employees as Additional Insured as specified under the respective coverage sections of 
this Contract. 

4. Coverage Term.  All insurance required herein shall be maintained 
in full force and effect until all Work or Services required to be performed under the 
terms of this Contract are satisfactorily performed, completed and formally accepted by 
the Town, unless specified otherwise in this Contract. 

5. Primary Insurance.  Contractor’s insurance shall be primary 
insurance with respect to performance of this Contract and in the protection of the Town 
as an Additional Insured. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

6. Claims Made.  In the event any insurance policies required by this 
Agreement are written on a “claims made” basis, coverage shall extend, either by 
keeping coverage in force or purchasing an extended reporting option, for three years 
past completion and acceptance of the services.  Such continuing coverage shall be 
evidenced by submission of annual Certificates of Insurance citing applicable 
coverage is in force and contains the provisions as required herein for the three-year 
period. 

 
7. Waiver.  All policies, except for Professional Liability, including 

Workers’ Compensation insurance, shall contain a waiver of rights of recovery 
(subrogation) against the Town, its agents, representatives, officials, officers and 
employees for any claims arising out of the Work or Services of Contractor.  Contractor 
shall arrange to have such subrogation waivers incorporated into each policy via formal 
written endorsement thereto. 

8. Policy Deductibles and/or Self-Insured Retentions.  The policies set 
forth in these requirements may provide coverage that contains deductibles or self-
insured retention amounts.  Such deductibles or self-insured retention shall not be 
applicable with respect to the policy limits provided to the Town.  Contractor shall be 
solely responsible for any such deductible or self-insured retention amount. 

9. Use of Subcontractors.  If any Work under this Contract is 
subcontracted in any way, Contractor shall execute written agreement with its 
Subcontractors containing the indemnification provisions set forth in this subsection and 
insurance requirements set forth herein protecting the Town and Contractor.  Contractor 
shall be responsible for executing any agreements with its Subcontractor and obtaining 
certificates of insurance verifying the insurance requirements. 

10. Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to commencing any Work or Services 
under this Contract, Contractor will provide the Town with suitable evidence of insurance 
in the form of certificates of insurance and a copy of the declaration page(s) of the 
insurance policies as required by this Contract, issued by Contractor’s insurance 
insurer(s) as evidence that policies are placed with acceptable insurers as specified 
herein and provide the required coverages, conditions and limits of coverage specified in 
this Contract and that such coverage and provisions are in full force and effect.  
Confidential information such as the policy premium may be redacted from the 
declaration page(s) of each insurance policy, provided that such redactions do not alter 
any of the information required by this Contract.  The Town shall reasonably rely upon 
the certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) of the insurance policies as 
evidence of coverage but such acceptance and reliance shall not waive or alter in any 
way the insurance requirements or obligations of this Contract.  If any of the policies 
required by this Contract expire during the life of this Contract, it shall be Contractor’s 
responsibility to forward renewal certificates and declaration page(s) to the Town 30 
Days prior to the expiration date.  All certificates of insurance and declarations required 
by this Contract shall be identified by referencing this Contract.  A $25.00 administrative 
fee shall be assessed for all certificates or declarations received without a reference to 
this Contract.  Additionally, certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) of the 
insurance policies submitted without referencing this Contract will be subject to rejection 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

and may be returned or discarded.  Certificates of insurance and declaration page(s) 
shall specifically include the following provisions: 

a. The Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, 
officials and employees are Additional Insureds as follows: 

(i) Commercial General Liability - Under Insurance 
Services Office, Inc., (“ISO”) Form CG 20 10 03 97 or equivalent. 

(ii) Auto Liability - Under ISO Form CA 20 48 or 
equivalent. 

(iii) Excess Liability - Follow Form to underlying 
insurance. 

b. Contractor’s insurance shall be primary insurance with 
respect to performance of the Contract. 

c. All policies, except for Professional Liability, including 
Workers’ Compensation, waive rights of recovery (subrogation) against Town, its 
agents, representatives, officers, officials and employees for any claims arising 
out of Work or Services performed by Contractor under this Contract. 

d. ACORD certificate of insurance form 25 (2014/01) is 
preferred.  If ACORD certificate of insurance form 25 (2001/08) is used, the 
phrases in the cancellation provision “endeavor to” and “but failure to mail such 
notice shall impose no obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its 
agents or representatives” shall be deleted.  Certificate forms other than ACORD 
form shall have similar restrictive language deleted. 

B. Required Insurance Coverage. 

1. Commercial General Liability.  Contractor shall maintain 
“occurrence” form Commercial General Liability insurance with an unimpaired limit of not 
less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence, $2,000,000 Products and Completed 
Operations Annual Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit.  The policy 
shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products-
completed operations, personal injury and advertising injury.  Coverage under the policy 
will be at least as broad as ISO policy form CG 00 010 93 or equivalent thereof, 
including but not limited to, separation of insured’s clause.  To the fullest extent allowed 
by law, for claims arising out of the performance of this Contract, the Town, its agents, 
representatives, officers, officials and employees shall be cited as an Additional Insured 
under ISO, Commercial General Liability Additional Insured Endorsement form CG 20 
10 03 97, or equivalent, which shall read “Who is an Insured (Section II) is amended to 
include as an insured the person or organization shown in the Schedule, but only with 
respect to liability arising out of “your work” for that insured by or for you.”  If any Excess 
insurance is utilized to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, such Excess insurance 
shall be “follow form” equal or broader in coverage scope than underlying insurance. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

2. Vehicle Liability.  Contractor shall maintain Business Automobile 
Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 each occurrence on Contractor’s owned, 
hired and non-owned vehicles assigned to or used in the performance of the 
Contractor’s Work or Services under this Contract.  Coverage will be at least as broad 
as ISO coverage code “1” “any auto” policy form CA 00 01 12 93 or equivalent thereof.  
To the fullest extent allowed by law, for claims arising out of the performance of this 
Contract, the Town, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and 
employees shall be cited as an Additional Insured under ISO Business Auto policy 
Designated Insured Endorsement form CA 20 48 or equivalent.  If any Excess insurance 
is utilized to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, such Excess insurance shall be 
“follow form” equal or broader in coverage scope than underlying insurance. 

3. Professional Liability.  If this Contract is the subject of any 
professional Services or Work, or if the Contractor engages in any professional Services 
or Work in any way related to performing the Work under this Contract, the Contractor 
shall maintain Professional Liability insurance covering negligent errors and omissions 
arising out of the Services performed by the Contractor, or anyone employed by the 
Contractor, or anyone for whose negligent acts, mistakes, errors and omissions the 
Contractor is legally liable, with an unimpaired liability insurance limit of $2,000,000 each 
claim and $2,000,000 annual aggregate.   

4. Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  Contractor shall maintain 
Workers’ Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state 
statutes having jurisdiction over Contractor’s employees engaged in the performance of 
Work or Services under this Contract and shall also maintain Employers Liability 
Insurance of not less than $500,000 for each accident, $500,000 disease for each 
employee and $1,000,000 disease policy limit. 

C. Cancellation and Expiration Notice.  Insurance required herein shall not 
expire, be canceled, or be materially changed without 30 Days’ prior written notice to the Town. 

3.12 Applicable Law; Venue.  This Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of Arizona and suit pertaining to this Contract may be brought only in courts in Pinal County, 
Arizona. 

3.13 Termination; Cancellation. 

A. For Town’s Convenience.  This Contract is for the convenience of the 
Town and, as such, may be terminated without cause after receipt by Contractor of written 
notice by the Town.  Upon termination for convenience, Contractor shall be paid for all 
undisputed Services performed and Materials delivered to the termination date. 

B. For Cause.  If either party fails to perform any obligation pursuant to this 
Contract and such party fails to cure its nonperformance within 30 Days after notice of 
nonperformance is given by the non-defaulting party, such party will be in default.  In the 
event of such default, the non-defaulting party may terminate this Contract immediately for 
cause and will have all remedies that are available to it at law or in equity including, without 
limitation, the remedy of specific performance.  If the nature of the defaulting party’s 
nonperformance is such that it cannot reasonably be cured within 30 Days, then the 
defaulting party will have such additional periods of time as may be reasonably necessary 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

under the circumstances, provided the defaulting party immediately (1) provides written 
notice to the non-defaulting party and (2) commences to cure its nonperformance and 
thereafter diligently continues to completion the cure of its nonperformance.  In no event shall 
any such cure period exceed 90 Days.  In the event of such termination for cause, payment 
shall be made by the Town to the Contractor for the undisputed portion of its fee due as of 
the termination date. 

C. Due to Work Stoppage.  This Contract may be terminated by the Town 
upon 30 Days’ written notice to Contractor in the event that the Services are permanently 
abandoned.  In the event of such termination due to Work stoppage, payment shall be made 
by the Town to the Contractor for the undisputed portion of its fee due as of the termination 
date. 

 
 D. Conflict of Interest.  This Contract is subject to the provisions of ARIZ. REV. 

STAT. § 38-511. The Town may cancel this Contract without penalty or further obligations by 
the Town or any of its departments or agencies if any person significantly involved in initiating, 
negotiating, securing, drafting or creating this Contract on behalf of the Town or any of its 
departments or agencies is, at any time while the Contract or any extension of the Contract is 
in effect, an employee of any other party to the Contract in any capacity or a consultant to any 
other party of the Contract with respect to the subject matter of the Contract. 

E. Gratuities.  The Town may, by written notice to the Contractor, cancel 
this Contract if it is found by the Town that gratuities, in the form of economic opportunity, 
future employment, entertainment, gifts or otherwise, were offered or given by the Contractor 
or any agent or representative of the Contractor to any officer, agent or employee of the 
Town for the purpose of securing this Contract.  In the event this Contract is canceled by the 
Town pursuant to this provision, the Town shall be entitled, in addition to any other rights and 
remedies, to recover and withhold from the Contractor an amount equal to 150% of the 
gratuity. 

F. Agreement Subject to Appropriation.  The Town is obligated only to pay 
its obligations set forth in this Agreement as may lawfully be made from funds appropriated 
and budgeted for that purpose during the Town’s then current fiscal year.  The Town’s 
obligations under this Agreement are current expenses subject to the “budget law” and the 
unfettered legislative discretion of the Town concerning budgeted purposes and appropriation 
of funds.  Should the Town elect not to appropriate and budget funds to pay its Agreement 
obligations, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated at the end of the then-current fiscal 
year term for which such funds were appropriated and budgeted for such purpose and the 
Town shall be relieved of any subsequent obligation under this Agreement.  The parties 
agree that the Town has no obligation or duty of good faith to budget or appropriate the 
payment of the Town’s obligations set forth in this Agreement in any budget in any fiscal year 
other than the fiscal year in which this Agreement is executed and delivered.  The Town shall 
be the sole judge and authority in determining the availability of funds for its obligations under 
this Agreement. The Town shall keep Contractor informed as to the availability of funds for 
this Agreement.  The obligation of the Town to make any payment pursuant to this 
Agreement is not a general obligation or indebtedness of the Town.  Contractor hereby 
waives any and all rights to bring any claim against the Town from or relating in any way to 
the Town's termination of this Agreement pursuant to this section. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

3.14 Miscellaneous. 

A. Independent Contractor.  It is clearly understood that each party will act 
in its individual capacity and not as an agent, employee, partner, joint venturer, or associate 
of the other.  An employee or agent of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employee or agent of the other for any purpose whatsoever.  The Contractor acknowledges 
and agrees that all Services and Materials provided under this Contract are being provided as 
an independent contractor, not as an employee or agent of the Town.  Contractor, its 
employees and Subcontractors are not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits from the 
Town.  The Town does not have the authority to supervise or control the actual Work of 
Contractor, its employees or Subcontractors.  The Contractor, and not the Town, shall 
determine the time of its performance of the Services provided under this Contract so long as 
Contractor meets the requirements of its agreed Scope of Work as set forth in Section 2.1 
above and in Exhibit A.  Contractor is neither prohibited from entering into other contracts nor 
prohibited from practicing its profession elsewhere.  Town and Contractor do not intend to nor 
will they combine business operations under this Contract. 

B. Laws and Regulations.  The Contractor shall keep fully informed and 
shall at all times during the performance of its duties under this Contract ensure that it and 
any person for whom the Contractor is responsible remains in compliance with all rules, 
regulations, ordinances, statutes or laws affecting the Services or Materials including, but not 
limited to, the following: (1) existing and future Town and County ordinances and regulations; 
(2) existing and future state and federal laws; and (3) existing and future Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration standards. 

C. Contract Amendments.  This Contract may be modified only by a written 
amendment signed by persons duly authorized to enter into contracts on behalf of the Town 
and the Contractor; provided, however, that Change Orders may be issued and approved 
administratively by the Town when such changes do not alter the Contract Price. 

D. Provisions Required by Law.  Each and every provision of law and any 
clause required by law to be in the Contract will be read and enforced as though it were 
included herein and, if through mistake or otherwise any such provision is not inserted, or is 
not correctly inserted, then upon the application of either party, the Contract will promptly be 
physically amended to make such insertion or correction. 

E. Severability.  The provisions of this Contract are severable to the extent 
that any provision or application held to be invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction shall 
not affect any other provision or application of the Contract which may remain in effect 
without the invalid provision or application. 

F. Entire Agreement; Interpretation; Parol Evidence.  This Contract 
represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its subject matter, and all 
previous agreements, whether oral or written, entered into prior to this Contract are hereby 
revoked and superseded by this Contract.  No representations, warranties, inducements or 
oral agreements have been made by any of the parties except as expressly set forth herein, 
or in any other contemporaneous written agreement executed for the purposes of carrying 
out the provisions of this Contract.  This Contract shall be construed and interpreted 
according to its plain meaning, and no presumption shall be deemed to apply in favor of, or 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

against the party drafting the Contract.  The parties acknowledge and agree that each has 
had the opportunity to seek and utilize legal counsel in the drafting of, review of, and entry 
into this Contract. 

G. Assignment; Delegation.  No right or interest in this Contract shall be 
assigned or delegated by Contractor without prior, written permission of the Town, signed by 
the Town Manager.  Any attempted assignment or delegation by Contractor in violation of this 
provision shall be a breach of this Contract by Contractor. 

H. Subcontracts.  No subcontract shall be entered into by the Contractor 
with any other party to furnish any of the Services or Materials specified herein without the 
prior written approval of the Town.  The Contractor is responsible for performance under this 
Contract whether or not Subcontractors are used. 

I. Rights and Remedies.  No provision in this Contract shall be construed, 
expressly or by implication, as waiver by the Town of any existing or future right and/or 
remedy available by law in the event of any claim of default or breach of this Contract.  The 
failure of the Town to insist upon the strict performance of any term or condition of this 
Contract or to exercise or delay the exercise of any right or remedy provided in this Contract, 
or by law, or the Town’s acceptance of and payment for Services, shall not release the 
Contractor from any responsibilities or obligations imposed by this Contract or by law, and 
shall not be deemed a waiver of any right of the Town to insist upon the strict performance of 
this Contract. 

J. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event either party brings any action for any relief, 
declaratory or otherwise, arising out of this Contract or on account of any breach or default 
hereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to receive from the other party reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and reasonable costs and expenses, determined by the court sitting without a 
jury, which shall be deemed to have accrued on the commencement of such action and shall 
be enforced whether or not such action is prosecuted through judgment. 

K. Liens.  All Services or Materials shall be free of all liens and, if the Town 
requests, a formal release of all liens shall be delivered to the Town. 

L. Offset. 

 1. Offset for Damages.  In addition to all other remedies at law or 
equity, the Town may offset from any money due to the Contractor any amounts 
Contractor owes to the Town for damages resulting from breach or deficiencies in 
performance or breach of any obligation under this Contract. 

 2. Offset for Delinquent Fees or Taxes.  The Town may offset from 
any money due to the Contractor any amounts Contractor owes to the Town for 
delinquent fees, transaction privilege taxes and property taxes, including any interest 
or penalties. 

 M. Notices and Requests.  Any notice or other communication required or 
permitted to be given under this Contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been 
duly given if (1) delivered to the party at the address set forth below, (2) deposited in the U.S. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

Mail, registered or certified, return receipt requested, to the address set forth below or (3) given 
to a recognized and reputable overnight delivery service, to the address set forth below: 

If to the Town: Town of Florence 
   P O Box 2670 

775 N. Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85132 
Attn:  Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 

With copy to:   Town Clerk 
   P O Box 2670 

     775 N. Main Street 
     Florence, AZ 85132 

Attn:  Lisa Garcia 

If to Contractor: _________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
Attn: _____________________________ 

or at such other address, and to the attention of such other person or officer, as any party may 
designate in writing by notice duly given pursuant to this subsection.  Notices shall be deemed 
received (1) when delivered to the party, (2) three business days after being placed in the U.S. 
Mail, properly addressed, with sufficient postage or (3) the following business day after being 
given to a recognized overnight delivery service, with the person giving the notice paying all 
required charges and instructing the delivery service to deliver on the following business day.  If 
a copy of a notice is also given to a party’s counsel or other recipient, the provisions above 
governing the date on which a notice is deemed to have been received by a party shall mean 
and refer to the date on which the party, and not its counsel or other recipient to which a copy 
of the notice may be sent, is deemed to have received the notice. 

 N. Overcharges by Antitrust Violations.  The Town maintains that, in practice, 
overcharges resulting from antitrust violations are borne by the purchaser.  Therefore, to the 
extent permitted by law, the Contractor hereby assigns to the Town any and all claims for such 
overcharges as to the goods and services used to fulfill the Contract. 

  O. Confidentiality of Records.  The Contractor shall establish and maintain 
procedures and controls that are acceptable to the Town for the purpose of ensuring that 
information contained in its records or obtained from the Town or from others in carrying out 
its obligations under this Contract shall not be used or disclosed by it, its agents, officers, or 
employees, except as required to perform Contractor’s duties under this Contract.  Persons 
requesting such information should be referred to the Town.  Contractor also agrees that any 
information pertaining to individual persons shall not be divulged other than to employees or 
officers of Contractor as needed for the performance of duties under this Contract. 

 P. Records and Audit Rights.  To ensure that the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors are complying with the warranty under subsection 3.14(R) below, 
Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ books, records, correspondence, accounting procedures 
and practices, and any other supporting evidence relating to this Contract, including the 
papers of any Contractor and its Subcontractors’ employees who perform any Work or 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

Services pursuant to this Contract (all of the foregoing hereinafter referred to as “Records”), 
shall be open to inspection and subject to audit and/or reproduction during normal working 
hours by the Town, to the extent necessary to adequately permit (1) evaluation and 
verification of any invoices, payments or claims based on Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ 
actual costs (including direct and indirect costs and overhead allocations) incurred, or units 
expended directly in the performance of Work under this Contract and (2) evaluation of the 
Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ compliance with the Arizona employer sanctions laws 
referenced in subsection 3.14(R) below.  To the extent necessary for the Town to audit 
Records as set forth in this subsection, Contractor and its Subcontractors hereby waive any 
rights to keep such Records confidential.  For the purpose of evaluating or verifying such 
actual or claimed costs or units expended, the Town shall have access to said Records, even 
if located at its Subcontractors’ facilities, from the effective date of this Contract for the 
duration of the Work and until three years after the date of final payment by the Town to 
Contractor pursuant to this Contract.  Contractor and its Subcontractors shall provide the 
Town with adequate and appropriate workspace so that the Town can conduct audits in 
compliance with the provisions of this subsection.  The Town shall give Contractor or its 
Subcontractors reasonable advance notice of intended audits.  Contractor shall require its 
Subcontractors to comply with the provisions of this subsection by insertion of the 
requirements hereof in any subcontract pursuant to this Contract. 

 Q. E-verify Requirements.  To the extent applicable under ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 
41-4401, the Contractor and its Subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal immigration 
laws and regulations that relate to their employees and their compliance with the E-verify 
requirements under ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 23-214(A).  Contractor’s or its Subcontractors’ failure to 
comply with such warranty shall be deemed a material breach of this Contract and may result 
in the termination of this Contract by the Town. 

 R. Israel.  Contractor certifies that it is not currently engaged in and agrees 
for the duration of this Agreement that it will not engage in a “boycott,” as that term is defined in 
ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 35-393, of Israel. 

S. Conflicting Terms.  In the event of any inconsistency, conflict or 
ambiguity among the terms of this Contract, the RFP, the Scope of Work, any Town-
approved Purchase Order, the Price Sheet, any Town-approved Work Orders, invoices and 
the Contractor’s response to the RFP, the documents shall govern in the order listed herein.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in conformity with Section 2.1 above, unauthorized 
exceptions, conditions, limitations or provisions in conflict with the terms of this Contract 
(collectively, the “Unauthorized Conditions”), other than the Town’s project-specific quantities, 
configurations or delivery dates, are expressly declared void and shall be of no force and 
effect.  Acceptance by the Town of any Work Order or invoice containing any such 
Unauthorized Conditions or failure to demand full compliance with the terms and conditions 
set forth in this Contract shall not alter or relieve Contractor from, nor be construed or 
deemed a waiver of, its requirements and obligations in the performance of this Contract. 

T. Non-Exclusive Contract.  This Contract is entered into with the 
understanding and agreement that it is for the sole convenience of the Town of Florence.  
The Town reserves the right to obtain like goods and Services from another source when 
necessary. 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

 U. Cooperative Purchasing.  Specific eligible political subdivisions and 
nonprofit educational or public health institutions (“Eligible Procurement Unit(s)”) are 
permitted to utilize procurement agreements developed by the Town, at their discretion and 
with the agreement of the awarded Contractor. Contractor may, at its sole discretion, accept 
orders from Eligible Procurement Unit(s) for the purchase of the Materials and/or Services at 
the prices and under the terms and conditions of this Contract in such quantities and 
configurations as may be agreed upon between the parties.  All cooperative procurements 
under this Contract shall be transacted solely between the requesting Eligible Procurement 
Unit and Contractor.  Payment for such purchases will be the sole responsibility of the Eligible 
Procurement Unit.  The exercise of any rights, responsibilities or remedies by the Eligible 
Procurement Unit shall be the exclusive obligation of such unit.  The Town assumes no 
responsibility for payment, performance or any liability or obligation associated with any 
cooperative procurement under this Contract.  The Town shall not be responsible for any 
disputes arising out of transactions made by others.  

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Scope of Work] 
 

See following pages. 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
a. Develop and manage every aspect of the Florence Art Festival 
b. Coordinate event logo and promotional materials 
c. Coordinate creative event marketing, including radio, print, online media, social 

marketing (Facebook), eblasts, and storefront posters  
d. Identify and contract with leading artists that will reach a maximum audience in 

terms of both participation and public relations outreach 
e. Complete competitive contracting and supervise set-up/break-down for all 

necessary event rentals, including tents, stage, sound, port-o-johns, tables and 
chairs 

f. Manage artist application process 
g. Recruit jurors and manage the process to approve/disapprove artists and 

crafters 
h. Create webpage for event 
i. Organize a “food court” for downtown businesses and outside vendors, 

including vendor applications and payment, proper health permits, street 
placement, and other vendor related needs  

j. Organize a “craft section” for downtown businesses and outside vendors, 
including vendor, including vendor applications and payment, street placement, 
and other vendor needs 

k. Organize set up of event space, including strategies for keeping pedestrian 
pathways clear and encourage visitors to patronize local businesses 

l. Organize and train event volunteers 
m. Organize photography and other documentation of event and participants 
n. Work with the Town to obtain necessary license and permits 
o. Work with the Town to coordinate street closures, and safety plans 
p. Coordination with the Town for stage, tent and all other necessary inspections  
q. Organize event cancellation insurance which will cover, at minimum, event 

expenses and the event management fee if the event is cancelled 
r. Describe your plan for security during event 
s. Describe your budgeting plans 
t. Describe your plans to count event attendance 
u. Describe your plan to increase economic vitality for downtown restaurants, and 

merchants 
v. Raise other funding and secure in-kind contributions as required to produce the 

Art festival 
w. On-site Operations Management for load-in and load-out 
x. Organize Beer Garden and all aspects associated with it 
y. Create band/entertainment lineup that will help draw people to the event 
z. Written post-event wrap-up reports delivered via e-mail no later than one month 

after event  
 
 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Project Budget] 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
PROJECT BUDGET 

 
 

a. Please refer to the scope of work to determine the cost to perform the functions set forth. 
Proposals may include a request for Town funding to produce the event and should be 
included in the budget. 
  
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Subcontractor List] 
 

See following page. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
SUBCONTRACTOR LISTING 

 
Provide the following information in a separate, sealed envelope, clearly marked 
“Subcontractors Listing.”  Failure on the part of the Proposer to complete or improperly 
complete this form will constitute sufficient cause for rejection. 

List only a single name for each category.  Subcontractors listed herein shall be utilized on this 
Project. 

Category   Subcontractor 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

    _____________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
[Licenses; Certifications; DBE/WBE Status] 

 
See following page. 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 
LICENSES; CERTIFICATIONS; DBE/WBE STATUS 

 
 

 Attach a copy of your Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax License 
 
 
Has your firm been certified by any jurisdiction in Arizona as a minority or woman owned 
business enterprise? Yes__________, No____________. 
 
If yes, please provide details and documentation of the certification. 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[References] 
 

See following page. 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 
REFERENCES 

 
 
 

Provide the following information for three clients for whom Proposer has successfully 
completed similar projects as set forth in Section 2.16 within the past 60 months.  Failure to 
provide three accurate and suitable references will result in disqualification.  Proposer may also 
attach another sheet with additional references. 
 

1. Company:  

 Address:  

 City/State/Zip Code:  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 

   

2. Company:  

 Address  

 City/State/Zip Code  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 

   

3. Company:  

 Address  

 City/State/Zip Code  

 Contact:  

 Telephone Number:  

 Date of Contract 
Initiation: 

 

 Date of Contract 
Expiration: 

 

 Project Description:  

 Contract Value:  $ 

 Annual Amount: $ 



 

 

EXHIBIT F 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Acknowledgments of Addenda received] 
 

See following page(s). 
 



 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AGENDA 

____________________________________ acknowledges that it has received the following addenda: 
(Contractor) 

(Addendum #) (Date) 

Date: _______________________ _____________________________________________ 
(Signature) 

_____________________________________________ 
(Title) 



 

 

 EXHIBIT G 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Lawful Presence] 
 

See following page(s). 



 

 

EXHIBIT G 
LAWFUL PRESENCE FORM 

 
Arizona Revised Statues 1-501 and 1-502 apply to applicants of "federal public benefits" 
and "state and local public benefits". Grants, contracts and loans are considered public 
benefits and state law requires each person who applies for such benefits to submit at least 
one of the following documents demonstrating "lawful presence" in the United States. 

  

The Principal of each group, consultant, or organization will complete this form.  

  
Check the box next to the document indicating lawful presence.  

  An Arizona driver license issued after 1996 or an Arizona non-operating 
identification license  

  A driver license issued by a state that verifies lawful presence in the United 
States. (See Overview of State's Driver's License Requirements)  

  A birth certificate or delayed birth certificate issued in any state, territory or 
possession of the United States.  

  A United States certificate of birth abroad.  

  A United States passport.  

  A foreign passport with a United States visa.  

  An I-94 form with a photograph.  

  A United States citizenship and immigration services employment authorization 
document or refugee travel document.  

  A United States certificate of naturalization.  

  A United States certificate of citizenship.  

  A tribal certificate of Indian blood.  

  A tribal or Bureau of Indian Affairs affidavit of birth.  

  
**Attach copy of document to this sheet.  

  
  
  

 

Signature of Applicant                                     Date  
  
  
  

 

Signature of Municipal Employee                         Date  
 



 

 

EXHIBIT H 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Deviation Form] 
 

See following page(s). 



 

 

EXHIBIT H  

DEVIATION/COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION  

If the undersigned Proposer intends to deviate from the terms and requirements of any 
Contract Documents made a part of this solicitation, all such deviations shall be listed on 
this certification form, with complete detailed conditions and information included or 
attached. The Town may consider any deviations in its review, scoring and award 
decisions, and the Town reserves the right to accept or reject any proposal, offer, or 
proposal based upon any deviations indicated herein or in any attachments hereto. 
 
In the absence of any deviation entry on this form, the Proposer agrees, certifies, and 
warrants the Town of their full compliance with all Contract Documents, and all other 
information contained in this solicitation. 

 
Please list any deviations from the solicitation document below (attach additional sheets 
as needed): 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 

  
 
  
 
By signing below, I agree, certify, and warrant that the offer/proposal I am submitting       
□ does □ does not (check one box) deviate from the terms and requirements of the 
Contract Documents listed in this document. If deviating from the specifications of the 
solicitation, all such deviations are listed on this form, with complete detailed conditions and 
information included or attached. Any attachments to this form are identified as a continuation 
of the deviations to this solicitation. 

 

 
Printed Name: Signature: Date: 
 
_________________________ _________________________ ________________ 

 
THIS PAGE MUST BE RETURNED WITH THE PROPOSAL/OFFER/PROPOSAL 



 

 

EXHIBIT I 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Proposal Bond] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT J 
TO 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL NO. CS2019-04 
 

[Participation in Boycott of Israel] 
   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PARTICIPATION IN BOYCOTT OF ISRAEL 
 
All materials submitted as part of a response to a solicitation are subject to Arizona public records law and will be disclosed if there is an 
appropriate public records request at the time of or after the award of the contract.  Recently legislation has been enacted to prohibit the 
Town of Florence from contracting with companies currently engaged in a boycott of Israel. To ensure compliance with A.R.S. §35-393.01, 
this form must be completed and returned with the response to the solicitation and any supporting information to assist the Town in 
making its determination of compliance. 
 
As defined by A.R.S. §35-393.01: 
 
1. "Boycott" means engaging in a refusal to deal, terminating business activities or performing other actions that are intended to limit 

commercial relations with Israel or with persons or entities doing business in Israel or in territories controlled by Israel, if those actions 
are taken either: 

(a) In compliance with or adherence to calls for a boycott of Israel other than those boycotts to which 50 United States Code 
section 4607(c) applies. 

(b) In a manner that discriminates on the basis of nationality, national origin or religion and that is not based on a valid business 
reason. 

2. "Company" means a sole proprietorship, organization, association, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited partnership, limited 
liability partnership, limited liability company or other entity or business association, and includes a wholly owned subsidiary, majority-
owned subsidiary, parent company or affiliate. 

3. "Direct holdings" means all publicly traded securities of a company that are held directly by the state treasurer or a retirement system 
in an actively managed account or fund in which the retirement system owns all shares or interests. 

4. "Indirect holdings" means all securities of a company that are held in an account or fund, including a mutual fund, that is managed by 
one or more persons who are not employed by the state treasurer or a retirement system, if the state treasurer or retirement system 
owns shares or interests either: 

(a) together with other investors that are not subject to this section. 
(b) that are held in an index fund. 

5. “Public entity" means the Town of Florence(“Town”), a political subdivision of this STATE or an agency, board, commission or 
department of this Town or a political subdivision of this Town 

6. “Public fund" means the state treasurer or a retirement system. 
7. "Restricted companies" means companies that boycott Israel. 
8. "Retirement system" means a retirement plan or system that is established by or pursuant to title 38. 
 
All offerors/vendors must select one of the following and thereby certify that:  
 
  My company does not participate in, and agrees not to participate in during the term of the contract a boycott of Israel in 

accordance with A.R.S. §35-393.01. I understand that my entire response will become public record. 
 
  My company does participate in a boycott of Israel as defined by A.R.S. §35-393.01.  
 
By submitting this certification, proposer agrees to indemnify and hold the Town of Florence, its agents and employees, harmless from 
any claims or causes of action relating to the Town’s action based upon reliance on the above representations, including the payment of 
all costs and attorney’s fees incurred by the Town in defending such an action. 
 
_________________________________________  _____________________________________________ 
                             Company Name                        Signature of Authorized Person 
 

_____________________________________________________________ _________________________ 
                                   Address                                   Printed Name of Authorized Person 
 

_____________________________________________________________ _________________________ 
               City                  State                 Zip                Title of Authorized Person 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



T 

NON-COLLUSIVE BIDDING CERTIFICATION 

STATE OF ) 

) SS. 

COUNTY OF  ) 

I, ________________________ of the City/Town of __________________________, in the County 
of 

 ___________________ and the State of _______________________, of full age, being duly sworn 
according to the law of my oath depose and say that: 

I am _____________________________ a _______________________________ of the firm of 
 ______________________________________________________, the Bidder making the Bid for 
the Town of Florence Project 
________________________________________________________________________________
and that I executed the said Bid with full authority to do so; that said Bidder has not, directly or 
indirectly, entered into any agreement, participated in any collusion, or otherwise taken any action in 
restraint of free, competitive bidding in connection with the above named Project; and that all 
statements contained in said Bid and in this affidavit are true and correct, and made with full 
knowledge that the Town of Florence relies upon the truth of the statements contained in said Bid and 
in the statements contained in this affidavit in awarding the Contract for the said Project. 

I further warrant that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure 
such Contract upon an agreement of understanding, for a commission, percentage, brokerage or 
contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies 
maintained by: 

___________________________________ 
(Signature of Bidder) 

___________________________________ 
(Printed or Typed Name of Bidder) 
(Seal of Corporation) 

Sworn to before me this ______ day of ____________, 20__, in the County of ______________, 
State of _______________________. 

_______________________________ 

(Notary Public) 















































TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8c.  

MEETING DATE:   November 18, 2019 

DEPARTMENT:    Police 

STAFF PRESENTER:  Chief Daniel R. Hughes 

SUBJECT:   Code 3 Technologies: (8) Panasonic computers, 
keyboards, and docking stations-Capital & Impound Funds

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading
 Other 
Subject:   Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: 

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION:   

Approve the purchase of eight Panasonic Mobile Data Computers with keyboards and 
eight docking stations from Code 3 Technologies in an amount not to exceed 
$38,635.91. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

The Florence Police Department utilizes Mobile Data Computers (MDC’s) in-car system 
to perform duties such as: completing reports, receiving ACJIS information (vehicle 
registration/warrants), and mapping.  These MDC’s are critical to the public safety 
function of the Florence Police Department.  These MDC’s are replacing outdated 
MDC’s that are considered end-of-service life. 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:   

The Police Department would be using outdated equipment that is unable to be 
serviced and updated which would affect the day-to-day operations of the officers during 
their patrol duties. 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Police Department would be able to continue the day-to-day operations without 
interruption due to the updated system/hardware.  



Subject:    Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:    
 
The total cost is $38,635.91 which will be expensed from the following: 
 
$30,000.00  Capital Projects 
$  8,635.91  Impound (3511) account 
 
ATTACHMENTS:    
 
State contract bid from Code 3 Technologies. 
 





















































































 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 8d. 

MEETING DATE:   November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Finance for Public Works Department 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Becki Jimenez, Finance Director 
 
SUBJECT: Request for Disposal 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 
Subject:  Disposal of Assets                                                                                   Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019  
Page 1 of 2 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  
 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Authorization to dispose of vehicles and equipment that are no longer needed and have 
outlived their useful life. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The list includes vehicles, equipment, and/or small assets that are no longer needed 
and/or have outlived their useful life. The vehicles listed below have been deemed as 
eligible for disposal by our Fleet Maintenance Division for the following reasons: 

- The vehicles have no further identifiable use in any town operation and have 
not been requested for use by any other Town department.   

Item Year VIN# Location
Ford Expedition XLT 2000 1FMRU156XYLC38992 Public Works Yard
Chevrolet Tahoe 2007 1GNFK03037R413639 Public Works Yard
John Deere Gator 1996 W004X2X017559 Public Works Yard
John Deere 1435 Mower 1998 TC1435D021300 Public Works Yard
Exercise Equipment 2004 N/A Fire Station #1
Compressed Air Cylinders 1997-2005 N/A Fire Station #1

 
The Town will dispose of the vehicles and equipment as per Policy, and the proceeds will 
be returned to the Town. The exercise equipment will be cut down for scrap and revenue 
will be used to purchase new exercise equipment. 
 



Subject:  Disposal of Assets                                                                                   Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019  
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:  
 
The Town will not dispose of the vehicles nor equipment and will keep them on the 
insurance (if applicable) and eventually will sell them at a later date; at which time the 
value will have reduced. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:  
 
To sell the items at auction and credit the revenue account for the sales, reducing the 
inventory and the insurance costs of items no longer needed or utilized.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The total salvage value of the items is estimated at $1,150. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
None 
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8e. 

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Christopher A. Salas, P.E. 
                                      Public Works Director 
                                       

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:   Franklin Striping, Inc. CIP T-69                                Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

SUBJECT:  Franklin Striping, Inc. contract for CIP T-69 Pavement 
Preservation  

 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Award a contract to Franklin Striping, Inc. under MCDOT Cooperative Contract #14097-S to 
sweep, prepare, apply paint and thermoplastic to update existing roadway striping for CIP T-
69 Pavement Preservation, for the proposed amount of $76,007,60 plus a 15% contingency 
of $1,1401.14, making the not-to-exceed amount $87,408.74. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The striping of various roadways throughout Florence has faded, is failing and can be hard to 
see, especially at night. The roads targeted for striping in the Fall of 2019 are:   
 

 Adamsville Road – Main Street to the West Town Limits (Exhibit 1 Map)  
 Kelvin Highway – Highway 79 to the East Town limits (Exhibit 2 Map)  
 Hunt Highway – Highway 79 to 300’ past Attaway Road (Exhibit 3 Map)  
 Attaway Road – Palmer Road to Hunt Highway (Exhibit 4 Map)  
 Attaway Road – Arizona Farms Road to Judd Road (Exhibit 5 Map) 
 Hunt Highway – Franklin Road to the North Town Limits (Exhibit 6 Map) 
 Florence Heights Road – Highway 79 to Main Street (Exhibit 7 Map) 

  
The refreshed striping will enable drivers to see the lanes clearly, creating less stress and     
safer roadways. 
 
MCDOT has an existing paving Cooperative Contract (#14097-S) with Franklin Striping, Inc. 
that the Town of Florence is able to piggyback off of. This contract expires January 31, 2020. 



Subject:   Franklin Striping, Inc. CIP T-69                                Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

  
 
Per section 4.12 of the Town’s Purchasing Policy, Department Heads must approve all 
purchases regardless of dollar value.  This does not preclude the Department Head from 
obtaining the necessary approval from the Town Manager and/or Town Council, nor does 
this allow them to have signature authority on contracts.  The Town Manager has signature 
authority on purchases up to $24,999.  Town Council approval is required on any purchases 
of $25,000 or more. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Striping would be delayed until the next fiscal year. The existing striping would continue to 
deteriorate, creating more of a roadway safety issue. 
  
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Striping would provide safer roadways, more durability, better visibility, product performance 
longevity, allowing for longer life on high volume roads.       
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost to contract with Franklin Striping Inc. would be of the proposal amount of 
$76,007.60, plus 15% contingency of $11,401.14 making the not to exceed $87,408.74. 
 

5.632 Vendor Selection 
5.6321 Alternative purchase methods are identified if approved by necessity or by 
the Town Manager as indicated by Emergency / Sole Source Purchase, cooperative 
purchase, state contract or any other method authorized.  The Finance Director 
reviews for budget availability and bidding procedures.  The Town Manager reviews 
for need. 

 
4.12 Purchasing Policy  

Department Heads must approve all purchases regardless of dollar value.  This 
does not preclude the Department Head from obtaining the necessary approval from 
the Town Manager and/or Town Council, nor does this allow them to have signature 
authority on contracts.  The Town Manager has signature authority on purchases up 
to $24,999.  Town Council is required on any purchases of $25,000 or more. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 MCDOT Contract #14097-S, expires January 31, 2020 
 Franklin Striping Incorporated - Scope of Work 
 Exhibit 1 Map - Adamsville Road (Main Street to West Town Limits) 
 Exhibit 2 Map - Kelvin Highway (Highway 79 to East Town Limits)   
 Exhibit 3 Map - Hunt Highway (Highway 79 to 300’ West of Attaway Road) 
 Exhibit 4 Map - Attaway Road (Palmer Road to Hunt Highway) 
 Exhibit 5 Map -Attaway Road (Arizona Farms Road to Judd Road) 
 Exhibit 6 Map - Hunt Highway (Franklin Road to North Town Limits) 
 Exhibit 7 Map - Florence Heights Road (Highway 79 to Main Street) 



Subject:   Franklin Striping, Inc. CIP T-69                                Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

 Town of Florence Cooperative Use Contract with Franklin Striping through MCDOT     
   14097-S   













































































































1 | P a g e  
Town of Florence Cooperative Cover Contract 

TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA  
CONTRACT FOR COOPERATIVE USE OF THE MARICOPA COUNTY  

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (MCDOT) CONTRACT  
SERIAL #14097-S FOR INSTALLATION OF PAINT STRIPES AND MARKING  

SERVICES BY FRANKLIN STRIPING, INC. 
 

THIS CONTRACT (the “Contract”) is made and entered into effective as of the 18th day of November, 
2019 (“Effective Date”), by and between the Town of Florence, Arizona (the “Town”), and Franklin 
Striping, Inc. (the “Contractor”) and together with the contract documents referred to and incorporated 
herein, is the “resultant contract” contemplated in the MCDOT Contract Serial #14097-S, for 
installation of paint stripes and marking services.  The Town and the Contractor are sometimes 
referred to in this Contract collectively as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party”.  

 
1. SCOPE OF WORK: The Contractor shall provide the Town all necessary labor, material, 

transportation services and equipment for installation of paint stripes and marking services per 
contract specifications described in the attached scope of materials and services set forth in 
Exhibit “1” (the “Goods” or “Services”). The Contractor shall provide the Goods in accordance 
with the schedule attached in Exhibit “1”, and the Contract Documents, including all exhibits 
to the Master Contract including but not limited to any Instructions, Standard Terms and 
Conditions, Special Terms and Conditions, Specifications, Scope of Work, Submittals and 
Attachments.  Contractor agrees, at its own cost and expense, to do all of the work and furnish 
all of the equipment, personnel and materials necessary to provide in a good and substantial 
manner, and to the satisfaction of the Town, the Goods. 
 

2. PRIORITY OF DOCUMENTS. It is further expressly agreed by and between the Parties that 
should there be any conflict between the terms of this Contract, the Master Contract, or the 
Contractor’s Proposal, then this Contract and the provisions of the Contract Documents shall 
control and nothing herein shall be considered as an acceptance of the terms of the said 
Proposal conflicting herewith or with the Master Contract, unless expressly stated herein. 

 
3. INCORPORATION: For and in consideration of this Contract and other good and valuable 

consideration, the Contractor agrees that the master cooperative solicitation/contract (MCDOT, 
Serial No. 14097-S for installation of paint stripes and marking services) is in full force and 
effect, and all terms and conditions of the Master Contract are incorporated by reference into 
this Contract, creating an agreement identical in terms between the Town and Contractor.  In 
the Master Contract, the terms: “MCDOT”, “Buyer” and “City” shall be deemed to be and refer 
to the Town of Florence; the terms: “County” shall be deemed to be and refer to “Pinal 
County”; the terms: “Finance Director” shall be deemed to be and refer to the Town of Florence 
Town Manager; and the terms: “Assignee”, “Offeror”, “Contractor”, “Seller”, “Supplier”, and 
“Vendor” shall be deemed to be and refer to the Contractor under this Contract.  
 

4. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: This Contract consists of the following contract documents, which 
by reference are incorporated herein: 
 MCDOT Serial No. 14097-S, Purchasing Contract, Award & Revisions, effective 1/21/2015 
 MCDOT Serial No. 14097-S, Contract renewal letter to Franklin Striping, effective 2/1/2019 
 Exhibit 1 – NCPA Waxie Sanitary Supply Price List - Scope of Work 
 Cooperative Cover Contract between the Town of Florence and Franklin Striping, Inc.  

 



2 | P a g e  
Town of Florence Cooperative Cover Contract 

5. CONTRACT PRICING: Contract pricing shall be consistent with the Contract Documents and 
Contractor’s Proposal and is listed in Exhibit “1” (Price Sheet) and shall not exceed 
$87,408.74. 
 

6. TERM OF CONTRACT: The term of this Contract shall be from the Effective Date through 
satisfactory completion of the Services or delivery of Goods and acceptance of the Services 
and/or Goods by the Town, or the end of the fiscal year, June 30, 2019. Time is of the essence 
to the terms of this Contract. 

 
7. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL AND STATE LAWS: 

 
A. The Contractor understands and acknowledges the applicability to it of the American with 

Disabilities Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the Drug Free 
Workplace Act of 1989.  

 
B. Under the provisions of A. R. S. § 41-4401, Contractor hereby warrants to the Town  that 

the Contractor and each of its subcontractors will comply with, and are contractually 
obligated to comply with, all Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to their 
employees and A. R. S. § 23-214 (A) (hereinafter “Contractor Immigration Warranty”). 

 
C. A breach of the Contractor Immigration Warranty shall constitute a material breach of this 

Contract and shall subject the Contractor to penalties up to and including termination of this 
Contract at the sole discretion of the Town. 

 
D. The Town retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any Contractor or Subcontractor’s 

employee who works on this Contract to ensure that the Contractor or Subcontractor is 
complying with the Contractor Immigration Warranty.  Contractor agrees to assist the Town 
in regard to any such inspections. 

 
E. The Town may, at is sole discretion, conduct random verification of the employment 

records of the Contractor and any subcontractors to ensure compliance with Contractor’s 
Immigration Warranty.  Contractor agrees to assist the Town in regard to any random 
verification performed. 

 
F. Neither the Contractor nor any subcontractor shall be deemed to have materially breached 

the Contractor Immigration Warranty if the Contractor or subcontractor establishes that it 
has complied with the employment verification provisions prescribed by section 274A and 
274B of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-Verify requirements 
prescribed by A. R. S. § 23-214, Subsection A. 

 
G. The provisions of this Section must be included in any contract the Contractor enters into 

with any and all of its subcontractors who provide Services under this Contract or any 
subcontract.  “Services” are defined as furnishing labor, time or effort in the State of 
Arizona by a contractor or subcontractor.  Services include construction or maintenance of 
any structure, building or transportation facility or improvement to real property. 
 

8. METHOD OF PAYMENT.  Method of payment shall be set forth in Exhibit “1”.  If payment is 
to be made monthly, Contractor shall prepare monthly invoices and progress reports which 
clearly indicate the progress to date and the amount of compensation due by virtue of that 



3 | P a g e  
Town of Florence Cooperative Cover Contract 

progress.  All invoices shall be for Services completed or Goods accepted by the Town.  All 
invoices are to be emailed to accountspayable@florenceaz.gov. 
 

9. TERMINATION.  Town, at any time and for any reason and without cause, may terminate, 
suspend or abandon any portion, or all, of this Contract at Town’s convenience without penalty 
or recourse.  Contractor shall receive payment for Services or Goods satisfactorily completed 
and accepted by Town, as determined by Town in its reasonable discretion, based on the 
Goods and/or Services requirements and schedule for payment. 

 
10. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  It is understood that Contractor shall be an independent 

contractor with respect to Services and/or Goods provided under this Contract, and shall not 
be deemed to be a partner, employee, joint venture, agent, or to have any other legal 
relationship with Town. 

 
11. Notices.  Any notice to be given under this Contract shall be in writing, shall be deemed to 

have been given when personally served or when mailed by certified or registered mail, 
addressed as follows:   

 
Town: Town of Florence    Contractor: Franklin Striping, Inc. 
Town Clerk         2832 S. 45th Street 
PO Box 2670                          Phoenix, AZ 85040 
Florence AZ 85132; and    (480) 898-1180 
        

12. INDEMNIFICATION.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor, its successors, 
assigns and guarantors, shall pay, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Town of Florence, 
its Mayor and Council members, its agents, officers, officials, representatives and employees, 
from and against all demands, claims proceedings, suits, damages, losses and expenses 
(including but not limited to attorney’s fees, court costs, and the costs of appellate 
proceedings), and all claim adjustment and handling expenses, relating to, arising out of, or 
alleged to have resulted from the acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, Goods or Services of the 
Contractor, its agents, employees or any tier of Contractor’s subcontractors related to the 
Goods or Services in the performance of this Contract.  Contractor’s duty to defend, hold 
harmless and indemnify Town of Florence, its Mayor and Council members, its agents, 
officers, officials, representatives and employees shall arise in connection with any claim, 
damage, loss or expense that is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, death, or injury 
to, impairment, or destruction of property including loss of use of resulting therefrom, caused 
by Contractor’s acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, Goods, Services in the performance of this 
Contract including any employee of the Contractor, any tier of Contractor’s subcontractors or 
any other person for whose acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, Goods, Services the Contractor 
may be legally liable. In consideration of the award of this Contract, the Contractor agrees to 
waive all rights of subrogation against the Town, its officers, officials, agents and employees 
for losses arising from the Goods or Services provided by the Contractor for the Town. 
 

13. WARRANTY.  Contractor warrants that the Goods and Services will conform to the 
requirements of this Contract.  Additionally, Contractor warrants that all Services will be 
performed in a good, workman-like and professional manner.  The Town’s acceptance of 
Goods or Services provided by Contractor shall not relieve Contractor from its obligations 
under this warranty.  If any Goods or Services are of a substandard or unsatisfactory manner 
as determined by the Town, Contractor, at no additional charge to the Town, will provide 
Goods or redo such Services until they are in accordance with this Contract and to the Town’s 



4 | P a g e  
Town of Florence Cooperative Cover Contract 

reasonable satisfaction.  Unless otherwise agreed, Contractor, warrants that Goods will be 
new, unused, of most current manufacture and not discontinued, will be free of defects in 
materials and workmanship, will be provided in accordance with manufacturer’s standard 
warranty for at least one (1) year, unless otherwise specified, and will perform in accordance 
with manufacturer’s published specifications. 

 
14. PURCHASING POLICY.  The Town of Florence Town Code and Purchasing Policy (the 

“Policy”) govern this procurement and are incorporated as part of this Contract by this 
reference. Contractor agrees and warrants that it is in compliance with the Policy, including 
demonstrating its lawful presence in the United States. 

 
15. GOVERNING LAW.  This Contract shall be deemed to be made under, shall be construed in 

accordance with, and shall be governed by the laws of the State of Arizona, without reference 
to choice of law or conflicts of laws principles thereof. The exclusive forum selected for any 
proceeding or suit in law or equity arising from or incident to this Contract shall be Pinal 
County, Arizona. 
 

16. PROHIBITED BOYCOTT.  Pursuant to A.R.S. section 35-393.01, the Contractor, by execution 
of this Contract, certifies that it is not currently engaged in, and agrees for the duration of this 
Contract to not engage in, a boycott of Israel. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Contract effective as of the Effective 
Date set forth above. 

 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, A municipal corporation 

        
 
By: __________________________  Date: _________________________ 
      Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      Approved as to Form 
 
___________________________  ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk                                Cliff Mattice, Town Attorney 

 
CONTRACTOR: 
 
By: ___________________________ Date: __________________________ 
         
 
Its: __________________________  
         

 



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING HELD ON 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2019, AT 6:00 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, LOCATED AT 775 N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.      
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Walter called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Present: Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Kristen Larsen, Michelle Cordes, Judy 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 1 of 16 

Hughes. 
 
Absent:  Karen Wall 
     
MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
Mayor Walter called for a moment of silence. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the 
jurisdiction of the Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  
Individual Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask 
staff to review a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, 
members of the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call 
to the public unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 
There were no public comments.  
   
ADJOURNMENT TO MERRILL RANCH IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO 1. 
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn to Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1.  
 
Resolution No. MRCFD1 141-19:  
 
Chairman Walter read Resolution No. MRCFD1 141-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MERRILL RANCH COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
DISTRICT NO. 1, TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ADOPTING THE 
BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019-2020. 
 
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 2 of 16 

Mr. Rey Sanchez, District Treasurer, stated that the request is for a $100,000 budget increase to 
the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 (MRCFD1) budget.  The increase will be 
used to cover legal fees and costs to defend the threatened claims against MRCFD1.    
 
On motion of Vice-Chairman Anderson, seconded by Boardmember Cordes, and carried (6-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. MRCFD1 141-19. 
 
ADJOURNMENT FROM MERRILL RANCH IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO 1. 
 
On motion of Boardmember Hawkins, seconded by Boardmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn from Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1.  
 
ADJOURNMENT TO MERRILL RANCH IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO 2. 
 
On motion of Councilmember Larsen, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn to Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2.  
 
Discussion and possible action to approve Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District 
No.2 July 1, July 15, and September 3, 2019 Special Meeting minutes.  
 
On motion of Boardmember Hawkins, seconded by Vice-Chairman Anderson, and carried (6-0) 
to approve the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 July 1, July 15, and September 
3, 2019 Special Meeting Minutes.  
 
Resolution No. MRCFD2 238-19:  
 
Chairman Walter read Resolution No. MRCFD2 238-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MERRILL RANCH COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2, TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINALCOUNTY, ARIZONA, ADOPTING 
THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019-2020. 
 
Mr. Rey Sanchez, District Treasurer, stated that the request is for a $100,000 budget increase to 
the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 (MRCFD2) budget.  The increase will be 
used to cover legal fees and costs to defend the threatened claims against MRCFD2.    
 
On motion of Vice-Chairman Anderson, seconded by Boardmember Hawkins, and carried (6-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. MRCFD2 238-19. 
 
ADJOURNMENT FROM MERRILL RANCH IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO 2. 
 
On motion of Boardmember Cordes, seconded by Boardmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn from Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2.  
 
PRESENTATIONS  
 
Proclamation declaring October 2019 as Light Town Hall Purple for Domestic Violence 
Awareness Month.  



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 3 of 16 

Mayor Walter read the proclamation for the record and declared October 2019 as Light Town Hall 
Purple for Domestic Violence Awareness Month. 
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if the Town has any special programs regarding domestic violence.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that Pinal County recently provided a program to raise awareness and 
promote available resources.  
 
Mr. Daniel Hughes, Police Chief, stated that the Police Department participates in various 
programs with Pinal County, along with programs that they offer in house.  There are shelters that 
they take victims as well and provide specialized training for officers to recognize signs of 
domestic violence.   
 
Proclamation declaring October 6, 2019 through October 12, 2019 as Fire Prevention Week.  
 
Mayor Walter read the proclamation for the record and declared October 6 through October 12, 
2019 as Fire Prevention week.  
 
Mr. David Strayer, Fire Chief, stated that the Fire Department is a member of the National Fire 
Protection Association (NFPA) and works closely with them regarding the Town’s programming. 
Studies have shown that the most vulnerable populations are the very young and the very old and 
they gear their trainings towards that population.  They also do home inspections and install 
smoke detectors.   
 
Chief Strayer stated that the Fire Department hosted an open house to inform the public of the 
services they offered.  Fire prevention week has expanded to Community Risk Reduction which 
is much broader and includes car seats and other programs.  They will continue to expand their 
programs as well.  
 
Mayor Walter declared October 6, 2019 through October 12, 2019 as Fire Prevention Week.  
 
Presentation on the Florence Police Department Five Year Strategic Plan. (Dan Hughes) 
 
Chief Hughes stated that it is important to have a plan that looks at the future of the Florence 
Police Department.  While general in nature, the plan looks at some of the possible factors that 
will influence the vision, values and the direction of the Police Department.  It is important that 
their Plan fits into the vision and direction of the Town Manager and the Council.    
 
Chief Hughes presented the Police Department Five Year Strategic Plan, in which he outlined the 
following: 
 
- Mission 

• The men and women of the Florence Police Department stand firm in our pursuit for justice 
and public trust.  We will stay true to our mission of providing service and safety to our 
community with honor, respect, and integrity.  We are committed to providing fair and equal 
treatment to those we encounter. 

- Vision 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 4 of 16 

• The Florence Police Department will dedicate itself to protecting lives and property, while 
preserving the public peace with the highest ethical standards. 

- Combined areas for mission and vison 
• Staffing  
• Technology 
• APC Accreditation  
• Community policing  
• Future needs 
• Community partnerships 

- The objectives and strategies highlighted in this plan are designed to support our five principal 
goals: 
• Prevent crime: Preventing crime is the primary mission of policing. Crime prevention 

promotes the health and welfare of a community instead of merely curing its ills (crimes). 
It reduces the threat of crime on the front end and enhances the sense of security and 
quality of life within the community. 

• Provide effective police services: We are committed to ensuring Florence remains a safe 
community by employing the best practices in law enforcement to meet the challenges of 
Community Policing in a rural setting. 

• Develop, strengthen and sustain partnerships: We realize for us to be successful; we must 
have the confidence, support and respect of the people who live and work in our 
community. We are committed to developing and maintaining partnerships with the 
community, with our internal partners within the Town and with our regional and statewide 
public safety partners. 

• Develop personnel: We will provide the best equipped, and most highly trained and 
committed employees to help meet the needs of our community. 

• Enhance infrastructure: We will focus on implementing our Capital Improvement Plan. 
- Crime Prevention through Community-Oriented Policing 

• Risk Assessment Program 
• Crime-free Multi-housing 
• Neighborhood Watch 
• Youth Education Programs 
• Partnerships 

- Beat Structure 
• The Town of Florence is divided into structures called "Beats."  Beats are determined 

based on population, calls for service, and access to major thorough fares. 
• Beats encourage officers and citizens to interact more often.  
• Creates a community bond 
• Beats assure consistent and more frequent patrols in neighborhoods. 
• Communication between shifts become easier in a proactive approach to policing. 

- Cooperative Programs 
• G.A.I.N Night: Getting Arizona involved in neighborhoods 
• Fleet Watch: Code Enforcement, FUSD transportation, Public Works  
• Graffiti Abatement Program 
• Terrorism Liaison Officer: threat vulnerability assessments, active shooter trainings, rescue 

task force tactics, regional dispatching 
- Identify and plan for future needs 

• Replacement of patrol vehicles 
• Radio Replacement Program-upgrade to 800 MHz ($109,192) 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 5 of 16 

• Future substations for Police and Fire 
• Taser Replacement Program ($40,000) 
• Tablet Replacement Program ($90,000) 

- Technology 
• Text to 911 – Requesting emergency services using text messaging technology 
• Everbridge - mass notification system 
• Electronic citations - each patrol officer 
• Laserfiche project – convert hard copy reports to electronic copies 
• social media/Facebook 
• CompStat and Crime Map 
• www.florenceaz.gov/Police 
• Smart City Technology: Allows officers the opportunity to monitor what is happening in the 

Town and how it is evolving. A partnership with our IT personnel to integrate into our 21st 
Century Community Policing Philosophy. 

- Accreditation 
• APCO Accreditation: All our public safety dispatch personnel complete courses provided 

by APCO to obtain certification in police and fire call-taking/dispatching. 
• AZ Law Enforcement Accreditation Program (ALEAP): Assists law enforcement agencies 

with measuring and approving their overall performance. The department will be going 
through the accreditation process during this five-year plan. 

- Closing Statement 
• While this plan is formulated on good sound planning principles, it is fluid and will change 

as the Town grows and prospers.  Public safety is not for spectators.  Public safety requires 
a partnership of the citizens of the community working in conjunction with police officers to 
achieve positive outcomes. 

• Our pledge to you is one of working hard in our partnership of crime prevention to ensure 
that we will continue to be one of the Safest Cities in Arizona. 

 
Mayor Walter commended Chief Hughes and the Police Department for making Florence one of 
the safest cities to live in.  
 
Councilmember Cordes thanked Chief Hughes for making Florence safe and for giving the 
citizens a positive look on what the Police Department can do for a community.  She understands 
that Chief Hughes will be retiring, and it will be a challenge to fill his vacancy.  She appreciates 
that he laid out what the vision is for whomever fills the Chief of Police position.  
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired about the “Text to 9-1-1” project.  She also inquired about School 
Resource Officers.  
 
Chief Hughes stated that the Police Department is ready.  They are waiting for the State’s 
approval; however, they are some technical issues that they need to work on.  He would expect 
approval in the next several months.   
 
Chief Hughes stated that the Town does not have a dedicated Resource Officer, the Beat Officers 
go into the schools each day.  The Florence Unified School District is requesting an override and 
are requesting Resources Officers.  He stated that they also are involved with the American 
Leadership Academy.   



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 6 of 16 

Mayor Walter inquired if the Town has a diversion program similar to one that the Pinal County 
Sheriff’s Office offers.  
 
Chief Hughes stated that they have had individuals perform community service at the Police 
Department; however, there had not been a large demand for such a program.  They would like 
to offer a Citizen’s Academy for Kids if they can get the participation.  He stated that it is important 
to engage the youth.   
 
Mayor Walter asked Chief Hughes to expand on regional dispatch. 
 
Chief Hughes stated that the Town has the equipment and the space.  He has had conversations 
with other communities for a regional dispatch regarding a regional dispatch; however, the issue 
is with the different records management systems that each entity utilizes.  They still have some 
communication with Pinal County.  There could be a county wide community dispatch center.  He 
stated that Florence dispatches for Superior Fire.  Florence is available to do more, and the Town 
is in discussion with Superior to be a backup for each other.  He stated that there is a cost savings 
to these partnerships.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that the Town will have a Meet and Greet with the final selection of candidates 
for the Police Chief position on October 24, 2019 at the Windmill Winery.  This will be an 
opportunity for them to introduce themselves to the community and answer any questions.  
 
CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of the 
consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the time 
the agenda item is called.  

 
a. Authorization to upfit three Police Tahoes, by utilizing the MHQ of Arizona 

Cooperative Contract ADPS15-091457, in an amount not to exceed $59,198.82. (Chris 
Salas) 

 
b. Approve the acceptance of the improvements of the warranty period for Unit 38, Unit 

56A, Unit 52, Unit 3, Unit 5 and Unit 7 of the Anthem @ Merrill Ranch subdivision. 
(Chris Salas) 
 

c. Authorization to contract with Capital Pump & Equipment LLC, to provide 
emergency pump rental services for the Public Works Department, Water & 
Wastewater Divisions, in an amount not to exceed $75,000. (Chris Salas) 
 

d. Acceptance of the FFY 2019 Homeland Security Grant Program Subrecipient 
Agreement 190305-01, from Arizona Department of Homeland Security, in the 
amount of $43,506, for the Florence Public Safety Interoperable Communications 
Project. (Jennifer Evans) 
 

e. Approval of Poston Butte Preserve as the formal name of Poston Butte. (Bryan 
Hughes) 
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 7 of 16 

f. Approval of the re-appointment of Lisa Garcia to serve as a citizen representative on 
the Town of Florence Public Safety Personnel Retirement System – Police and Fire 
Local Boards for a term of four years. (Scott Barber) 
 

g. Authorization for the Town Manager to enter into a 3rd Party Agreement with Pinal 
County, and Brown & Associates, to provide Building Plan Review Services for the 
new Pinal County Attorney’s Building and the new Pinal County Development 
Services Building. (Larry Harmer) 
 

h. Authorization to sell one set of turnouts, at current fair market value to Timber Mesa 
Fire and Medical District, to accompany the employee that they were purchased for, 
who has accepted a position with Timber Mesa Fire. (Rey Sanchez) 
 

i. Authorization to dispose of a 1997 Chevy Silverado and Payne air conditioning unit 
that are no longer needed and have outlived their useful life. (Rey Sanchez) 
 

j. Authorize an increase of the not-to-exceed amount for Fester and Chapman’s, PLLC 
annual audit services by $10,150 to $55,800. (Rey Sanchez) 
 

k. Approval of accepting the register of demands ending August 31, 2019, in the 
amount of $3,409,740.61. (Rey Sanchez) 
 

On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (6-0), to 
approve the Consent Agenda, with removal of Item d, Item h, and Item j.  
 

d. Acceptance of the FFY 2019 Homeland Security Grant Program Subrecipient 
Agreement 190305-01, from Arizona Department of Homeland Security, in the 
amount of $43,506, for the Florence Public Safety Interoperable Communications 
Project. (Jennifer Evans) 

 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that the Town will only receive 50% of what was requested and 
asked if this will impact the Police Department.  
 
Ms. Jenifer Evans, Management Analyst, stated the amount to be received is sufficient to 
complete the upgrade of the portable radios for the Police Department.  The Town also received 
a grant from the Gila River Indian Community, which allowed for the Town to purchase all the 
radios that were needed.  
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Mayor Walter, and carried (6-0) to accept the 
FFY 2019 Homeland Security Grant Program Subrecipient Agreement 190305-01, from Arizona 
Department of Homeland Security, in the amount of $43,506 for the Florence Public Safety 
Interoperable Communications Project. 
 

h. Authorization to sell one set of turnouts, at current fair market value to Timber Mesa 
Fire and Medical District, to accompany the employee that they were purchased for, 
who has accepted a position with Timber Mesa Fire. (Rey Sanchez) 

 
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 8 of 16 

Councilmember Hughes inquired if the turnouts were for an employee who has recently resigned 
and had he used the turnouts before.    
 
Chief Strayer stated that the employee is in the process of resigning.  He has used the turnouts 
for three years and they have a 10-year life.  He stated that they are custom fit turnouts and the 
Town is benefitting by receiving almost full value back for the turnouts so they can buy a new set 
for whomever fills the vacancy.   
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (6-0) to 
authorize to sale one set of turnouts, at current fair market value to Timber Mesa Fire and Medical 
District, to accompany the employee that they were purchased for, who has accepted a position 
with Timber Mesa Fire. 
 

j. Authorize an increase of the not-to-exceed amount for Fester and Chapman’s, PLLC 
annual audit services by $10,150 to $55,800. (Rey Sanchez) 

 
Councilmember Cordes inquired why there is an increase in the contract amount.  
 
Mr. Rey Sanchez, Finance Director, stated that the Town exceeded the $750,000 limit for Federal 
Grant expenditures and additional audit services are needed when you go over that limit. The 
Court needs to be audited every three years per the M.A.S. standard and it was last audited in 
2016.  The Courts are due to be audited this year.  Lastly, the CFDs will also be audited separately 
rather than collectively as it has been done in the past.  This will allow for more transparency.     
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (6-0) to 
authorize an increase of the not-to-exceed amount for Fester and Chapman’s PLLC annual audit 
services by $10,150 to $55,800. 
 

NEW BUSINESS  

Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of appointing Isabella Pool to a two-year term on the 
Florence Youth Commission, with a term to expire October 31, 2021. (Bryan Hughes) 
 
Mr. Bryan Hughes, Community Services Director, stated that two members have resigned and 
the Town has been actively recruiting for new members.  Ms. Pool submitted her application and 
meets all the criteria.    
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (6-0) to 
appoint Isabella Pool to you a two-year term on the Florence Youth Commission, with a term to 
expire October 31, 2021.   

 
Resolution No. 1716-19:  

 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1716-19 by title only.  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ORDERING 
THE PROPOSED STREET LIGHTING IMPROVEMENTS DESCRIBED IN RESOLUTION NO. 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 9 of 16 

1715-19 FORMING THE “TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA, ANTHEM AT MERRILL RANCH 
STREET LIGHT IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 4” TO PROCEED.  (Lisa Garcia) 
 
Ms. Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk, stated that on August 19, 2019, staff brought 
forth Resolution No. 1715-19 which was the notice of intent to form a Streetlight Improvement 
District titled “Town of Florence, Arizona, Anthem at Merrill Ranch SLID 4 Lighting Improvement 
District”.   This is for a majority petition.  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that staff has worked with Pulte and were able to provide the necessary notices 
on the property within the parameters, every 250 feet.  The signs were placed as well as 
advertisements seeking if anyone had a reason why the Town of Florence should not form this 
district.  The Town received zero communication from the property owners during that time.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the Town is bring forward a resolution that would form Streetlight 
Improvement District No. 4.  It will require the recordation of petition, Notice of Intent, and the 
formation resolution.  The Town must first go through the budgetary process of assessing the 
property before SLID No. 4 can collect taxes.  Per State Statutes, the Town will be able to charge 
up to $1.20 per $100 net assessed valuation (NAV).  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the Town currently only collects $.01207 per $100 NAV for SLID No. 3.    
 
Ms. Garcia stated that staff will be presenting a work session with the Council on both the SLIDs 
Policies and the ordinances in November for Council’s consideration and to ensure that they meet 
Council’s expectations.     
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the Town is not collecting taxes on SLID No. 1 and SLID No. 2 because 
they had collected the maximum that the State would allow on the onset and there are sufficient 
funds to pay at this time.  
 
Discussion occurred on what will be discussed during the work session.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. 1716-19.  

 
Resolution No. 1718-19:   

 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1718-19 by title only.  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, DECLARING 
ITS INTENTION TO ESTABLISH A STREET LIGHT IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT TO 
PURCHASE ENERGY FOR LIGHTING THE PUBLIC STREETS AND PARKS IN THE AREA 
WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA, DESCRIBED 
ON EXHIBIT A, ATTACHED HERETO; DECLARING SUCH IMPROVEMENTS TO BE OF 
MORE THAN LOCAL OR ORDINARY PUBLIC BENEFIT AND THAT THE EXPENSES 
THEREOF BE PAID FOR BY THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES UPON 
THE ASSESSED VALUATION OF ALL REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY IN A CERTAIN 
DISTRICT TO BE KNOWN AS “TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA, ANTHEM AT MERRILL 
RANCH STREET LIGHT IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 5; AND ORDERING THAT SUCH 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 10 of 16 

IMPROVEMENTS BE PROVIDED FOR UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 48-572, 
ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES. (Lisa Garcia) 
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the resolution is for a unanimous petition.  The laws differ between a 
majority and unanimous petition. The Council can, without posting in the paper and without 
posting the notice on the sites, proceed today with establishing Streetlight Improvement District 
No. 5. (SLID No. 5).  The petitions have been signed off on by the developer, who is the single 
property owner in the district.   
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (6-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. 1718-19.  
 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into an agreement for professional services with 
D2 Surveying Services, utilizing Direct Selection allowed under Arizona Law, Statute Title 
34 – Section 103, in an amount not to exceed $100,000.   (Chris Salas)  
 
Mr. Chris Salas, Public Works Director, stated that they will be doing a capacity analysis for the 
entire sewer system in order to determine if improvements are needed to facilitate Territory 
Square and the North end Framework Study.  There is also a survey and GIS component included.          
 
Mr. Salas stated that the Town put a Request for Price Task Assignment and Westland was the 
most qualified bidder; however, they did not have enough capacity in their current contract.  Staff 
had previously asked Council to approve an additional amount for Westland and even with the 
additional amount, they still ran out of capacity.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that Westland has agreed to allow the Town to work directly with their 
subcontractor, which would save the Town $4,520.  The Town has done work with D2 Surveying 
Services in the past.      
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if this will survey all the sewer lines.  He inquired if all the sewer 
lines are mapped.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that it will include the sewer lines, the manholes and the cleanouts.  All the sewer 
lines are mapped; however, there are errors in the GIS system. 
 
Mayor Walter stated that the company is local and it is great to use local companies.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
approve entering into an agreement for professional services with D2 Surveying Services, utilizing 
Direct Selection allowed under Arizona Law, Statute Title 34 – Section 103, in an amount not to 
exceed $100,000.    

 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to purchase Insta-Valve 250 Patriot Insertion Valves, 
from Hydra-Stop, in an amount not to exceed $100,000. (Chris Salas)  
 
Mr. Salas stated that Council previously approved the purchase of a valve insertion tool, which 
staff purchased two tools to allow for the installation of valves on live lines.  This request is for the 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 11 of 16 

purchase of the actual valves.  He noted that they must use their valves on their equipment.  They 
will have valves on hand so that staff will be prepared in case of an emergency.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if the valve fits on an existing pipe.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that it is meant to be used on a hot line.  This will allow staff a lot of flexibility.     
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
purchase Insta-Valve 250 Patriot Insertion Valves, from Hydra-Stop, in an amount not to exceed 
$100,000. 

 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into a Professional Services Agreement with 
Swan Architects Inc, in an amount not to exceed $100,000.  (Chris Salas) 
 
Mr. Salas stated that the Town purchased two parcels of property, east of the Public Works yard.  
The services of an architect are necessary to render the design and site plan renderings.  They 
will be responsible for the schematic design, design development construction documents and 
bidding.  The entire package will cost approximately $64,400.  They are requesting $100,000 in 
case there are changes made along the way.  The project will entail a steel building for the Water 
Department’s Water Barn and a block wall that they will mimic from the Police Department’s 
Evidence Building.  They will do a recycling component on the other parcel of land, which will 
move the recycling bins from Heritage Park.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that the Town has worked with Swan Architects before and is looking forward 
to what they design.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (6-0) to 
enter into a Professional Services Agreement with Swan Architects Inc, in an amount not to 
exceed $100,000. 

 
 MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Brent Billingsley, Town Manager, stated that the Parks team has put a call out for volunteers 
for the P.O.W.W.OW. Program.  There is still a need for assistance for this program.  He asked 
for anyone interested in volunteering to contact the Community Services Department.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Council approved the ability for staff to move forward with an outside 
reviewer to assist the Town with the review of the two large Pinal County buildings that are coming 
in the near future.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the upper clarifier rebuild project has been completed at the North 
Wastewater Treatment Plant.  The Manhole Rehabilitation Project has been completed.  The 
Downtown 12” Water Loop Projects are nearing completion.   
 
Mr. Billingsley commended everyone who participates in the Florence CERTS Program.  He read 
the following letter into the record from the Eloy Fire District: “I would like to take a moment and 
send our sincere thanks to you and your CERT Team for your assistance Tuesday, during a power 
outage in Eloy, when they showed up on the scene and immediately made contact with us and 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 12 of 16 

got organized and developed a plan of action.  They were very friendly and did a good job of 
interacting with our citizens.  Florence should be proud of their new CERT Team.  They are well 
trained and very helpful.  It was a joy having them here.  Once again, pass along our gratitude 
and be sure to thank your Town Council and Town Manager.”    

 
Kelly Weddle, Fire Chief, Eloy Fire District.   

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town received a grant for $17,223 that will fund 15 ballistic vests 
and helmets for the Fire Department.  This grant was received from the Firehouse Subs Public 
Safety Grant.   
 
Mr. Billingsley recognized Mr. Scott Barber, Human Resources Director, for his seven years of 
service with the Town. He has made an impact on the professionalism and the quality of the 
Town’s Human Resources Program.  His key accomplishment includes:  
- Rewrote the Town’s Personnel Policy 
- Implemented a new employee annual performance evaluation process 
- Established the Town’s Safety Committee 
- Wrote and implemented a new risk management manual 
- Initiated the annual boards and commissions appreciation dinner 
- Handled the Employee Classification and Compensation Update last year 
- Managed the Employee Benefit Program 
- Handled the last Town Manager recruitment 
- Represented the Town on the Municipal Insurance Pool Board of Trustees for several years 
- Served on the League of Cities and Towns Public Safety Pension Task Force 
- Currently serves as the President of the Central Arizona Human Resource Management 

Association 
- Board of Directors for Pinal County Federal Credit Union  
 
Mr. Scott Barber, Human Resources Director, stated that this will be his last week with the Town 
of Florence.  It has been his privilege to serve as the Town’s Human Resource Director for the 
last seven years.  He has developed some great relationships and friendships.  The Town has an 
outstanding group of Department Directors that they have been able to work with.  He stated that 
the Town should be proud that it has a great group of employees who are engaged in doing the 
things that need to be done every day to take care of the services offered to its citizens.   
 
Mr. Barber stated that he has worked under the direction of Ms. Garcia, Deputy Town Manager 
and she has been a great supervisor.  He stated that they are a two person HR Department and 
Ms. Virginia Felix, HR Coordinator, is an outstanding employee.  She is a trusted and reliable 
resource for the Town’s employees.  He is very proud and pleased to have had her as his partner.   
 
Mr. Barber wished the Town well.  He thanked the Town Council and wished the Town the very 
best.  
 
Mayor Walter inquired who will oversee the Human Resources Department in the interim while 
his position is being filled.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Ms. Felix will assist until the position is filled.  
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 13 of 16 

Mayor Walter stated that many employees speak well of him and he has done many wonderful 
things for the Town.  She thanked him for his service.   
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS   

Community Development  
Community Services 
Courts 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 
 
Councilmember Hughes asked for an update on the Code violations.  She also asked for a year 
to date total.  
 
Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, stated that they have issued the following: 
 
- Verbal Notices: 123    

• The verbal notices seldom result in a written complaint because they are usually taken care 
of.  

- Written Notices:  242     
• 105 fully abated 
• Various stages, 30 days, 30 days plus notification process 
• Will work with them on extensions if there is no health or life safety issues 

- Cases forwarded to Town Attorney:  14 
 
Councilmember Hughes inquired if staff is using the Nuisance Chapter 93.03 of the Town Code 
for removal or have they used the Clean and Liens. 
 
Mr. Harmer stated that the Cleans and Liens are authorized and may use that methodology in 
working with the Town Attorney with regards to the 14 cases that were referred to the Town 
Attorney.  These types of issues normally pertain to absentee property owners.  
 
Councilmember Hughes inquired if they are seeing reoccurrences.   
 
Mr. Harmer stated that there are few instances, but it is not common.   
 
Councilmember Hughes inquired if the Town Attorney will utilize the Clean and Lien option 
outlined within the Town Code.  
 
Mr. Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney, stated that the option is available to use the Clean and Lien 
option.  He stated that the first option will be to get the property owner to be compliant in order for 
the Town to not have to expend its funds.  There are instances where the Town may not recoup 
the costs.  There are due process rights that need to be followed.   
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired when the groundbreaking will take place for the Wade Journey 
homes.  



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 14 of 16 

 
Mr. Harmer stated that Wade Journey Homes are already under construction.  They picked up 
the remaining 31 lots in Villa Adelaida.   They will be entry level homes with a cost of approximately 
$200,000.  
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired how the Parks Department is seeking out volunteers for the 
P.O.W.W.O.W. Program.  She suggested that they visit various sites such as Anthem, the Mosaic 
Church, and the Five Parks to ask for volunteers.  
 
Mr. Bryan Hughes, Community Services Director, stated that they have sent out email blasts and 
a news release in the local newspaper.    
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired what phone number should people call if they want to volunteer.  
 
Mr. Hughes stated that they should call 520-868-7589. 
   
The Department Reports were received and filed.  
 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC 
 
There were no public comments.  

 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY  
 
Councilmember Larsen invited everyone to the Homecoming event on October 11, 2019 and the 
Fright Fest on October 31, 2019.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that it is important to show your Florence Pride and invited 
everyone to the Homecoming Parade and game.  She also attended the open house at the 
Florence Fire Department and it was a great event.  She welcomed DR Horton to the Town.  They 
have their models open.  The homes are affordable and is excited in the direction that the Town 
is moving in.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson attended an event at the TO Village and listened to Chicken Scratch music.  
He stated that the music was very good and it was a fun event.  He attended the Fire Department 
Open House and it was nice to see the Police Department there as well.  The hospital opened on 
September 26, 2019.  He stated that he attended a meeting in honor of the outgoing Pinal County 
Manager and incoming Pinal County Manager.     
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson has asked the Town to find a resolution with regards to the person sleeping 
on benches in the downtown area as well as how to take care of the person.  
 
Vice-Mayor thanked the Community Services Department for coming up with a music festival in 
the downtown area.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson is requesting Council’s support to have the Town Clerk to draft documents 
that would require new Department Head hires to reside within the Town limits of Florence.  The 
Town would need to incur some of the moving costs and there would be a timeline in which the 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 15 of 16 

person must move into the Town.  He would like this requirement to take effect on the current job 
openings.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that she can appreciate where Vice-Mayor is coming from but has also seen 
talent come from other communities.  She would like to add a differential for those who reside 
within the municipal boundary.   
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that the Town may be limiting themselves by adding that 
requirement.  There are a lot of people who commute.  We may limit who applies if we set those 
types of limits.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that Councilmember Larsen is stepping down from the Police and Fire 
Pension Board.   Mayor Walter appointed Councilmember Cordes to take her place.   
 
Mayor Walter thanked everyone who assisted with their first State of the Town.  The Town has 
accomplished a lot in the past year.  She stated that in preparing for the State of the Town, she 
was impressed in the totals of business licenses issued and single-family building permits issued.  
She explained what it entailed to put the State of the Town together.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that she is attending a Counsel of Foreign Relations meeting.  This ties in 
with an independent task force on the United States Work Force.    

 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
 
For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the 
public body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), (A)(4) and 
(A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or attorneys regarding: 

 
a. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 

County Superior Court:  Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325, 
including counterclaims. 

b. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case 
No. 16-002, including appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.  

c. Town’s position on potential land purchase. 
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn to Executive Session.  

 
ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Mayor Walter, and carried (6-0) to adjourn 
from Executive Session.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (6-0) 
to adjourn from the meeting at 9:23 p.m.  
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 7, 2019 
Page 16 of 16 

________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on October 7, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a quorum 
was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 
 
 



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 
OCTOBER 21, 2019, AT 5:00 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 
LOCATED AT 775 N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.  

 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Present:  **Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Karen Wall, ***Kristen Larsen, Michelle 
Cordes, Judy Hughes 
 
**Mayor Walter arrived at 5:44 pm. 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 1 of 17 

***Councilmember Larsen arrived at 6:42 p.m. 
 
WORK SESSION 
 
Discussion on the North-South Corridor.  
 
Mr. Brent Billingsley, Town Manager, explained that the North-South Corridor process began in 
2010 to evaluate alternatives for regional non-south connectivity through central Pinal County.  
The high capacity route would be in the vicinity of Picacho and Eloy to US 60 and the vicinity of 
Queen Creek and Apache Junction.  This would entail a route going through a lot of 
unincorporated Pinal County and municipalities such as Florence, Eloy, Coolidge, Queen Creek 
and Apache Junction.    
 
Mr. Billingsley explained that an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) is a decision document 
under the National Policy Act.  An environmental study must be completed in order for the federal 
government to utilize funds or permitting and to determine if there are significant impacts to 
individual resources.  If significant impacts are determined to likely occur, it must be determined 
how those impacts will be mitigated.  As part of this process, there is a federal sponsoring agency 
(Federal Highway Administration for this project), a local management agency (Arizona 
Department of Transportation for this project) and cooperating agencies that will go through the 
study and analyze the various resources and the impacts on those resources.  Neither Pinal 
County nor any of the other communities in Pinal County were utilized as cooperating agencies 
in the study.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that this study used the tiered EIS process, which is a phased approach.  
The first phase is a generalized outlook and identification of a corridor.  The second phase is a 
more refined analysis in terms of defining the Records of Decision (ROD).  The ROD is the final 
decision on the federal government, in terms of how a project will be funded, permitted and the 
final mitigation measures for all of the different resources that are evaluated.  This is an overall 
look at the corridor.  Because there is no available funding, the intent of the federal government 
will evaluate each individual piece of the project independently and the ROD will be made, phase 
by phase, in terms of implementation.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 2 of 17 

Mr. Billingsley stated that the EIS was released on September 6, 2019 and has been available 
online and in hard copy at several locations throughout Pinal County.  Comments are due by 
October 29, 2019.  There have been several public meetings throughout Pinal County.  Four 
Councilmembers, along with several other people attended the October 1, 2019 meeting held in 
Florence and have provided comments.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town received the document and did a technical review.  He stated 
that it is a regimented process which is governed by law.  The process begins with a Purpose in 
Need Statement, which is developed by the project team and ratified by the cooperating agencies 
and then the sponsoring agency.  The Purpose in Need Statement for this project was established 
in 2010.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there are multiple alternatives to be considered as part of the evaluation 
process and have evolved over time.  Initially, there were seven alternatives and has been 
dwindled down to an east alternative and west alternative.  It was further dwindled down to just 
segments of the east alternative.  He stated that 24 months ago, ADOT elected to add back in a 
western alternative.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the local government entities involved did a series of resolutions and 
ratifications as to what those entities preferred in terms of the alignment.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Florence sat down with the development community to help define a 
corridor for the potential North-South Corridor that could result in right-of-way dedications or right-
of-way purchases.   Furthermore, the Town Council has approved a few pre-plats and final plats 
that have set aside future right-of-way for the North-South Corridor.   
 
Mr. Andy Smith, Regional Transportation Authority General Manager, stated that when they sent 
the identification number, the North-South Corridor was identified through the PRDA, was voted, 
ratified and approved by the Pinal County voters and to be determined by the ADOT study 
process.  They do not have a preferred alignment but have earmarked $360 million of the ½ cent 
sales tax to go towards the North-South Corridor for the next 20 years.       
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Florence has advocated for the eastern alignments.  He explained 
where each of the boundaries go through and how they will/will not impact Florence.  He explained 
that Florence is opposed to the western alignments.  Alternative 7 from the report, with all the 
segments, goes through the center of Florence, which in on the west side of Poston Butte.  This 
is not the alignment identified in the resolutions that Council passed or as shown on the map that 
went before the voters.  The key issues as they look at the preferred alignment is set to get 
Florence three access locations: at State Highway 287, Hunt Highway near Poston Butte, and 
Arizona Farms Boulevard on the Town boundary with Pinal County.  This would be great for 
Florence’s economic development.   
 
Mr. Billingsley explained the various alternatives, each of the segments and where they are 
located.  He provided visual maps which depict each alignment.  One of the concerns that the 
Federal Highway Administration has is the spacing between high capacity facilities.  He stated 
that Pinal County has spent $9 million for purchasing the right-of-way through a portion of 
Segment 4 where the Arizona Inland Port is.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 3 of 17 

Mr. Billingsley stated that public hearings have been held and now they must do reviews and 
provide comments which are due October 29, 2019.  Following Council’s directive, staff will 
provide two sets of comments.   
 
Mr. Billingsley discussed the general comments about the study, concerns, things that can be 
addressed or things that need to be addressed as part of the process.  The technical comments 
address things that may need further study or need to be addressed.   

 
1. Florence Anthem Hospital was not included as part of the study; however, other health care 

facilities were included.   
a. Requesting that they be added. 

2. Casa Grande Ruins Expansion needs to be addressed. 
a. Can impact western alignment 
b. Needs to be addressed as part of EIS 

3. Take a closer look at the Central Arizona Regional Transit (CART)  
a. needs to be studied to the level it deserves as a regional enterprise and its ability to expand 

in the future.    
4. Allow for an 8th alignment that represents an alignment that local governments have worked 

on.  
a. Voters approved  
b. The seven alignments did not include the alignment that was voted and approved on. 
c. Does not include any of the resolutions that the municipalities have adopted. 

5. Went through process of excise tax to fund project 
a. It can take 20 – 30 years to build if done only with federal funds 
b. Pinal County has worked on routes of regional significance for the last 20 years 

6. Come up with funding mechanisms to implement the early phases of the project such as 
purchase of right-of-way, build a parkway facility on the alignment or an arterial facility that can 
be turned into a highway cross section in the future.   
a. Would like this studied further 

7. The 2014 resolutions have been referred to in the EIS; however, the 2019 resolutions have 
not been referred to. 
a. Want the resolutions acknowledged 

8. Florence and Queen Creek were not referred to as participating agencies in the study nor 
included in the tables. 
a. Have attended meetings and provided comments 
b. Florence has been involved since 2010. 

9. MAG Commuter Rail Study was not included in the EIS; multi modal discussion points needs 
to occur.  
a. Florence participated in MAG Commuter Rail Study in approximately two and a half years 

ago.  
b. Identified commuter rail link for the entire Phoenix Metroplex  
c. Florence would be the end-of-line station.  This is where the switchyard would occur.   
d. Would be located South of Florence Garden and north of the railroad tracks.  

10. Need to pick a point from where data will be utilized and move forward.  
a. Florence has an updated transportation model and will be provided to Council as part of 

the Regional Transportation Plan.  
b. Data does not correspond with the data that is included in the study.  
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 4 of 17 

11. Have not utilized the most recent Routes of Regional Significance Plan.  
a. New plan may change some of the accesses as part of the study.  
b. Past-Mayor Rankin has pushed for access to Florence from the inception of this study.   
c. Access is provided to Florence in three locations.  
d. The three access points do not meet the goal that Past-Mayor Rankin set forth in the past 

which was that Florence needed to have full access adjacent to downtown Florence.  
12. Project Team to consider a future interchange location closer to Florence 

a. Can have an interchange at the Butte alignment 
b. Can have an interchange at the River Road alignment 
c. Will request for an additional access location 
d. Minimum access requirements under federal law are two-mile spacing from a rural 

perspective 
13. Staff has met with remaining developers of Merrill Ranch (Pulte and Southwest Value 

Partners) and asked them about preferred alternative and preferred alignment as it relates to 
the eastern alignment.  
a. Can see benefit from an economic development perspective from the preferred alternative 

due to that alignment and how it already goes through undeveloped land and is not 
constrained.  

b. Explained issues with constrained land 
c. Timing – benefit to them if built within the next ten years; issue if built in the next 30 years 

because it will split or devalue their property   
d. They recommended if the interchange location at Hunt Highway can be moved ½ to ¾ 

miles north to align with the extension of Merrill Ranch Parkway because of the constraints 
and will enhance their property values.   

i. Beneficial to Florence as it will no longer have a spacing issue.  
ii. Will need to assist with the funding for the fourth access point 

14. Underground water storage facilities in central Pinal County were identified as part of the 
study; however, Florence was not included.  The Town is asking Florence to be included.  

15. No discussion as part of the DEIS regarding the project that is going to occur in 2022 to build 
and widen the bridge across the Gila River. This needs to be considered as well as upstream 
improvements including signalization.  This will have an impact on the model from both the 
multi-model perspective as well as the surface transportation perspective.  

16. Multiple times in the report it is stated that the four southern Arizona tribes: Ak Chin Indian 
Community, Gila River Indian Community, Salt River Pima Indian Community and Tohono 
O’Odham Nation support the west alternative.   
a. Staff’s comment:  Since none of the four tribes would be directly affected by any of the 

alignments, the Town assumes that this preference as stated in the document relates to 
cultural archeological resources.   

b. Staff appreciates the comment; however, the statement is not made in the cultural section 
nor the 4H section; however, it appears in the section where land use and transportation 
planning is discussed.  In this portion of the study are, the Town of Florence is the land use 
planner, does the zoning, and does the transportation planning for this area, and not any 
of the four tribes.  The comments need to be addressed in the appropriate section.  

 
Comments from the Council included:  
- Would like to include the North Territory Square Plan 

Mr. Billingsley explained the issues with the River Road alignment.  



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 5 of 17 

Issue with where Plant Road intersects Butte is constrained to a collector level because of 
the way the land is laid out as well as the Town’s sewer plant is located on that road as 
well.  

- Install low river road  
• Mr. Billingsley explained the challenges of building a low river road.  

 
Mr. Billingsley inquired how the Council preferred staff to convey their message and technical 
comments.  He explained that they must respond to technical comments submitted.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson asked if they can include comments from the public.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that the public can also submit their comments directly.  
 
Past-Mayor Rankin discussed the following: 
- As Mayor, he has pushed for economic development in the downtown area.   
- One of the chosen alignment’s is east of the Windmill Winery and will be on Rankin Farms,  

• This was not an option chosen by Council at that time 
• The chosen alignment was not recommended by Council at that time 
• The then-Council forwarded their recommendation based on the residents’ responses.  
• The current preferred alignment is within the floodplain.    

- The Then Council’s preference had been any route  ½ mile to 1 mile west of the Windmill 
Winery. 
• Expanding Butte to an arterial road to help traffic come into the downtown area.  

 
Past-Mayor Rankin outlined discussions that he was part of during his tenure regarding the North-
South Corridor.  He stated that he would prefer that ADOT have conversations with Council and 
not only staff.  It is important to hold discussions to get the alignment changed.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that Council attends MAG meetings.  The time frame is for 2054.  ADOT is 
communicating with the Town Manager, Assistant to the Town Manager and herself.  They have 
also heard Council’s concerns as well as that of Florence’s residents.  She stated that San Tan 
Valley and Queen Creek are trying to take where the current alignment is and move it into the 
San Tan Valley/Queen Creek area.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that Florence has a good working relationship with ADOT and feels that the 
alignment that was put forward is mutually beneficial to San Tan, Florence and the development 
community within Florence.   
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired about the route depicted in yellow and inquired who added it and 
why.  She inquired why the tribe is interested in this route, specifically because it was never 
mentioned in the cultural section.   She would like to know why Florence is not being included in 
the conversations.  She stated that discussions need to occur to eliminate the yellow route.  She 
understands that this project is slated for 2054 and things may change.  
 
Mr. Billingsley clarified that Florence has been involved in the conversations, attended meetings 
and provided comments.  ADOT just did not include Florence’s name in the two tables within the 
document as a participating agency.    He stated that they understand why the yellow route was 
added.   



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 6 of 17 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the yellow route was added 24 months ago because the four tribes 
requested this route and because it presents an opportunity for the alignment that has the fastest 
travel time from Interstate 10 to the US60.  It will also have less traffic getting on and off so they 
will have less backups.  They intentionally chose that alignment to avoid a lot of the development 
that has occurred in these areas.    
 
Mr. Billingsley stated this is the exact reason as to why that alignment should not be chosen.  The 
intent and purpose was to not just take people from I-10 to US 60 but to fix the North-South 
capacity issue that has existed for over 10 years in Pinal County.  This will help solve the 
transportation issue in our area.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the tribes want the yellow alignment because it provides a large 
economic opportunity for the Gila River Indian Community.   
 
Mr. Rankin stated that the yellow alignment was one of the original five alignments.   
 
Discussion occurred on the various alignments.   
 
Mr. Billingsley asked the Council how they would like staff to proceed.   He also asked if they 
would like an interchange closer to old Town Florence then they would need to ask that the Hunt 
Highway interchange location be moved further north because it does not work from a spacing 
perspective. They could also support the light purple route, the dark purple route or remain neutral 
on the route options.  
 
Mayor Walter would like the pros and cons outlined for the light and dark purple alignments, and 
why the yellow alignment would be detrimental to the Town overall as a whole.  She would like 
this to be forwarded to ADOT along with the Town’s appreciation in working with the Town 
throughout the years. 
 
Councilmember Cordes asked staff not to only focus on what the Town wants but to watch the 
west alignment.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that it is his understanding that Council wants staff to advocate for the Town’s 
preferred route, but to be mindful of the alignment to the west.  The Town also needs to push for 
a future interchange closer to the downtown area.  There also needs to be a change from the 
Hunt Highway alignment to a more northerly direction for economic development and circular 
movement.   
 
Councilmember Wall stated that her concern is that the political environment is such that the small 
communities do not necessarily get heard as well as the larger communities.  She is in dismay 
that the Town was not considered as an official participating agency and wants to ensure that the 
Town is considered as a participating agency forward for any discussions on any of the routes.   
 
Councilmember Wall also stated that she can see why the implementing agency might not like 
the light purple route because it makes a major band and adds to the cost of implementing a 
freeway.  She is in support of making Florence’s desires clear.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 7 of 17 

Councilmember Hawkins inquired if Pinal County’s preferred corridor is actually ADOT’s preferred 
corridor or Pinal County’s. 
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town of Florence adopted a resolution which advocated for a portion 
of the dark purple alignment, then a portion of light purple alignment and back to the purple 
alignment.  Florence worked with Coolidge, Eloy, Pinal County, Queen Creek and Apache 
Junction.  All entities adopted the same resolution.  The only deviation occurred was in Segment 
4, which is furthest to the south and links with I-10.       
 
Discussion occurred on the map that was attached to the approved resolution and clarification of 
the sections.  

 
MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
Mayor Walter called for a moment of silence. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the Town Council.  Council 
rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual Councilmembers may respond to criticism 
made by those commenting, may ask staff to review a matter raised or may ask that a matter be 
put on a future agenda.  However, members of the Council shall not discuss or take action on any 
matter during an open call to the public unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and 
legal action. 
 
Ms. Cathy Adam, Florence Resident, commended the Council for allowing public participation on 
all of the various plans.  She asked that all of the plans be brought together, from a citizen’s 
perspective.  She is having difficulty in understanding how they all intersect.   
 
Ms. Adam discussed the agenda item on residency for the Town’s Management Team.  She 
stated that her opinion would love to see this item pass.  She stated that it means a lot to the 
citizens.  She would like to hear the argument as to why the residency requirement went away.    
 
Mr. Roger Biede, Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce Executive Director, stated that Mr. 
Larry Johnson has taken a position assisting veterans in Mesa, Arizona.  The Chamber is doing 
great.  Mr. Johnson started some momentum that will continue and be improved upon.  Some 
items that they are working on include: 
- Working on the FY2020-2021 Budget 
- Be a true advocate for businesses  
- Bring new events to Florence 

• Welcome Back event for the winter visitors 
• Community Events Awards Dinner  
• Florence Car Show 
• New members for the Board 
• Letter of Support for the North South Corridor 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 8 of 17 

Past-Mayor Rankin commended Vice-Mayor Anderson on the letter that he wrote that was 
published in the Florence Reminder.  It is important to create a recreational facility that brings the 
old and new communities together.  He stated it is important it start planning for this facility now.  

 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
Resolution Copper Update 
 
Mr. Hesston Klenk, Communities and Communications Manager, provided an update on where 
Florence Copper Project is with its project.  He stated that the project has hit some pretty big 
milestones.  The Draft Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) was released by the Forest Service 
in August 2019.  The Forest Service has done a great job of balancing the needs of the 
community, the economy and the environment.  The Final EIS should be finalized in 2020.   
 
Mr. Klenk stated that Florence’s main concern has been the proposed Tailing Facility.  When they 
initiated the permitting process in 2013, they proposed a site west of Superior called Near West.  
As the process ran its course the Fire Service proposed four sites: Near West, a site close to 
Superior, Pegway (14 miles east of Florence), and Skunk Camp near Dipping Springs Wash (near 
Hayden/Winkelman).  After several analysis, it was determined that the Forest Service’s preferred 
locations for tailings is the Skunk Camp option.  From a social and environmental standpoint, this 
option makes the most sense.  It addresses the key concerns that were raised during the scoping 
period which were to get the tailings off public land and move it away from population centers and 
drinking water sources.  He stated that the other options are still viable, and the Forest Service 
could pivot back to one of the other three.   
 
Mr. Klenk stated that if the Council or Town still have strong feelings towards any of the options 
to submit their comments to the draft EIS.  The comment period will close November 7, 2019.   
 
Mr. Klenk stated that they originally planned for the filter plant to be located along the Marco Rail 
Corridor, which is outside of Florence’s municipal boundary.  It will be a small industrial facility in 
which they would pipe their concentrate to this plant, and it would go through a drying process.  It 
will then be loaded onto rail cards and shipped.  The Town of Superior is advocating to move the 
filter plant back to Superior, which would require a full railroad rehabilitation all the way back into 
Superior.  He stated for Superior it may be an economic driver; however, for Florence it may be 
an issue in having an industrial plant in Florence.  He inquired from Council if this is something 
the Town would be receptive on.  The railroad line could be expanded for alternative uses.   
 
Mr. Klenk stated that the EIS brought up a social economic piece.  They had always put out 
projects with regards to employment and economic which validated several of those issues.  An 
independent analysis projected that at its peak they will have approximately 3,700 total jobs with 
2,700 within Pinal County.  In the permitting process, they have committed a focus on local hiring 
and local procurement.   
 
Mayor Walter appreciates how Resolution Copper has spoken at the CAG and League of Arizona 
Cities and Towns meetings.  She appreciates them working with the Florence Town Council and 
taking Council’s feedback into consideration.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 9 of 17 

Mayor Walter asked staff to draft a letter of support from the Council for Skunk Camp as the 
preferred option for the site.   
 
Councilmember Wall thanked him for spending time with the Council and is in support of Skunk 
Camp.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he is in support of Skunk Camp.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated there are some opportunities in choosing the rail corridor from an economic 
prospective.  The Town will schedule a meeting with Mr. Klenk to discuss this further.  
 
CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of the 
consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the time 
the agenda item is called.  
 
Approval of the September 3 and September 16, 2019 Town Council Meeting minutes. 
 
Receive and file the following board and commission minutes: 
 
September 12, 2019 Arts and Culture Commission Meeting minutes.  
August 28, 2019 Historic District Advisory Commission Meeting minutes.  
September 5 and September 19, 2019 Planning and Zoning Meeting minutes.  
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (6-0 - 
Councilmember Larsen was not present) to approve the Consent Agenda, as written.  
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
Ordinance No. 683-19:   
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 683-19 by title only.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, CHAPTER 34, 
PERSONNEL SYSTEM BY ADDING 34.16 (C) RESIDENCY REQUIRED.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that Town department heads appointed as permanent full employees 
of the Town shall establish their residency and domicile in the Town within six months of their 
appointment and shall maintain such residency and domicile in the Town during the tenure of their 
office or employment.  A six-month extension can be granted for hardship. Failure to comply with 
this section shall constitute cause for termination of employment.  This section shall not apply to 
any person employed in any capacity by the Town prior to December 4, 2019, or contract service 
providers who are not permanent full or part-time employees of the Town. 

Vice-Mayor Anderson thanked the Town Clerk’s Office for the research of other communities.   

 

Councilmember Hawkins stated of the 20 municipalities researched, only six have residency 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 10 of 17 

requirements.  His opinion is that the Town will limit the number of candidates because we are a 
commuter society.  Many of the prospective candidates have established families in other 
communities and this may deter great candidates from applying.  The Town may have to increase 
the salary; but he is not sure if this would help.  He is not in support of residency requirements.  

 
Councilmember Wall stated that she is unable to support any requirements requiring any 
employee to live within the Town limits.  Her reasonings include: 

- It will be difficult to attract well qualified candidates.   
- Placing a restriction on residency may discourage candidates from applying.   
- Housing choices within Town limits are limited.   
- Forcing an employee to choose amongst the limited choices may discourage candidates from 

applying.   
- Some candidates may have legitimate reasons for not moving, such as homes that they are 

unable to sell, spouses who work near current home, or children who attend school.   
 
Councilmember Wall stated that the Council should be more concerned about an employee’s 
commitment to the Town’s goals and objectives as opposed to wear they live.  She said as long 
as the work is being done, where an employee lives should not be a concern. 

   
Councilmember Wall stated if the Town imposes a requirement that forces an employee to live 
within Town limits, the following may occur: 

- Town could be committed to paying an allowance for moving expenses in every instance.  
• This would need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.     

- May be discouraging applicants who are in a protected class, that restriction could be 
considered discriminatory.   
• There have been court rulings against this imposition of residency requirements. 
 New York Superior Court Case 
 Arizona Legislature recently considered exempting some employment classifications 

from residency requirements  
 Senate Bill 1231 in the 2019 session stated, “a city or town may not require a firefighter 

or peace officer as a condition of employment to reside in the city or town of the 
firefighter’s or peace officer’s employment.” 

 
Councilmember Hughes stated that as a wife of the Police Chief, they have had to move due to 
his employment.  She stated that it shows the community that the Department Head cares about 
his/her community.  If it is going to serve and protect the community, she thinks it is a good idea 
to have them move into the community.  She understands not requiring support staff but believes 
that Department Heads who live within the community, are vested in the community, understand 
what is going on and can respond in a moment’s notice.  She stated that it is her opinion that the 
Town Manager should also reside within the community because they have more responsibility 
over the community than Department Heads.   
 
Councilmember Hughes stated that her recommendation is to require the Fire Chief, Police Chief 
and the Town Manager to reside within Florence.      
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that there are several jobs which require you to move, some of 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 11 of 17 

which pay for relocation costs.  It is the applicant’s discretion if they choose to accept the position.  
She does not believe that support staff should be required to move for a variety of reasons.  
Department Heads and Town Manager require a lot of involvement and should be seen within the 
community more than just business hours.  As a citizen, she would like to see the department 
heads have the same vested interest in the community as they do.  She wants them to vest their 
personal dollars into the community as well.  People have to move all the time for their jobs, and 
it is something that comes with accepting the position.  
 
Councilmember Larsen stated she concurs with Councilmember Hawkins and Councilmember 
Wall.  She is not in support of the amending the Personnel Policies and Procedures to require 
residency requirements.   
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that he does not agree that there is a great revenue loss if the 
department heads do not reside within the community.  The vested interest is doing their jobs and 
bettering themselves.  He stated that there are positions that require you to move; however, he 
does not see the need to require them to reside in Florence.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that this recommendation is not to be applied to current employees.  
He concurs with Councilmember Cordes’ comments.  He is proud to live in Florence and would 
like employees who are committed to Florence and wants staff to have the same pride.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that she shares the same sentiments as Councilmember Wall, 
Councilmember Larsen and Councilmember Hawkins.  Currently, they can expand their search 
for qualified candidates; however, add a residency requirement may limit the pool of qualified 
candidates.  She stated that she does see the current department heads and the Town Manager 
engaged in the community.   She stated that there are limited housing resources.  She 
understands not wanting to uproot a family, especially with children in school.   
 
On motion of Mayor Walter, seconded by Councilmember Wall, to table this item indefinitely.    
 
Roll Call Vote:  
 
Mayor Walter:  Yes 
Councilmember Wall:  Yes 
Vice-Mayor Anderson:  No 
Councilmember Hawkins:  Yes 
Councilmember Larsen:  Yes 
Councilmember Cordes:  No 
Councilmember Hughes:  No 
 
Motion passed:  Yes: 4; No: 3 

 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of the Professional Services Agreement with Michael 
Baker Engineering, Inc., to update the Town of Florence 2020 General Plan in an amount 
not to exceed $258,716.  

 
Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, stated that a General Plan is a document 
that statutorily brings together all planning efforts and future needs, desires, wants and direction 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 12 of 17 

of the community.  The General Plan must be updated every ten years; otherwise, there are 
certain exposures if you do not do the update.  He stated that the current plan was approved by 
the voters in 2010.  Any changes to the Plan will need to go before the voters.   
 
Mr. Harmer stated that there will be tremendous public involvement in the update as it is vital 
component in the update.  It is required that there is a definitive public participation plan be 
established at the very beginning of the planning effort.   
 
Mr. Harmer stated that Michael Baker Engineering, Inc. was selected from the four proposals by 
the panel.  The panel members were Bryan Hughes, Jennifer Evans, Maricella Benitez, Benjamin 
Bitter and himself.  He stated that the panel was impressed with the presentation and interview of 
Michael Baker Engineering, Inc. was their public participation efforts.  They have developed their 
own procedures and processes and there will be an online digital presence for those wishing to 
submit comments.      
 
Mr. Harmer stated that there are several community workshops planned.  There will also be 
mandatory meetings with the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Town Council.  They will 
invite all of the Boards, Commissions, civic groups and Chamber of Commerce to all of the 
workshops and meetings.  They will also include different stakeholders and businesses.     
 
Mr. Harmer stated that the following documents will be incorporated within the General Plan: 
- Redevelopment Plan 
- Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Plan 
- Regional Transportation Plan 
- Active Transportation Plan 
- North South Corridor Study 
 
Mr. Harmer stated that Michael Baker Engineering Inc. has intimate knowledge on some of the 
plans as they are the ones doing the studies.  They have also conducted the San Tan Planning 
Area for Pinal County.   
 
Mr. Harmer pointed out that in the contract there is availability for a land use attorney input.  Staff 
does not feel that there is a need for the attorney, so staff is putting a not-to-exceed cap, which is 
within the limits of the line item.   
 
Ms. Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager asked that the motion be changed to reflect that the Town 
Manager is authorized to enter into the contract.    
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he disagrees with Ms. Adams. The Town has several plans and 
would prefer to have a Comprehensive Plan rather than a General Plan.  He would rather spend 
the $250,000 to hire a new planning department and do the General Plan in house.  The staff 
could do the various plans in house.  He inquired how much money is the Town spending on each 
of the various plans.  
 
Mr. Harmer stated that there are specific areas of expertise that are required to be placed within 
the General Plan, it is not a simple document to create.  He discussed planning issues within the 
current 2020 General Plan.  He explained that when you annex an area, you must also serve that 
area, and this may stretch your resources.   



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 13 of 17 

 
Mr. Harmer stated that they will also look at practicality in the implementation strategies that is in 
the current plan.  They have taken a different tack on how the proposal was put together.  They 
want to be more practical in regard to the term viability of the Plan and the ability of the Town to 
forecast development and development needs that the Town will have to provided.   
 
Mayor Walter asked if there will be target points to determine progress.   
 
Mr. Harmer stated that one needs to be practical and there has to be a document or strategy that 
makes sense.  It needs to be readable to everyone.  There are deliverability reports throughout 
the process.  There is a calendar within the document which outlines deliverables such as draft 
research and documents that they can respond to.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he would prefer that Mr. Harmer do the plan.  He would like the 
Town Manager to come up with a proposal to do the plan internally.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that there are certain areas in which outside entities would need 
to be hired as Mr. Harmer is not an expert of every facet of the General Plan.  
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, to table this item.  The motion died due to lack of a second.  
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if they are working on other documents for the Town, and if so, 
do they overlap and is the Town receiving a discount.  
 
Mr. Harmer stated that they are working on other documents for the Town.  He stated that those 
discussions resulted in the great fee that the Town is receiving.  A General Plan normally cost 
between $20,000 to $30,000 per element.  The list of elements in the Town plan is extensive.  The 
proposed fee is very conservative.  He explained how the plans will interact with the other plans.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired what NTP and GPAC stand for.   
 
Mr. Harmer stated that NTP stands for Notice to Proceed and GPAC stands for General Plan 
Advisory Committee.   
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (Yes: 6: 
Walter, Wall, Hawkins, Larsen, Cordes, Hughes; No. 1: Anderson) to authorize the Town Manager 
to enter into a Professional Services Agreement with Michael Baker Engineering, Inc., to update 
the Town of Florence 2020 General Plan, in an amount not to exceed $258,716. 
 
Resolution No. 1719-19:  
 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1719-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ADOPTING 
REVISIONS TO THE TOWN OF FLORENCE PERSONNEL POLICY.   

 
Ms. Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk, stated the policy is being forwarded from the 
Employee Incentive Committee.  The proposed amendment which has been reviewed, discussed 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 14 of 17 

and endorsed by the Department Directors and by the Employee Incentive Committee.  The 
amended policy would compensate an employee for unused accrued sick leave on a formula 
basis, after they have completed 10 years of service.  In addition, the hourly rate at which payment 
would be made is proposed to be an average wage over the previous 36 months of service prior 
to separation.  This change is a way to reward employees who minimize sick leave usage, to 
reward employee tenure and to enhance our benefit package as we seek to recruit new 
employees. 
 
Ms. Garcia stated the formula for payment would be: 
 

Years of Employment   Percentage of sick leave paid  Maximum Amount 
10 to 14 years   20%      240 hours 
15 to 19 years   35%      360 hours 
20 years or more  50%      480 hours 
 

Ms. Garcia stated that the impact will be minimal.  She stated that people are using sick leave on 
a month-to-month basis.  The committee would like to incentivize sick leave to minimize the use 
of sick leave as well as have longevity be a factor.  They want the employees to feel valued when 
they depart from the Town’s services.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he was in favor of amending the Sick Leave Policy.  
 
Councilmember Wall inquired if this will make any difference with budgeting. She asked how this 
affects the accrued liability.  
 
Mr. Rey Sanchez, Finance Director, stated that there are policies that are more generous than 
what is being proposed and he is in favor of this amendment.  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that currently the sick leave is not an accrued liability; however, there would be 
a fiscal impact if someone meets the above-listed criteria and leaves the Town’s employment.  
Because the Town has no idea who is leaving their employment, it would be difficult to accrue the 
liability as they would for vacation.  The Town does not have very many employees who could 
use the policy at this time.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that through the Family Medical Leave Act (FLMA), employees are able to use 
12 weeks of leave.  The Town encourages employees to save up their time in case of an 
emergency.  The Town also has a Leave Donation Policy for employees who would like to donate 
vacation time to help other employees on FMLA. 
 
Councilmember Larsen asked for clarification on how sick leave is accrued and used.  It is her 
understanding that if it is not used within the year, it is lost.  She inquired how holiday is used and 
how vacation time is accrued.  
 
Ms. Garcia explained how sick and vacation time is accrued on a monthly basis and how holiday 
leave is paid.  She explained that Police and Fire are sometimes required to work holidays and 
they are paid for their holiday as well as their work time. Vacation time is accrued differently for 
those with longevity.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 15 of 17 

Councilmember Cordes stated that there are some businesses who accrue personal time off 
which is a combination of sick and vacation time.   
 
Discussion occurred on the benefits of offering this incentive of paying out a portion of one’s 
accrued sick leave.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the policy started out as a retirement benefit but the employees changed it 
to an incentive benefit.   
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired about leave donations.  
 
Ms. Garcia explained that the donated vacation leave is converted to sick leave.  Employees can 
only receive time once they have exhausted their sick and vacation time.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (7-0) 
to adopt Resolution No. 1719-19. 
 
Resolution No. 1720-19:  
 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1720-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
THE ADOPTION AUTHORITY POLICY SPECIFYING THAT LEGISLATIVE POLICIES SHALL 
BE ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES SHALL BE 
ADOPTED BY THE TOWN MANAGER.  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that from time to time staff reviews the policies to ensure that all of the policies 
are updated.  Staff has provided an updated policy format so that they will be less intimidating.  
Council will be asked to review all policies that are under their authority to ensure that the policies 
align with the Council’s views.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that Department Heads are also being asked to review their policies to ensure 
they are following best practices as well as next practices.  The policies will also be looked at to 
ensure that they follow Federal and State guidelines.       
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (7-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. 1720-19.  
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 

There was nothing to report.  

CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
There were no comments.  
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 16 of 17 

Councilmember Larsen apologized for being late. She invited everyone to the Police Chief Meet 
and Great as well as the Halloween Bash at the Windmill Winery.  A Strategic Planning Session 
has been scheduled.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that the Veteran’s Memorial will be held on November 11, 2019 
at 11:00 am. 
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that she attended the First Historic Florence 3rd Friday Event.  All 
of the shops on Main Street stayed open until 8:00 pm, there was live music and the Posse had 
a Steak Dinner.  It was nice to see Main Street come to life.  She stated it was a great event.  The 
event will be held every 3rd Friday of the month.  She also invited everyone to visit the Rankin 
Corn Maze.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he attended the redevelopment event.  He thanked Mr. Bryan 
Hughes for the Veteran’s Memorial.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that she attended the Florence Unified School District’s Coffee with the 
Community event.  She stated that they showcased what they have done with the bond that 
passed.  Supervisor Goodman discussed water and what is happening around our community.  
She stated they are researching alternate sources to bring water into the area.  Sheriff Lamb 
discussed the Diversion Program and his partnership with the Florence Unified School District.  
 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the 
public body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), (A)(4) and 
(A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or attorneys regarding: 

 
a. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 

County Superior Court:  Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325, 
including counterclaims. 

b. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case 
No. 16-002, including appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.  

c. Town’s position on potential land purchase. 
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn to Executive Session. 

 
ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn from Executive Session.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried to adjourn 
the meeting at 8:16 p.m. 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2019 
Page 17 of 17 

 
 

________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on October 21, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a 
quorum was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 
 

 























 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
9a.   

MEETING DATE:   November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:    Police Department  
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Daniel Hughes, Police Chief 
 
SUBJECT:   Ordinance No. 684-19: Modification to TITLE VII, 
CHAPTER 73: STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 
Subject:  Ordinance No. 684-19  Vehicles  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: 
  Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance     

  Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

  Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION:   
 
Ordinance No. 684-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, BY INSERTING §73.12 
ABANDONED OR JUNK VEHICLES PARKED IN VISIBLE AREAS; RENUMBER 
UNARMED POLICE AIDES §73.13; AND INSERTING A NEW PENALTY §73.99 (Y).   
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   
 
There are numerous vehicles that fall within the definition of an abandoned or junked 
vehicle parked within the residential neighborhoods of the Town of Florence.  Currently, 
the Town Code addresses this issue under 150.82 NEW DEVELOPMENT and is 
addressed by Code Enforcement Officers.  The Police Department is proposing that we 
add this same language to TITLE VII, CHAPTER 73: STOPPING, STANDING AND 
PARKING allowing Police Officers to address this issue in a more efficient manner.   Many 
of these vehicles are unsightly and some are dangerous as they are up on blocks or jacks 
being accessible to the general public walking nearby.   
 
As suggested at the last meeting, 5 days has been changed to five business days within 
the Ordinance.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:   
 
These vehicles would continue to be parked in residential neighborhoods and be 
addressed through our current Code.  
 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 684-19  Vehicles  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:    
 
The Ordinance would be changed to reflect the changes in the parking ordinance allowing 
officers to take a more proactive response to abandoned or junked vehicles parked in a 
visible area within mostly residential areas within the Town of Florence.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:    
 
There would not be any financial impact.     
 
ATTACHMENTS:    
 
Ordinance No. 684-19 



ORDINANCE NO. 684-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, BY INSERTING §73.12 ABANDONED OR JUNK VEHICLES 
PARKED IN VISIBLE AREAS; RENUMBER UNARMED POLICE AIDES 
§73.13; AND INSERTING A NEW PENALTY §73.99 (Y).   

 
 WHEREAS, it has been brought to the attention of the Town Council of the Town 
of Florence, that the current Code of Ordinances is outdated; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Florence desires the Code to be a 
reflection of current operations and regulations.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, that the Code of Ordinances be amended inserting §73.12 
ABANDONED OR JUNK VEHICLES PARKED IN VISIBLE AREAS as follows:  
 
 §73.12 ABANDONED OR JUNKED VEHICLES PARKED IN VISIBLE AREAS 
 

(A) All abandoned or junk vehicles, or vehicles while being repaired or restored, shall 
be stored in an enclosed area by the owner or occupant of the property upon which 
the vehicle is located, in such a manner as to not be visible from any point lying 
outside the property upon which the abandoned or junk vehicle is stored or parked. 
 

(B) ABANDONED OR JUNK VEHICLE.  A vehicle or any major portion thereof which 
is incapable of movement under its own power and will remain so without major 
repair or reconstruction or a vehicle not having current license and registration. 

 
(C) MAJOR REPAIR.  The removal from any vehicle of a major portion thereof 

including, but not limited to, the differential, transmission, head, engine block or oil 
pan. 
 

(D) VEHICLE.  Any self-propelled device in, upon or by which any person or property 
is or may be transported upon a public highway excepting devices moved by 
human power or used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks. 

 
Vehicles must be removed within 5 business days and stored in an enclosed area as not 
to be visible from outside the property. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of 
the Town of Florence, Arizona, that the Code of Ordinances be amended by renumbering 
§73.12 UNARMED POLICE AIDES to §73.13 UNARMED POLICE AIDES:  
 
     
 
 



§73.13   UNARMED POLICE AIDES 
 

(A) It is the purpose and intent of this enactment to provide for the occasional 
appointment of unarmed police aides by the Chief of Police or his or her designee 
when such appointments are determined to be necessary and desirable for the 
purpose of providing efficient and cost-effective enforcement of the parking 
regulations contained in this chapter. 
 

(B) The Chief of Police or designee is authorized to appoint unarmed police aides for 
the purpose of enforcement of the town ordinances relating to the standing and 
parking of vehicles. 

 
(C) Upon appointment by the Chief of Police, unarmed police aides shall be 

empowered to commence an action for violation of the provisions of Chapter 73 in 
the Municipal Court. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the 

Town of Florence, Arizona, that the Code of Ordinances be amended by adding 
§73.99 (Y) PENALTY. 
      

(Y)   Any violations of §73.12 shall be punishable by a fine of $100.00 for the first 
offense if not corrected within 5 business days.  Failure to comply may result in a 
Class 3 Misdemeanor charge punishable by a maximum fine of $500.00 per day 
and up to 30 days in jail or both. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by a majority vote of the Mayor and Council of the Town 
of Florence, Arizona this 18th day of November 2019. 

 
       __________________________ 

Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________  __________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
10a.   

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Town Council 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Vice-Mayor John Anderson  
 
SUBJECT: Economic Development Conversation with Council 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: 
Subject:  Ed Descriptions  Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Discussion and possible action on the creation of an Economic Development 
Department, Division, and/or Commission within the Town of Florence.  

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Council requested to have conversation on the floor about the creation and funding of 
an Economic Development Department. 
 
Staff has reached out to other communities and provided a variety of job descriptions for 
Council review. 
 
The Town of Florence has a job description for Economic Development Coordinator, as 
this position previously existed within the Town organization.  The position was not at 
the Department Head level. The description is included in the backup material, along 
with descriptions for Economic Development Director across the region. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:  
 
An item would not be added to a future agenda for adoption.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:  
 
A future agenda item would be added to adopt the salary schedule and job description 
for the recommended position.  
 
 
 



Subject:  Ed Descriptions Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

Financial impact would depend on the number of positions and classifications that 
Council recommends.  Department Head/Coordinator/Analyst all have very different 
fiscal impacts.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

Pay Scales/Salary Schedules 
Job Descriptions 



Economic Development Coordinator        
  

 

 Page 1 of 4 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 
TITLE:  Economic Development  FLSA STATUS:  Exempt 
   Coordinator 
     
DEPARTMENT:   Administration   DATE CREATED:   12/04/06 
          
SALARY RANGE: 47     DATE REVISED:     07/01/12 
 
 

JOB SUMMARY: 
 
Responsible for planning, developing and directing the Town’s economic development 
programs and activities.  
 

SUPERVISION: 
 
This position has no supervisory responsibility. 
 

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 
Essential functions, as defined under the Americans with Disabilities Act, may include any of the following 
tasks, knowledge, skills and other characteristics.  This is not intended to be a comprehensive list; it is 
intended to provide a representative summary of the major duties and responsibilities.  Incumbent(s) may 
not be required to perform all duties listed, and may be required to perform additional, position-specific 
tasks. 

 
 Employees will support the Town’s vision and role model these behaviors by: 

a. Cultivating a positive work environment. 
b. Providing quality customer service and maintaining productive working relationships. 
c. Prioritizing and setting manageable goals. 
d. Being efficient with time at work. 
e. Communicating effectively with management, staff, customers, and visitors. 
f. Being flexible and taking criticism constructively. 

 

 Employees will support compliance-related items by: 
a. Following internal procedures and external regulations. 
b. Bringing compliance issues to the attention of management. 
c. Working collaboratively in all facets of position to meet position requirements and 

support Town goals. 
d. Conform with all safety rules and use all appropriate safety equipment. 

 

 Responsible for the planning and creation of economic development marketing strategies 
and implementation of efforts to attract and retain business and industry to the Town of 
Florence.   

 

 Develops, initiates, integrates and manages projects and programs that address positive 
changes in the economic climate and business environment or specific redevelopment 
areas. 

 



Economic Development Coordinator        
  

 

 Page 2 of 4 

 Serves as Town liaison for the Chamber of Commerce, Main Street Program, 
Redevelopment Commission, and other civic organizations. 

 

 Creates and manages business assistance programs and training sessions to assist with 
efforts to retain, strengthen and expand existing Town businesses. 

 

 Identifies, analyzes, and develops solutions for critical issues identified by the business 
community. 

 

 Provides direction to the Redevelopment Commission for implementation of the 
redevelopment plans and other project plans that may be adopted.   

 

 Interfaces with multiple jurisdictions on issues impacting Florence’s economic development 
future. 

 

 Performs all other related duties, as assigned. 
 
 

Education and Experience Required: 
 
Bachelor’s Degree in Business, Public Administration, Economics, Finance, or related field, plus 
one (1) year experience in economic development or closely related field, preferably in a 
municipal setting; OR equivalent combination of education and experience which demonstrates 
the ability to perform the duties of the position. 
 
 

Certificates, Licenses, Registrations: 
 
Required: 
 
 Must have and maintain a valid Arizona Driver’s License. 
 
 

Other: 
 
Ability to schedule work required to fulfill duties of position.  At times, individual must be able to 
work in a fast-paced environment with ability to handle and prioritize multiple, competing tasks 
and demands and to seek supervisory assistance as appropriate. 
 
Knowledge of municipal, state, and federal statutes and regulations governing planning, 
redevelopment, and economic development. 
 
Knowledge of the principles and practices of economic development and business and/or 
industrial planning. 
 
Knowledge of the basic principles and practices of real estate development. 
 

Skills and Abilities: 
 
 Strong ability to define problems, collect data, establish facts, and draw valid conclusions. 



Economic Development Coordinator        
  

 

 Page 3 of 4 

 Ability to represent the Town effectively in a variety of settings with diverse community 
members. 

 Strong public speaking and negotiating skills. 
 Ability to initiate and manage projects involving multiple disciplines and functions. 
 Strong communication and interpersonal skills (both oral and in writing). 
 Comfortable working under pressure with strict deadlines.    
 Position requires demonstrated poise, tact and diplomacy. 
 Strong attention to detail and well organized. 
 Must be a self-starter, able to work independently as well as work effectively with teams of 

divers community members.   
 Ability to perform simple to complex math calculations including decimals, percentages, 

principles of fractions and interpret graphs. 
 Must have high level of interpersonal skills to handle sensitive and confidential situations.   
 Must be able to maintain a calm, non-defensive attitude.  
 Strong leadership skills.   
 Ability to write reports and correspondence, develop spreadsheets and presentation 

material. 
 Collect and analyze data; provide recommendations and alternatives. 
 Handle multiple projects simultaneously. 
 
 

Computer Skills: 
 
Required: 
 
 Word Processing (Word) 
 Spreadsheets (Excel) 
 E-Mail 
 Power Point 
 Internet  
 
 

Physical Demands: 
 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an 
employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job.  Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential 
functions. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to talk and hear.  The 
employee is regularly required to stand, walk, sit, use hand to finger, handle or feel objects, 
tools, or controls; and reach with hands and arms.  Employee may be required to carry, 
push/pull objects and materials up to 25 pounds.  Specific vision abilities required by this job 
include close vision, ability to adjust focus, and manual dexterity in combination with eye/hand 
coordination. 
 
Employee must have sufficient clarity of speech and hearing to permit discern verbal 
instructions, use of telephone, and communications with others. 
 



Economic Development Coordinator        
  

 

 Page 4 of 4 

Position requirements are primarily carried out in an office environment or meeting forum.  
Noise level is usually moderate.   
 
The above statements are intended to describe the general nature and level of work performed by people 
assigned to this job.  They are not intended to be an exhaustive list of responsibilities, duties and skills 
required of personnel so classified.  Other functions may be assigned and management retains the right 
to add or change the duties at any time. 

 

Position Description Reviewed: 
 
Employee Name (print): ____________________________  Date:____________ 
 
Employee Signature: _______________________________  Date: ____________ 
 
Supervisor Signature: ______________________________  Date: ____________ 
 
 
Original Signed Position Description to be returned to Human Resources for Employee’s Personnel 

File.  Copy to be provided to Employee. 
 



Economic Development Director positions
Salary

City Title Low Mid High

Apache Junction Economic Development Director $101,556 $123,736 $147,083

Avondale Economic Development Director $100,556 $123,193 $145,820

Casa Grande Economic Development Director $85,198 $99,973 $117,720

Chandler Economic Development Director $122,630 $155,075 $187,519

Flagstaff Economic Vitality Director $87,674 $124,226 $160,777

Fountain Hills Economic Development Director $95,000 $114,950 $134,900

Gilbert Economic Development Director $121,328 $157,727 $194,125

Glendale Economic Development Director $113,333 $141,667 $170,000

Goodyear Economic Development Director $113,316 $140,767 $168,218

Mesa Economic Development Director $136,240 $159,806 $183,373

Peoria Economic Development Services Director $112,179 $140,224 $168,269

Pinal County Economic Development Manager $71,604 $93,085 $114,566

Phoenix Community & Economic Development Director $109,075 $147,254 $185,432

Queen Creek Economic Development Director $114,856 $146,441 $178,026

Sahuarita Economic Development Director $92,955 $111,546 $130,137

Scottsdale Economic Development Director $109,096 $133,859 $158,621

Surprise Economic Development Director $119,515 $149,394 $179,272

Tempe Economic Development Director $108,084 $126,999 $145,913

Tolleson Economic Development Director $103,518 $139,750 $175,981

Tucson Economic Development Director $121,160 $175,583 $230,006

Minimum: $71,604 $93,085 $114,566

Median: $109,096 $140,224 $168,269

High: $136,240 $175,583 $230,006

*Maricopa recenlty got rid of their Economic Development Department to form a public‐private partnership to manage E.D.

**Coolidge runs economic development through their Development Services (Planning) Department, which also oversees CART.

***Eloy has an Economic Development Manager under their (Planning) Community Development Director.



Economic Development Director City of Apache Junction 1 of 2

Economic Development Director

Department: Management Services

SUMMARY: Directs, plans, identifies and implements strategies that will increase the sustainability and
growth of the community, supports local businesses, targets business expansion opportunities, encourages
new enterprises and recommends policy that will best position the City for success. 

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS:Essential functions, as defined under the Americans with Disabilities Act, may
include any of the following representative duties, knowledge, and skills. Factors such as regular attendance
at the job are not routinely listed in job descriptions, but are an essential function. Essential duties and
responsibilities may include, but are not limited to, the following:

Prepare, manage and monitor the department budget; identify short and long term economic development
strategies; create promotional concepts to raise awareness and discover solutions to any community issues
that inhibit growth. 

Execute downtown redevelopment and implementation strategy; pursue retail recruitment, marketing and
tourism strategies; work with other departments to analyze business sites and projects.

Meet with prospective developers and business representatives to discuss opportunities; provide
information regarding development sites, zoning, regulations, transportation, economic indicators, and
growth projections.

Negotiate draft development agreement deal points; recommend public policy changes.

Ensure City profiles and data are maintained and updated.

Direct Economic Development staff, organize, prioritize and assign work; evaluate the efficiency and
effectiveness of the department operations, programs, procedures and use of resources.

Serve as liaison between the City and the Chamber of Commerce, merchants’ associations and other
public, private, or nonprofit groups, associations and individuals interested in economic development;
advise local businesses and community groups on relevant matters and proactive business outreach efforts.

Support the City’s policies, goals and objectives and work with management and other staff to ethically
achieve such goals and objectives; ensure compliance with safety procedures.

KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS:

Demonstrated Knowledge of:
City and Department procedures, policies and guidelines; City Code; Arizona Revised Statutes.

Business and economic development principles and practices; municipal zoning and infrastructure;
research, statistics, analysis methods and techniques, planning programs and processes.  

Tourism, marketing and sales strategy; basic website design techniques.



Economic Development Director City of Apache Junction 2 of 2

Principles and practices of budgeting, marketing, communications and community outreach and
engagement.

Skill in:
Establishing and maintaining cooperative working relationships with coworkers and other individuals in
contact during the course of work; communicating clearly and concisely.

Gathering information and preparing, analyze, and making presentations regarding economic development
reports, statements, and correspondence.

Operating a personal computer utilizing standard software such as Microsoft Office and some specialized
software; functioning standard equipment.

Assessing, prioritizing and completing multiple tasks and demands simultaneously.

Giving presentations and public speaking.

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS:

Graduation from a college or university accredited by an agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of
Education or Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA) with a Bachelor’s degree in Administration,
Urban Planning, Economics or a closely related field, and eight (8) years of paid fulltime experience in
developing/implementing, managing, or facilitating community relations or community development
programs;ORan equivalent combination of education and experience.

LICENSE, CERTIFICATION AND/OR SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS:

Candidates who are selected for appointment may be fingerprinted, if 18 or older; successfully complete a
background investigation, employment verification and may be subject to a drug/alcohol test, medical,
polygraph and/or psychological evaluation. Candidates who are appointed will be required to possess a valid
driver’s license to operate a vehicle in Arizona, or meet the transportation needs of the position. 

Prior to appointment must have International Economic Development Council – Certified Economic
Developer.

PHYSICAL DEMANDS AND WORKING ENVIRONMENT:

Work is performed in a standard office environment. May require frequent sitting and continuous operation
of a personal computer. May be required to perform a full range of motion with lifting and/or carrying items
weighing up to 25 pounds. 

Adopted: July, 2016



 Economic Development Director   09/25/2017
  

City of Casa Grande 
   

 

Economic Development Director 

 

GENERAL PURPOSE: Under administrative direction, plans and directs a diverse 
program of economic and workforce development projects, business recruitment, retention 
and expansion operations, and collaboration with community development partners and 
stakeholders. 

 

PRIMARY DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 

The following duties ARE NOT intended to serve as a comprehensive list of all duties 
performed by all employees in this classification, only a representative summary of the 
primary duties and responsibilities. Incumbent(s) may not be required to perform all duties 
listed and may be required to perform additional, position-specific duties. 
 

 Plans, organizes, coordinates and implements policies and procedures related to 
the City’s economic development program and activities including short-term and 
long-term strategies for the retention of existing business as well as growth 
opportunities for new business. 

 Implements marketing and promotional strategies for showcasing Casa Grande to 
new industry and businesses; partners with community stakeholders to build a 
strong workforce. 

 Participates in long-range planning and makes verbal and written recommendations 
for a unified program of economic and community development. 

 Directs economic research activities to determine the needs and economic impact 
of projects. 

 Researches strategic and leverage opportunities to aid in the development and 
funding of development, redevelopment and revitalization projects and 
improvements. 

 Initiates strategies and plans for assessing problems and trends associated with 
growth and development of the City’s economy and tax base. 

 Meets with prospects, developers and business representatives to discuss 
opportunities; provides information regarding development sites, zoning regulations, 
transportation, economic indicators and growth projections. 

 Monitors and prepares reports; makes presentations to staff, elected officials, 
boards, commissions, committees and other citizen groups.  

 Serves as the City’s liaison with the business community; represents the City at 
public hearings, meetings, events and conferences. 

 Performs other duties as assigned or required.  

 



JOB DESCRIPTION 
Economic Development Director 

Economic Development Director.docDirector  09/25/2017 

SUPERVISION EXERCISED: Professional, Technical and Administrative Staff as 
assigned. 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

 

Education and Experience: 

Bachelor’s Degree in business or public administration, or related field, and seven (7) 
years’ experience in directing or assisting in the direction of economic development and 
promotion, preferably in a municipal context; OR an equivalent combination of education 
and experience. CEcD Certification preferred. 

 

Necessary Knowledge, Skills and Abilities: 
 

Knowledge of: 

 Procedures and strategies of economic and community development and analysis in a 
governmental setting, including demographics, economic trends, forecasts and 
impacts. 

 Marketing and research methods, principles and procedures. 

 City policies and procedures, as well as County, State and Federal laws, rules and 
regulations related to economic planning and development. 

 Building and zoning codes and ordinances as related to development and 
redevelopment. 

 Contract development, mediation and administration. 

 

Skill in: 

 Mediating and negotiating differences between developers, contractors, builders, 
planners and community organizations to best meet the needs of the City. 

 Identifying and projecting fiscal impacts of trends or projects on community tax base. 

 

Ability to: 

 Effectively communicate, both orally and in writing.  

 Create and maintain a positive image among community groups, individuals, media, 
governmental entities and the business community. 

 Operate a personal computer utilizing a variety of business software. 

 

Special Requirements: Possession of a valid Arizona Driver’s License; specific technical 
training and certifications may be required. 

 

Physical Demands / Work Environment: Work is performed mainly in an office 
environment, but occasionally outdoors. 

 

The job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and 
employee and is subject to change by the employer as needed. 











 

 
Page | 1 

 
 
 

Classification Description  
 
 
Work in this classification requires an individual to be able to perform the essential job functions satisfactorily.  
Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the primary classification 
functions herein described. Since every duty associated with this classification may not be described herein, 
employees may be required to perform duties not specifically spelled out in this classification description, but which 
may be reasonably considered to be incidental in the performing of their duties just as though they were actually 
written out in this description.  
 

Classification:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MANAGER 
 
Department:  County Manager 

Pay Grade:  15     

FLSA Status:  Exempt 

 

JOB SUMMARY 
Coordinate, manage, and implement programs and projects that support commercial, office, 
and industrial development within Pinal County under limited supervision.   
 
TYPICAL CLASSIFICATION ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  

 Establish and maintain relations with local, County, regional, state and Federal 
agencies and entities and establish a marketing strategy to promote the entire county. 

 Develop and establish county-wide economic development programs to recruit new 
companies, assist current local companies in maintaining operations, and promote local 
made products and services. 

 Advise all three local economic development organizations the County financially 
supports. Interact with elected supervisors, County Manager, and county departments 
to advise and update on various economic development issues and projects. 

 Attend local, state, and national trade shows and events to promote economic 
development activities. 

 Maintain memberships in professional state and national economic development 
organizations to further gain knowledge and insight into the ever changing world of 
economic development.  

 Communicate with current and potential clients in order to locate in the county or 
expand, make weekly phone calls or send e-mails to clients currently engaged with in 
recruiting or expansion projects, send clients County information per their requests, and 
respond to potential client requests received from the Economic Development (ED) 
website.  

 Meet clients when they visit the County and provide them with requested ED 
information regarding the County, respond to client requests from financially supported 
economic development organizations or thru the Arizona Department of Commerce 
(ADOC), develop and compile various types of information requested by the clients, 
and prepare packages to be sent to lenders and partners. 

 Communicate with county stakeholders including economic development 
organizations, chambers, state organizations, and county communities, attend local 
economic development organization meetings, and make presentations to various 
groups including chambers, rotary clubs, HOA’s, Copper Corridor, and other community 
organizations as requested.   



Economic Development Manager 

Pinal County    Updated: 4/29/16  
Page | 2 

 Coordinate with county departments in development services on various projects, 
papers, and programs that produce a positive result for economic development in the 
County.   

 Attend monthly Planning and Zoning Commission meetings, assist with the review and 
rewriting of the County Zoning Ordinance to include new economic development 
aspects such as targeted sectors and zoning to enhance economic development, work 
with transportation on feasibility studies that includes a major portion dedicated to 
enhancing the transportation system to increase changes of company recruitment, and 
work with information technology to update and refresh the economic development 
website for the County. 

 Attend and participate in relationship building events such chamber events, community 
council meetings, rural jobs bill meetings, and meetings with other economic 
development professionals throughout the County and community. 

 Prepare monthly ED reports and miscellaneous duties, write monthly Enterprise Zone 
reports to the state, write Managing for Results (MFR) reports for the County Manager, 
advise other county ED professionals on various pending or upcoming issues, assist 
with news for the Economic Development Newsletter, write support letters when 
requested, add new and/or updates and revises ED information for the County website, 
and assist with other duties as assigned by the County Manager.    

 To promote and adhere to the workplace values of accountability, commitment, and 
teamwork to help enrich lives beyond expectation. 

 Maintain absolute confidentiality of work-related issues, customer records and 
restricted County information. 

 Perform other related duties as required. 
 
POSITION SPECIFIC DUTIES:  

 None.  
 
 
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS TO PERFORM WORK:  

 Bachelor’s degree in Economic Development, Marketing, Business Administration, 
Urban Development, or related field. 

 Six (6) years of experience in urban economic development, business 
recruitment/development, public facility or infrastructure development that includes 
management responsibility for programs and projects. 

 Valid Driver’s License with an Arizona Driver’s License required within 30 days of hire. 
 
Preferred Qualifications:  

 None.  
 
Knowledge, Skills and Abilities: 

 Knowledge of principles and practices of public administration, urban land development, 
and economic and real estate principles and techniques. 

 Knowledge of research methods and report preparation. 
 Knowledge of community resources, public relations, and customer service. 
 Ability to communicate effectively orally and in writing.   
 Skill in conducting research, collecting data, and making appropriate conclusions. 
 Ability to make persuasive presentations and speeches in order to recruit new 

business/industry and development opportunities to the County. 
 Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with other department 

staff, management, outside agencies, community groups, and the general public. 
 Ability to communicate effectively orally and in writing with employees, developers, and 

the public. 



Economic Development Manager 

Pinal County    Updated: 4/29/16  
Page | 3 

 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
The work is sedentary and requires exerting up to 10 pounds of force occasionally and/or 
negligible amount of force frequently or constantly to lift, carry, push, pull or otherwise move 
objects, including the human body. The work also requires the ability to apply manual dexterity, 
reach, perform repetitive motion, hear, speak, stand, walk, operate motor vehicles and/or heavy 
equipment, and demonstrate mental and visual acuity. 
 
WORK ENVIRONMENT:  
Work is performed in an environment making decisions that could lead to major community or 
organizational consequences if appropriate decisions are not timely. 
 
Pinal County has the right to revise this description at any time, and does not represent in any 

way a contract of employment. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ____________________________________ 

Employee Signature                                                Date 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________   ________________________ 
Supervisor (or HR) Signature     Date  
 
 
 
 















TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
10b.  

MEETING DATE:  January 22, 2019 

DEPARTMENT:  Administration 

STAFF PRESENTER: Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town 
Clerk 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 1722-19 adopting the 2019 Town 
Council Rules of Procedure 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  
Subject:  Resolution No. 1722-19 Council Rules of Procedure    Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 

Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1722-19: A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE FLORENCE TOWN 
COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE, EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 18, 2019. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 

Mayor Walter requested the following changes be made to the Council Rules of 
Procedure: 

A.  The Consent Agenda includes items that (i) are of such a nature that discussion 
may not be required, (ii) are included in the annual budget, (iii) are under 
$100,000 expensed to the General Fund, (iv) item that are HURF or Enterprise 
fund expenditures included in the CIP, (v) or have been previously studied by the 
Town Council.  These items are adopted by a single motion and affirmative vote 
of a majority of the Town Council. 

Staff has completed the changes and are submitting Resolution No. 1722-19 for Council 
consideration. 

If members of the Town Council would like to suggest additional changes, staff would 
be happy to bring the proposed changes for action at a future meeting.  

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:  

The rules would not be adopted. 



Subject:  Resolution No. 1722-19 Council Rules of Procedure                           Meeting Date:  November 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:  
 
The Council Rules of Procedure would be adopted effective December 18, 2019. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Not applicable 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 1722-19 
Council Rules of Procedure  



  
RESOLUTION NO. 1722-19 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE FLORENCE TOWN 
COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE, EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 
18, 2019. 

 
WHEREAS, the Florence Town Council desires to amend the policies and 

procedures for conducting business; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Florence Town Council desires the policy to be consistent 
with the Town Code. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the 
Town of Florence, Arizona, that the Florence Town Council Rules of Procedures 
are hereby amended effective December 18, 2019. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of November 2019. 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk   Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
  
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 1 of 31 

Town of Florence 
Town Council 

Rules of Procedure 
2019 

 
 
SECTION 1.   RULES OF PROCEDURE/AUTHORITY 
 
1.1 PROCEDURES 
The following are the basis for and are used in conjunction with these Rules of 
Procedure for meetings of the Town Council:   
 

A. Arizona Open Meeting Law (ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 38-431 et seq., as amended) 
B. Town Code 
C. Town of Florence Parliamentary Procedures Simplified 
D. Roberts Rules of Order, as amended 

 
1.2 PARLIAMENTARIAN 
Town Council Meetings: The Town Attorney shall serve as Parliamentarian for all Town 
Council Meetings.  The Town Clerk shall act as Parliamentarian in the absence of the 
Town Attorney.  
 
Boards/Commissions/Committees: The Council Liaison shall serve as Parliamentarian 
for each respective board, commission, or committee. 
 
SECTION 2.  DEFINITIONS 
 
2.1 AGENDA 
As set forth in Section 6 below, an Agenda is the formal description of items to be 
considered by the Town Council at a noticed meeting of the Town Council.  The final 
Agenda must be posted at least 24 hours prior to the Town Council’s meeting. 
 
2.2 CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the Town 
Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual 
Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to 
review a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda (See Section 
7.1, Agenda Items Submittal).  However, members of the Council shall not discuss or 
act on any matter during an open call to the public unless the matters are properly 
noticed for discussion and legal action. This disclaimer will appear on the first Call to the 
Public listing on the agenda.  The Mayor will read the disclaimer into the record at each 
meeting. 
 
2.4 COUNCIL TO THE COUNCIL- CURRENT EVENTS ONLY Members of the public 
body may present a brief summary of current events without listing in the agenda the 
specific matters to be summarized, provided that the summary is listed on the agenda 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 2 of 31 

and that the public body does not propose, discuss, deliberate or take legal action at 
that meeting on any matter in the summary unless the specific matter is properly noticed 
for legal action. (A.R.S. § 38-431.02(K)).  Reports that address matters other than a 
summary of current events or that are delivered by someone other than an official of the 
public body do not come within the provision authorizing current events summaries and 
must comply with the agenda requirements of the Open Meeting Law. Public bodies 
should limit the use of the current events summary provision to appropriate situations 
and should strive to provide as much advance information as possible to the public. 
 
In accordance with state law, the members of the public body may not support or 
oppose a candidate for nomination or election to public office or the recall of a public 
officer or supporting or opposing a ballot measure, question or proposition, including 
any bond, budget or override election and supporting or opposing the circulation of a 
petition for the recall of a public officer or a petition for a ballot measure, question or 
proposition in any manner that is not impartial or neutral. 
 
2.5 COUNCIL PACKET 
The Town Council agenda packet is comprised of documents supporting the items listed 
on the agenda and requiring Council action, which may be used by Town Council, staff, 
and the public for more in-depth information than may be presented in an oral report.  
The packet is organized, as set forth in Section 7 below, and is provided to the Town 
Council and made available to the public on the Town’s website. 
 
2.6 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Upon a public majority vote of the members constituting a quorum, a public body may 
hold an executive session but only for the following purposes: 

A. Discussion or consideration of employment, assignment, appointment, 
promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public 
officer, appointee or employee of any public body, except that, with the exception 
of salary discussions, an officer, appointee or employee may demand that the 
discussion or consideration occur at a public meeting. The public body shall 
provide the officer, appointee or employee with written notice of the executive 
session as is appropriate but not less than twenty-four hours for the officer, 
appointee or employee to determine whether the discussion or consideration 
should occur at a public meeting. 

B. Discussion or consideration of records exempt by law from public inspection, 
including the receipt and discussion of information or testimony that is specifically 
required to be maintained as confidential by state or federal law. 

C. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the 
public body. 

D.  Discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to 
consider its position and instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position 
regarding contracts that are the subject of negotiations, in pending or 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 3 of 31 

contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions conducted in order to avoid 
or resolve litigation. 

E. Discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public body 
in order to consider its position and instruct its representatives regarding 
negotiations with employee organizations regarding the salaries, salary 
schedules or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of employees of 
the public body. 

F. Discussion, consultation or consideration for international and interstate 
negotiations or for negotiations by a city or town, or its designated 
representatives, with members of a tribal council, or its designated 
representatives, of an Indian reservation located within or adjacent to the city or 
town. 

G. Discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public body 
in order to consider its position and instruct its representatives regarding 
negotiations for the purchase, sale or lease of real property. 

2.7 MEETINGS 
A meeting is the gathering, in person or by technological devices, of a quorum of 
members, at which they discuss, propose or take legal action, including any 
deliberations by a quorum with respect to such action.  If a quorum is not present, those 
in attendance will be named for the record and in the absence of the Presiding Officer, 
the Town Clerk or departmental liaison will adjourn the meeting. 
 
2.8 MANAGER REPORT 
The only report that can be given without listing the contents of the presentation is the 
brief summary of current events by the chief administrator, the presiding officer of the 
Council, or a member under A.R.S. § 38-431.02(K). A generic agenda item, such as 
“Police Department Report, “Fire Department Report,” or “Executive Director Report” 
does not satisfy the requirement that the agenda provide information that is “reasonably 
necessary to inform the public of the matters to be discussed or decided.” A.R.S. § 38-
431.02(H). No action is expected as a result of the reports, which are provided to the 
Council and public for informational purposes only.  All reports discussed as part of the 
Town Council meeting will have written reports that are included in the Town Council 
packet and posted as part of the official agenda packet online.  The Town Manager 
shall provide a written report once a month.  
 
2.9 NEWSPAPER 
Typically, a daily or weekly publication of general circulation within the Town of Florence 
containing news, feature articles, editorials, and general advertisements. 
 
2.10 NOTICE 
A formal announcement to the public that sets forth the name of the public body, date, 
time and place for which a meeting of the Town Council will be held.  Giving formal 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 4 of 31 

notice of meetings is done as provided by Statute, Town Code, or other rules or 
regulations of the Town. 
 
2.11 ORDINANCE 
An ordinance is a Town Council action setting forth a rule of public conduct that is 
considered long-term and may prescribe a penalty for violations thereof. Long-term 
rules include, but are not limited to, zoning issues, annexations, abandonments and 
Town laws.  The ordinance, in addition to being referenced by number in the minutes, 
will be recorded and maintained in numerical sequence as a permanent record of the 
Town in a separate set of books.  Effective dates of ordinances shall be as provided by 
law. 
 
2.12 PUBLIC BODY 
Town Council, all boards, committees, and commissions of the Town, and any specially 
seated board, commission, committee, or sub-committee of the Town whose members 
are appointed by the Mayor with the approval of the Town Council. 
 
2.13 QUORUM 
A quorum is the minimum number of members of the Town Council that must be 
present for business to be legally transacted.  With a seven-member body, a quorum 
(by State Statute) is four members. 
 
A quorum for a board/commission/committee with five members is three.  
 
2.14 RESOLUTION 
A resolution is a more formal type of motion normally utilized to set forth policy of the 
Town.  The resolution, in addition to being referenced by number and brief title in the 
minutes, will be recorded as provided by law and maintained in numerical sequence as 
a permanent record of the Town in a separate set of books.  Resolutions are used for 
various reasons, such as when specifically required by law, when needed as a separate 
evidentiary document to be transmitted to another governmental agency, or where the 
frequency of future references back to its contents warrants a separate document to 
facilitate such future reference and research.  Effective dates of resolutions shall be as 
provided by law. 
 
SECTION 3.   PRESIDING OFFICER 
 
3.1 PRESIDING OFFICER 
As provided by the Town Code, the Mayor, or in the Mayor's absence, the Vice-Mayor is 
the Presiding Officer of all meetings of the Town Council.  
 
In the absence or disability of both the Mayor and the Vice-Mayor, the meeting shall be 
called to order by the Town Clerk, whereupon, the Town Clerk shall immediately call for 
the selection of a temporary Presiding Officer.  The Councilmembers present shall, by 
majority vote, select a Presiding Officer for that meeting. 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 5 of 31 

Upon the arrival of the Mayor or the Vice Mayor, the Vice Mayor or the temporary 
Presiding Officer shall immediately relinquish the chair upon the conclusion of the 
business immediately before the Town Council. 
 
3.2 ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER 
The Presiding Officer, or Town Council, may suspend strict observance of these Rules 
of Procedure, other policies and procedures, and any applicable provision of Robert’s 
Rules of Order for the timely and orderly progression of the meeting.  In the event of a 
conflict between these rules and Robert’s Rules of Order, these rules shall govern. 
 
SECTION 4.  MEETINGS 
 
4.1 REGULAR MEETINGS 
The Florence Town Council shall hold Regular Meetings at 6:00 p.m. on the first and 
third Monday of each month, in the Council Chambers, located at 775 N. Main Street, or 
another place, date or time as determined by the Town Council.  The Council will hold 
one meeting per month during the months of July and December.  Council will hold a 
meeting the third Monday in July and the first Monday in December.  Meetings are held 
for the purpose of discussion or action of the Town Council on various issues deemed 
necessary to further the business of the Town.  These meetings may provide for 
“Citizen Comments/Call to the Public." 

 
A. When the Regular Meeting of the Town Council falls on a legal holiday, no 

meeting shall be held on such holiday, but said meeting may be held at the same 
time and the same location on the next succeeding business day thereafter that 
is not a holiday or at such other time as designated by the Town Council.  The 
Town Council will take appropriate action to publicly announce such a change 
and will instruct the Town Clerk to publish the agenda in accordance with state 
law. 

 
4.2 ADJOURNED MEETINGS 
Any meeting may be adjourned to a time, place and date certain, but not beyond the 
next Regular Town Council Meeting.  Once adjourned, the meeting may not be 
reconvened except at the time, date, and place provided for in the motion.  A motion to 
continue an item on the Council Agenda shall not be considered a motion to adjourn. 
 
4.3 SPECIAL MEETINGS 

A. A special meeting of the Town Council may be called by the Mayor or Town 
Manager or at the request of two Councilmembers, for a time not earlier than 24 
hours after the later of (i) the notice being given to all Councilmembers or (ii) the 
Agenda being posted, except in the case of an actual emergency.  In the case of 
an actual emergency, such notice as is practicable under the circumstances shall 
be given.  Notice of all such Town Council meetings must be made pursuant to 
State law. 

 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 6 of 31 

B. Special Meetings are held for the purpose of presentations, discussion, citizen 
comment or formal action of the Town Council on various issues as deemed 
necessary to further the business of the Town. 

 
4.4 WORK SESSIONS 
Work Sessions are held for the purpose of presentations and discussions on issues that 
require more in-depth consideration of the Town Council than may be possible at a 
Regular Meeting.  No formal action of the Town Council may be taken at such meetings, 
other than general consensus or conveying direction to staff for further action.  These 
meetings shall not provide for “Public Comment" unless the presiding officer invites 
public comment as part of the work session at the time of the meeting.   Work Sessions 
are held on the second or fourth Mondays when necessary.  
 
4.5 EXECUTIVE SESSIONS 
The Town Council may hold an Executive Session pursuant to Arizona Revised Statute 
§ 38-431.01 et seq. 
 
4.6 EMERGENCY MEETINGS 
As provided for in state statutes, the Mayor, the Town Manager or two members of 
Town Council may call an Emergency Meeting to discuss or take action on an 
unforeseen issue where time is of the essence and there is not sufficient time for 
posting of a meeting notice 24 hours or more before the meeting.   Notice of an 
Emergency Meeting will be posted within 24-hours following the holding of an 
Emergency Meeting.  The notice will include the agenda and a brief but complete 
description of the nature of the emergency.  Emergency Meetings shall not provide for a 
“Public Comment.” 
 
4.7 MEETINGS TO BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

A. With exception of Council Executive Sessions, all Regular Meetings, Special 
Meetings, Work Sessions and Emergency Meetings of the Town Council shall be 
open to the public.  

 
B. All Public Meetings may be recorded or photographed by means of audio, video 

or photographic equipment; provided that there is no interference in the orderly 
conduct of the meeting and that said equipment is placed in non-hazardous 
locations as designated by the Town’s Staff. 

 
 
4.8 MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 

A. The Town Clerk‘s Office shall provide staff support at all Regular, Special, Work 
Session and Emergency Meetings of the Town Council for the purpose of taking 
notes and/or audio recordation of the meeting. 

 
B. Written action minutes, instead of verbatim minutes, shall be taken so a brief 

accounting of the issues discussed, and actions taken is compiled and entered 
into the permanent minute book of the Town and kept on file and of record in the 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 7 of 31 

Office of the Town Clerk.  The minutes shall reflect Councilmember attendance 
for the entire meeting. If a Councilmember arrives late or leaves early, then the 
minutes should reflect when the Councilmember arrived/left.  

 
Open Meetings may be recorded by means of audio or video technology.  Audio 
or video recordings of meetings will be retained in accordance with the current 
State of Arizona approved Records Retention and Disposition Schedules. 

 
C. All minutes of the Town Council are deemed to be public records, except for 

Executive Session minutes which, while they fall under the definition of and are 
considered public records by State Statute, are deemed confidential and are only 
available under limited conditions or by court order.  Transcribed minutes, or the 
audio or video recording of all Open Meetings of the Town Council, must be on 
file in the Office of the Town Clerk and available for public review by 5:00 p.m. on 
the third working day following each meeting or as provided by Arizona Revised 
Statutes, whichever is sooner. 

 
D. Minutes of Executive Sessions shall be confidential, are maintained and secured 

by the Town Clerk and may be accessed only as provided by Arizona Revised 
Statutes. 

 
SECTION 5.   NOTICES AND AGENDAS  
 
5.1 PREPARATION AND POSTING NOTICES   

A. The Town Clerk shall prepare all Public Meeting Notices of the Town Council and 
shall ensure posting of the meeting notices in accordance with Arizona Revised 
Statute. § 38-431.02.C. 
 

B. Formal notices, such as notices of public hearings, notice of bid, or other formal 
notices shall be posted on the Town’s website florenceaz.gov. 
 

5.2 PREPARATION AND POSTING OF AGENDAS   
A. The Town Clerk shall prepare all Public Meeting Notices of the Town Council, 

and, except for permitted statutory exceptions, shall ensure posting of the 
meeting notices not less than 24 hours before the date and time set for said 
meetings, in accordance with Arizona Revised Statute. § 38-431.02.C. 
 

B. Town Council, Town Board and Commission agendas shall, at a minimum, shall 
be posted in the following locations: 

 
1. Town Hall, 775 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona, 85132 
2.  florenceaz.gov 
 

5.3 POSTING OF ORDINANCES WITH A PENALTY CLAUSE: 
A.  An ordinance with a Penalty Clause shall be posted in the following locations: 

 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 8 of 31 

1. Town Hall, 775 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona 85132 
2. Florence Police Department, 425 N. Pinal Street, Florence, Arizona 85132 
3. Florence Fire Station No. 2, 2035 N. Hunt Highway, Florence, Arizona 85132 

 
5.4 AGENDAS 

A. The Town Clerk shall prepare the Agendas for all meetings of the Town Council 
as set forth in Section 6 below or as directed by the Mayor through the Town 
Manager.  Agendas of all meetings of the Town Council shall be available to the 
public no later than 24 hours prior to said meetings, except for permitted statutory 
exceptions. 

 
B. Agendas are made available through the Town’s website as a convenience and, 

upon request, will be provided at no charge to political subdivisions or 
educational institutions. 

 
5.5 DISTRIBUTION OF NOTICES AND AGENDAS 

A. The Town Clerk shall ensure that the Mayor and Town Council receive copies of 
all Town Council Meeting Notices and Agendas, and any documentation 
provided for said meeting, not less than 24 hours prior to the meeting, except for 
permitted statutory exceptions. 

 
B. The Town Clerk shall provide the Town Council meeting notices, agendas and 

documentation, as deemed necessary, to the Town Manager and the Town 
Attorney.  Courtesy copies will be available to the press.  Meeting notices, 
agenda, and agenda packets are posted on the Town’s website, not less than 24 
hours prior to said meeting. 

 
C. The Town Clerk may amend a published agenda, but not less than 24 hours prior 

to the designated meeting and only upon receipt of direction from (i) the Mayor or 
two members of the Town Council acting through the Town Manager or (ii) the 
Town Manager.   Scrivener’s errors may be corrected any time prior to the 
meeting. Amended agendas will indicate the date amended.  

 
SECTION 6.   ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
6.1 ORDER OF BUSINESS 
The Order of Business of each meeting shall be as contained in the agenda as 
prepared by the Town Clerk.  The Agenda shall be a sequentially numbered listing by 
topic and a brief description of business agenda items, including a dollar amount where 
appropriate, that shall be taken up for consideration. 
 
6.2 REGULAR MEETINGS 
The typical form of the agenda shall be as follows and may be changed as necessary: 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 9 of 31 

ROLL CALL 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT OR BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS 
 
MOMENT OF SILENCE  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC - Topics are limited to items on the Town Council 
Agenda. Speaker must fill out a form and give it to the Town Clerk prior to the 
meeting (See Section 6.8). 
  
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
RECOGNITION ITEMS/PRESENTATIONS 
 
CONSENT AGENDA ((See Section 6.9) 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
NEW BUSINESS (action or informational items) 
 ITEMS SUBMITTED BY PUBLIC/APPLICANTS 
 COUNCIL SUBMITTED ITEMS 
 MANAGER SUBMITTED ITEMS 

  
MANAGER REPORT/DEPARTMENT REPORTS  
Provided at the second meeting of the month. 
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC Topics are limited to items under the jurisdiction of the 
Florence Town Council. Speaker must fill out a form and give it to the Town Clerk 
prior to Call to the Public. 
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

  
All agendas will have the following statement placed at the bottom of the agenda: 
DATE/TIME POSTED: 
 
Any individual with a qualified disability may request a reasonable accommodation by 
contacting the ADA Coordinator at 520-868-7574 at least 72 hours prior to the Town 
Council meeting. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 10 of 31 

6.3 SPECIAL MEETINGS 
A. If a Special Meeting is being held in place of a Regular Meeting, the agenda shall 

be as set forth for a Regular Meeting. 
 
B. For all other Special Meetings, the Agenda will typically be prepared in the 

following order: 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC   
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
6.4 WORK SESSION MEETINGS 
Work Sessions provide the Town Council an opportunity to discuss items in a study 
session.  No action may be taken at a Work Session.  The meeting is open to the public, 
but the public is not provided a platform to speak unless requested by the Presiding 
Officer.  A Work Session agenda is prepared in the following order. 
 

CALL TO ORDER  
ROLL CALL 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: No Action/Discussion only.   
ADJOURNMENT 

 
6.5 ITEMS TO BE TAKEN IN ORDER 

A. The Presiding Officer, or the members by consensus, may consider items out of 
sequence from the printed Agenda for the meeting. 

 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 11 of 31 

B. Action may be taken on all items listed for action on the Agenda.  In the event of 
an emergency, action may be taken on items not listed on the Agenda; however, 
the action must subsequently be given proper public notice in accordance with 
Arizona Revised Statutes § 38-431.02, as amended. 
 

6.6 ROLL CALL ATTENDANCE 
The Presiding Officer shall direct the Town Clerk to call the Roll, and the names of 
Councilmembers both present and absent shall be entered into the minutes.  
 
Roll Call shall be taken at the following times during a meeting: 
 

A. Calling the Meeting to Order. 
 

B. Entering into Executive Session. 
 

C. Adjourning to the Board of Adjustments. 
 

D. Adjourning to a Special Districts Board. 
 
Only the first Roll Call will be a voice Roll Call, all others will be reported by the Town 
Clerk.  
 
6.7 SCHEDULED PUBLIC APPEARANCES 
Scheduled Public Appearances allow citizens to speak on a specific item before the 
Town Council, including presentation of petitions, according to the following process: 
 

A. A written request shall be submitted to the Town Clerk for review by the Town 
Manager not less than five days prior to the Town Council meeting at which the 
person desires the item to be heard. 

 
B. The Town Manager or designee shall research the issue to determine if it may be 

handled administratively or will require Town Council discussion.  If it is 
determined that the matter should be placed before the Town Council, the Town 
Manager shall ensure that documentation, if any, is compiled and the material 
forwarded to the Town Clerk in the same manner as other issues presented to 
the Town Council. 

 
C. If the Town Manager determines that the subject should not be placed on a 

Council Agenda, the Town Clerk shall notify the citizen that their request for 
action/input will not be placed on the agenda but forwarded to the appropriate 
department.   

 
D. The Mayor, two members of the Town Council or the Town Manager may 

request that an item be placed on the Council Agenda; the Town Clerk shall 
place the item on the next Regular Meeting Agenda and advise the citizen of the 
meeting date and time. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 12 of 31 

6.8 NON-SCHEDULED APPEARANCES/CALL TO THE PUBLIC 
A. Call to the Public is for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the 

Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes; however, the 
time limit may be waived by the presiding officer.  Individual Councilmembers 
may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to review a 
matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda per section 7.1.  
However, members of the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter 
during an open call to the public unless the matters are properly noticed for 
discussion and legal action. This disclaimer is intended for both Calls that appear 
on the agenda, but the written comment will appear only on the first Call to the 
Public listed on the agenda.  The Mayor will read the disclaimer into the record at 
each meeting.  
 

B. All citizens and interested parties wishing to speak before the Town Council at 
“Call to the Public” shall complete a speaker form located at the back of the Town 
Council chambers and submit the form to the Town Clerk, or designee prior to 
Call to the Public. 

 
C. By policy, the Town Council will refrain from commenting on the remarks given 

during “Call to the Public”.  At the conclusion of all public comment sections of 
the meeting, the Mayor or any Councilmember may take any or all of the 
following actions: 

1. Respond to Criticism. 
2. Ask Staff to review the matter. 
3. Ask that the matter be put on a future Agenda. 
4. Thank the citizens for their comments. 

 
D. Limitations Regarding Call to the Public: 

 
1. The Presiding Officer may limit the number of speakers heard on non-Agenda 

topics at any single meeting to allow the meeting to proceed and end in a 
timely manner. 
 

2. Oral communications during the Town Council meeting may not be used to 
lodge charges or complaints against any employee of the Town, regardless of 
whether such employee is identified in the presentation by name or by any 
other reference that tends to identify him/her.  Any such charges or 
complaints against employees shall be submitted during normal business 
hours to the Town Manager for appropriate action. 

 
6.9 CONSENT AGENDA 

A. The Consent Agenda includes items that (i) are of such a nature that discussion 
may not be required, (ii) are included in the annual budget, (iii) are under 
$100,000 expensed to the General Fund, (iv) item that are HURF or Enterprise 
fund expenditures included in the CIP, (v) or have been previously studied by the 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 13 of 31 

Town Council.  These items are adopted by a single motion and affirmative vote 
of a majority of the Town Council. 

 
B. There is no discussion on items listed under the Consent Agenda; however, a 

member of the Town Council or a member of the public may request that an item 
or items be removed for discussion. 

 
C. Items removed from the Consent Agenda are considered in their normal 

sequence as listed on the Agenda, unless called out of sequence as provided in 
Section 6.5 above. 

 
6.10 PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Generally, Public Hearings, other than those of a quasi-judicial nature, shall be 
conducted in the following Order: 
 
1. The Presiding Officer will announce the matter that is set forth for a Public 

Hearing and, if appropriate, ask the staff to provide a short summary of the 
matter. 
 

2. The Presiding Officer will then ask the applicant, if appropriate, to speak. 
 

3. At the conclusion of the Staff Report and/or presentation by the applicant, the 
Presiding Officer will open the Public Hearing for comments from the public. 

 
4. After all public comments are heard; the Presiding Officer will close the Public 

Hearing and may ask staff or the applicant to respond to the comments. 
 
5. The Presiding Officer may then call for a motion and second, if applicable, 

and/or ask if Town Council wishes to discuss the motion/item.  Town Council 
may then proceed to discuss the matter. 

 
6. Upon the conclusion of discussion, the Presiding Officer will call for action on 

the motion. 
 
7. Exhibits, letters, petitions and other documentary items presented or shown to 

the Town Council during a Public Hearing shall become part of the record of 
the Public Hearing and a copy thereof shall be submitted to the Town Clerk. 

 
B. Questions or comments from the public shall be limited to the subject under 

consideration.  Depending upon the extent of the Agenda, and the number of 
persons desiring to speak on an Issue, the Presiding Officer may, upon 
consensus of the Town Council at the beginning of the hearing, limit testimony. 
Upon approval of the Town Council, persons may be allowed to speak longer 
than three minutes.  Councilmembers may ask the individual speaker questions, 
and the speaker may respond. 

 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 14 of 31 

C. Quasi-judicial hearings shall be conducted in accordance with the principles of 
due process, and the Town Attorney shall advise the Town Council in this regard. 

 
6.11 BUSINESS ITEMS/ACTION ITEMS 

A. At the time each business item is presented to Town Council, the staff will give a 
brief summary of the item, and the applicant, if applicable, may speak. The 
Mayor will then provide for citizen input and comments, as requested, prior to the 
meeting. 
 

B. Those speaking before the Town Council will be allowed three minutes to 
address the Council; time limits may be waived upon consensus of the Town 
Council.  Such three-minute limit shall not apply to the applicant’s presentation. 
 

C. The purpose of all public comments is to provide information and the speaker’s 
views for Town Council consideration.  It is not appropriate for the speakers to 
question directly or debate the matter under consideration with staff, other 
speakers, the audience or members of the Town Council.  All comments shall be 
addressed through the Presiding Officer.  After being recognized by the Presiding 
Officer, Councilmembers may question the speakers, any applicant’s 
representatives or Town staff.  Except when answering a direct question from a 
Councilmember, all remarks shall be addressed to the Town Council as a whole, 
and not to individual members; provided; however, that all responses shall be 
directed through the Presiding Officer. 
 

D. Proper decorum must be observed by Councilmembers, by speakers providing 
testimony and remarks and by the audience.  In order to conduct an orderly 
business meeting, the Presiding Officer shall keep control of the meeting and 
shall require the speakers and audience to refrain from abusive or profane 
remarks, disruptive outbursts, applause, protests or other conduct that disrupts or 
interferes with the orderly conduct of the business of the meeting.  Personal 
attacks on Councilmembers, Town Staff or members of the public are not 
allowed.  It is inappropriate to utilize the Public Hearing or other Agenda item for 
the purpose of making political speeches, including threats of political action.  
Engaging in such conduct and failing to cease such conduct upon request of the 
Presiding Officer will be grounds for ending a speaker’s time at the podium or, at 
the direction of the Presiding Officer, for removal of any disruptive person from 
the Council Chambers. 
 

6.12 INFORMATION ITEMS 
Mayor and Councilmembers may present or discuss information items only if the 
specific matter is listed on the posted Agenda. 
 
6.13 ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting is adjourned by a motion to adjourn, a second and an affirmative vote of 
the majority. 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 15 of 31 

6.14 RECESS/BREAK 
The Presiding Officer or a member of Council may call a recess/break, if necessary, 
during the course of a public meeting. 
 
SECTION 7.   AGENDA PREPARATION 
 
7.1 AGENDA ITEM SUBMITTALS: REGULAR/SPECIAL/WORK SESSION 
Items may be placed on the Agenda for Town Council discussion and possible action by 
(i) the Mayor acting through the Town Manager, (ii) two Members of Council acting 
through the Town Manager or (iii) the Town Manager. 
 
7.2 AGENDA ITEM SUBMITTALS FOR TOWN COUNCIL EXECUTIVE SESSIONS 
Items may be placed on the Agenda for Council Executive Session discussion if in 
compliance with the Town Code and applicable State Statutes by the following process: 
 

A. Items may be placed on an Agenda for Executive Session discussion by (i) the 
Mayor acting through the Town Manager, (ii) two Council members acting 
through the Town Manager or (iii) the Town Manager.  

 
B. The Town Attorney shall review all items submitted for Executive Session 

discussion, prior to placement on the Agenda, to ensure that the item is legally 
permissible to be discussed in Executive Session, pursuant to Arizona Revised 
Statute § 38-431.03.  If permissible, the Town Clerk shall place notice of such 
Executive Session discussion on the Agenda. 

 
7.3 COUNCIL PACKETS 
Town Council agenda packets contain the Agenda, unapproved Minutes of previous 
Town Council Meetings, Town Council communications and any ordinances, 
agreements or resolutions to be acted upon including documentation that may be 
attached to support items contained on an Agenda for all noticed meetings of the Town 
Council.    
 
Agenda packets for ALL noticed Town Council Meetings (except Executive Session 
documentation) are made available to Councilmembers by the Town Clerk’s Office.  
Every effort will be made to distribute complete packets by the Thursday prior to each 
Regular Town Council Meeting and not less than 24 hours prior to any Special Town 
Council Meeting. 
 
SECTION 8.   PROCEDURES FOR CONDUCTING THE MEETING 
 
8.1 CALL TO ORDER 
All meetings of the Town Council shall be called to order by the Presiding Officer or in 
his/her absence, the Vice-Mayor.  
 
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 16 of 31 

8.2 PARTICIPATION OF PRESIDING OFFICER 
The Presiding Officer may move, second, debate and vote from the Chair, subject only 
to such limitations of debate as are imposed on all Councilmembers, and he/she shall 
not be deprived of any of the rights and privileges of a Councilmember by reason of 
his/her acting as Presiding Officer; however, the Presiding Officer is primarily 
responsible for the conduct of the meeting. 
 
8.3 QUESTION TO BE STATED 
The Presiding Officer shall verbally restate each question immediately prior to calling for 
discussion and/or the vote.  Following the vote, the Presiding Officer shall verbally 
announce whether the question was carried or was defeated.  The Presiding Officer 
may also publicly state the effect of the vote for the benefit of the audience before 
proceeding to the next item of business. 
 
8.4 MAINTENANCE OF ORDER 
The Presiding Officer is responsible for the maintenance of order and decorum at all 
times.  No person is allowed to speak unless they have first been recognized by the 
Presiding Officer.  All questions and remarks shall be addressed to the Presiding 
Officer. 
 
SECTION 9.   RULES/DECORUM/ORDER 
 
9.1 POINTS OF ORDER 
The Presiding Officer shall, after consultation with the Parliamentarian, determine all 
Points of Order, subject to the right of any Councilmember to appeal to the entire Town 
Council.  If any appeal is taken, the question (motion) shall be: “Shall the decision of the 
Presiding Officer be sustained?”  In which event, following a second, a majority vote 
shall govern, and conclusively determine such question of order. 
 
9.2 ORDER AND DECORUM 

A. Councilmembers: 
1. Any Councilmember desiring to speak shall address the Presiding Officer 

and, upon recognition by the Presiding Officer, may speak.  The Presiding 
Officer shall not unreasonably withhold such recognition; however, the 
Presiding Officer may choose to not recognize similar or repetitive 
discussions or motions which would delay the meeting. 

 
2. When two or more Councilmembers wish to speak, the Presiding Officer shall 

determine the order of speaking and recognize the first speaker. 
 
3. While a Councilmember is speaking, no other Councilmember shall interrupt 

except to make a point of order or point of personal privilege. 
 
4. When a motion is made and seconded, the Presiding Officer shall ensure that 

the debate is confined to the motion. 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 17 of 31 

5. The Town Council may agree to limit debate on any matter before it.  A limit 
may be formalized by a majority vote of the Town Council or the Presiding 
Officer may announce time limits on any Agenda item with the consensus of a 
majority of the Town Council. 

 
6. Any Councilmember may call for a previous question on any issues under 

debate. The call for previous question must receive a second and then 
receive at least a two-thirds vote. Passage of a motion to address the 
previous question terminates all debate on the original motion.  The Town 
Council shall immediately vote on such motion. 

 
7. The Town Council will not tolerate harassment, personal attacks or 

discrimination against each other or by members of appointed boards, 
commissions or committees.  No one shall be subject to unwelcome verbal or 
physical conduct that shows hostility based upon gender, race, ethnicity, 
sexual orientation, religion, age, disability or national origin.  Any 
Councilmember or appointee who violates this provision will be subject to 
removal from the meeting.  Any Councilmember or appointee acting in 
violation of this policy may also be subject to censure or other punishments 
prescribed in the Town Code.  

 
8. If a Councilmember acts in violation of these rules, the Presiding Officer shall, 

or any Councilmember may, call that Councilmember to order. The 
Councilmember so called shall immediately cease speaking but may appeal 
to the Town Council.  The Town Council shall decide the appeal without 
debate.  If the appeal is granted, such Councilmember may continue 
speaking on the matter.  If the appeal is denied, such Councilmember shall 
remain silent on the matter.  Any Councilmember acting in violation of these 
rules is subject to censure or other punishment as the Town Council, by three 
quarters vote of the other Councilmembers present, deems just and proper 
under the law. 

 
B. Employees: Members of the administrative staff and employees of the Town shall 

observe the same rules of procedure and decorum applied to members of the 
Town Council.  The Town Manager shall ensure that all Town employees 
observe such decorum.  Any staff members, including the Town Manager, 
desiring to address the Town Council or members of the public shall first be 
recognized by the Presiding Officer. 

 
C. Public: Members of the public attending the Town Council meetings shall 

observe the same rules of order and decorum applicable to the Town Council.  
Unauthorized remarks or demonstrations from the audience, such as applause, 
stamping of feet, whistles, boos, yells, and/or other demonstrations shall not be 
permitted.  The Presiding Officer may, after issuing a verbal warning to persons 
causing such disturbances, direct a police officer to remove such offender(s) 
from the meeting. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 18 of 31 

9.3 ENFORCEMENT OF DECORUM 
Proper decorum is to be maintained during all meetings by the Town Council, staff and 
guests.  It is the responsibility of the Mayor or other person acting as Presiding Officer 
of the meeting to ensure compliance with this Policy.  A police officer may be directed 
by the Mayor or Presiding Officer to remove from the meeting, after a verbal warning, 
any person whose conduct is disorderly or disruptive. 
 
9.4 PROCEDURES IN ABSENCE OF RULES 
In the absence of a rule herein to govern a point or procedure, Robert’s Rules of Order, 
Newly Revised, shall be used as a guide. 
 
9.5 RULINGS OF PRESIDING OFFICER ARE FINAL, UNLESS OVERRULED 
In presiding over Town Council Meetings, the Presiding Officer shall decide all 
questions of interpretation of these rules, points of order, or other questions of 
procedure requiring rulings.  In making such determinations, the Presiding Officer may 
solicit the opinion of the Town Attorney, or other such person serving as the 
Parliamentarian of the Town Council. 
 
9.6 APPEAL THE RULING OF THE PRESIDING OFFICER 
Any procedural decision or ruling of the Presiding Officer shall be final; however, 
immediately following the Presiding Officer's ruling, a motion and second to appeal the 
ruling can be made and the ruling can be overridden or suspended by a majority vote of 
the Councilmembers present and voting.  If not appealed, the Presiding Officer's ruling 
shall be binding and legally effective for purposes of the matter under consideration. 
 
SECTION 10.  ADDRESSING THE COUNCIL 
 
10.1 PERSONS AUTHORIZED TO APPROACH COUNCIL DAIS AREA 
During a Town Council Meeting, no person except Town Officials shall be permitted 
within the area in front of the Town Council dais without the invitation or consent of the 
Presiding Officer. 
 
10.2 MANNER OF ADDRESSING THE COUNCIL 

A. Any member of the public desiring to address the Town Council shall proceed to 
the podium after having been recognized by the Presiding Officer.  There shall be 
no loud vocalization (shouting or calling out) from the seating area of the Council 
Chamber.  At the podium, he/she shall clearly state his//her name for the record. 

 
B. Within 72 hours notice, special assistance can be provided for any individual with 

a qualified disability.  Please call the ADA Coordinator at 520-868-7574 to 
request an accommodation to participate in a Public Meeting. 

 
10.3 ADDRESSING THE COUNCIL AFTER MOTION IS MADE 
After a motion has been made, or after a Public Hearing has been closed, public 
comment shall not be allowed without a request from a Councilmember or the Presiding 
Officer. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 19 of 31 

SECTION 11.  MOTIONS 
 
11.1 PROCESSING OF MOTIONS 

A. When a motion is made and seconded, it shall be stated by the Presiding Officer 
before debate. 

 
B. The maker has the right to modify his/her motion as he/she pleases, or to 

withdraw it entirely.  If the motion is modified, the member who has seconded it 
has the right to withdraw his/her second. 

 
C. If a modification to a motion made by another Councilmember is accepted by the 

maker of the motion, then the Councilmember who seconded the unmodified 
motion shall be requested to reaffirm his/her second after modification. If the 
Councilmember refuses to reaffirm his/her second, the second is presumed 
made by the suggestor of the modification. 

 
D. In the case of a tie in votes on any motion, the motion shall be considered lost. 

 
11.2 DIVISION OF QUESTION 
If the question contains two or more propositions that could be divided, the Presiding 
Officer may, upon the request of a Councilmember, divide the propositions into separate 
questions. 
 
11.3 MOTION TO POSTPONE INDEFINITELY 
A motion to postpone indefinitely is used to dismiss an item on the Agenda.  This motion 
is debatable, and because it can be applied only to the main question, it can, therefore, 
only be made while the main question is immediately pending (a motion and second is 
on the floor).  This motion is commonly used to postpone an item until a more 
appropriate time. 
 
11.4 MOTION TO TABLE 
A motion to table enables the Town Council to lay the pending question aside 
temporarily when something else of immediate urgency has arisen, in such a way that 
there is no set time for taking the matter up again.  A motion to table shall be used to 
temporarily by-pass the subject.  A motion to table shall be undebatable and shall 
preclude all amendments or debate of the subject under consideration.  If the motion 
shall prevail, the matter may be “taken from the table” at any time prior to the end of the 
next Regular Meeting; provided, however, that such item is included on the duly posted 
Agenda of the Town Council. 
 
 
11.5 MOTION TO CLOSE, LIMIT OR EXTEND DISCUSSION 
A motion to close, limit or extend discussion shall be used to limit or close debate on, or 
further amend the main motion.  This is referred to as “Call for the Question” and is the 
motion used to cut off debate and to bring the group to an immediate vote on the 
pending motion.  It requires a two-thirds vote.  The vote on a motion to call for the 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 20 of 31 

question to terminate discussion shall be by roll call. If the motion fails, debate shall be 
reopened.  If the motion passes, a vote shall be taken on the main motion. 
 
11.6 MOTION TO AMEND 

A. A Motion to Amend shall be debatable only as to the amendment.   A 
councilmember can make a motion to amend an amendment, but only one 
amendment is permitted at a time. 

 
B. An amendment modifying the intention of a motion shall be in order, but an 

amendment relating to a different matter shall not be in order. 
 

C. A substitute motion on the same subject shall be acceptable and shall be voted 
on before a vote on the amendment. 

 
D. Amendments shall be voted on first, then the main motion as amended. 

 
11.7 MOTION TO CONTINUE 
Motions to continue to a definite time shall be amendable and debatable only as to 
propriety of postponement and the time set. 
 
SECTION 12.  VOTING PROCEDURE 
 
12.1 CASTING A VOTE 

A. In acting upon every motion, the vote shall be taken by casting an aye/nay vote 
by voice, roll call or any other method as determined by the Presiding Officer 
from which the vote of each Councilmember can be clearly ascertained. 

 
B. If a Councilmember has declared a Conflict of Interest, he/she must abstain 

during the vote. 
 

C. If the roll call method of voting is used, the Town Clerk shall call the names of all 
members with the Presiding Officer called last.  Councilmembers shall respond 
"Aye" or "Nay”.  It shall be out of order for members to explain their vote during 
the roll call.  Comments should be made during the discussion.  There shall be 
no additional debate or speaking on the subject after the vote is taken. 

 
12.2 FAILURE TO VOTE 
All members of the Town Council in attendance at a duly called meeting that requires 
formal Town Council action are required to vote, unless the issue involves the conduct 
of that Councilmember or a matter upon which that Councilmember has declared a 
conflict of interest.  In all other cases, a failure to vote shall be entered in the Minutes as 
an affirmative vote. 
 
12.3 RECONSIDERATION 
Any Councilmember who voted with the majority may move for reconsideration of any 
action at the same or the next available Town Council meeting.  Motions must be 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 21 of 31 

seconded.  After a motion for reconsideration has once been acted upon, no other 
motion for reconsideration thereof shall be made without the unanimous consent of the 
Town Council. 
 
12.4 TIE VOTES 
On a tie vote, a motion requiring a majority vote for adoption is a lost motion. A tie vote 
on whether to grant an appeal from official action shall be considered a denial of such 
appeal, unless Town Council takes other action to further consider the matter. 
 
SECTION 13.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
13.1 INTRODUCTION 
Occasionally, a Councilmember may find himself/herself in a situation which requires 
that Councilmember to abstain from participating and voting on a matter before the 
Town Council.  This situation exists when the Councilmember has a “conflict of interest” 
as defined by the Arizona Conflict of Interest Law.  This law establishes minimum 
standards for the conduct of public officers and employees who, in their official capacity, 
are, or may become, involved with a decision which might unduly affect their personal 
interests or those of their close relatives. 
 
13.2 PURPOSE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST LAWS 
The purpose of Arizona’s Conflict of Interest Law is to prevent self-dealing by public 
officials and to remove or limit any improper influence, direct or indirect, which might 
bear on an official’s decision, as well as to discourage deliberate dishonesty. 
 
13.3 APPLICABILITY OF THE ARIZONA CONFLICT OF INTEREST LAW 
The Arizona Conflict of Interest Law, as now set forth or as amended in the future, 
applies to all actions taken by Councilmembers. 
 
13.4 DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST 
Any Councilmember who may have a conflict of interest may seek the opinion of the 
Town Attorney as to whether a conflict exists under the State law and final opinions 
shall be filed with the Town Clerk.  Any Councilmember who has a conflict of interest in 
any decision must disclose that interest and declare the existence of the conflict 
publicly.   Minutes containing conflict of interest disclosures will be on file in the Clerk’s 
Office.  The Town Clerk shall maintain for public inspection all documents necessary to 
memorialize all disclosures of a conflict of interest by a Councilmember. 
 
13.5 RULE OF IMPOSSIBILITY 
In the unlikely situation that a majority of Councilmembers have a conflict of interest and 
the Town Council is unable to act in its official capacity, members may participate in the 
Town Council’s decision after making known their conflicts of interest in the official 
records. 
 
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 22 of 31 

13.6 IMPROPER USE OF OFFICE FOR PERSONAL GAIN 
Public officers and employees are prohibited from using or attempting to use their 
official positions to secure valuable things or benefits for themselves, unless such 
benefits are part of the compensation they would normally be entitled to for performing 
their duties. 
 
13.7 SANCTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS 
Violations of the conflict of interest provisions set forth herein shall be punished as 
provided for in state law. 
 
13.8 NON-STATUTORY CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
Occasionally, a Councilmember may feel that he/she should ethically refrain from 
participation in a decision even though the circumstances may not amount to a conflict 
of interest under the state law described above.  It is the policy of the Town Council to 
encourage Councilmembers to adhere to strongly held ethical values which are 
exercised in good faith; however, Council encourages participation in the decision-
making process unless the matter involves the Councilmember’s personal conduct or a 
conflict of interest set forth by Statute.  Therefore, failure to vote on a matter for any 
reason other than a conflict of interest under state law shall be considered a vote in 
favor of such matter. 
 
SECTION 14.  ELECTION OF VICE MAYOR 
 
The Town Council shall designate one of its members as Vice-Mayor who shall serve in 
such capacity for a two-year term at the pleasure of the Town Council.  The Vice-Mayor 
shall perform the duties of the Mayor during the absence or disability of the Mayor. 
 
Nomination and selection process for Vice-Mayor is as follows: 
 

A. The Mayor will open the floor for nominations. 
B. Any member may offer a nomination for the position of Vice-Mayor, in 

accordance with prior Council practice, with no second required. 
C. The member must accept the nomination.  
D. Votes for Vice-Mayor shall then be cast and recorded, in the order that the 

nomination occurred.   
E. If at least four affirmative votes are cast for a candidate, the candidate assumes 

the position and duties of Vice-Mayor for a two-year term. 
 
 
SECTION 15.  BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 
The Town Council may create such boards, commissions and committees as it deems 
necessary to assist in the conduct of the operation of Town government. 
 
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 23 of 31 

15.1 REGULARLY SCHEDULED OR UNSCHEDULED BOARDS, COMMISSIONS 
AND COMMITTEES 

A. All boards, commissions and committees of the Town shall be classified as 
regularly scheduled or unscheduled boards, commissions and committees. 
Regularly scheduled boards, commissions and committees are those that meet 
on a regularly scheduled basis or may be quasi-judicial in nature.  Unscheduled 
boards, commissions and committees meet on an as called basis. 

 
B. Regularly scheduled boards, commissions and committees include: 

 
1. Art and Culture Commission 
2. Historic District Advisory Commission  
3. Library Advisory Board 
4. Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
5. Planning and Zoning Commission 
6. Youth Commission 

 
C. Unscheduled boards, commissions and committees: 

1. Board of Adjustment 
2. Board of Appeals 

 
D. Other separate legal entities that also address the needs of the Town, including: 

1. Industrial Development Authority 
2. Community Facilities District Boards 

 
E. Any board, commission or committee created shall cease to exist (i) upon the 

accomplishment of the special purpose for which it was created (ii) when 
abolished by a majority vote of the Town Council, (iii) as dictated by the Town 
Code, (iv) or when disbanded or dissolved through legal authority. 

 
15.2 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS, COMMISSIONS 

AND COMMITTEES 
A. The Mayor may designate an appointing committee.  This appointing committee 

shall be made up of three members (from members of the Council or appropriate 
board/commission).  The Mayor may appoint himself/herself to this committee.  If 
no such committee is appointed, the entire Town Council shall conduct interviews 
and appoint citizens to the various boards, commissions and committees. 

 
B. The purpose of this appointing committee is to interview applicants and 

recommend to the Town Council possible candidates as described in Section 
15.3. 

 
15.3 SELECTION OF BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

A. A call for applications to fill vacant seats to boards, commissions and committees 
shall be duly published for at least one week via newspaper advertising, website 
(florenceaz.gov) and other means as available to the Town. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 24 of 31 

B. Individuals applying for boards, commissions or committees must fill out and 
submit the Town application form to the Town Clerk by the published deadline. 
The Town Clerk will forward the applications to the appropriate staff liaison. 

 
C. The Town Clerk will review the applications and prepare support materials for the 

Appointing Committee. Staff will schedule an appropriate time for an open 
meeting in order that the committee may interview in person, or via telephone, 
applicants for the open seat(s) to any Town board, commission or committee.  

 
D. After review and consideration, the appointing committee members shall 

announce a recommendation and prepare a memorandum recommending 
candidates to fill the vacancies. This memorandum shall include copies of all the 
applications received.  

 
E. The Town Clerk shall prepare an agenda item for the next appropriate Town 

Council meeting after the appointing committee has communicated its 
recommendation(s) to fill open board, commission or committee seat(s). 

 
F. The Town Clerk will notify the appointee(s) in writing as to their appointment and 

the next meeting date of the new member’s board, commission or committee 
scheduled meeting. Any official literature, agendas, minutes or other materials 
specific to the committee, board, or commission appointment will be included in 
the notification.  
 

G. Unsuccessful applicants will be notified that they have not been selected. 
 

15.4 QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENTS; EMPLOYEES OR APPOINTED 
OFFICERS AS MEMBERS 

A. All members of boards, commissions and committees shall meet the following 
minimum qualifications upon their appointment to any board, commission or 
committee. Each member must be: 

 
1. Eighteen years of age or older, except for members appointed to any board, 

commission or committee seats designated by Town Council for youth 
representation. 

2. A registered voter, except those under 18 years of age. 
 

B. Town employees or appointed officers shall not be eligible for appointment to any 
boards, commissions, and committees but may be requested to provide staff 
support thereto. 

 
15.5  TERMS, VACANCIES, REMOVAL 

A. All members of boards, commissions and committees shall serve a term of up to 
three years, or until the board, commission or committee is dissolved, unless 
terms are specifically designated by Town Council action, Town Code or Arizona 
Revised Statutes. 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 25 of 31 

B. For boards, commissions and committees having five members or less, the terms 
of office shall be staggered so that no more than three terms shall expire in any 
single year when possible; provided, however, that no staggering of terms shall 
be required for any board, commission or committee that will be in existence for a 
single term.  

 
C. For those boards, commissions and committees having more than five members 

but less than eight members, the terms of office shall be staggered so that no 
more than four terms shall expire in any single year when possible; provided, 
however, that no staggering of terms shall be required for any board, commission 
or committee that will be in existence for a single term. 

 
D. A vacancy on a board, commission or committee shall be deemed to have 

occurred upon the following:    
 

1. Death or resignation of a member of a board, commission or committee.   
2. A member ceasing to be a Florence resident unless the Town Council has 

provided that such member may be a non-resident.  
3. Three consecutive unexcused absences by a member from board, 

commission or committee meetings.  
4. Convictions of a felony or an offense involving a violation of his official 

duties. 
 

E. Whenever a vacancy has occurred on one board, commission or committee, the 
appointing committee shall meet to recommend a candidate to complete the 
remainder of the term. Procedures described in Section 15.3 above will be used 
to generate applicants, interview applicants, and make a recommendation. 

 
F. An incumbent member of a board, commission or committee seeking 

reappointment shall submit a new application under the provisions set forth in 
Section 15.3 above and shall be considered for appointment by the Town Council 
in the same manner as all other applicants for such position.  

 
15.6 ALTERNATES 
The Town Council may appoint alternates to serve on boards, commissions and 
committees in the event of vacancy. Such alternates may attend meetings of the board, 
commission or committee but shall not participate until such time as a vacancy has 
occurred and the alternate has filled such vacancy. If the Town Council appoints more 
than one alternate for a particular board, commission or committee, the Town Council 
shall designate the alternates as first alternate, second alternate and so on such that 
immediately upon a vacancy occurring in a board, commission or committee, the first 
alternate shall fill such vacancy without the need for further Town Council action. 
 
 
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 26 of 31 

15.7 APPLICABILITY OF THE ARIZONA OPEN MEETING LAW 
All boards, commissions and committees are subject to the Arizona Open Meeting Law. 
 
15.8 RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS 
Members shall be residents of the Town of Florence.  All members shall be bona fide 
residents of the municipality, unless a motion, resolution or ordinance creating a board, 
commission or committee specifies otherwise, and shall serve without pay or 
compensation, except that a member shall be reimbursed for his/her actual and 
necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their official duties, provided that 
such expenses are approved by the Council or Town Manager, within budgetary 
limitations, prior to being incurred.  
 
SECTION 16.  COUNCIL BUDGET, EXPENSES AND TRAVEL 

A. Councilmembers shall adhere to the adopted Town of Florence Travel Policy 
except as otherwise set forth herein. 

 
B. The Town Council shall adopt, as part of the annual budget, specific travel 

budget amounts for each Councilmember. The Town Council may also establish 
a fund from which an individual member may draw additional travel funds upon 
approval of the Town Council acting upon an item listed upon a duly published 
agenda and taking place during an Open Public Meeting. 

 
SECTION 17.  CODE OF ETHICS 
Council/Board/Commission/Committee members shall conduct themselves so as to 
bring credit upon the Town as a whole, and to set an example of good ethical conduct 
for all citizens of the community.  Councilmembers should constantly bear in mind these 
responsibilities to the entire electorate and refrain from actions benefiting any individual 
or special interest group at the expense of the Town as a whole.   
 
Councilmembers should likewise do everything in their power to ensure impartial 
application of the law to all citizens, and equal treatment of each citizen before the law, 
without regard to race, religion, national origin, sex, social standing or economic 
position.  This assures public confidence in the integrity of local government and its 
effective and fair operations, and therefore the members will: 
 

A. Act in the Public Interest. Members will work for the common good of the people 
of the Town of Florence and not for any private or personal interest, and they will 
assure fair and equal treatment of all persons, claims and transactions coming 
before the Town Council, commissions, boards and committees. 

 
B. Comply with the Law.  Members will comply with the laws of the nation, the State 

of Arizona and the Town of Florence in the performance of their public duties. 
These laws include, but are not limited to, the United States and Arizona 
Constitutions, the Florence Town Code and Policies, laws pertaining to conflicts 
of interest, election campaigns, financial disclosure and the Public Open Meeting 
Law. 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 27 of 31 

C. Conduct of Members.  The professional and personal conduct of members must 
be above reproach and avoid even the appearance of impropriety. Members will 
refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges or verbal attacks upon the 
character or motives of other members of the Council, commissions, boards, 
committees, staff and the public. 

 
D. Respect for Process.  Members will perform their duties in accordance with the 

processes and rules of order established by the Town Council and commissions, 
boards and committees governing the deliberation of public policy issues, 
meaningful involvement of the public in public hearings, and implementation of 
policy decisions of the Town Council by Town staff. 

 
E. Conduct of Public Meetings.  Members will prepare themselves for public issues, 

listen courteously and attentively to all public discussions before the body, and 
focus on the business at hand. They will refrain from interrupting other speakers, 
making personal comments not germane to the business of the body, or 
otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of business. 

 
F. Decisions Based on Merit.   Members will base their decisions on the merits and 

substance of the matter at hand, rather than on unrelated considerations. 
 

G. Communication.  Members will publicly share substantive information that is 
relevant to a matter under consideration by the Council, commissions, boards or 
committees, which they may have received from sources outside of the public 
decision-making body. 

 
H. Conflict of Interest. In order to assure their independence and impartiality on 

behalf of the common good, members will not use their official positions to 
influence government decisions in which they have a material financial interest or 
a relationship that may give the appearance of a conflict of interest.   

 
In accordance with the law, members shall disclose investments, interests in real 
property, sources of income, and gifts. 

 
Members will abstain from participating in deliberations and decision-making 
where conflicts may exist as defined under Arizona Statutes.  Members should 
discuss any issues of conflict of interest with the Town Attorney.  
 

I. Gifts and Favors. Members will not take any special advantage of services or 
opportunities for personal gain, by virtue of their public office, which is not 
available to the public in general. They will refrain from accepting any gifts, favors 
or promises of future benefits that might compromise their independence of 
judgment or action or give the appearance of being compromised. 

J. Confidential Information. Members will respect the confidentiality of information 
concerning the property, personnel or affairs of the Town. They will not disclose 
confidential information without proper legal authorization or Council majority 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 28 of 31 

approval. They will not use such information to advance their personal, financial 
or other private interests or agendas. 

 
K. Use of Public Resources. Members will not use public resources unavailable to 

the public in general, such as Town staff time, equipment, supplies or facilities for 
private gain or personal purposes. 
 

L. Lobbying. Council may not adopt a resolution in support or opposition of a ballot 
measure, question, or candidate.  Council may present natural material providing 
education material on a ballot measure or question.  

 
M. Representation of Private Interests. In keeping with their role as stewards of the 

public interest, Councilmembers will not appear on behalf of private interests of 
third parties before the Council or any commission, board or committee or 
proceeding of the Town, nor will members of commissions, boards and 
committees appear before their own bodies or before the Council on behalf of the 
private interests of third parties on matters related to the areas of service of their 
bodies. 

 
N. Advocacy. Members will represent the official policies or positions of the Town 

Council, commissions, boards or committees to the best of their ability when 
designated as delegates for this purpose. When presenting their individual 
opinions and positions, members will explicitly state they do not represent the 
Town, nor will they infer that they do. 

 
O. Policy Role of Members. Members will respect and adhere to the Council-

Manager structure of government as outlined in the Town Code. In this structure, 
the Town Council determines the policies of the Town with the advice, 
information and analysis provided by the public, commissions, boards, 
committees and staff.  Except as provided by the Town Code, members therefore 
will not interfere with the administrative functions of the Town or the professional 
duties of Town staff, nor will they impair the ability of staff to implement Council 
policy decisions. 

 
P. Independence of Commission, Boards and Committees. Because of the value of 

the independent advice of commissions, boards, and committees to the public 
decision-making process, Councilmembers will refrain from using their position to 
unduly influence the deliberations or outcomes of commission, board and 
committee proceedings. 

 
Q. Positive Work Place Environment. Members will support the maintenance of a 

positive and constructive workplace environment for Town employees and for 
citizens and businesses dealing with the Town. Members will recognize that their 
special role dealing with Town employees is not to create the perception of 
inappropriate direction to staff. 

 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 29 of 31 

R. Public Speaking. Members of Council shall declare they are speaking as a 
Councilmember, but it is their individual opinion, and may or may not be the 
opinion of the majority of Councilmembers.     
 

S. Implementation. As an expression of the standards of conduct for members 
expected by the Town, the Code of Ethics is intended to be self-enforcing. It 
therefore becomes most effective when members are thoroughly familiar with it 
and embrace its provisions. 

 
Members entering office shall sign a statement affirming they read and 
understood the Code of Ethics.  In addition, the Code of Ethics shall be regularly 
reviewed by the Town Council, boards, commissions and committees, and the 
Town Council shall consider recommendations from boards, commissions and 
committees and update as necessary. 

 
T. The Code of Ethics will be included in the regular orientations for candidates for 

Town Council, applicants to boards, commissions and committees, and newly 
elected and appointed officials. 

 
17.1 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT 
Compliance with this Code of Ethics is expected for members of the Town Council, 
commissions, boards, and committees. Members themselves have the primary 
responsibility to assure that standards are understood and met, and that the public can 
continue to have full confidence in the integrity of government. 
 
The chairs of commissions, boards, and committees and the Mayor have the additional 
responsibility to intervene when actions of members that appear to be in violation of the 
Code of Ethics are brought to their attention. They are responsible to gather more 
information about the alleged Code of Ethics violation and present the Town Council 
with a memo detailing the findings. Any Town Councilmember may then ask that the 
item be placed on the Council agenda. 
 
The Town Council may impose sanctions on members of the Council, boards, 
commission, or committee whose conduct does not comply with the Town's standards, 
such as reprimand, formal censure, loss of seniority or committee assignment, or 
budget restrictions. 
 
A violation of the Code of Ethics will not be considered a basis for challenging the 
validity of Council, commission, board, committee decisions, or removal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No. 1686-19 
Page 30 of 31 

 
 

 
Model of Excellence 
Member Statement 

 
 

As a member of the Florence Town Council or of a Florence board, commission, or 
committee, I agree to uphold the Code of Ethics for elected and appointed officials 
adopted by the Town and conduct myself by the following model of excellence.   I will: 
 

Recognize the worth of individual members and appreciate their individual 
talents, perspectives and contributions; 
 
Help create an atmosphere of respect and civility where individual members, 
Town staff and the public are free to express their ideas and work to their full 
potential; 
 
Conduct my personal and public affairs with honesty, integrity, fairness and 
respect for others;  
 
Respect the dignity and privacy of individuals and organizations; 
 
Keep the common good as my highest purpose and focus on achieving 
constructive solutions for the public benefit; 
 
Avoid and discourage conduct which is divisive or harmful to the best interest of 
Florence;  
 
Treat all people with whom I come in contact in the way I wish to be treated;  

 
I affirm that I have read and understood the Town of Florence Code of Ethics. 
 
 
 
_______________________    _________________ 
Signature       Date 



Rules of Procedure Adopted by Resolution No 1686-19 
Page 31 of 31 

 
Speakers Request Form 

Public Comment 
Call to the Public 

 
 
Meeting Date:       Topic:       
 
Full Name:         Phone Number:      

         (Please Print) 
 

Physical Address:               

Mailing Address:            
 

I am a spokesperson for:           
   (self, business, religious group, non-profit, govt. agency) 

  
TITLE:              

 
I am representing (Number of people)       
          
 I wish to address the Council:  Elected Official  

 In Favor of the Topic    

  Opposed to the Topic 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
(Tear here: keep information below for reference) 

 
Please give this form to the Town Clerk.  Forms may be submitted at any 
time before or during the meeting.  
 
How to address the Council: 

 Must speak directly about an item on the agenda. 
 The Mayor or Presiding Officer will call your name when it is your turn to 

speak. 
 Citizens must limit comments to three minutes*. 
 Groups wishing to speak should elect a spokesperson to represent the 

views of the group. 
 The Mayor may limit the number of speakers heard on non-agenda 

topics at any single meeting to allow the meeting to proceed and end in 
a timely manner. 
 

* Prior approval is required for presentations longer than three minutes. 

 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM

AGENDA ITEM 
 11. 

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Public Works/Administration/Legal 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Chris Salas/Lisa Garcia/Cliff Mattice 
 
SUBJECT:  Street Light Improvement District Work Session  

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   
 1st Reading  
 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 1  

Other 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

  Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Work Session on Street Light Improvement District Policy, Procedure, and Ordinance. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
 
The Town of Florence, per the direction of the Town Council, researched existing Street 
Light Improvement District (SLID) codes, policies and procedures to validate that the 
Town is consistent with the State of Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) Title 48 and best 
practices are used in the application SLIDs. 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of Arizona Revised Statutes Title 48, Chapter 4, Arizona 
cities and towns may order the formation of Street Light Improvement Districts to pay for 
the electricity, operation and maintenance of street lighting systems on public streets 
and parks.  There are three options available as authorized in ARS and are described in 
Table 1 below.   
 
Table 1 
Option Description When Used Public Support
Unanimous 
Petition  

Signed by all property 
owners prior to final 
plat approval  

Used for all new 
residential/commercial 
development 

Support by all 
property owners  

Majority Petition  Initiated by an existing 
neighborhood or 
commercial 

Existing 
residential/commercial 
development 

Support by a 
majority of 
property owners 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 2  

development  
Municipality 
Initiated  

Initiated by the 
municipality  

Existing 
residential/commercial 
development 

May or may not 
have support of 
the residents 

 
As can be seen from Table 1, the Public Support for a Street Light Improvement District 
is a major determining factor in which option is chosen.   
 
In new development where all of the property in still under a limited number of owners, 
the Unanimous Petition is the most common option.  The municipality can require the 
developer to initiate the formation of the SLID prior to final plat approval by executing a 
petition for its formation with the signatures from all owners, which prior to the final plat 
will be the developer.  The municipality then proceeds by passing a resolution or 
ordinance declaring its intention to make public improvements pursuant to ARS Section 
48-576. 
 
In an existing residential or commercial development, having all the property owners in 
support would be rare.  In that case the Majority Petition is most often used.  In this 
option, a majority of property owners (51%) must sign a petition for the Town to proceed 
with formation of the SLID.  After the resolution of any protests made pursuant to ARS 
Section 48-507, the municipality can move forward with the formation of the SLID. 
 
For the Municipality Initiated process, the Council would pass a resolution or ordinance 
of intention to form the SLID and holds a public hearing.  If the municipality is presented 
with written protests or a petition protesting the formation of the SLID signed by a 
majority of the property owners within the proposed SLID, resolution of those protests 
should be attempted by the municipality before the district formation proceeds.  
However, such protests would not prevent the municipality from proceeding with the 
subsequent order of formation subject to notice, hearing, and protest as provided for in 
the ARS Section 48-576 and their municipal code. 
 
We reached out to other communities to see if they had ever used a municipal initiated 
process without the majority of property owner’s support.  As described below, none of 
the agencies have utilized that approach.   
 
The City of Peoria requires the formation of a SLID for new public residential streets in 
new development projects.  Any streets lights on adjacent arterial or collector streets 
fronting the new development are installed by the development but are not included in 
the SLID.  Costs for the operations and maintenance of those lights are paid by the City.  
Private streets such as gated communities are not required to form a SLID but if there 
are streetlights, the HOA would be responsible to pay for the operations and 
maintenance costs.   Peoria has not initiated the formation of a SLID in an existing 
neighborhood or commercial development.  Any developments completed prior of the 
authority to form SLIDs continue to be an obligation to the City for all costs to operate 
and maintain. 
 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 3  

The City of Surprise also requires the formation of a SLID for the operating costs 
associated with streetlights on public streets within all new residential and commercial 
developments.  Streetlights installed by the developer on arterial or parkway streets are 
not included in the SLID and the City assumes the operating cost for those lights.  The 
petition to initiate the formation of the SLID is required prior to approval of the final plat 
or site plan.  The developer is responsible for all capital costs to install the street lighting 
system which is then turned over to the City as the owner.  Surprise has also formed 
SLIDs through the majority petition process where a neighborhood has requested 
streetlights.  Surprise requires the petition to have at least 50% plus 1 owner in support 
for the formation to proceed.   In 2009, Surprise did attempt to garner support for a SLID 
in an existing neighborhood without first getting a majority petition.  A letter was sent to 
all residents and staff followed up by going door to door describing the process and 
asking residents to sign the petition in support.  Surprise was not able to get the 
required majority of residents to support the SLID and the effort was cancelled. 

 
 

Answers to Questions previously asked:  
 
Forming an improvement district in established areas: 
 
If Council voted to establish a SLID within an established area the Town would be the 
applicant and establish boundaries.  The Town would circulate the petitions to the 
property owners within those boundaries (current town policy only states APS service 
areas). Once the signatures have been acquired and the petitions are submitted, the 
Town Council   has the final approval for the formation of an improvement district.    
 
 
What is the benefit to forming an improvement district: 
  
Improvement districts have the authority to assess properties and impose ad valorem 
property taxes to distribute the cost of improvements among the properties benefited. 
(The county collects taxes on behalf of the district in a similar manner as property 
taxes.) As decisions are made in open meetings the residents have the opportunity to 
be heard on issues concerning the system and the district.   An improvement district is 
considered a political subdivision of the State of Arizona, which is a governmental 
agency and cannot profit.  Fees charged shall cover the cost to construct, repair and 
operate the improvement. 
 
Who is responsible for financing an improvement district? 
 
The fees charged to the properties benefited by the improvement cover the financing of 
a district.  It is the responsibility of the District Board to establish these fees, but it is the 
obligation of the users of the system to pay for the construction and operations of the 
improvements.   
 

    



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 4  

ARS State Statues 

 
48-615. Special provisions relating to improvement districts for purchasing electricity for 
lighting public streets or parks 

A. If a petition for the formation of an improvement district to purchase electricity for 
street or public park lighting is presented to the governing body, which purports 
to be signed by all of the real property owners in the proposed district, exclusive 
of mortgagees and other lienholders, the governing body, after verifying such 
ownership and making a finding of such fact, shall adopt a resolution of intention 
to order the improvement pursuant to the provisions of section 48-576 and shall 
have immediate jurisdiction to adopt the resolution ordering the improvement 
pursuant to provisions of section 48-581, without the necessity of publication and 
posting of the resolution of intention provided for in section 48-578. 
 

B. If a petition for the formation of an improvement district for off-street parking 
purposes, and for the leasing of sites and improvement, operation and 
maintenance thereof is presented to the governing body, signed by the owners of 
a majority of the frontage of the property proposed to be contained within the 
limits of the assessment district, the governing body shall adopt a resolution of 
intention ordering the proposed improvement and cause same to be published 
and posted pursuant to the provisions of section 48-578. 

 
48-616. Improvement districts for purchasing energy for lighting public streets and parks 

A. In addition to the purposes for which an improvement district may be formed 
under the provisions of section 48-572, an improvement district may be formed 
for the sole purpose of purchasing and not generating energy for the lighting of 
the public streets and parks of the improvement district. 
 

B. Subject to the limitations contained in this section, the powers and duties of the 
governing body of a municipality shall be as provided in this article for other types 
of improvement districts. 

 
C. The governing body shall make annual statements and estimates of the 

expenses of the district which shall be provided for by the levy and collection of 
ad valorem taxes upon the assessed value of all the property real and personal 
in the district or by an equal apportionment of taxes based on the number and 
classification of properties within the district, publish notice of the statements and 
estimates, hold hearings on them and adopt them at the times and in the manner 
provided for incorporated cities and towns' statements and estimates by 
applicable portions of title 42, chapter 17, article 3, and the governing body, on or 
before the third Monday in August each year, shall fix, levy and assess the 
amount to be raised by ad valorem taxes or by an equal apportionment of taxes 
upon all of the property of the district and collect as county taxes are collected 
the amounts shown by the statements and estimates as adopted by the 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 5  

governing body.  All statutes providing for the levy and collection of general 
county taxes, including collection of delinquent taxes and sale of property for 
nonpayment of taxes, are applicable to the district taxes as provided to be levied 
by this section. 
 

D. An improvement district formed under the provisions of this section shall not be 
authorized to issue bonds, and no assessment for district purposes against the 
property within such district shall exceed one dollar twenty cents per one 
hundred dollars of assessed valuation thereof in any year. 

 
E. No such district is authorized to engage in any activity other than contracting for 

and purchasing of energy for street and public park lighting. 
 

F. In the event the municipality is willing to participate in the costs of the lighting of 
streets in such improvement districts, the governing body may by resolution 
summarily order such participation.  If the municipality is willing to assume the 
total cost of such lighting, the council may summarily dissolve the district by 
resolution after payment of all liabilities. 

 
G. The formation of an improvement district for street and public park lighting under 

the provisions of this section shall not prevent the subsequent establishment of 
improvement districts for other purposes, including improvement districts for the 
purpose of constructing street lighting facilities within any part or all of the same 
territory. 

 
H. In the event an improvement district is formed which includes the construction 

and operation of street lighting facilities within all or any part of the territory of a 
district formed under this section, the governing body may by resolution 
summarily delete from the district formed under this section any area covered by 
a subsequently formed district and form a new district from the balance of the 
original district formed under this section. 

 
I. The rate to be paid for the purchase of energy may include a charge for electric 

power, natural gas and other forms of energy and a charge for the use of lighting 
facilities if the established rate of the public service corporation or public agency 
imposes such a charge for the type of lighting facilities which the governing body 
determines shall be installed in accordance with section 48-617, subsection C. 

 
J. In either a new or existing improvement district organized for purposes 

prescribed by this section, a majority of the real property owners may petition the 
governing body to levy ad valorem taxes or to equally apportion the taxes based 
on the number and classification of properties within the district.  If the petition is 
signed by the required number of owners of real property in the district, the 
governing body of the district shall declare the petition approved and shall 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 6  

provide that beginning on a date certain, all subsequent taxes levied for the 
benefit of the district shall be assessed and levied as prescribed by this 
subsection. 

 
48-617. Special provisions relating to improvement districts for purchasing energy for 
lighting public streets or parks 

A. If a petition for the formation of an improvement district to purchase and not 
generate energy for street or public park lighting is presented to the governing 
body, which purports to be signed by all of the real property owners in the 
proposed district, exclusive of mortgagees and other lienholders, the governing 
body, after verifying such ownership and making a finding of such fact, shall 
adopt a resolution of intention to order the proposed improvement pursuant to the 
provisions of section 48-576 and shall have immediate jurisdiction to adopt the 
resolution ordering the improvement, pursuant to the provisions of section 48-
581, without the necessity of publication and posting of the resolution of intention 
provided for in section 48-578. 
 

B. If a petition for the formation of an improvement district to purchase energy for 
street or public park lighting is presented to the governing body signed by a 
majority of the real property owners in the proposed district, the governing body 
shall adopt a resolution of intention to order the proposed improvement and 
cause same to be published and posted pursuant to the provisions of section 48-
578, and unless protests received pursuant to section 48-579 are sufficient to bar 
further proceedings, the governing body shall thereafter proceed with the 
improvements so petitioned. 
 

C.  At the time of the adoption of the resolution of intention pursuant to the 
provisions of section 48-576, the governing body shall determine the type of 
lighting facilities to be installed and consider the 

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not Applicable 
  
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not Applicable 
  
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Staff will complete an analysis based on Council direction prior to adoption of Policies or 
Ordinance.  
    
  



Subject:  Ordinance No. 686-20 SLID                    Meeting Date November 18, 2019 
Page 7  

ATTACHMENTS: 

Ordinance No. 686-20 
Policy 
Petition 

 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 686-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, AMENDING SECTION 96.43, STREET LIGHTING; 
REQUIREMENTS; IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS. 

   
 WHEREAS, the Town Council for the Town of Florence has determined that 
existing residential, as well as, new residential and commercial development within the 
should be considered for potential Street Light Improvement Districts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town Council has further determined that such street lighting 
equipment, as described above, must be installed pursuant to certain standards; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that the costs to energize, operate 
and maintain such street lighting equipment should be paid by the owners of land 
requiring the street lighting equipment. 
 
  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Section 96.43 of the Code of 
the Town of Florence be amended to read as follows: 
  
96.43 STREET LIGHTING IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS. 
 
(A) The cost of the electricity, operation and maintenance of the street lighting system 

shall be assessed by the Town against the owners of the real property as follows: 
 

(1) Within a new residential subdivision development, the cost of the electricity, 
operation and maintenance of all street lights on public streets within or 
adjacent to the subdivision development, including major arterial, minor 
arterial and collector streets shall be charged to the property owner(s) 
through creation of a Street Light Improvement District. The developer of a 
new residential development shall initiate the formation of the Street Light 
Improvement District prior to the final plat approval by executing a petition for 
formation of a Street Light Improvement District in a form acceptable to the 
Town Attorney. 
 

(2)  Within a new commercial or industrial subdivision development, the cost of 
the electricity, operation and maintenance of all street lights on public streets 
within or adjacent to the subdivision development, including major arterial, 
minor arterial and collector streets on which access is provided to the 
commercial or industrial subdivision development shall be charged to the 
property owner(s) through creation of a Street Light Improvement District. 
The developer of a new commercial or industrial development shall initiate 
the formation of the Street Light Improvement District prior to the final plat 
approval by executing a petition for formation of a Street Light Improvement 
District in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney. 

 



(3) The Town shall require each party dedicating the streetlights to the Town to 
warranty the streetlights against defects in design, installation and operation 
for a two-year period commencing on the date of dedication. Normal wear 
and tear arising from the operation of the streetlights shall be excepted from 
the warranty requirement. 

 
(4) For any other property, the cost of the electricity, operation and maintenance 

of all street lights fronting the property or on any street for which access is 
provided to the property may be charged to the property owner at the 
discretion of the Town.  

 
(B) Any owner(s) of real property, upon presentation of a petition signed by a majority 

of the owners of real property within the prescribed area pursuant to ARS 48-576, 
may request that the Town to form a Street Light Improvement District for the 
construction, reconstruction or acquisition of street light systems pursuant to ARS 
48-572 for the purpose of lighting the public streets and parks within the proposed 
area including major arterial, minor arterial and collector streets on which access is 
provided to the property. Upon review of the petition by the Town, a public hearing 
shall be held upon the request. Following the public hearing, upon presentation of 
a majority petition for formation of a Street Light Improvement District in a form 
acceptable to the Town Attorney, the Town Council may commence improvement 
district proceedings to form a Street Light Improvement District and to assess the 
cost of the electricity, operation and maintenance of street lights against the 
properties within the Street Light Improvement District. 
 

   (C)   The Town may initiate the formation of a Street Light Improvement District for the 
purpose of assessing properties for the costs of electricity, operation and maintenance 
for existing street lighting systems in the Town.  The Town shall pass a resolution of 
intention to do so and hold a public hearing in the same manner as if the improvements 
had been requested by majority petition pursuant to paragraph B above.  If written 
protests are submitted pursuant to ARS 48-579 by a majority of property owners within 
the proposed district, the Town shall not proceed with the formation of the Street Light 
Improvement District based on the intention to do so as protested. 
 
Statutory reference: 
   Similar provisions, see A.R.S. §§ 48-572et seq. 
 

 

 

 

 



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, this _____day of _________ 2019. 

 
       __________________________ 

Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________  __________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
 
 



November 2019  1

 

 
TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 
 
 
 

STREETLIGHT IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT 

Policy & Procedure 
 
 
 

Engineering Department 
P.O. Box 2670 

775 North Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85232 

(520) 868-7500 
www.town.florence.az.us 



November 2019  2

TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA 
STREETLIGHT IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS 
FORMED PURSUANT TO A.R.S. § 48-616  
 
PROCEDURES FOR FORMATION: 
 
1. Pre-Application Meeting.  The Developer meets with the Town to discuss the 

Development.  At that time, Developer will receive a copy of the Unanimous Petition 
for Formation of a Street Light Improvement District.  The Developer will also be 
given the contact information for the Town Attorney.  If desired, the Developer may 
contact Town Attorney directly to obtain an electronic form of petition. 

 
2. APS Lighting Design & Facilities.  The Developer’s civil engineer will map proposed 

streetlight locations on the plat layout.  Developer submits the plat layout to the 
Town Engineering Department for approval.  Once approval is granted, a design will 
be developed by the Developer or APS.  The design will utilize the streetlight 
guidelines and layout provided by the Town for pole, lumen size, mounting height 
and spacing requirements.  The contact person with APS is the Outdoor Lighting 
Department. The Engineering Department for the Town will review the design and 
proposed facilities to ensure that they meet the requirements of the Town Municipal 
Code and APS requirements.  If satisfactory, the Town Engineering Department 
forwards a letter to APS approving the layout and type of facilities with copy to the 
Developer.  

 
Developer will either sign an “Installation Agreement” with APS or will contract 
independently to install the lighting facilities.  Installations are subject to all relevant 
Town permitting, inspection and approval requirements.  

 
3. APS Electric Rates.   A.R.S. § 48-616(I).  The most current applicable APS tariff for 

municipal SLIDs where the municipality retains ownership of the poles is E-59 Rate.  
The tariff must be attached to the Petition when submitted.  Tariffs may be 
downloaded from the APS website at: www.aps.com.   

  
4. Subdivisions Plans and Plat.  The Town Engineering and Planning Departments will 

review the subdivision plans and approve the final plat.  The Town Engineering 
Department will provide Developer with a name for the SLID.  The district must be 
formed prior to final plat approval.   

 
5. Developer Costs.  Developer is responsible for the following costs: 
 

a. Application fee.  Instead of imposing a set application fee, the Town 
charges the Developer all attorneys’ fees incurred by the Town Attorney 
for work on the particular SLID.  This charge averages between $1,500.00 
and $2,500.00. 

 



November 2019  3

b. Capital Costs.  All costs for installation of the lights shall be borne by the 
Developer.  The Town will not purchase or install any of the streetlights.  
APS will send bills for purchase and installation to the Developer and 
Developer will make payment to APS.   

 
c. Deficiencies in Operating Costs.  The charges for purchase of electricity, 

operation, and maintenance of the lights prior to the District assessing 
taxes and becoming self-sufficient must be paid by the Developer.  The 
Town will assess and collect taxes and notify the Developer and APS, by 
written letter, when the SLID is self-sufficient.  At that time monthly billings 
will become the responsibility of the Town.  The Developer covenants in 
the Petition that, upon demand by the Town, the Developer will pay for all 
expenses of the District, including costs for purchase of electricity, billed 
by APS and not collected from assessed property tax (maximum $1.20 per 
$100 of assessed valuation) until such time as the Town is actually 
collecting taxes for the District sufficient to pay all costs and expenses of 
the District.  

 
d. It may take up to three years until taxes from a district make it self-

supporting.  Questions regarding assessments may be addressed to the 
Town Finance Department. 

 
6. Petition.  A.R.S. §§ 48-615(A), 48-617(A), (B).  After meeting with the Town, the 

Developer should contact the of the Town Attorney, PO Box 2670, 775 North Main 
Street, Florence, AZ  85232 to discuss any questions concerning the form of 
Unanimous Petition, supporting documentation, and procedure for formation.  The 
Developer may also request a Majority Petition, if the developer may only be able to 
obtain signatures of a majority (not all) of the property owners in the proposed 
district.  As soon as feasible, the Developer should submit to the Town Attorney: 

 
a. Unanimous Petition, or Majority Petition, signed by the real property 

owners in the district. 
 

b. Exhibit A:  Legal description of property for district in metes and bounds, 
certified by registered engineer or surveyor (on 8.5” x 11” paper). 

 
c. Exhibit B:  Map showing the boundaries of the proposed district (on 8.5” x 

11” paper).  The map must be clear enough that all references to section 
lines and measurements are legible.  Type font size must be at least 
10-point.  For purposes of recording, a standard plat map is not sufficient.   

 
d. Exhibit C:  APS design approval letter and Town Engineer’s design 

approval letter. 
 

e. Exhibit D:  Rates to be paid for purchasing electricity, established by APS 
(see paragraph 2, above).   



November 2019  4

 
f. Title Report of property for District, to enable the Town to verify that the 

petition is signed by all real property owners in the proposed district. The 
title report must: 

 
i. Be current at the time the Resolution is placed on the Council 

Agenda for approval by the Town Council; and  
 

ii. Contain the EXACT SAME METES AND BOUNDS LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION as the Petition for Formation. 
 

7. Review.  The Town Attorney will review all information submitted.  The Town 
Planning Department also may review property ownership and verify signatures.  
Town Engineer may review lighting facilities designs.   

 
8. Placement on Council Agenda.  Special Counsel will then forward to Town Clerk: 
 

a. All items listed under paragraph 6.  These must be filed with the Town 
Clerk before the Resolution is passed.  (A.R.S. § 48-577). 

 
b. Request for Town Council Action Form. 

 
c. Unanimous Petition/ Majority Petition. 

 
d. Resolution of Intention and Order (for Unanimous Petition), or Resolution 

of Intention (for Majority Petition). 
 

The Town Clerk requests that five (5) original Resolutions be submitted, all signed 
by the Town Attorney as “Approved as to Form” prior to Council adoption.  All 
exhibits must be attached in advance. 

 
9. Council Adoption - Unanimous Petition.   A.R.S. §§ 48-615(A), 48-616, 48-576. 

 
a. Adoption of Resolution of Intention and Order.  If a Petition is signed by all 

of the real property owners in a proposed district, exclusive of mortgagees 
and other lienholders, Council adopts a combined Resolution of Intention 
and Order to undertake the proposed improvements.  This action is 
complete at one Council meeting and does not require a public hearing. 

 
      OR 
 
10. Council Adoption - Majority Petition.  A.R.S. §§ 48-617(B), 48-616, 48-578. The 

Town Attorney will provide additional assistance with these petitions.  In general, the 
following procedures will be followed: 

 



November 2019  5

a. Adoption of Resolution of Intention.  If a Petition is signed by a majority 
(51% or more) of the real property owners in a proposed district, exclusive 
of mortgagees and other lienholders, Council adopts Resolution of 
Intention creating the district. 

 
b. Publication & Posting. The Resolution must be published five (5) times in 

successive issues of a daily newspaper, or two (2) times in a weekly 
newspaper published and in general circulation in the Town.  Town Clerk 
will arrange for this.  The Town Engineer must conspicuously post notices:  
“Notice of Proposed Improvement” in letters at least one inch in height, 
along the proposed improvement, not more than 300 feet apart, stating the 
fact that the Resolution was adopted, and briefly describing the proposed 
improvements. 

 
c. Protests.  Protests are governed by A.R.S. §§ 48-579, 580, and must be 

filed within 15 days after the last day the Resolution was published, or 
within 15 days after the posting of Notices is completed.  (Refer to statute 
for protest requirements).  Thereafter, a hearing must be held by the Town 
Council to hear the protests, see A.R.S. §§ 48-579(D), (E), 48-580(B)-(D).  
Thereafter, the Resolution may be modified and, if the Resolution has 
been modified, a new Notice must be published and posted.  (Refer to 
statute for hearing requirements).  

 
d. Resolution Ordering Work.  If there are no protests, or after the hearing on 

the protests, and the District has not been rescinded, the Town may adopt 
a Resolution Ordering Work. 

 
11. Recording of District.  A.R.S. § 48-575(L).  Within ten (10) days after the Town 

adopts a Resolution of Intention to order the improvement, the resolution 
must be recorded with the Pinal County Recorder’s Office in such a way as to 
give notice of formation of the District to all property owners within the 
District.  The Town Clerk handles this. 

  
12. Notice to County Assessor and Department of Revenue.   A.R.S. § 42-17257. 

Immediately after the Resolution is adopted, the Town Clerk will forward a notice to 
the Pinal County Assessor and Arizona Department of Revenue.  Attached to each 
notice must be a certified copy of the Resolution, plus a legal description and map of 
the new streetlight improvement district.  

 
The Notice must be sent on or before November 1 preceding the year in which 
assessments or taxes are to be levied.   Extension of time to no later than February 
15 of the year in which assessments or taxes are to be levied may be available 
under A.R.S. § 42-17257(B).  In order to obtain an extension, the request must be 
submitted to the County Assessor before December 31 of the year preceding the 
year in which assessments or taxes are to be levied. 

 



November 2019  6

The Arizona Department of Revenue (602-716-6843) normally will send a letter 
confirming receipt of the Resolution and reminding us to forward a copy of the 
Resolution to the County Assessor.   

 
13. Notice to Arizona Public Service Company.  Immediately after the Resolution is 

adopted, the Town Clerk will forward a copy of the Resolution to Outdoor Lighting, 
Arizona Public Service Company.   

 
FROM THIS POINT ON, THE TOWN WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING 
THE SLIDS, INCLUDING ASSESSMENT AND COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM 
TAXES.   
 
PROCEDURES FOR ASSESSMENT: 
 
1. Classification of SLID Tax:  A.R.S. § 42-11001 (13)(b).  The SLID tax is classified as 

a “secondary property tax.”  Therefore, it is not subject to the truth in taxation 
requirements.  A.R.S. § 42-17107.  The Town also has a primary property tax, which 
is subject to the truth in taxation requirements.  Both primary and secondary property 
taxes are considered at the same time at the same local government budget process 
hearings.  

 
2. Annual Statement and Estimates.  A.R.S. §§ 48-616(C), 42-17101.  On or before the 

third Monday in July of each year, the Town Council makes annual statements and 
estimates of the expenses of the District. 

 
a. Method of Assessment.  The Town Engineer prepares a diagram showing 

each separate lot, numbered consecutively, approximate area in square 
feet of each lot, and location of the lot, and location of the lot in relation to 
the work proposed to be done.  A.R.S. § 48-589. 

 
b. Public property (federal, state, county, Town, school district, or any 

political subdivision) will be excluded from the assessment, and the total 
expense of the omitted public property lots will be assessed on the 
remaining lots.  A.R.S. § 48-582(A), (B) 

 
c. The Estimate is entered upon the Council Minutes under the appropriate 

headings of the form from the Auditor General.   
 

3. Notice of Estimates.  A.R.S. § 42-17103(B).  The estimates, together with a notice 
that the Council will hold a public hearing and special meeting for the purpose of 
hearing taxpayers and making tax levies at designated times and places, shall be 
made available at the Florence Community Library and Town Hall and shall be 
published once a week for at least two (2) consecutive weeks following the tentative 
adoption of the estimates in the official newspaper of the County or Town.  (Notice 
may be combined with Truth in Taxation Notice). 

 



November 2019  7

4. Hearing on the Estimates.  A.R.S. § 42-17104(A).  A public hearing and special 
meeting is held on or before the fourteenth day before the day on which the Council 
levies taxes as designated in the notice.  Any taxpayer may appear and be heard in 
favor of or against any proposed expenditure or tax levy.  (Hearing may be 
combined with Truth in Taxation Hearing). 

 
5. Adoption of Estimates.   A.R.S. § 42-17105. When the hearing is concluded, the 

Council convenes in a special meeting and finally determines and adopts estimates 
of the proposed expenditures.  These estimates constitute the budget for the Town 
for the current fiscal year. 

 
6. Assessment/Ad Valorem Taxes.  A.R.S. § 48-616(C).   On or before the third 

Monday in August each year, the Council fixes, levies and assesses the amount to 
be raised by ad valorem taxes upon the property of the District and collective county 
taxes are collected.  The Request for Town Council Action Form and Ordinance will 
be prepared by the Town Finance Director. 

 
 

PROCEDURES FOR COLLECTION: 
 
1. Property Valuation.  A.R.S. § 42-17251(A), (B).  The County provides the Town with 

the property valuation assessed to each taxpayer.  This is the assessment and tax 
roll for the Town. 

 
2. Collection of Taxes.  A.R.S. § 42-17254(B).  The taxes, as shown on the tax roll for 

the Town, are collected by the County Treasurer at the times and in the manner 
provided for collection of state and county taxes. 

 
3. Tax Rates and Levy.  A.R.S. § 42-17253(C).   The Council computes the rates per 

$100 of valuation to be levied on account of each separate fund for which taxes are 
to be levied and collected and shall create a Resolution to levy the taxes for the 
Town.  On or before the day upon which the County Board of Supervisors makes the 
County tax levy, the Council shall deliver a certified duplicate of its tax levy to the 
Board of Supervisors. 

 
4. County Levy.  A.R.S. § 42-17254(A).  The Board of Supervisors shall, on or before 

the third Monday in August each year, assess the amount of taxes certified to it as 
having been levied for Town purposes, designating the amount which shall be levied 
for such purposes on each $100 of taxable property. 

 
5. Remittance of Tax Collection to Town.  A.R.S. § 42-17255.   The County Treasurer 

shall pay to the Town Finance Director by the 15th day of each month, all monies 
collected for the previous month as taxes for the Town.  The Town shall give the 
County Treasurer a receipt for each payment made.  The County Treasurer shall 
retain the receipt for one year after his annual report to the Board of Supervisors.  



November 2019  8

The Town shall retain a copy of the receipt to be available for purposes of auditing 
the Town’s accounts. 

 



STREET LIGHT IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PETITION 

To the Florence Mayor and Town Council:  

We, the undersigned, are all or a majority of the real property owners, exclusive of 
mortgagees and other lienholders, within the district named below. We petition the Town 
Council of the Town of Florence, Arizona, to establish a street light improvement district 
under Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) §48-571 to §48-622, and any amendments, and 
specifically A.R.S. §48-615 to §48-617, to purchase electricity for lighting the public 
streets within the district whose boundaries and area is described in Exhibits A and B 
attached hereto.  This petition includes a charge for maintaining the lighting facilities.  

It is hereby requested that, in compliance with the Arizona Revised Statutes, the 
Town Council adopt a Resolution of Intention to order the proposed Improvements, and 
that unless protests are received pursuant to A.R.S. §48-579 sufficient to bar further 
proceedings, the Town Council proceed with the improvements petitioned for herein.  

Expenses of the District shall be paid by the levy and collection of an equal 
apportionment of taxes based on the number and classification of properties within the 
District. 

Public Convenience, necessity and welfare will be promoted by the establishment 
of the District and the real property within the District will be benefited by the District.  
Additional street lighting facilities may be installed and included in the District, at no 
investment cost to the District, as directed by the Town and as approved by Arizona Public 
Service and the Town Engineer.  

 Wherefore, we respectfully ask that this Petition be properly filed and that the 
Mayor and Council of the Town adopt the Resolution and take such action as is proper, 
necessary and appropriate to form the District and to fulfill the purposes for which the 
District is organized, as the Mayor and Council believes is proper and necessary.  

The name of the proposed Street Light Improvement District shall be: 

Sample Name and Number  

Petitioners: Please print and sign your name.  

PETITIONER’S 
NAME 

ADDRESS OF 
PROPERTY 

OWNED WITHIN 
THE DISTRICT

ASSESSOR 
PARCEL 
NUMBER 

SIGNATURE DATE 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 


	November 18, 2019 Agenda
	Page 2
	Page 3

	3. WORKSESSION ON CON
	3. Study Session CON Process

	7. PUBLIC HEARING
	7a. Ordinance No. 667-19 Sign Code

	8. CONSENT
	8a. Florence Music Festival LLC Services Agreement
	8b. Chamber of Commerce Services Agmt
	8c. Code 3 Technologies
	8d. Disposal of Assets
	8e. Franklin Striping
	8f. October 7, 2019 Council Minutes
	8f. October 21, 2019 Council Minutes

	8g 1. September 25, 2019 HDAC Minutes
	8g 2. October 3, 2019 PZ Minutes
	8g 2. October 17, 2019 PZ Minutes


	9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	9a. Ordinance No. 684-19 Abandoned Junk Vehicles

	10. NEW BUSINESS
	10a. Economic Development Dept Discussion
	10b. Resolution No. 1722-19 Rules of Proceedure

	11. WORKSESSION ON SLID
	11. Worksession SLID




